BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY



OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES OF YALE UNIVERSITY DECEASED DURING THE YEAR 1938–1939



i January 1940

NUMBER I

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

đ

Entered as second-class matter, August 30, 1906, at the post office at New Haven, Conn., under the Act of Congress, of July 16, 1894.

Acceptance for mailing at the special rate of postage provided for in Section 1103, Act of October 3, 1917, authorized August 12, 1918.

The BULLETIN, which is issued semimonthly, includes:

- I. The University Catalogue Number.
- 2. The Reports of the President and Treasurer Numbers.
- 3. The Catalogue Numbers of the several Schools.
- 4 The Alumni Directory Number.
- 5. The Obituary Record Number.

BULLETIN OF YALE UNIVERSITY

OBITUARY RECORD OF GRADUATES DECEASED DURING THE YEAR ENDING JULY 1, 1939 INCLUDING THE RECORD OF A FEW WHO DIED PREVIOUSLY, HITHERTO UNREPORTED NUMBER 98

NEW HAVEN

1940

CONTENTS

Biographies of Graduate	es .	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•		5
Yale College	• •	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•			5
Sheffield Scientific Sci	hool		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		162
Graduate School .	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	240
Masters of Arts	•	•	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	240
Doctors of Philosoj	phy		•	•	•	•	•				•	•		243
School of Medicine	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	2 49
Divinity School .	• •		•	•	•	•	•	•		•			•	256
School of Law .	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		277
School of the Fine Ar	ts .	•			•	•	•	•		•	•		•	294
School of Forestry	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		2 96
Supplement	• •		•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•			300
Dates of Death of Recip	ient	s o	fH	ono	rary	y D	egre	ees	•	•	•	•	•	315
Dates of Death of Certif	ficat	e H	Iold	lers	and	1 N	on-	Gra	dua	tes	•	•	•	315
Statistics	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	320
Index	• •	•	•	٠	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	321

YALE UNIVERSITY OBITUARY RECORD*

YALE COLLEGE

Charles Winterfield Baldwin, B.A. 1861.

Born March 23, 1840, at Severn Cross Roads, Millersville, Md. Died July 15, 1938, in Baltimore, Md

Father, William Henry Baldwin, a farmer in Anne Arundel County, Md.; midshipman aboard U.S S *Peacock* 1812, son of Henry and Maria Graham (Woodward) Baldwin of Anne Arundel County Mother, Jane Maria (Woodward) Baldwin; daughter of Henry and Eleanor (Williams) Woodward of Prince Georges County, Md Yale relatives include: Christopher C. Baldwin, Jr, '21 S, and Charles F. L Chamberlaine, '24 S (grandnephews).

Anne Arundel County Academy Entered Yale at beginning of Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; member baseball club two years, Linonia (president one term), and Psi Upsilon, graduate member Wolf's Head

Studied law in firm of Brown & Brune, Baltimore, 1861-63, taught a private class of boys in Baltimore 1863-64, attended Yale Divinity School 1864-65 and Union Theological Seminary 1865-66 (diploma 1866), received on trial by Baltimore Conference of the Methodist Episcopal Church 1866, ordained deacon March 8, 1868, and elder March 6, 1870, junior preacher Severn Circuit 1866–68, minister Ryland Church, Washington, 1868–70, Centenary Church, Westminster, Md, 1870–72, Hereford, Md, 1872–73, East Baltimore, 1873–74, Cross Street Church, Baltimore, 1874-76, Patapsco Circuit, Md, 1876-79, Huntingdon Avenue Church, Baltimore, 1879–82, Centre Street Church, Cumberland, Md., 1882-85, Union Chapel, Washington, 1885-87, Ryland Church 1887-90, Wesley Chapel, Washington, 1890-91 and 1894-97, presiding elder West Baltimore District, Methodist Episcopal Church, 1897-1903, superintendent (later corresponding secretary) Baltimore City Missionary and Church Extension Society 1903–16, retired 1916 but subsequently preached in many churches near Baltimore and attended Baltimore Conference 1938; active for many years in the Baltimore Conference Board of Education and largely responsible for continuing conference aid to minor children of deceased ministers, a cofounder with Bishop Hurst of American University (trustee 1899–1938, secretary of the board 1891–1927 and

*If the father of an alumnus is a Yale graduate, the father's record is not usually given in this volume, but may be found in published form elsewhere

secretary emeritus since 1927), an incorporator of Goucher College (trustee 1884–1922), trustee Morgan College since 1898 (vice-president of the board 1915–22 and president since 1922); one of its buildings recently named Baldwin Hall, trustee Anne Arundel Academy since 1887 (president of the board 1900–25); president "Mountain Chautauqua," Mountain Lake Park, Md, 1887 until about 1915; M A Yale 1864; D D St John's College 1898, L H D Morgan College 1937; delegate to Methodist Ecumenical Conference, London, 1901, and to General Conference, Methodist Episcopal Church, Baltimore, 1908, director Baltimore Manual Labor School, member Christian Commission in Confederate Prison, Point Lookout, Md, 1864; member American Historical Society, American Methodist Historical Society, Maryland Historical Society, Yale Alumni Association of Maryland, Sons of the American Revolution, Baltimore Conference, and Quarterly Conference of Baldwin Memorial Church, Severn Cross Roads

Married (1) December 1, 1868, in Baltimore, Annie Campbell, daughter of Lambert Noland and Mary (Johnson) Hopkins. Daughter, Maria (B A Wellesley 1891) Mrs Baldwin died May 3, 1872 Married (2) February 9, 1876, in Baltimore, Annie Maria, daughter of Samuel and Maria (Sweetser) Thomas No children. Mrs. Baldwin died June 24, 1930

Death due to acute parotitis Buried in cemetery of Methodist Church at Severn Cross Roads. Survived by daughter.

Dr Baldwin was the last surviving member of his Class and the second oldest alumnus of the University.

Albert Warren, B.A. 1867.

Born February 14, 1844, in Leicester, Mass Died April 6, 1939, in Minneapolis, Minn

Father, Charles Wheeler Warren of Leicester, manufacturer of sheet heeling for boots and shoes; son of Joseph and Sally (Green) Warren of Leicester Mother, Jane (White) Warren, daughter of John and Hannah (Green) White of Leicester

Phillips-Andover Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Missionary and Temperance societies, Linonia, Delta Kappa, Alpha Sigma Phi, Delta Beta Xi, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Instructor Leicester Academy and Durham (Conn.) and Spencer (Mass) high schools 1870–77 and at Grafton (Mass) High School 1877– 79, attended Yale Divinity School 1879–82 (BD. 1882); ordained in Congregational church at Mankato, Minn, October 31, 1882, and minister there 1882–83, minister Lake Benton, Minn, 1883–86, engaged in home missionary work and in farming and stock raising in south-

Yale College

western Minnesota 1886–99, minister Marshall, Minn, 1899–1901, operated Hinckley Cash Store and engaged in real estate business, Hinckley, Minn, 1899–1909, an organizer of the Alliance Party 1890 and secretary of its campaign committee, engrossing clerk Minnesota House of Representatives 1890 and 1891, in 1909 became totally blind but continued to lead an active life; learned to read by the "Moon" system and to use the typewriter, made several trips alone between Leicester and St Paul where he resided with his granddaughter, member Hazel Park Church (Congregational), St Paul, and had occasionally preached there, at the time of his death was the third oldest graduate of Yale College

Married December 24, 1867, in Millbury, Mass, Angelia Emily, daughter of Chester and Emily (Watts) Hastings Children Walter Chester; Charles Albert (died November 25, 1907), and Emily Myrtie (Mrs. Henry A. Gould; died July 24, 1935) Mrs Warren died July 23, 1921.

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Pine Grove Cemetery, Leicester. Survived by one son, seven grandchildren, seven great-grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Addie W. Harrington of Leicester, and a brother, Walter Warren of Leicester His brother, Arthur H Warren, '70, died in 1933.

Allen Wardner Evarts, B.A. 1869.

Born December 10, 1848, in New York City Died May 30, 1939, in Claremont, N H

Father, William Maxwell Evarts, B A. 1837, member law firm Evarts, Southmayd & Choate, New York City Mother, Helen Minerva (Wardner) Evarts. Yale relatives include Jonathan Todd (B A 1732) (greatgreat-uncle), Timothy Todd (B A. 1747) (great-great-grandfather), Roger Sherman (M A Hon. 1768) (great-grandfather), Isaac Sherman (B A 1770), William Sherman (B A 1770), Simeon Baldwin (B A 1781), Roger Sherman (B A 1787), Jeremiah Day (B A 1795), and Ohver Sherman (B A 1795) (great-great-uncles), Jeremiah Evarts (B A 1802) (grandfather), Charles B. Evarts, *ex-*'66, William Evarts, *ex-*'71, Sherman Evarts, '81, and Maxwell Evarts, '84 (brothers), David Greene (B A 1821) and John J Evarts (B A 1832) (uncles), J Evarts Tracy, '57 L, and Roger S Tracy, '62 (cousins), Roger S Evarts, '17, Jeremiah M Evarts, '17, Effingham C Evarts, '19, Prescott Evarts, *ex-*'23, and John Evarts, '30 (nephews)

Prepared in New York City under Rev Benjamin W Dwight Class baseball club Sophomore year, University Baseball scorekeeper Senior year; member Glyuna Boat Club, Linonia, Delta Kappa, Alpha Sigma Phi, Delta Beta Xi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Spade and Grave.

Studied law in his father's office 1869-70; attended Columbia University School of Law 1870-71; MA Yale 1872; admitted to bar 1873; had engaged in practice of law in New York City since 1873 (member firm Evarts, Southmayd & Choate 1874-84 and Evarts, Choate & Beaman 1884-1902, senior member Evarts, Tracy [] Evarts, '57 L] & Sherman [Thomas T., '74] 1902–08, Evarts, Choate & Sherman 1908–19, Evarts, Choate, Sherman & Léon 1919–34, and Evarts, Choate, Curtin & Léon 1934-39), had not been actively engaged in practice since 1931; president Garden City Company 1902-30, trustee Vassar College 1889-1931; chairman '69 Class Committee and acting secretary of Class for many years, honorary member Wolf's Head, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Bar Association of Nassau County, Society of Medical Jurisprudence, New England Society in the City of New York, New York Historical Society, Grolier and Elizabethan clubs, New York Zoological Society, American Museum of Natural History, and Metropolitan Museum of Art

Unmarried

Death due to acute enteritis Buried in Ascutney Cemetery, Windsor, Vt Survived by a sister, Mrs Edward C Perkins of Windsor, Vt.

Howard Mansfield, B.A. 1871.

Born July 2, 1849, in Hamden, Conn Died August 14, 1938, in Seal Harbor, Me.

Father, Jesse Merrick Mansfield, a farmer; brick manufacturer with Warner, Mansfield & Stiles, Hamden; head of Mansfield & Laverty, coal merchants in New Haven, son of Jesse and Kezia (Stiles) Mansfield of North Haven Mother, Julia (Tuttle) Mansfield, daughter of Leveritt and Electra (Kimberly) Tuttle of Mt Carmel, Conn. Yale relatives include. Burton Mansfield, '75 S (half brother); Henry L Gower, '80, and Louis A Mansfield, '85 (nephews), and Thomas Means, '10 (great-nephew).

Hillhouse High School Oration appointment and Exhibition speaker Junior year, dissertation appointment, DeForest Gold Medal, Townsend Premium, and Commencement speaker Senior year, Brothers Prize in debating all four years; English composition prize Sophomore and Senior years, editor Yale Courant, member Berkeley Association, Gamma Nu, Phi Theta Psi, Brothers in Unity, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa

Associate editor New Haven Daily Register 1871-73; attended Yale Graduate School 1871-72, Yale School of Law 1872-73, and Columbia University School of Law 1873-74 (LL.B 1874; first Municipal Law prize), admitted to New York bar October, 1874, associated with Anderson & Young (later Anderson & Howland [Henry E, '54]), New York

City, 1874–81; office counsel for North River Construction Company, New York, West Shore & Buffalo Railway Company, New York, Ontario & Western Railway Company, and West Shore & Ontario Terminal Company 1881-84, practiced independently 1884-1901 (general counsel for Milwaukee Street Railway Company, Western New York & Pennsylvania Railroad Company, The Cuba Company, Cuba Railroad Company, and Omaha Water Company, and special counsel for West Shore Railroad, New York Central Railroad, The Pullman Company, Michigan-Peninsular Company, and other corporations); member Lord, Day & Lord [Franklin B, '05] since 1901 and senior partner since 1908, director Number 535 Park Avenue (president 1909-38). chairman Advisory Board on Compulsory Service 1918, trustee Metropolitan Museum of Art since 1909, treasurer 1909-29, and in 1936 made a Benefactor through his gifts of Japanese works of art, author A Descriptwe Catalogue of the Etchings and Dry-points of James Abbott McNeill Whistler (1909), Whistler as a Critic of His Own Prints (1935), and Whistler in Belgium and Holland (1935), Alumni Fund agent for Class of 1871 since 1918 and Class secretary since 1937, M A Hon 1913, honorary member Berzehus; member Jared Eliot Associates, Associates in Fine Arts at Yale, New York State and American Bar associations, Bar Association of the City of New York (vice-president 1914), New York County Lawyers Association, National Economic League, American Museum of Natural History, Japan societies of London and New York, Art Commission of the City of New York, National Art Club, the Grolier Club (member of council since 1888 and president 1900-04), Caxton Club (Chicago), and the Elizabethan Club; former member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married September 12, 1895, in Narragansett Pier, R I, Helen Coolidge (Todd) Tuttle, daughter of Reuben Jones and Hannah Trecothick Austin (Coolidge) Todd No children

Death due to bronchopneumonia Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, a stepson, George C Tuttle, '07, a stepdaughter, Miss Margaret M Tuttle, three stepgranddaughters and one stepgrandson, and two nieces, Miss Ethel M. Gower and Mrs. Katharine G. Means of New Haven

In 1930 Mr Mansfield presented to the University Library his collection of wood engravings by William J. Linton (M A Hon 1891) and in 1931 a collection of publications concerning James Abbott McNeill Whistler.

Otis Munro Bigelow, B.A. 1872.

Born February 19, 1849, in Baldwinsville, NY. Died June 29, 1939, in Baldwinsville, NY.

Father, Payn Bigelow, a founder and president Baldwinsville State Bank; son of Otis and Mary (Payn) Bigelow of Fort Miller, N Y. Mother, Hannah (Munro) Bigelow, daughter of David Allen and Abigail (Carpenter) Munro of Camillus and Elbridge, N Y. Yale relatives include Howard V. Yergin, '08 (nephew), and Ruth S Bigelow, *ex-*'09 Art (daughter-in-law).

Homer (NY) Academy and Syracuse Classical School Member the Nine Archons, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Linonia, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Had been engaged in banking since graduation, clerk First National Bank of Baldwinsville 1872–75 and director 1898–1930; with Baldwinsville State Bank 1875 until retirement in 1930 (vice-president 1885–93 and president 1893–1930), since retirement had devoted much time to management of several large farms in Lysander and VanBuren, secretary Onondaga & Oswego Insurance Company 1892, village treasurer Baldwinsville 1890–1902, president Baldwinsville Board of Education 1894– 98, a recognized authority on his section of Onondaga County, he presented his collection of Iroquois relics to library of New York State Historical Society, member Masonic order and First Presbyterian Church, Baldwinsville.

Married May 12, 1880, in Baldwinsville, Lillian Maud, daughter of William Wallace and Elizabeth (Bingham) Swetland Children Otis Munro, Jr, '04 (died February 12, 1932), Elizabeth (died December 5, 1889), Marie Louise (B A Smith College 1906), the wife of James C Connell (B A Amherst 1907), Donald Dean (died August 18, 1893), Helen Margarett (died October 11, 1888); Wallace, '13 S (died October 5, 1939), Olivia (B O E Syracuse University 1918), the wife of Robert W Keyes, Jr (Union College *ex-*'19), and Payn (B S Syracuse University 1923)

Death due to old age Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Baldwinsville Survived by wife, two daughters, two sons, and nine grandchildren

Edward Benedict Cobb, B.A. 1872.

Born September 30, 1849, in Tarrytown, NY. Died November 24, 1938, in Pittsfield, Mass

Father, Edward Brown Cobb of Tarrytown, a shipowner and sea captain Mother, Ann Augusta (Benedict) Cobb, daughter of General James Benedict of New York City. Yale relatives include a brother, Augustus G. Cobb, ex-'73.

Private tutor. Member Yale Missionary Society, Class chess club, Brothers in Unity, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Phi Theta Psi, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1872–74 (LL B 1874, president of Class); associated in firm of Buell, Clute & Cobb (later Clute & Cobb) 1875–87, retired in 1887 to devote himself to family business affairs and to travel; resided in Washington, D C, in winter and in Pitts-field in summer, member '72 Class Committee since 1932

Married October 5, 1887, in Springfield, Ohio, Alice R, daughter of James Samuel and Mary A. (Cowan) Goode and sister of Frank C. Goode, '73. No children Mrs Cobb died August 25, 1929

Death due to pneumonia and myocarditis Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown Survived by no immediate relatives

By the terms of his will Mr Cobb made liberal bequests to the Class of 1872 Fund and the Alumni University Fund

Samuel Franklin Emerson, B.A. 1872.

Born August 26, 1850, in Norwich, Vt. Died April 5, 1939, in Orlando, Fla.

Father, Rev Edward Brown Emerson (B A. Dartmouth 1832), a minister and teacher, son of Rev Brown Emerson, D D (B A Dartmouth 1802), and Mary (Hopkins) Emerson Mother, Ann (Lummus) Emerson; daughter of Ezra and Ann (Stickney) Lummus of Wenham, Mass, and New York Yale relatives include: Daniel H Emerson (1834– 36 D) (uncle); Samuel A Marshall, '98 (nephew), Henry G Marshall, '60 (brother-in-law), Henry C Marshall, '30, and Charles E Marshall, '32 (grandnephews)

Hopkins Grammar School and Stratford Academy Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Gamma Nu

Head of a private school for boys, Stratford, 1872–75, attended Union Theological Seminary 1875–78 (graduate 1878), Union Theological Seminary fellow, University of Tubingen 1878–79 and University of Berlin 1879–80, unoccupied 1880–81 because of ill-health, professor of Greek and modern languages University of Vermont 1881–89, professor of history 1889–1923, and sociology 1919–23, professor emeritus since 1923; served on committee on honors for a number of years, member University Council, Ph D Hon Amherst 1885, L H D University of Vermont 1918, chairman State of Vermont Free Public Library Commission 1913–19, since retirement had lived at Ocean Point, Me, and Orlando, Fla; member Winooski Association of Congregational Ministers, Vermont Historical Society, American Historical Association, and College Street Congregational Church, Burlington, Vt

Married December 28, 1881, in New York City, Mary Brayton, daughter of Roswell Dwight Hitchcock (B.A Amherst 1836) and Elizabeth Anthony (Brayton) Hitchcock. Children Roswell Dwight Hitchcock (B A. University of Vermont 1904; LL.B Harvard 1907); Margaret Longfellow; and Mary Brayton. Mrs. Emerson died January 10, 1927

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Ocean View Cemetery, Boothbay, Me Survived by children.

Dwight Williams Huntington, B.A. 1873.

Born August 9, 1851, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died November 26, 1938, in Oceanside, NY.

Father, John Caldwell Huntington, a queen's ware, glass, and cutlery merchant in Cincinnati; son of Erastus Huntington (B A. 1791) and Sarah (Williams) Huntington of Norwich, Conn Mother, Mary (Mitchell) Huntington, daughter of Jethro and Mercy (Greene) Mitchell of Brooklyn, N Y. Yale relatives include Simon Huntington (B A. 1741) (great-grandfather); Eliphalet Lyman (B A 1776) and Joseph Lyman (B A 1767) (great-uncles), and Ebenezer Fitch (B A 1777) and Jonathan H Lyman (B A 1802) (cousins)

Private school under E F Bliss, Cincinnati Member "Clarence" Yacht Club, Class supper committee, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Phi Theta Psi, and Psi Upsilon

Accompanied Professor Othniel C Marsh's expedition to the Yellowstone in 1873 to collect specimens for Smithsonian Institution and Yale University, correspondent for Cincinnati Gazette during the trip, studied law in office of King, Thompson & Longworth, Cincinnati, 1873-75, admitted to Ohio bar April, 1875, associated with King, Thompson & Longworth 1875-76, independently engaged in the practice of law in Cincinnati 1876–1901, chairman Cincinnati Republican Campaign Committee 1881, member Ohio Legislature 1881–83, moved to New York City 1901 and engaged in literary work for Scribner's and the Century Company, became well known for paintings of wild life and western landscapes, a leader in movements for game conservation and game breeding, he wrote the game breeding law adopted by New York Legislature 1912, the first act of its kind in the country and since used as model for similar laws in forty-five states, interested in sport and outdoor life, he became part owner and editor of The Amateur Sportsman 1908-12; founded Game Conservation Society 1912 (president 1912-38); editor of bulletin The Game Breeder Magazine [now Game Breeder and Sportsman]

1912–28 and editor emeritus since 1928; resided at the Game Conservation Society's experimental game farm at Yaphank, Long Island, 1923– 29; contributed to Outing, Independent, Century, and Harper's Weekly, author: In Brush, Sedge and Stubble (1898), Our Feathered Game (1903), Our Big Game (1904), and Our Wild Fowl and Waders (1910)

Married April 9, 1890, in New York City, Mary Josephine, daughter of Charles Edmund and Josephine (Marsh) Shade Children Josephine (B S Columbia University 1916); John Caldwell (New York University School of Commerce 1914–17); Dwight Williams, Jr., and Claire Louise, the wife of Major Robert Roy Glen (M A. and B Sc University of Cambridge 1911; LL.B. University of Heidelberg) Mrs Huntington died March 23, 1916.

Death due to chronic endocarditis Buried in Maple Grove Cemetery, Kew Gardens, N.Y. Survived by children, five grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. Grace Huntington Buckland of Jacksonville, Fla, and a brother, Frederic Greene Huntington (LL.B University of Cincinnati 1893) of Cincinnati.

Edward Parmelee Morris, B.A. 1874.

Born September 17, 1853, in Auburn, NY Died November 16, 1938, in New York City

Father, Rev. Edward Dafydd Morris, BA 1849 Mother, Frances Elizabeth (Parmelee) Morris

Woodward High School, Cincinnati. Second mathematics prize Freshman year, high oration appointment and second Winthrop Prize Junior year, oration appointment Senior year; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon and Phi Beta Kappa

Taught school in Cincinnati 1874–76, instructor in Latin Purdue University 1876–77; professor of mathematics Lake Forest University 1877– 79; professor of the Greek language and literature and instructor in physical science Drury College 1879–84; attended universities of Leipzig and Jena 1884–85, M A Williams 1885, L H D 1904, Litt D Harvard 1909, Massachusetts Professor of the Latin Language and Literature, Williams College, 1884–91 and instructor in German 1884–88, professor of the Latin language and literature, Yale University, 1891–1919 (Dunham Professor 1909–19), professor emeritus since 1919, William E Dodge lecturer at Yale 1918–19, taught in Yale Naval Training Unit 1918–19, Yale College representative on University Council 1918, associate fellow Branford College since 1935; member '74 Class Committee since 1930 and acting secretary of Class since 1934; resided in Saybrook, Conn, after retirement, author. The Study of Latin in the Preparatory Course (1886), On Principles and Methods in Latin Syntax (1901, in Yale Bicentennal Series), An Examination of the Theories Regarding the Nature and Origin of Indo-European Inflection (with Hanns Oertel, MA. Hon 1888, Ph D. 1890, in Harvard Studies, XVI, 1905), The Form of the Epistle in Horace (Yale Classical Studies); editor: The Mostellaria of Plautus (1880), The Pseudolus of Plautus (1890; second edition 1895), The Captivi and Trinummus of Plautus (1898); with Morris H Morgan (BA Harvard 1881) supervised the editing of Morris and Morgan's Latin series in which appeared his edition of Horace, The Satures (1909) and Horace, The Epistles (1911), contributed to Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, American Journal of Philology, and Yale Review; for many years his hobby was sailing and in 1927 he published a book on that subject, The Fore-and-Aft Rig in America; member American Philological Association (president 1915–16), and Church of Christ in Yale University

Married January 2, 1879, in Cincinnati, Charlotte Webster, daughter of Rev Zephaniah Moore Humphrey, D.D. (B.A. Amherst 1843), and Harriette Lamyra (Sykes) Humphrey. Children: Frances Humphrey (B A Bryn Mawr 1902), the widow of John Bruce Orr; Edward (died September 18, 1885); Margaret (B.A Bryn Mawr 1908; Ph D. Yale 1916), the widow of Elmer Ray Hoskins (B.S. University of Kansas 1912, Ph D University of Minnesota 1916), and Humphrey, '19.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife, two daughters, one son, six grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren.

James Hillhouse, B.A. 1875.

Born November 19, 1854, in New Haven, Conn. Died September 17, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, William Hillhouse (M D New York University 1845; M A Hon Yale 1849), a physician in New Haven; son of Thomas and Anne VanSchaick (TenBroeck) Hillhouse of Watertown, N.Y. Mother, Frances Julia (Betts) Hillhouse, daughter of Samuel Rossiter Betts, LL D (B A Williams 1806), and Caroline Abigail (Dewey) Betts of New York City Yale relatives include James A. Hillhouse (B.A 1749) (great-greatuncle), James Hillhouse (B A 1773) and William Hillhouse (B A 1777) (great-uncles), Francis Betts Hillhouse, '25 (nephew), and John Ten-Broeck Hillhouse, '69, and Samuel Rossiter Betts, '75 (cousins).

Hopkins Grammar School Second premium for English composition Sophomore year; philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Townsend Prize, Commencement speaker, member Class walking club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa

Traveled abroad 1875-76; attended Columbia University School of

Law 1876-78 (LL.B. 1878); admitted to New York bar as attorney at law 1878 and as counselor at law 1879; in office of Hill [James K, '54], Wing & Shoudy, New York City, 1878–79, associated with George F Betts January–September, 1879, with Horatio F. Averill 1879–80, and with A C Fransioli 1880-81; managing clerk Chittenden, Townsend [James M, '74 & Chittenden [Horace H, '74] 1881–82 and with Seward, DaCosta & Guthrie 1882–88; engaged in independent practice in New York City 1888–1905; lecturer on parliamentary law and procedure New York University School of Law 1896-97 and professor of law 1897-99, retired from practice of law in 1905 and had since resided in New Haven, Class secretary for a short time after graduation; member Mayor's Committee on New Haven Tercentenary Celebration and on the Committee for the Celebration of the Tercentenary of the State of Connecticut, member New York Bar Association, American Bar Association, New Haven Chamber of Commerce, and St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven (vestryman since 1919 and member building committee since 1930).

Married October 3, 1894, in New York City, Hildegarde, daughter of Albert and Matilda Livingston (Rogers) Speyers No children.

Death due to arterial sclerosis of the heart Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife and a brother, Francis Hillhouse, '79 S. Another brother, Charles Betts Hillhouse, '78 S, died December 28, 1937

In 1931 Mr. Hillhouse gave to the Yale Law Library his law library of 2,400 volumes, including many rare and out of print items

William Henry Jordan, B.A. 1875.

Born September 3, 1849, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died February 14, 1939, in Toledo, Ohio

Father, Robert Keating Jordan, a farmer in Livermore, Calif, son of Robert and Hannah (Keating) Jordan of Seneca County, Ohio Mother, Annie Maria (Stearns) Jordan, daughter of Rev John Stearns and Asenath (Campbell) Stearns of Sardinia, Ohio.

Brayton School, Oakland, Calif, and Norwich Free Academy Attended Yale College 1871–73, a Class deacon, member Thanksgiving Jubilee Committee Freshman year, on Class supper committee, historian, secretary, and treasurer Yale Missionary Society Sophomore year, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon (second prize for declamation Freshman year), Delta Beta X1, and Delta Kappa Epsilon Enrolled with graduates of 1875 by vote of the Yale Corporation in 1905, having previously received the honorary degree of M A in 1888

Engaged in business in Oakland 1873-81 as manager Real Estate Union

and president California Hosiery Company; in 1881 retired from business and studied law privately in Oakland, Calif.; admitted to California bar 1885; engaged in practice of law in San Francisco and Oakland 1885 until retirement in 1929, specialized in corporation and commercial law; senior member firms of Jordan, Rowe & Brann 1902-16 and Jordan & Brann, San Francisco, 1916-24, represented Alameda County in Califorma house of representatives 1885–90 (speaker of the Assembly 1887-89), chairman Republican Commission, San Francisco County, 1902-04, regent ex officio University of California 1887-89; professor of medical jurisprudence Hahnemann Medical College of the Pacific, San Francisco, 1905–18, director Hahnemann Medical Hospital, San Francisco, chancellor Homeopathic Foundation of California 1932-39, president Workman's Guarantee Fund Association 1880-81; grand master Ancient Order of United Workmen 1877–80; former director Socrates Consolidated Mining Company, member Oakland Board of Education, Masonic order, Sons of the American Revolution (president California Society 1901), and Ohio Society of California (former president).

Married (1) June 6, 1874, Alice Wildes, daughter of Captain Wildes T Thompson Daughter, Alice Low, the wife of Alfred J White. Mrs Jordan died May 8, 1877 Married (2) in January, 1879, Mary Floretta, daughter of James and Mary (Welch) Knowlton Children: William Henry, Jr (died about 1923), and Mabel Floretta (deceased) Mrs Jordan died in 1891 Married (3) June 20, 1894, in San Francisco, Mary Lawrence, daughter of Richard Lawrence and Josephine (Fenald) Whiting Son, Lawrence Whiting (University of California *ex-*21). Mrs. Jordan died December 29, 1917. Married (4) in 1920, in Toledo, Mary Brainerd

Death due to myocardial degeneration Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Toledo Survived by wife, two children, three grandchildren, and a brother, Frank C. Jordan of Sacramento, Calif.

Leveritt Hyslop Sage, B.A. 1876.

Born October 22, 1855, in Brooklyn, N Y Died February 22, 1939, in Hackensack, N J.

Father, Leveritt Hyslop Sage of Hackensack, a sugar broker in New York City; son of Leveritt H and Agnes (Hyslop) Sage of Middletown, Conn Mother, Maria (Anderson) Sage, daughter of John C. Z and Harriet (Myers) Anderson of Hackensack, N J

Prepared independently at Hackensack. High oration appointment Junior year, oration appointment Senior year, first rank composition prize Sophomore year, president Berkeley Association Senior year, member Class quintette, orchestra, and whist club, Delta Kappa, Phi Theta Psi, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa.

Studied law with firm of Gilchrist & Romaine in Jersey City for a short time after graduation but was forced to give up the plan for entering that profession because of defective vision, salesman F D. Linn & Company, publishers of law books, Jersey City, 1877–97 and member of succeeding firm Soney & Sage Company, Newark, N J, 1897 until returement in 1931 (president 1919–31); trustee Street Manual Training School, Minter, Ala, 1928–39, director Hackensack Cemetery Company; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Bergen County 1928– 30, his efforts on behalf of the association's scholarship fund were contunuous and successful, permanent possessor of the Sage Challenge Cup, charter member Oritani Field Club; member Union League Club of Bergen County, and Masonic order, an organizer in 1897 and member Unitarian Church, Hackensack (president Unitarian Society of Hackensack)

Married June 28, 1902, in Pelham Manor, NY., Ella Louise, daughter of George A and Ella Louise (Brinkerhoff) Cochrane Daughter, Margaret Louise (BS Skidmore College 1930)

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Hackensack Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Miss Jennie Sage of Hackensack

John Kimberly Beach, B.A. 1877.

Born October 18, 1855, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 6, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, John Sheldon Beach (B A 1839, LL D 1887), trustee Sheffield Scientific School 1871–87 Mother, Rebecca Frances (Gibbons) Beach Yale relatives include: Daniel B Beach (B A 1842) (uncle), Francis G Beach, '83, '85 L, and Rodmond V. Beach, '87, '89 L (brothers), and David Daggett, '79, William G. Daggett, '80, and Leonard M Daggett, '84 (cousins).

Harrington's School, Throggs Neck, NY, and Hopkins Grammar School Second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment and composition prize Senior year; on Class supper committee Freshman year; Commencement speaker and historian, member Delta Kappa (campaign committee), Delta Beta X1, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

'Attended Yale School of Law 1877–79 (LL B 1879, Junior honors), admitted to Connecticut bar 1879, in practice with his father and brother 1879–98, member firm of Beach & Fisher 1898–1902 and Bristol [John W, '77], Stoddard, Beach & Fisher [Samuel H, '89] (counsel of the University) 1902–13; associate justice Connecticut Supreme Court of

ţ

Errors 1913-25, State referee since 1925; counsel Bristol & White [Henry C, '81] 1925-34 and Wiggin [Frederick H, '04] & Dana [] Dwight, '11] since 1934, lecturer on patents Yale University 1902-08 and on admiralty, copyrights, and trade-mark 1904-08; Edward J Phelps Professor of Mercantile Law and Admiralty Jurisprudence 1908-23 and professor emeritus since 1923, M A Hon Yale 1908, LL D 1914, during early years of practice specialized in patent law on which he was considered an authority, later turned to general practice, during recent years had a part in drafting new rules of civil procedure for Federal courts, as State referee was designated to take testimony and report the investigation of unethical practices of attorneys in New Haven County, contributed to Yale Review and Yale Law Journal, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1914–15, president 1915–17, and representative on Alumni Board 1917-22, Alumni Fund agent for '77 since 1933, and secretary of '79 L since about 1906, chairman Fiftieth Reunion Dinner Committee; chairman executive committee New Haven War Bureau 1918, member Municipal Building Commission, New Haven Colony Historical Society, American Law Institute (adviser to the reporter in preparation of Restatement of the Law of Agency), Bar of the Supreme Court of the United States, New Haven County Bar Association (president 1900-04), Connecticut State Bar Association (vice-president 1928-30), American Bar Association, and Mountain Lake Club (Fla), where he had spent most of the winters for a number of years.

Married April 15, 1890, in New York City, Mary Roland, daughter of Judge Charles Frederick Sanford (B.A. 1847) and Elizabeth Alice (Looney) Sanford, and sister of Charles P Sanford, '76 No children. Mrs Beach died October 28, 1922

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by a nephew, John Francis Beach of Peshtigo, Wis.

Arthur Wells Cole, B.A. 1877.

Born March 2, 1856, in Westmoreland, NH Died May 17, 1939, in Boston, Mass.

Father, John Cole of Westmoreland, a sea captain; son of Asa and Anna (Goldsmith) Cole of Westmoreland Mother, Mary Everetta (Wells) Cole, daughter of Horace and Betsy (Heath) Wells of Bellows Falls, Vt Yale relatives include Philip B Whitehead, MA 1908 (nephew), and E McClung Fleming, '30 (grandnephew)

Brimmer School, Boston, and Phillips-Andover In Freshman Barge Crew, Class six-oared crew Sophomore and Junior years, and four-oared crew Senior year, on Class baseball team and participant in track athletics Sophomore year, vice-president '77 Duck Hunters, member Sophomore Debating Club, Delta Kappa, Alpha Sigma Phi, Delta Beta Xi, and Psi Upsilon

Traveled in the South 1877–78; attended Harvard University Law School 1878–79 and studied in a law office in Chicago 1789–80; lived in California 1880–82 because of ill-health; in engineering office of his brother, in Chicago, 1882–84 and in office of L. G. Hallberg, an architect in Chicago, 1884–87; engaged as an architect in Chicago 1887 until retirement in 1922, had resided in Wellesley, Mass, since 1937, member Bryn Mawr Presbyterian Church, Bryn Mawr, Pa

Married June 4, 1895, in Hillsboro, Ill, Mary, daughter of Jacob and Elizabeth Ann (Paisley) Whitehead and sister of John M Whitehead, '77 Children: Grace May (B A Wellesley 1917) and Charles Wells, '28

Death due to septicemia Buried in North Cemetery, Westmoreland Survived by wife and children.

John Prouty McCune, B.A. 1878.

Born January 1, 1857, in Columbus, Ohio Died October 19, 1938, in Columbus, Ohio

Father, Jonas Mann McCune, a hardware merchant in Columbus, son of John and Sallie (Harris) McCune of Brattleboro, Vt Mother, Catherine L (Lumley) McCune; daughter of Edward and Eleanor (Perry) Lumley of Utica, N Y.

Columbus High School First colloquy appointment Junior year, Class baseball team Freshman and Junior years, president University and Class baseball clubs Senior year, Class supper committee Junior year, member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsilon

Associated with his father in firm of McCune & Mitthoff (later Mc-Cune, Lonnis & Stoner Company and then McCune, Lonnis & Griswold Company), Columbus, 1878–95, president Newark Machine Company, manufacturers of agricultural implements, Columbus, and later Newark, Ohio, 1895 until retirement in 1917, director of Public Safety, Columbus, 1919–31, during World War head of American Protective League, played an important part in Masonic affairs throughout his life, trustee Ohio Masonic Home in Springfield since 1896, secretary Masonic Temple Association, since 1932 secretary of the four Scottish Rite bodies in Columbus, deputy for Ohio Supreme Council of Scottish Rite Masons in Northern jurisdiction of United States since 1911, delegate, 1929, to International Conference of Supreme Councils (Masonic), Paris; custodian Masonic Temple, Columbus, since 1932, president Yale Alumni Association of Central Ohio 1900–21, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Columbus

Married September 25, 1879, in Columbus, Fannie, daughter of

Horace Morgan and Ann Malinda (Parshall) Stokes Children Louise, William Pitt, '06, John Stokes, '07 S, Dorothy, the wife of Reginald Otho Dunhill (Ohio State University ex-'14); and Donald Lumley. Mrs McCune died April 10, 1909

Death due to general debility. Buried in Green Lawn Cemetery, Columbus Survived by children and one grandson.

John Irving McDonald, B.A. 1878.

Born June 11, 1858, in St. Joseph, Mo. Died February 14, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Rufus Lee McDonald, president R L. McDonald & Company, wholesale dry goods and manufacturing, St. Joseph, son of Daniel and Martha (McMurtry) McDonald of Harrodsburg, Ky. Mother, Mary Ann (Wilson) McDonald, daughter of General Robert Wilson and Nancy (Snoddy) Wilson Yale relatives include an uncle, John Wilson (B A. 1847)

St Joseph High School. First mathematics prize Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; member Class orchestra, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Linonia

Studied law in St Joseph 1878–79, associated with R. L. McDonald & Company (later R L McDonald Manufacturing Company) 1879 until retirement in 1931 (president 1913–31); subsequently worked on inventions covering the manufacture of cuffs for men's shirts and had secured patents on three sets of inventions, president Business Men's League 1912 and of Union Made Garment Manufacturers' Association of America 1911–31, member park board of St Joseph 1916–36, during his term on the board the present park system—known as one of the finest in the United States—was developed, the park plans were presented to the people by Mr McDonald and through his efforts support was secured for the project, attended Christ Church (Episcopal), St Joseph.

Married November 17, 1880, in St Joseph, Frank Haskell, daughter of Frank and Sarah (Scott) Fanning Children Irving, '03 (died November 15, 1903), Louise, the wife of Ambrose Madison Richardson (University of Virginia *ex*-'04), and Rufus Lee Mrs McDonald died December 23, 1926

Death due to acidosis from manifion. Buried in Mount Mora Cemetery, St Joseph Survived by daughter, one son, five grandchildren, three sisters, Mrs. Harry L George, Mrs Marvin M Davis, and Miss Marie McDonald, all of St Joseph, and a brother, Robert W. McDonald (Central College, Fayette, Mo, 1881–83) of St Joseph.

[Henry] Judson Starr, B.A. 1878.

Born May 18, 1855, in Peoria, Ill Died February 22, 1939, in Pleasant Ridge, Mich.

Father, Julius Spencer Starr, an attorney in Peoria; member Illinois House of Representatives from Peoria County 1872–76; son of Julius Judson and Eliza (Smith) Starr of Newburgh, NY Mother, Susan (Comstock) Starr; daughter of Daniel and Susanna (Wortenbee) Comstock of Taylorsville, Ohio.

Peoria High School. Attended Yale College 1874–76 and 1877; awarded B A. with enrollment in his Class in 1909, member Gamma Nu.

In 1878 resumed study of law which he had begun in his father's office 1876; admitted to Illinois bar and engaged in practice of law in Peoria 1880 until retirement in 1929; Republican candidate for office of judge of the Tenth Circuit Court 1897; school inspector for Peoria one year (chairman of the building committee under which the new high school building was erected), was much in demand as a speaker at professional and educational meetings; had made his home in Pleasant Ridge since 1937; member Illinois State Bar Association, American Bar Association, and First Congregational Church, Peoria

Married January 3, 1883, in Peoria, Dollie, daughter of George Washington and Margaret Cox Schnebly Daughter, Susie Belle (B A Smith College 1905), the wife of Robert Wilson Kelso (B A Harvard 1904, LL.B 1907) Mrs Starr died December 10, 1938

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia Buried in Springdale Cemetery, Peoria. Survived by daughter, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Emma S Robison and Mrs Harry Pinkney, both of Peoria

Edward Tyler Blair, B.A. 1879.

Born November 23, 1857, in Chicago, Ill Died January 18, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, William Blair, senior member William Blair & Company, wholesale iron and hardware, Chicago, son of Samuel and Hannah (Frary) Blair of Cortland, N Y Mother, Sarah Maria (Seymour) Blair, daughter of John and Sarah Atherton (Thacher) Seymour of Ridgefield, Ohio. Yale relatives include Medill McCormick, '00, and Robert R McCormick, '03 (nephews), Watson K Blair, '13, Wolcott Blair, ex-'17 (cousins)

Williston Academy. Member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Hé Boulé, and Psi Upsilon.

Traveled abroad for a year after graduation, entered his father's busi-

ness in 1880, becoming a member of firm in 1881; secretary Chicago Freight Bureau, retired in 1888; had since traveled widely in Europe devoting himself to study of French art and history, had lectured occasionally, author *Lloyd Lee A Story of Yale* (1878), *Henry of Navarre and the Religious Wars* (1894), and *A History of the Chicago Club* (1898); for many years a liberal contributor to the Alumni Fund; member numerous clubs, historical and other organizations, and Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago

Married May 29, 1882, in Chicago, Anna Reubenia, daughter of William Sanderson and Mary Ann (Grigsby) McCormick Children: Edith (attended Sommerville College, University of Oxford), William Mc-Cormick, '07; Lucy McCormick, the wife of Howard Linn, '07 S; and Edward Seymour, '11 Mrs Blair died September 17, 1917

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by children and three grandsons, two of whom are Edward McCormick Blair, '38, and Bowen Blair, '40.

Louis Shepard de Forest, B.A. 1879.

Born February 23, 1857, in Charleston, S.C Died August 4, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Major John William de Forest (M.A Hon Amherst 1859) of New Haven, novelist and historian; served throughout the Civil War with 12th Connecticut Volunteers; son of John Hancock and Dotha (Woodward) de Forest of Seymour, Conn Mother, Harriet Silliman (Shepard) de Forest, daughter of Professor Charles Upham Shepard, LL D (B A Amherst 1824), and Harriet (Taylor) Shepard of New Haven and Charleston, S C. Yale relatives include George F DeForest, B A 1831, Henry A. DeForest, B A 1832, and Charles U Shepard, '63 (uncles), Mase S Southworth, '68, Edward Southworth, '79, Lucius Boltwood, '83, Thomas S Southworth, '83, Edward Boltwood, '92, and Bertram B Boltwood, '92 S (cousins)

Heness Institute and Hopkins Grammar School Third rank composition prize Sophomore year, Freshman Football Team; College Rifle Association, competed in winter athletic games Senior year, member Delta Kappa and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1879–80; studied at Gottingen, Jena, Berlin, and Vienna 1880–85 (M D University of Jena 1885), M A. Yale 1891; engaged in general practice of medicine New Haven since 1885, clinical assistant in medicine Yale School of Medicine 1890–91, instructor 1891–92, assistant professor 1892–95, and clinical professor 1895–99, served on staff of New Haven Dispensary and was consulting physician New Haven Hospital 1899–1928; contributed to various medi-

Yale College

cal journals, medical examiner New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad; United States Pension Examiner, member New Haven Board of Health 1887–92; member New Haven, New Haven County, Connecticut State, and American Medical associations, member Trinity Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married February 27, 1889, in New Haven, Annie Coley, daughter of Richard Mansfield and Mary Talman (Lawrence) Everit and sister of Richard L Everit, '82 S, and Arthur M Everit, '87 S Children Charles Shepard, '12 S, Louis Effingham, '12, Annie Lawrence, ex-'10 Art, the wife of James Sherman Pitkin (B A Harvard 1903), Eleanor, the wife of Arthur Corning White (B A Wesleyan 1916, Yale Graduate School ex-'20); and Katharine, the wife of William Durrie Waldron, '03 Mrs de Forest died February 24, 1932

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven Survived by children and four grandchildren Dr. de Forest bequeathed his medical library to the University

Otis Harvey Waldo, B.A. 1879.

Born November 11, 1857, in Milwaukee, Wis Died June 13, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Otis Harvey Waldo (B A Union College 1842), a lawyer in Milwaukee, president Milwaukee & Northern Railroad, son of Otis and Fanny (Cook) Waldo of Prattsburg, N Y Mother, Gertrude Coeymans (Van Valkenburgh) Waldo, daughter of Jacob and Mary Bethiah (Higgins) Van Valkenburgh of Pontiac, Mich Yale relatives include a grandson, C Ives Waldo, Jr, '33

Milwaukee High School and private tutor High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, Class baseball team Freshman and Senior years, Freshman Supper Committee; chairman Senior Promenade Committee, editor Yale Courant Senior year, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Law 1879-80, head of classical department and instructor in history and government Milwaukee High School 1880-85, studied law in firm of Waldo, Ody & Van Valkenburgh, Milwaukee, 1880-82; admitted to bar in Wisconsin 1882 and Illinois 1885, engaged in law practice Milwaukee 1882-85 and Chicago since 1885 (member firm Bayley & Waldo 1885-95, associated with Joseph A. Simpson 1895-1902 and with his son, Otis H Waldo, Jr, '06, 1914-30), member University Club of Chicago, attended Kenwood Church

Married August 10, 1880, in New Haven, Kate Maria, daughter of Charles Ives (Yale School of Law 1845–46, M A Hon 1874) and Catherine Maria (Osborn) Ives, and sister of Charles Ives, '74. Children Charles Ives, ex-'05, Otis Harvey, Jr, '06 (died November 28, 1930), and Katharine, the wife of Walter Gurr Silver (Northwestern University School of Law 1896–97) Mrs Waldo died November 28, 1915.

Death due to chronic nephritis and cystitis Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee. Survived by daughter, one son, and two grandchildren

Samuel Porter Willard, B.A. 1879.

Born January 12, 1856, in Willimantic, Conn. Died October 10, 1938, in Colchester, Conn.

Father, Rev Samuel George Willard (B.A 1846, Yale Divinity School 1849), son of Dr David Willard and Abby (Gregory) Willard of Wilton, Conn Mother, Cynthia (Barrows) Willard, daughter of Dan and Abigail (Freeman) Barrows of Mansfield, Conn Yale relatives include. Edwin B. Cragin, '82 (brother-in-law), and E Bradford Cragin, '22 (nephew).

Natchaug School, Willimantic, and Bacon Academy, Colchester. Dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; Class secretary Senior year; member Dunham four-oared crew Senior year, Natural History Society, Delta Kappa, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Assistant in biological and paleontological work Peabody Museum of Natural History 1879–80, taught at Easton (Conn) Academy 1880–81; in office of Hayward Rubber Company, Colchester, 1881–83, instructor and principal First District school, Colchester, 1883-87, associated with Connecticut State Board of Education 1887–1938 (agent 1887–1928, purchasing agent since 1893, secretary of the board 1894, attendance agent 1895–1921, acting visitor to the county homes 1901–21, financial agent and head of division of accounts and purchases 1920-28), corresponding secretary Connecticut State Teachers' Association 1918-28, member Colchester Board of Education 1885–1914, and 1928–35 (served as chairman and as secretary 1929-35), trustee Bacon Academy since 1896 (clerk and chairman superintending committee 1896-1937), for many years an officer of The Colchester Library Association, president board of trustees Cragin Memorial Library from December 31, 1904, when elected first president, until resignation March 19, 1938, represented Colchester in General Assembly 1889 and 1929, official weather observer in Colchester 1888–1938, member Colchester Business Men's Association, Linwood Cemetery Association, Sons of the American Revolution, Connecticut and New London County Historical societies, Colchester Grange, Masonic order, and Calvary Episcopal Church, Colchester.

Married December 14, 1882, in Colchester, Anna Elizabeth, daughter of Jonathan Needham and Hannah Rollins (Grant) Felton No children. Mrs Willard died March 25, 1935

Yale College

Death due to uremia and cardiovascular renal disease Buried in Harmony Grove Cemetery, Salem, Mass Survived by a sister, Miss Abby Gregory Willard (B A Smith College 1883) of Colchester, two nieces, Miriam Willard Cragin (B.A Smith 1912) and Alice Gregory Cragin Lewis (B.A. Smith 1915), the wife of Dr Raymond W Lewis, '11, and a nephew, E Bradford Cragin, '22

Cecil Kent Austin, B.A. 1880.

Born December 13, 1858, in Chicago, Ill Died November 11, 1938, in Santa Margherita Ligure, Italy

Father, Joseph B. Austin, a mining engineer in London and Philadelphia. Mother, Sarah (Leavitt) Austin

Attended school in Princeton, Mass, and in Germany and Switzerland Scott Prize in French Junior year.

Resided in Philadelphia 1880–85; attended Medical Department University of Paris 1885–90 (M D. 1890), had engaged in practice of medicine Paris 1890 until retirement 1919, resided at Cornaux and Rossinières, Vaud, Switzerland, 1921–24 and in Santa Margherita Ligure, Italy, since 1924; an expert mountaineer he had climbed many of the most difficult peaks in the Alps; when age prohibited his climbing he traveled widely visiting Greece, France, Belgium, Holland, Iceland, and the Scandinavian countries, a linguist and philologist he studied Greek, Gothic, Old English, and Old German, as well as Icelandic, the Scandinavian languages, and the other modern European tongues, for his Icelandic studies, his knowledge of the "Edda," and the Icelandic sagas the government of Iceland awarded him in 1928 the Grand Cross, with Star, of the Order of the Icelandic Falcon

Married July 4, 1895, in Paris, France, Ellen Gertrude, daughter of Thomas and Giorgiana (Breffit) Binney No children

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Santa Margherita Ligure Survived by wife, a brother, William Lawrence Austin of Riverside, Calif, and a sister, Miss Constance Austin of Los Angeles, Calif

Elias Wyman Davis, B.A. 1880.

Born August 23, 1854, in Paxton, Mass Died August 30, 1938, in Hartford, Conn

Father, David Gates Davis, a manufacturer and farmer in Paxton and Worcester, Mass, selectman and assessor of Paxton, member state legislature; son of David Davis and Patty (Howe) Davis of Paxton Mother, Sarah Gilbert (Earle) Davis; daughter of Philip and Patty U (Barton) Earle of Leicester, Mass Yale relatives include Warren G Davis, '10 (nephew)

Leicester Academy and Worcester Academy Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Gamma Nu, Linonia, and German Conversation Club

Taught grammar school in Paxton for a few months in 1881; farmed in Paxton 1881–89; attended Yale School of Medicine 1889–92 (M D. 1892), engaged in general practice of medicine, Seymour, Conn, 1892 until retirement in 1932, on courtesy staff Griffin Hospital, Derby, since 1910, selectman in Paxton one year and chairman of school committee 1883–88, medical examiner Town of Seymour 1892–1932, post surgeon, Seymour, 1921–26, enrolled in Volunteer Medical Service Corps 1918; member Yale Alumni Association of New Haven, New Haven County Medical Association (president 1923–24 and delegate to State Medical Convention 1923), New Haven Medical Association, Connecticut State and American Medical associations, Masonic order, and Seymour Congregational Church

Married November 5, 1883, in Paxton, Eliza Heywood, daughter of George Webb and Caroline Hepsy (Bigelow) Dodd Children Lester Gilbert (died February 24, 1886), Herman Elias (died January 7, 1889), Florence Marion, and Gertrude Elizabeth (Music certificate Yale 1916) Mrs Davis died November 18, 1924

Death due to fracture of left femur Buried in Trinity Cemetery, Seymour Survived by daughters

Edwin Cesar Malan Hall, B.A. 1880.

Born July 16, 1858, in Geneva, Switzerland Died February 4, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Eli Edwin Hall (B A. Illinois College 1838; graduate Yale Divinity School 1841; LL B Yale 1874) Mother, Cécile Alexandrina (Malan) Hall Yale relatives include his grandfather, Eli Hall (M D Hon 1841)

Hopkins Grammar School First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Linonia

Taught in a district school in New Haven 1880–81; attended New York Homeopathic Medical College 1881–83 (M D 1883) and assistant in chemistry 1883–84, engaged in practice of medicine, New London, Conn, May–August, 1884, Branford, Conn, 1884–86, and New Haven since 1886, health officer East Haven 1904–30, visiting physician Grace Hospital 1891–1939, physician Home for the Friendless (now⁻the Mary Wade Home), New Haven, 1887–96, was the first homeopath appointed to any public or private institution in the state, an incorporator in 1900

Yale College

and chief medical director Fraternal Benefit League (later merged with the American Insurance Union), author Remedies in Pertussis (1936) and The Connecticut Homeopathic Society—A Partial History (1937), secretary Midwifery State Examining Board 1913–35; director Grace Hospital, member Connecticut Homeopathic Medical Examining Board 1899– 1935 (secretary 1905–35), Connecticut Homeopathic Medical Society (president 1895–96), New Haven Medical Association, American Institute of Homeopathy, Masonic order, and Grand Avenue Congregational Church, New Haven.

Married January 26, 1887, in New Haven, Helen Lovisa, daughter of Joel Tuttle and Mary Jane (Rowe) Rice Children. Henry Victor Malan (B A. Pomona College 1912); Raymond Arkley (died March 19, 1899), Edwin Sydney, '15 S (B S University of Colorado 1926), Helen Charlotte (B.S. Connecticut College for Women 1921), the wife of Homer Hopkins Holton (B A Pomona College 1924), and Richard Atwater (New York State Ranger School 1936) Mrs Hall died November 1, 1938.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Alderbrook Cemetery, Guilford, Conn. Survived by daughter, three sons, and five grandchildren

Wilbur Parker, B.A. 1880.

Born May 28, 1858, in Titusville, Pa Died December 2, 1938, in Tucson, Ariz

Father, James Parker of Cleveland, son of Timothy Haines and Elizabeth (Price) Parker. Mother, Harriet Vashti (Barnsdall) Parker.

Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland President Class baseball team Sophomore year, president and captain Junior and Senior years, University Baseball Team three years, winner heavyweight boxing match and sparring bout, winter athletic games, Junior year, judge winter athletic meet Senior year, member committee on revival of Thanksgiving Jubilee, Junior year, Class supper committee Sophomore year, member German Conversation Club, Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones

Read law in a Cleveland law office 1880–81; attended Harvard University Law School 1881–82; admitted to Ohio bar November, 1882, moved to Texas February, 1883, and there carried on a cattle business until March, 1885; engaged in mining, Sonora, Mexico, 1884–85, resumed practice of law in Cleveland (member Eddy & Parker 1885), representative in Ohio Legislature 1890 and 1891, state senator 1892 and 1893, retired from practice 1894; supervised his mining properties in Chihuahua 1894–1903 and 1917 until retirement, acted as field superintendent of T N Barnsdall oil and gas interests in Indiana and Illinois 1903–17; had resided in Columbus since 1900, member board of governors Yale Club of Columbus 1927.

Married March 12, 1894, in Pasadena, Calif, Fanny Mithoff Nicholas, daughter of Edward Theodore and Mary (Meyers) Mithoff. No children. Mrs Parker died July 21, 1903

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by a stepson, Edward Mithoff Nicholas, and a brother

Daniel Arthur Carpenter, B.A. 1881.

Born June 11, 1858, in Afton, N.Y. Died July 21, 1938, in Plainfield, N.J

Father, Daniel A Carpenter, a merchant in Afton; first supervisor Town of Afton; sheriff Chenango County for three years; son of Benjamin Samuel and Catherine (Salmon) Carpenter of Goshen and Bainbridge, N Y Mother, Sarah Maria (Williams) Carpenter; daughter of Jirah and Mary (Raymond) Williams Yale relatives include a brother, Horace R Carpenter, '83 S.

Afton Academy, Norwich Free Academy, and Wyoming Seminary, Kingston Oration appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment and debating society Senior year, member Yale Daily News Board, Class ivy committee, Class baseball team four years; president Consolidated '81 and '82 Baseball Team Senior year, member Gamma Nu (president campaign committee), Alpha Kappa, Linonia, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Studied law in office of Chapman & Lyon, Binghamton, N.Y, 1881-82, attended Yale School of Law 1882-83 (LL B 1883; member University Baseball Team), admitted to Connecticut bar 1883 and New York bar July, 1884, clerk in New York office of Roger Foster, '78, September, 1883-January, 1884; managing clerk in office of Gilbert M Plympton, New York City, 1884-90, member firm of Bigelow [Russell A, '81] & Carpenter, New York City, 1890, engaged in independent practice of law New York City 1890 until retirement in 1932, vice-president and a director Monarch Typewriter Company 1902-03, counsel Remington Typewriter Company (operators of Monarch Typewriter Company) in matters affected by patent and trade-mark laws until 1932; vice-president Yost Typewriter Company, director and president Densmore Typewriter Company, private and lance corporal Company B, Seventh Regiment, New York, secretary of his Class 1890-1901, had patented a number of inventions, since retirement had resided in Plainfield.

Married August 29, 1900, in New York City, Elizabeth Margaret, daughter of Charles and Mary Ann (Pope) Ogilvie. No children Mrs. Carpenter died in July, 1910.

1

Yale College

Death due to heart trouble and the infirmities of old age. Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Afton Survived by no immediate relatives

Louis Condit Hay, B.A. 1881.

Born November 29, 1859, in Orange, NJ Died July 15, 1938, at Black Point, Conn.

Father, Sılas Condit Hay, member brokerage firm of Caldwell, Hay & Washburn, New York City, son of Rev. Philip Cortlandt Hay, D D (B A. Princeton 1818), and Elizabeth (Condit) Hay of Geneseo, N Y Mother, Elizabeth Caroline (Platt) Hay, daughter of Jonathan and Elizabeth (Goodrich) Platt of Owego, N Y Yale relatives include. Thomas C. Platt, '53, George Underwood, '75, and Frank Brookfield, '97 (cousins).

J H. Morse's School and Williston Academy Class glee club three years; University Glee Club and College Choir Junior and Senior years; Junior Promenade Committee; judge winter athletic games Sophomore year; '81 Casino Club and Telegraph Company; Equestrian Club Junior year, editor Yale Index Senior year, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon (president campaign committee), Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Associated with his father's firm 1881–82, member Belfield (N Dak) Land Company and partner in a sheep ranch 1883-85, editor Belfield Courser and commissioner Billings County 1884, managed brokerage office of H. T. Godet & Company, Washington, during winter 1884, confidential clerk F. D. Hazen, St Paul, Minn, 1885, member Weatherby & Hay, real estate and mortgages, St Paul, 1886–91 and New York City 1891–97, lumber importer London 1897–1907, board member Hay & Boynton, New York City, and member New York Stock Exchange 1907 until retirement in 1916, during World War member New York Draft Board and Red Cross Bureau of Personnel for Overseas Service; an organizer and secretary Wright Memorial Committee 1909–10, member committee which built Yale Club of New York (vice-president of club 1915-17); an organizer in 1904, London section, Navy League of the United States (secretary 1904–07), member Advisory Board Auxiliary to the Tuberculosis Division of Bellevue Hospital, governor Hospital for the Ruptured and Crippled, New York City, 1930-38, a founder of The Pilgrims, London, 1902 (secretary New York Branch 1908-10), fellow Royal Geographical Society, former member London Chamber of Commerce and the Baltic Exchange, member Society of the Cincinnati and Sons of the Revolution; attended Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married November 2, 1887, in East Saginaw, Mich, Jane Eloise,

daughter of Wellington R and Sarah (Torrans) Burt. Son, Wellington Burt, '10

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease with cerebromalacia. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, son, two grandsons, one of whom is Wellington B. Hay, Jr, '40, and a brother, C. Cortlandt Hay of New York City.

Harris Richardson, B.A. 1881.

Born August 8, 1858, in Lowell, Wis. Died February 23, 1939, in St Paul, Minn

Father, Edwin Ball Richardson, a grain buyer in Fox Lake and Janesville, Wis., son of Calvin Porter and Fannie (Rust) Richardson of Janesville Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Tenney) Richardson; daughter of David and Mary (Harris) Tenney of Dunbarton, N.H.

Janesville High School and Beloit Academy Composition prize (third rank) and third declamation prize Sophomore year; Class Day historian, member University Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended University of Wisconsin 1881–83 (LL B. 1883); admitted to Minnesota bar 1883; had engaged in practice of law in St. Paul since 1883; member firms of Richardson, Markham & May, Richardson & Kerr, and Richardson & Lawrence; associated in practice with his son, Walter Richardson, '08, 1912–25, interested in geology, in 1905 he succeeded in relocating and retracing for a distance of two hundred and fifty miles the Penokee Iron Range in northern Wisconsin, member Minnesota and New Hampshire Historical societies, Ramsey County Bar Association, American Bar Association, and Masonic order

Married August 8, 1882, in Danbury, Conn, Mary Kate, daughter of David Wheeler and Mary (Gregory) Fairchild Children Walter, '08 (died August 20, 1926), and Gertrude (special student University of Wisconsin 1907–11), the wife of Austin Angell Mrs. Richardson died September 16, 1905.

Death due to coronary disease. Buried in Sunset Memorial Park, Minneapolis, Minn Survived by daughter and six grandchildren.

Morgan Hawley Beach, B.A. 1882.

Born September 20, 1861, in Sandy Spring, Md Died December 28, 1938, in Washington, D C

Father, Samuel Ferguson Beach (BA Wesleyan University 1846), a lawyer in Alexandria, Va, former US District Attorney for Virginia, counsel in the treason indictment of Jefferson Davis and in recovery of Arlington estate for General C W P. Custis Lee, son of John Burton and Emmaline (Hawley) Beach of Middletown, Conn Mother, Elizabeth (Morgan) Beach; daughter of John and Eliza (McCormick) Morgan of Alexandria, Va

Episcopal High School of Virginia First Berkeley Premium Freshman year, first term composition prize Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year, coxswain Class barge crew Senior year, secretary Yale University Boat Club Junior year; editor Yale Courant Senior year, Class historian, Class cup committee, '82 Pedestrian Club, member Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon (delegate to convention Junior year), Scroll and Key, and Phi Beta Kappa

Read law with his father 1882–83, attended University of Virginia 1883–84 (LL B 1884); admitted to Virginia bar September, 1884, to bar of District of Columbia January 1, 1886, and to practice before United States Supreme Court 1890, engaged in practice of law in Alexandria 1885–97 and in Washington 1886–1938 (member firm Beach & Page 1886–90 and Beach & Adkins 1908–10), had been associated with his son since 1926, U S Attorney for the District of Columbia 1903–05, special assistant to Attorney General of the United States 1905–08 and 1915–16, special assistant to U.S Attorney, District of Columbia, 1908–10 and 1919–20; clerk Supreme Court, District of Columbia, 1920–26, during World War legal adviser to Postmaster General and post office department on administration of Espionage Act and Trading with the Enemy Act, member Columbia Historical Society

Married December 25, 1893, in Oatlands, Va, Elizabeth Grayson, daughter of George and Kate (Powell) Carter Children Katharine Elizabeth, the wife of Lieut Comdr. Thomas C Latimore, USN (grad US Naval Academy 1914), Grayson Carter, the wife of John Edwin Barber, '10, Elizabeth Morgan, the wife of James Young Pennebaker; and Samuel Ferguson (LL B. National University Law School 1925)

Death due to chronic atrophic arthritis Buried in Ivy Hill Cemetery, Alexandria Survived by wife, children, and eight grandchildren

Harry Chapman McKnight, B.A. 1882.

Born March 13, 1859, in Enfield, Conn Died December 4, 1938, at Bentley Creek, Pa

Father, Henry McKnight, a farmer in Ellington, Conn, son of Horace and Asenath (Kimball) McKnight of Ellington Mother, Olivia Phebe (Chapman) McKnight, daughter of Austin and Phebe (Niles) Chapman of Ellington

Rockville (Conn) High School. First dispute appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year; member Gamma Nu.

Attended Yale Divinity School 1882–85 (B D. 1885), ordained October 7, 1885, in First Congregational Church, Falmouth, Me, and minister there 1885–88, minister North Guilford, Conn., 1889–92, Sherman, Conn, 1893–97, East Longmeadow, Mass, 1898–1903, Coventry, Conn, 1903–11, Chaplin, Conn, 1911–17, acting minister in Coventry 1917, retired in 1917, resided in South Coventry until 1926 and since that time in Wellsburg where he supplied the Baptist Church for two years; several of his sermons have been published in pamphlet form, appointed in 1910 president board of trustees Hale Donation Fund, Coventry, member Second Congregational Church, Coventry

Married May 19, 1886, in New Haven, Conn, Jennie Louisa, daughter of Josiah Austin and Jenette (Treat) Weed Children. Wallace, Ray Weed (died August 20, 1892), and Theodore Weed (died August 6, 1896) Mrs. McKnight died May 8, 1936.

Death due to angina pectoris. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven, Conn Survived by son and two granddaughters.

Charles Newton Morris, B.A. 1882.

Born August 19, 1860, in West Hartford, Conn Died December 12, 1938, in Amesbury, Mass.

Father, Rev Myron Newton Morris (BA 1837). Mother, Emeline (Whitman) Morris

Hartford Public High School First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, stroke Dunham four-oared crew and winner mile run spring athletic games Senior year, Ivy Committee; member Hare and Hounds Club and Psi Upsilon.

Paymaster's clerk US Army 1882–84, attended Johns Hopkins University 1884–85, instructor in history Washington (D.C.) High School for a short time in 1885, attended Yale Graduate School 1885–87 (M A 1887) and Berkeley Divinity School 1887–89 (graduated 1889), ordamed deacon by Bishop of Connecticut 1889 and priest 1890; rector All Saints' Mission, New Haven, Conn, 1891 and Ascension Church, Westminster, Md, 1892–93; assistant minister St Mark's Church, Philadelphia, 1893, and St Stephen's, Boston, 1896, rector St James' Church, Amesbury, Mass, 1897, resided in New Haven 1899–1900 and in Boston 1901; minister St Luke's Church, Brooklyn, 1902, St Mark's Church, Little Creek, Del, 1903–04, and St John's Church, Niantic, Conn, 1905–06; rector St Luke's Church, Chester, Vt, 1907–09, resided in Chester 1910;

rector Grace Church, Albany, 1911, curate Amesbury 1912–21, had resided in Amesbury since 1921, MA. (ad eundem) Trinity College, Toronto, 1893; author: "Internal Improvements in Ohio, 1825–1850" in Papers of the American Historical Association (1889)

Married October 24, 1904, in Amesbury, Mary Josephine, daughter of Charles Austin and Katharine (Maon) Burlingame No children

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Union Cemetery, Amesbury Survived by wife.

Henry Barstow Platt, B.A. 1882.

Born February 2, 1860, in Owego, NY Died October 20, 1938, in New York City.

Father, Thomas Collier Platt, '53 Mother, Ellen Lucy (Barstow) Platt Yale relatives include Frank H Platt, '77 (brother), William H Platt (B A. 1835) (uncle), George G Pumpelly, ex-'67 S (cousin), John C. Phelps, '06, Livingston Platt, '07, William D Phelps, ex-'13, and William G. Phelps, '14 (nephews), and Frank H Platt, '35, William V. Platt, '39, and Livingston Platt, Jr, '42 (grandnephews)

Williston Academy First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, on Freshman Football and Baseball teams; University Baseball Team three years; president Class football club four years, member auditing committee University Boat Club Senior year; member '82 Pedestrian Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Superintendent Gaines Coal & Coke Company, Addison, NY, 1883–85, associated with Gere, Truman, Platt & Company (The Champion Wagon Company), manufacturers of agricultural instruments, Owego, 1883–87 and a director until 1919, superintendent money order department and later general superintendent U.S. Express Company, New York City, 1887–1913, managing director Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland 1895 until retirement in 1920 (vice-president 1897–1920), during World War served as director Bureau of Personnel, Overseas Service, Atlantic Division, American Red Cross, treasurer and director National Tuberculosis Association 1919–32, member board of managers of the Society for Reformation of Juvenile Delinquents, House of Refuge, Randall's Island, 1922–33, director New York Tuberculosis and Health Association, Class Agent 1890–1917, elected a member of the New England Society in 1919.

Married November 9, 1887, in Wilkes-Barre, Pa, Grace Lee, daughter of John Case and Martha Wheeler (Bennett) Phelps, and sister of Z Bennett Phelps, '95. Children Sherman Phelps, ex-'12, Charlotte, the widow of Huntington Lyman, '16, and Collier, '20. Mrs Platt died July 14, 1907

Death due to hypostatic pneumonia and congestive heart trouble. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Owego. Survived by children and seven grandchildren.

Arthur Bradford Cornwall, B.A. 1883.

Born October 26, 1861, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 16, 1938, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Isaac Riley Cornwall, a teller and bookkeeper with the Merchants' National Bank, New Haven, son of Grove Rockwell and Roxcy (Higby) Cornwall of Milford, Conn Mother, Deborah Chandler (Ryder) Cornwall, daughter of Caleb and Lucy (Bradford) Ryder of Plymouth, Mass Yale relatives include: James B. Ryder, MA Hon 1893 (uncle), and Elizabeth R Cornwall, ex-'36 G. (niece).

Hopkins Grammar School First Berkeley Premium Freshman year; composition prize Sophomore year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, divided Scott Prize in French Junior year, Class glee club four years and University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; member executive committee Hare and Hounds Club Sophomore year (president Senior year), member Delta Kappa and Phi Beta Kappa

Assistant chemist, U.S Geological Survey, New Haven, 1883, and organist and choir leader in two New Haven churches on the Green; traveled in Europe as private tutor 1884-85, associated with Connecticut Savings Bank and City Bank, New Haven, 1886–88, member firm Walbridge & Company, publishers and printers of schoolbooks, New York City, 1889–1900, credit man Rogers, Peet & Company, New York City, 1902, and conducted the liquidation of the firm 1903-04; office manager D O Haynes & Company, publishers of the Pharmaceutical Era, 1905-07; member staff of Frederick F. Judd & Company, certified public accountants, New York City, 1907–09, an incorporator in 1909 and vice-president Nassau Audit Company, independently engaged as certified public accountant since 1920, C P A University of the State of New York 1910, compiled Triennial Record of the Class of 1883 (1886), author Francis the First, Unacknowledged King of Great Britain and Ireland (published in England 1936); director and vice-president Berkeley School Corporation since 1906, fellow American Association of Public Accountants, member New York State Society of Certified Public Accountants and Masonic order, attended Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married (1) January 20, 1891, in New Haven, Lucy Emily, daughter of Charles and Emily F (Ross) Jackson Daughter. Emily Bradford (Mrs. Edward Alfred Colson) Mrs Cornwall died February 16, 1915 Married

Yale College

(2) September 19, 1916, in Plymouth, Mass , Alice Morton, daughter of James Morton and Helen Maria (Field) Atwood.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a brother, Charles E Cornwall, '88.

Charles Seward Foote, B.A. 1883.

Born February 7, 1860, in Port Henry, NY. Died January 11, 1939, in Port Henry, NY

Father, Wallace Turner Foote, agent and trustee Bay State Iron Company, Port Henry, president First National Bank of Wyoming, Iowa, son of Clark and Harriet (Boardman) Foote of Middlebury, Vt, and Michigan Mother, Hilah Eliza (Foote) Foote; daughter of Lucius Archibald and Emily Pamelia (Smith) Foote of Port Henry Yale relatives include a brother, Frederick H. Foote, *ex-*'75 S, and two nephews, Edwin E Aiken, Jr., '16, and George L. Aiken, '17

Williston Academy. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; editor *Yale Courant* three years; winner Class B race spring regatta Junior year; member Yale Field undergraduate committee, fence orator, member Yale Yacht Club, Kappa Sigma Epsilon (president campaign committee), Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Albany Law School 1883–84 and studied in office of Judge * Samuel Hand, Albany; admitted to bar May, 1885; in office of Eaton & Lewis, New York City, August–November, 1885, became managing clerk Lowrey, Stone & Auerbach, New York City, 1885, engaged in independent practice of law in New York City until retirement in 1924, had resided in Port Henry since about 1934; represented Union County in New Jersey House of Assembly 1900–01; for a number of years had served on his Class reunion committee; member Moriah Town Historical Society, Yale Club of New York City, and New York County Lawyer's Association 1909–17

Married (1) June 6, 1891, in Strafford, Pa, Mary Cecilia, daughter of John Langdon and Martha (Emlen) Wentworth Children Thomas Foote Wentworth, '13 S, and Robert Seabury Wentworth, '17 S Mr and Mrs Foote were divorced in 1900 Married (2) September 21, 1925, in Rutland, Vt, Alice Aiken Gale, daughter of Rev William Pope Aiken, '53, and Susan Curtis (Edgerton) Aiken, and sister of Edwin E Aiken, '81, and William P Aiken, '89

Death due to the infirmities of age Buried in Union Cemetery, Port Henry Survived by wife, sons, six grandchildren, and two brothers, George Clark Foote (B E Union College 1899) of Port Henry and Thomas H. Foote of Pasadena, Calif.

Sheldon Quayle Kerruish, B.A. 1883.

Born February 26, 1861, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died December 5, 1938, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, William Sheldon Kerruish, '55 Mother, Margaret (Quayle) Kerruish Yale relatives include William S K Stage, '26, and Charles W. Stage, Jr, '28 L (nephews).

Brooks Military Academy, Cleveland. Dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year; lieutenant Dunham Boat Club Junior year, judge University Boat Club fall regatta Senior year; Class historian, member Yale Chess Club, Hare and Hounds Club, Delta Kappa, and Psi Upsilon.

Studied law in his father's firm of Kerruish & Chapman 1883-85; admitted to Ohio bar March 4, 1885; associated with his father in the Cleveland law firms of Kerruish, Chapman & Kerruish, Kerruish & Kerruish, Kerruish, Kerruish, Hartshorn & Spooner, and Kerruish, Kerruish & Spooner 1885-1927, at the time of his death was senior partner of Kerruish & Spooner, secretary Yale Alumni Association of Cleveland and Vicinity 1884-86 and member of the executive committee 1895-96, 1899-1900, director The Elwell-Parker Electric Company (secretary 1920-38), Cottage Creamery Company, Billings-Chapin Company, Cleveland Fare Box Company, Industrial Machine Company, Chalac Company, Four Way Lock Company, Farmview Creamery Stores, Inc. (vice-president 1928-38), and Molton Distributing Company; former member Ohio National Guard, member Cleveland, Ohio State, and American Bar associations, and St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Cleveland Heights

Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by three sisters, Miss Mona I. Kerruish of Cleveland, Maud K. Towson, the wife of Morris S Towson (B S Case School of Applied Science 1886, C.E 1890) of Cleveland, and Helen K. Whitney (B A. Smith College 1900), the wife of Edward S Whitney (B.A. Amherst 1890, LL B Harvard 1893) of Montclair, N J

Marcus Morton, B.A. 1883.

Born April 27, 1862, in Andover, Mass Died March 20, 1939, in Boston, Mass

Father, Marcus Morton, LL D (B A. Brown University 1838), associate justice 1869–82 and chief justice Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts 1882–90, son of Governor Marcus Morton, LL D (B A Brown

Yale College

University 1804), justice Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts 1825– 39, and Charlotte (Hodges) Morton Mother, Abby Bowler (Hoppin) Morton; daughter of Henry and Amy Harris (Bowler) Hoppin of Providence, R I

Phillips-Andover Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years, member Class Day Committee, Kappa Sigma Epsilon, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Harvard University Law School 1883-85, in office of Morse & Stone, Boston, summer 1884, admitted to Massachusetts bar 1886, engaged in practice of law, Boston, 1885–1909 (partner of Charles S Hamlin 1885–89 and an associate of Robert M Morse 1889–1909), appointed justice Superior Court of Massachusetts by Governor Draper September 24, 1909; at time of death was, in point of service, senior justice of that court; treasurer Newton Home for Aged People 1898–1910, trustee Newton Hospital 1904–10, member Newton School Board 1902– 10; vice-president Children's Aid Association, Boston, 1919 (clerk 1893-1902, director 1893-1912, honorary counsel 1912-19), director Lever Brothers Company since 1907; active trustee Abbott Academy, Andover, 1896–1935, trustee emeritus since 1935 (president of the board 1923-34), vice-president Yale Club of Boston 1925, president 1929-30, and representative on Alumni Board 1925–36, charter member Episcopalian Club of Massachusetts (vice-president 1902-03, president 1904, chairman executive committee 1896 and 1900-01), an incorporator, 1896, Massachusetts Society of Mayflower Descendants; member Colonial Society of Massachusetts, Boston and American Bar associations, Union Club of Boston, Club of Odd Volumes, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Boston (vestryman 1930–35 and emeritus since 1935)

Married October 26, 1891, in Newton, Mass, Maria Eldredge, daughter of Wilson Jarvis Welch (B A Harvard 1839, LL B 1842) and Elizabeth Fearing (Thatcher) Welch. Children Marcus, Jr (B A Yale 1916, LL B Harvard 1921), and Helen (B A Vassar College 1920, M S Simmons College 1922).

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Newton Cemetery Survived by wife, children, three granddaughters, and a sister, Miss Lorania Carrington Morton of Newton.

Charles Edward Sackett, B.A. 1883.

Born December 24, 1861, in Jamestown, NY Died January 22, 1939, in Los Angeles, Calif

Father, Charles Dewey Sackett (Allegheny College ex-1845) of Norwich, Mass, and Jamestown; editor *Jamestown Journal*; son of Jabez B. and Ann (Dewey) Sackett of Meadville, Pa Mother, Mary Anna (Dickson) Sackett, daughter of William and Elizabeth (Dickson) Dickson Westfield (Ill) Academy, attended Western Reserve University 1879-

81 (member Delta Kappa Epsilon) Entered Yale Class of 1883 at beginning of Junior year; dissertation appointment Senior year; member Class tennis club

Principal of Norwalk, Conn, school 1883–84, attended George Washington University Law School 1885–87, admitted to Montana bar 1889, clerk in the Sixth Auditor's office, Washington, DC, 1884–90; post office inspector in San Francisco 1890–93; appointed court reporter in Montana 1892 and served until 1900, moved to Butte, Mont, 1900 and engaged in practice of law 1900–05, reporter District Court, Third Judicial District, Montana, with residence in Anaconda 1905–23; retired in 1923 and had since resided in Los Angeles, Calif, compiled the mining laws of Montana (unpublished), member Masonic order

Unmarried

Death due to apoplexy Buried in Valhalla Cemetery, Burbank, Calif Survived by a sister, Miss Clara E Sackett of St. Petersburg, Fla

James William Cain, B.A. 1884.

Born September 1, 1860, in New Haven, Conn. Died October 13, 1938, in Baltimore, Md.

Father, Patrick John Cain. Mother, Mary (Kelley) Cain.

Hillhouse High School Class crew Freshman and Sophomore years; member Kappa Sigma Epsilon

Taught in New Haven evening schools 1880–84; engaged in business in Bridgeport, Conn, for a short time 1884, principal Lewiston (Pa) Academy 1885–86, professor of mathematics and acting professor of English literature, St John's College, Annapolis, 1886-88, professor of English and English literature 1889–92 and 1900–03, of political and social science 1893-1903, vice-president 1895-1903; president board of school trustees Annapolis 1897–1901; president Washington College 1903-18, professor of ethics 1903-10 and of economics 1903-18, ex officio member Maryland State Board of Education 1903–18, resigned from presidency of the college 1918 to accept vice-presidency of United States Fidelity and Guaranty Company, Baltimore, and served in that capacity until retirement in 1932, during World War Federal Food Administrator and County Chairman of the Four-Minute Men, Kent County, Md; author Financial History of the United States (1933); coeditor Fidelity and Surety Bonds (1920), MA Yale 1893, LL D. St John's 1904, University of Pittsburgh 1912, and Washington College 1928, represented Yale Alumni Association of Maryland on Alumni Board 1914-15, alumni representative Board of Visitors and Governors, Washington College,

ţ

Yale College

1928–32; former member Maryland Education Commission, member American Academy of Political and Social Science and Episcopal church

Married December 25, 1890, in New Haven, Rose Cecelia, daughter of Matthew Mallahan Children. James Mallahan (B A Washington College 1910, M A 1917), Virginia Mary; Rosalie Cain McComas, Edward Joseph (B A. Washington College 1918, died February 15, 1919), and Genevieve

Death due to arteriosclerotic cardiovascular disease Buried in Loudon Park Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, four children, and one grandson.

Alexander Lambert, B.A. 1884.

Born December 15, 1861, in New York City. Died May 9, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Dr Edward Wilberforce Lambert, '54. Mother, Martha Melcher (Waldron) Lambert Yale relatives include. Alfred Lambert, '43, and Charles H Leeds, '54 (uncles), Alfred Leeds, '87, Edward L Leeds, '88 S, Norman Leeds, '95 S, and Arthur R Leeds, '00 S (cousins), Alfred Cowles, 3d, '13, Alexander L Barbour, '13, Edward L Barbour, *ex-*'15, Knight C Cowles, '16, Thomas H Cowles, '17, Dickinson W. Richards, Jr., '17, John Cowles, *ex-*'19, Samuel W Lambert, Jr, '19, John W. Stewart, *ex-*'19, William H Cowles, Jr, '24, Edward L Richards, '25, Adrian Lambert, '30, John T Lambert, '35, and Thomas L Cheney, Jr, '39 (nephews).

Fifth Avenue School, New York City Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Freshman Football Team, captain second football team, on Class crew three years, member Class tennis club Sophomore year, Class supper committee Freshman year, and Junior Promenade Committee, deacon three years, member Hare and Hounds Club, Yale Natural History Society, Delta Kappa, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones; since 1924 a member of Class Committee

Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1884–85 (Ph B 1885) and College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1885–88 (M D 1888), assistant physician Sloane Hospital for Women 1888, house physician, Fourth Medical Division, Bellevue Hospital, 1888–89, resident physician Midwifery Dispensary 1889–90, studied in Vienna and Berlin 1890–92; did work in bacteriology in New York City 1892–94, had engaged in the practice of medicine in New York City since 1894, assistant bacteriologist New York Department of Health 1894–1901, professor of medicine Woman's Medical College of the New York Infirmary for Women and Children 1898–99, instructor in physical diagnosis Cornell University Medical College 1898–1905 and professor of clinical medicine 1898–1931,

attending physician, Fourth Medical Division, Bellevue Hospital, 1894-1934, chairman organization committee, Doctors' Hospital, and president medical board since 1930, had served as consulting physician New York Infirmary for Women and Children, Perth Amboy (N J.) General Hospital, Nyack (NY) Hospital, and Greenwich (Conn.) Hospital; trustee The United Hospital Fund of New York since 1929, honorary member governing board, The American Hospital of Paris, author: The Relation of Alcohol to Disease (1915), and a frequent contributor to medical journals; president Committee to Study the Tobacco Problem 1923, a pioneer worker in the United States toward legislative control of narcotics, much credit is due him for activities leading to the passage of the Harrison Law and other statutes, chairman Mayor's Committee on Narcotic Addiction 1927-30 and member state commission on the same subject 1928-30, trustee since 1921 and vice-president since 1937 Roosevelt Memorial Association, Inc (member committee on awards since 1933); president Roosevelt Pilgrimage 1928, 1933-39, commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps, April 9, 1917, promoted to Lieutenant Colonel August 20, 1918, and Colonel October 23, 1918, chief surgeon, American Red Cross in France, June, 1917-August, 1918, and medical adviser August-November, 1918, assistant to chief surgeon, Port of Debarkation, New York City, December 23, 1918-May 3, 1919, president American Medical Association 1919-20 (chairman Section on Practice of Medicine 1903-04, third vice-president 1909, member House of Delegates 1911, and chairman Judicial Council 1912-18), treasurer 1906-17 and president 1917-18 Medical Society of the State of New York, fellow New York Academy of Medicine; member New York Pathological Society, Medical Society of the County of New York, Harvey Society, Association of American Physicians, American Heart Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Therapeutic, Army Ordnance, Boone and Crockett, and Tourilli Fish and Game clubs, American Legion, and Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married April 23, 1895, in New York City, Ellen Waitstill, daughter of Knight Dexter Cheney (BA Brown 1860) and Ednah (Dow) Cheney, and sister of Knight D Cheney, '92, Clifford D Cheney, '98, Philip Cheney, '01, Thomas L Cheney, '01, and Russell Cheney, '04 No children Mrs Lambert died January 13, 1938

Death due to myocarditis Buried in East Cemetery, South Manchester, Conn Survived by four sisters, Sally L Richards, the widow of Dickinson W Richards, '80, Miss Katherine Lambert of New York City, Edith L Barbour, widow of William R Barbour, '80, and Ruth L Chency, widow of Knight D Cheney, '92, and two brothers, Dr Samuel W Lambert, '80, and Dr Adrian V S Lambert, '93 Another brother, Elliot C Lambert, '86, died April 8, 1914.

Henry McCormick, Jr., B.A. 1884.

Born October 15, 1862, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died January 5, 1939, in Harrisburg, Pa

Father, James McCormick, '53 Mother, Mary Wilson (Alricks) Mc-Cormick. Yale relatives include Henry McCormick, '52 (uncle), Henry B McCormick, '92, and Vance C. McCormick, '93 S (cousins)

Harrisburg Academy Second colloquy appointment Junior year, member Class tennis club, Class baseball and lacrosse teams, University Lacrosse Team Junior year; librarian Bethany Sunday School, member Hare and Hounds Club, Delta Kappa, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Had devoted the greater part of his life to management of family manufacturing and farm properties, bookkeeper Paxton Furnaces and Harrisburg Nail Works 1884–85, secretary Beaver Lick Lumber Company, Ronceverte, W.Va., 1890; director Harrisburg Bridge Company 1887–1939 (president 1900–19), Dauphin Deposit Trust Company 1905– 39, and Chestnut Street Market Company since 1925, retired from active participation in business 1930 because of ill-health; member American Institute of Mining Engineers, Harrisburg Chamber of Commerce since 1916, and Pine Street Presbyterian Church, Harrisburg (superintendent for twenty-five years of the Bethany Presbyterian Sunday School, a branch of the Pine Street Church)

Unmarried.

Death due to a paralytic stroke Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery Survived by two brothers, James McCormick, '87, and Donald McCormick, '90 Two other brothers, William McCormick, '87, and Robert McCormick, '00, died in 1923 and 1925 respectively

Harry Augustus Worcester, B.A. 1884.

Born November 18, 1862, in Albany, N Y. Died September 18, 1938, in Columbia Township, Ohio

Father, Edwin Dean Worcester, vice-president Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway, secretary New York Central & Hudson River Railroad, son of Eldad and Sarah (Chickering) Worcester of Albany Mother, Mary Abigail (Low) Worcester, daughter of Warren S and Mary Armenia (Walker) Low of Albany Yale relatives include John Borden, '06, and Dean K Worcester, '19 (nephews)

Albany Boys' Academy. First colloquy appointment Junior year, second colloquy appointment Senior year, winner 120-yard hurdle Junior year, on Class baseball team Senior year; member Class supper committee Freshman and Senior years, member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Assistant station master New York Central & Hudson River Railroad, New York City, 1885–91, clerk, assistant train master, and division superintendent Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railway 1891–1905 and general superintendent February-October, 1906, assistant general superintendent Michigan Central Railroad 1905, general superintendent 1905–06, assistant general manager 1906–13, general manager 1913–18, and vice-president 1916-18, 1920-32 Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago & St Louis Railway, director Ohio-Indiana District U S. Railroad Administration 1918-20, president Cincinnati Union Terminal Company, in charge of construction of Cincinnati terminal, 1927-33; resident vicepresident (Cincinnati) New York Central Lines 1930 until retirement 1932, charter member bøard of trustees Westminster Theological Seminary 1929-38 (vice-president of the board 1937-38); as member Machen Memorial Committee contributed generously toward securing a permanent home for the Seminary, first vice-president Yale Club of Cincinnati 1915–16 and president 1916–17; Southern Ohio chairman North Central Division Yale Endowment Campaign 1927; member University Club, New York, Queen City, and Commercial clubs, Cincinnati, and Trinity Presbyterian Church (senior elder 1936–38)

Married October 18, 1905, in Detroit, Mich, Elizabeth Howard, daughter of John Talman and Mary (Hill) Whiting No children

Death due to coronary occlusion and generalized vascular disease Buried in Sleepy Hollow Cemetery, Tarrytown, N.Y. Survived by wife, a sister, Margaret Dows Worcester Williams, the wife of Charles M. Williams, '92 S, and a brother, Wilfred J Worcester, '85 His brothers, Edwin D Worcester, '76, and Franklin E Worcester, '82, died in 1929 and 1891 respectively

Frederic Barnard, B.A. 1885.

Born December 5, 1864, in Poughkeepsie, NY Died March 2, 1939, in Poughkeepsie, NY

Father, Joseph Folger Barnard, B A 1841. Mother, Emily Burrill (Hasbrouck) Barnard Yale relatives include Abraham B Hasbrouck (B A 1810) (grandfather), Thomas A. Barnard (B A 1837), George G Barnard (B A 1847), John A Barnard (B A 1848), and George H Sharpe (1847-48 L) (uncles), and Severyn B Sharpe, '79 (cousin).

Bishop's School, Poughkeepsie First colloquy appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Semior year

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1885–86, studied in law offices of Hackett & Williams, Poughkeepsie, and Stewart & Boardman,

Yale College

New York City, 1886–87; admitted to the bar February, 1887, and had since practiced law in Poughkeepsie, trustee Poughkeepsie Rural Cemetery, Inc., since 1919 (vice-president 1926–28 and 1930–39), Poughkeepsie Savings Bank 1922–39, and Dutchess County Historical Society 1928– 39, director Farmers' and Manufacturers' National Bank, member Poughkeepsie Board of Education 1895–99; in memory of his father established Joseph F. Barnard Memorial Law Library, Poughkeepsie (trustee and president 1904–39), gave three rooms to Vassar Brothers Hospital and liberally supported Young Men's Christian Association of Poughkeepsie, governor Yale Publishing Association 1927–32, life member National Geographic and American Geographical societies, American Museum of Natural History, and the Navy League; member Dutchess County Bar Association (trustee 1926–29, president 1929), Dutchess County Horticultural Society, Amrita Club, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Poughkeepsie.

Unmarried

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Poughkeepsie Rural Cemetery Survived by a brother-in-law, James L Banks, a nephew, James L Banks, Jr., '11, and three grandnieces, all of New York City

Henry Stanford Brooks, B.A. 1885.

Born August 28, 1864, in San Francisco, Calif Died July 27, 1938, in Woodstock, Vt

Father, Henry S Brooks (Royal School of Mines, University of London), mining engineer and mine owner in San Francisco, son of Henry Brooks of London Mother, Margaret Armstrong (Gibson) Brooks

Everson's Collegiate School, New York City, and private tutor Competed in athletic games throughout his college course and won many events, established intercollegiate records for the 220-yard dash and American champion for the same distance Freshman and Sophomore years, established Yale records for the 100-yard dash Freshman and Senior years, and for the 440 in 1882 and 1883, member Freshman Supper Committee, floor manager Junior Promenade Committee, governor University Club Junior and Senior years, delegate to National Athletic Association meeting Junior year, judge Yale University Boat Club fall regatta Senior year, president Intercollegiate Athletic Association Senior year, member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1886–88 (LL B 1888); clerk Alexander & Green 1886–88, admitted to the bar 1888, managing clerk Wetmore & Jenner 1888–92, practiced independently for a short time in 1892, associated with American Telephone & Telegraph Company 1892 until retirement in 1930, serving successively as district super-

Yale University Obituary Record

intendent, division superintendent, assistant general superintendent, general commercial superintendent, and assistant vice-president in charge of personnel, operating vice-president and director 195 Broadway Corporation and 205 Broadway Corporation 1918-30; member Committee on Co-ordination of Salaries and Wages of Bell System and of General Benefit Fund Committee, during World War had charge of distribution and assignment of lease wires (domestic and foreign); trustee Child Welfare Association of Westchester County, adviser to Berkshire School Farm, governor and secretary executive committee the Boys Club of New York since 1902, Alumni Fund agent for 1885 since 1898, a director of the Fund 1911-38, and chairman 1916-18, governor Yale Publishing Association 1919-23, served the University Track Association throughout his life as member of Graduate Advisory Committee; in 1924 established special fund to be used in defraying expenses of international competition or toward any other track expenses, especially property development, member of council University Club, New York City, 1919-22, contributed articles on athletics to magazines and an article, "The Spirit of Alumni Giving," printed in Manual of Alumni Work (1924); M A Hon 1918, since retirement had made his winter home at Grey House, Ardsley-on-Hudson, and his summer home at T'other House, Woodstock.

J

Married May 27, 1902, in New York City, Clara Warren Vail (B A Bryn Mawr 1897), daughter of Henry Hobart Vail (B A Middlebury College 1880, LL D 1896) and Minerva Elizabeth (Hewitt) Vail Children Henry Vail (B S Middlebury College 1928), Margaret Vail (B A Bryn Mawr 1927), the wife of John Christopher Juhring (B A Princeton 1924), Thomas Vail, '33, and Gordon Vail, Middlebury College 1941

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Woodstock Survived by wife, daughter, and three sons

The Yale Corporation, in recording its sorrow at the death of Mr Brooks, paid tribute to his loyalty and devotion to the University as follows "The representative of his Class in the work of the Yale Alumni University Fund Association from 1898 until the day of his death, he inspired his classmates with his own enthusiasm for cooperating with the University year after year in the carrying forward of its educational program Chairman of the Association from 1916 to 1918 in the troubled years of the World War, he as effectively enlisted the support of Yale graduates generally in the work of the Alumni Fund and thus saved the University from being seriously crippled when its income was so drastically curtailed by the enlistment of so many of its undergraduates in the service of their country. The Yale Alumni Fund Association and the University it was founded to serve are alike under an enduring debt of gratitude to him for the inspiring example set by him in his unselfish and untiring efforts to safeguard the welfare of Yale, which was ever close to his heart"

Yale College

It was characteristic of Mr Brooks that his will contained a bequest to the "sinking fund of the Yale Alumni University Fund Association"

Richard Collins Colt, B.A. 1885.

Born December 30, 1863, in New York City. Died November 11, 1938, in New York City.

Father, Harris Colt, member firm of Collins & Company, manufacturers of axes and edged tools, New York City, son of Elisha and Lucretia Ann (Davis) Colt of Hartford, Conn Mother, Catherine (Dunscomb) Colt; daughter of Edward Dunscomb Yale relatives include Samuel S Auchincloss, ex-'94, Edgar S. Auchincloss, '96, Hugh Auchincloss, '01, Charles Auchincloss, '03, Gordon Auchincloss, '08, James Auchincloss, '08, William Sloan, ex-'09 S, Reginald Auchincloss, '13, and Julian Sloan, ex-'18 (nephews).

Columbia Grammar School, New York City Winner 220-yard dash spring athletic meet Sophomore year and of the 100-yard dash fall athletic games Junior year, Class tennis club Junior year, on winning tug-of-war team spring athletic games Senior year, Senior Promenade Committee, member Psi Upsilon

Clerk in purchasing and supply department Delaware, Lackawanna & Western Railroad Company, New York City, 1885–90, member firm of Collins & Company 1890–1922, retired in 1922 and had since spent much time in foreign travel, resided winters in New York City and summers at Garrison, N.Y, where he devoted himself to agriculture and horticulture, member Calvary Church and Church of the Incarnation (Episcopal), New York City, and St Philip's Church, Garrison

Married October 14, 1891, at Garrison-on-Hudson, Mary Adelaide, daughter of Samuel and Mary (Elmendorf) Sloan Children Samuel Sloan, '14, Catherine Dunscomb, the wife of Charles Denston Dickey, '16; and Mary Sloan, the wife of Louis Curtis, Jr (BA Harvard 1914)

Death due to a heart attack Buried in St Philip's Cemetery, Garrison Survived by wife, son, two daughters, twelve grandchildren, one of whom is Charles D Dickey, Jr, '40, and a brother, Harris D Colt, '84

Edward [Neblett] Hidden, B.A. 1885.

Born July 4, 1860, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died July 15, 1938, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, Otis Hidden, a merchant, partner in firm of Hidden & Lounsbery, Cincinnati; son of Hubbard and Sylvia (Fay) Hidden of St Johnsbury, Vt Mother, Maria Louisa (Neblett) Hidden, daughter of Edward H and Ann (Brockwell) Neblett of Petersburg, Va.

Woodward High School, Cincinnati Entered with Class of 1883; joined 1885 at beginning of Sophomore year, philosophical oration appointment Junior year, high oration appointment Senior year; College Choir Junior and Senior years and chorister North Church Mission Senior year; president Woolsey Battalion Senior year, member Dunham Boat Club three years, Delta Kappa, Psi Upsilon, Skull and Bones, and Phi Beta Kappa

Special student University of Cincinnati 1880–81; attended College of Law, University of Cincinnati, 1881-82 and 1885-86 (LL B. 1886); admitted to Minnesota bar February 12, 1887; member firm of Davis & Hidden, Minneapolis, 1887–88, attorney Samuel Cupples Woodware Company, St Louis, 1888, engaged in independent practice of law in St Louis 1888–90, buyer and later treasurer Samuel Cupples Woodware Company 1890-91; agent in St. Louis and the West for the Samuel Cupples Real Estate Company 1892–93, treasurer Pioneer Cooperage Company 1893-1902; vice-president of its subsidiaries the Arkansas Central Railroad and the Ozark Mountains Railroad 1901, president Hamilton Trust Company 1902-10 and vice-president 1910-16 Commonwealth Trust Company after the consolidation of the two banks; retired in 1920, president St. Louis Chamber of Commerce 1915; vicepresident Brown Estate 1901; regional food administrator in the West during World War, chairman US Commission on relations with Haiti several years, active in civic affairs of St. Louis; chairman Municipal Voters' League of St Louis prior to 1913; an organizer of Municipal Theatre Association of St Louis (chairman of production committee 1926), a founder of the St Louis Summer Civic Opera; for many years served as municipal host and welcomed to the city Marshal Foch, Clemenceau, Lloyd George, General Pershing, and Colonel Lindbergh, director St Louis Provident Association, governor Yale Publishing Association, secretary and treasurer Yale Alumni Association of St Louis 1891 and its representative on the Alumni Board 1912-18 (member executive committee 1912-16, corresponding secretary 1913-16), member Pilgrim Church (Congregational), St Louis.

Unmarried

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Valhalla Cemetery, St. Louis Survived by a nephew, Harry S. Hidden of Cincinnati

John Andrew Myers, B.A. 1885.

Born February 19, 1863, in Columbia, Pa Died September 5, 1938, in Chestnut Hill, Pa.

Father, James Myers, an 110n manufacturer in Cloverton, Pa, son of John and Katherine (Hahn) Myers of Myerstown, Pa Mother, Elizabeth Watson (Kunkel) Myers; daughter of Jacob and Rebecca (Stein) Kunkel of Greencastle, Pa.

Princeton Preparatory School and Hopkins Grammar School Entered with Class of 1884; joined 1885 at beginning of Junior year, member Delta Kappa, Hé Boulé, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Spent greater part of years 1885–1903 in travel abroad, attended University of Pennsylvania 1903–06 (B S in Architecture 1906), architect with firm of Cope & Stewardson, Philadelphia, for a short time, secretary Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Arts since 1912 and manager of its annual exhibitions and of its art schools located in Philadelphia and in Chester Springs, member St Martin-in-the-Fields Church (Episcopal), Chestnut Hill

Married September I, 1906, in Philadelphia, Jennie Carrick Jordan Gummy, daughter of Samuel David and Elizabeth Jane (Carrick) Jordan. No children.

Death due to thrombosis Buried in Ivy Hill Cemetery, Chestnut Hill Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Thomas McCulloch of Louisville, Ky

Atherton Noyes, B.A. 1885.

Born June 14, 1862, in New York City Died November 19, 1938, in Cambridge, Mass

Father, Rev Daniel Parker Noyes, '40. Mother, Helen McGregor (Means) Noyes Yale relatives include Edward P. Noyes, '80 (brother); Frederic Adams, '62, and D McGregor Means, '68 (cousins)

Phillips-Andover Oration appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, member Dunham Boat Club three years; Class tennis club Junior year; teacher at Temple Street Mission School Senior year, member Debating Club, Ivy Committee, Gamma Nu, and Psi Upsilon.

Private tutor New York City 1885-86, attended Harvard Medical School 1886-87; because of ill-health went to Colorado in 1887 and until 1892 had no regular occupation other than being in banking business in Aspen, Colo, for a short time and in real estate business in Colorado Springs, secretary Colorado Summer School 1892-93 and director 1896; teacher in Cutler Academy, instructor in English Colorado College 1893–99 and in Greek 1894–99, assistant professor of English 1899–1913 and of Greek 1899–1903, professor of English 1913–18, and dean of the faculty 1895–1901, exchange professor at Harvard 1915–16, instructor in English Harvard 1919–25 and Radcliffe 1918–28; retired in 1928 and had since resided in Cambridge, author: *Matthew Arnold's Poetry; an Appreciation* (1916) and "Katharsis in Literature and Life" (*Sewanee Review*, October, 1921), M A. Harvard 1916, member Archeological Institute and First Church (Congregational), Boston, Mass.

Married July 10, 1901, in Intervale, N H, Margaret Davenport, daughter of William Eliot and Eliza Heyer (Polhemus) Fette. Children Atherton, Jr (B A Harvard 1926, M A. 1928, M S 1929, S.D 1934); Marion MacGregor (died June 21, 1906); Eliot Fette (B A. Harvard 1932, M Arch 1938), and Margaret (B.A. Radcliffe 1934).

Death due to bronchopneumonia and carcinoma. Buried in Mount Auburn Cemetery, Cambridge Survived by wife, two sons, daughter, and two grandchildren.

Paul Kımball Ames, B.A. 1886.

Born September 7, 1862, in Old Town, Me. Died July 8, 1938, in West Milford, NJ

Father, Irvin Winslow Ames, a lumber contractor and dealer in Bethel, Me, member Maine State Legislature, son of Samuel and Polly (Benjamin) Ames of Herman and Livermore, Me Mother, Agnes Gubtil (Kimball) Ames, daughter of John and Abigail (Homans) Kimball of Herman and Bangor, Me

Gould Academy, Bethel, and Phillips-Exeter First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; Class crew Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years, assistant treasurer University Boat Club Junior year; president University Boat Club (starter fall regatta) and Dunham Boat Club Senior year, president Freshman Debating Society; member Yale Yacht Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Attended Columbia University 1886–88 (M A 1887, LL B cum laude 1888, founder, editor, and copublisher Columbia Law Times 1887–93), admitted to the bar December 1, 1888; managing clerk Horace Barnard, Esq, New York City, 1888–89, engaged in independent practice of law in New York City 1888–93, member Ames & Gavegan [Edward J, '89] 1893–96, practiced independently 1896 until retirement in 1923, had since been engaged in real estate development in West Milford, receiver Long Beach (N Y) Association 1904; president railroad and transit companies, Long Beach, 1896–1907, a founder 1899 and president 1903 Nassau County Bar Association, secretary Yale Alumni University Fund 1890–94, member New York State Bar Association, Sons of the American Revolution, Masonic order, and Church of Messiah (Universalist), Cooperstown, N.Y

Married (1) October 30, 1889, in Attleboro, Mass, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of Norval Becket and Caroline (Manchester) Lamb Children. Kimball, '13; Ruth (Columbia University 1914–15), the wife of Ralph W. Tag (Ph.G Fordham University 1924), and Emily (B A Smith College 1916), the wife of Herbert Elmer Pickett, '13 Mrs Ames died January 2, 1911 Married (2) May 25, 1918, in Cooperstown, N Y, Mary Louise, daughter of Ferdinand and Frances (Mays) Kipp

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, children, seven grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Grace Edith Ames (B L Smith College 1891) of Brooklyn.

Charles Franklin Clarke, B.A. 1886.

Born February 6, 1859, in Columbia, Conn Died April 18, 1939, in Hamden, Conn

Father, Willard Benjamin Clarke, farmer, first selectman, and justice of the peace in Columbia, son of Joseph and Margaret (Crandall) Clarke of Columbia. Mother, Lucy (Ford) Clarke, daughter of Lester and Lucy (Burnham) Ford of Lebanon, Conn

Natchaug High School, Willimantic, Conn Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years, Class monitor four years; teacher North Church Mission Junior year.

Attended Yale Divinity School 1886-89 and 1893-95 (B D 1889), ordained in Congregational church, Machias, Me, December 11, 1889, and minister there 1889-93, minister Whitneyville Church, Hamden, 1893-1901; student Yale School of Law 1901-03 (LL B 1903, member Kent Club); admitted to Connecticut bar 1903, engaged in practice of law New Haven 1903-28 and in Hamden 1928 until retirement in 1936, prosecuting attorney, Hamden, 1907-13 and 1921-23 and had served as town counsel, for thirty years moderator Hamden town meetings, member Hamden School Board 1890-1907 (secretary 1895-1907 and chairman 1907), president Mount Carmel Children's Home, member New Haven County Bar Association, State Bar Association of Connecticut, American Bar Association, New Haven Congregational Club, and Whitneyville Church (Congregational), Hamden

Married August 14, 1889, in Willimantic, Sarah Margaret, daughter of Charles Nash and Ellen Slade (Foss) Andrew Children Charles Franklin (died April 26, 1892); Helen May (Mrs A Frederick Oberlin), and Rachel Margaret, the wife of Thomas S Hartley Mrs Clarke died June 20, 1929.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Whitneyville Cemetery,

Hamden Survived by daughters, three grandchildren, one of whom is Charles S Hartley, '40, two sisters, Mrs George G Burton of Hamden and Mrs Emily Clarke Randall of Rocky Ford, Colo, and two brothers, Joseph N Clarke of Columbia and Willard B Clarke of New Haven.

Alfred Cowles, B.A. 1886.

Born January 5, 1865, in Chicago, Ill Died January 15, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Alfred Cowles (University of Michigan ex-'54), business manager Chicago Daily Tribune, son of Dr Edwin Weed Cowles and Almira (Foote) Cowles of Cleveland Mother, Sarah Frances (Hutchinson) Cowles, daughter of Mosely and Elizabeth Boardman (Hall-Davis) Hutchinson of Cayuga, N Y Yale relatives include: Giles H. Cowles (BA 1789) (great-grandfather), Alexander Lambert, '84 (brother-inlaw), John W Stewart, ex-'19, William H. Cowles, Jr, '24, Cheney Cowles, '30, and Thomas L Cheney, Jr, '39 (nephews)

Harvard School, Chicago Treasurer Class boat club Freshman year; member Class crew two years (captain Sophomore year), and University Crew three years (captain Senior year), captain and referee fall regatta University Boat Club Senior year, on Freshman Football Team; substitute University Football Team Sophomore and Junior years, member Class glee club two years, Junior Promenade Committee, Bicycle and University clubs, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones

Special student Sheffield Scientific School 1886-87; attended Yale School of Law 1887-88 and Union College of Law, Northwestern University, 1888-89, during the latter year also read law in office of Winston & Meagher, Chicago, admitted to Illinois bar 1889, engaged in practice of law in Chicago 1889-98 and since 1901, director since 1891 Chicago Tribune Company (secretary and treasurer 1898-1901), president The Rialto Trust since 1914; director Continental Illinois National Bank and Trust Company, Congress Trust & Savings Bank, and American Radiator Company, active in civic affairs of Chicago, he served as president of the Civic Federation and the Bureau of Public Efficiency 1932-35, life member Art Institute of Chicago and Field Museum of Natural History; retained his interest in rowing after graduation and for a number of years returned to New Haven to assist in coaching, president University Club of Chicago 1904 and 1905, member Chicago Historical Society

Married November 28, 1890, in South Manchester, Conn, Elizabeth, daughter of Knight Dexter Cheney (B A Brown 1860) and Ednah Dow (Smith) Cheney, and sister of Knight D Cheney, '92, Clifford D Cheney, '98, Philip Cheney, '01, Thomas L Cheney, '01, and Russell Cheney, '04 Children Alfred, 3d, '13, Knight Cheney, '16, John Cheney, *ex-*'19; and Thomas Hooker, '17 (died August 21, 1927) Mrs. Cowles died in 1898.

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by three sons, six grandchildren, a sister, Sarah Cowles Stewart, the wife of Philip B. Stewart, '86, and a brother, William H Cowles, '87.

Mr. Cowles was one of the donors of the memorial to his father established at Yale in 1928 as the Alfred Cowles Foundation for the study of government.

Stanford Tappan Crapo, B.A. 1886.

Born June 13, 1865, in New Bedford, Mass Died January 26, 1939, in Tryon, NC

Father, William Wallace Crapo, '52 Mother, Sarah Ann Davis (Tappan) Crapo

Friends' Academy, New Bedford Dissertation appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; first prize Junior Exhibition, Class tennis club two years; Yale Yacht Club (member fall regatta committee Sophomore year; secretary and judge fall regatta Junior year), chairman Yale Daily News Senior year; member Political Science and University clubs, Gamma Nu, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Attended Yale Graduate School 1886-87, associated with the Flint & Père Marquette Railroad 1887–1903 as clerk Saginaw (Mich) freight house 1887–88, superintendent Port Huron division 1889–91, assistant to general manager at Saginaw 1891–94, and general manager in charge of operations and traffic 1894-1900, remained general manager when the Père Marquette Railroad acquired the Flint & Père Marquette 1900-03, in 1903 became engaged in the construction and operation of coal mines in Michigan and Illinois and had been actively engaged in construction and operation of cement mills at Wyandotte and Alpena, Mich, since that time, secretary-treasurer 1907-33 and secretary and vice-president 1933-39 Huron Portland Cement Company; secretary-treasurer Wyandotte Portland Cement Company 1903-39, and Huron Transportation Company 1915-39; director Consolidated Coal Company, Fort Street Union Station Company, and the Père Marquette Railroad 1922-38, director Second National Bank of Saginaw 1894–1922, Detroit National Bank, Old Detroit National Bank, First and Old Detroit National Bank, and First National Bank of Detroit 1900-22; director Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago (7th district) 1922-38, with his son maintained the Crapo Farm at Swartz Creek, Mich, and there continued the herd of Herefords which his grandfather had begun-the oldest herd maintained

by one family in North America; his philanthropies were extensive, embracing the Tryon Hospital and Nurses' Home, Milligan College, Tenn, the Farmers' Federation, Inc, of Asheville, NC, the Bonstelle Civic Theatre, Detroit, and the Mary Crapo School at Swartz Creek, president Michigan Manufacturers' Association two years; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Michigan 1914–15 and president 1915–16; for the past twenty-five years had resided at Tryon in the winter; member Unitarian Church of Detroit (trustee and chairman church trust 1938–39)

Married October 10, 1894, in Painesville, Ohio, Emma Caroline, daughter of John Rufus and Catherine Bidwell (McVay) Morley Children Catherine, the wife of John Morgan Bullard (B A Harvard 1913, LL B 1915), William Wallace, '18, and Mary Morley (B A. Vassar 1934; M A Columbia 1937), the wife of Donald Frizell Hyde (B A Ohio State University 1929, LL B Harvard 1932) Mrs. Crapo died November 27, 1937

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Rural Cemetery, New Bedford Survived by children, five grandchildren, and a brother, Henry Howland Crapo (B A Harvard 1883) of New Bedford

Richard Thomas Francke, B.A. 1886.

Born September 18, 1863, in Havana, Cuba. Died March 31, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Jonas Robert Francke, a sugar commission merchant, consul general for Norway and Sweden at Havana 1880–86; son of Johan and Anna Christina (Basta Bogren) Francke Mother, Fabiana Rosalia (Hernandez) Francke, daughter of Martin and Maria (d'Arambarri) Hernandez Yale relatives include a nephew, Albert Francke, Jr, '24

Black Hall School, Lyme, Conn, and the Wilson & Kellogg School, New York City Class crew Junior year; Senior Promenade Committee; member University Club, Hé Boulé, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

Associated with his brothers, Joaquin J. Francke and Edward J Francke, in the firm of Francke Hijos & Company, planters and exporters of sugar, Havana and New York City, 1886 until retirement, in recent years had resided in New York City; member University Club, and Church of the Ascension (Episcopal), New York City

Married September 29, 1916, in New York City, Minerva Stella, daughter of Charles Washington and Mary Louise (Sine) Wilson No children

Death followed a stroke Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife, a sister, Miss Rosalie Francke of New York City, and a brother, Albert Francke, '91 S Four other brothers, Edward J Francke, '76 S., Joaquin J Francke, '77 S, Pedro F Francke, ex-'87 S, and Leopold J Francke, '89, died in 1926, 1894, 1919, and 1902 respectively.

Edward Johnson Phelps, B.A. 1886.

Born April 18, 1863, in Andover, Mass Died August 9, 1938, in New Monterey, Calif

Father, Rev Austin Phelps, DD (BA University of Pennsylvania 1837, Yale Divinity School 1839–40), clergyman, author, and Bartlet Professor of Sacred Rhetoric Andover Theological Seminary 1848–79, son of Rev Eliakim Phelps, DD, and Sarah (Adams) Phelps of West Brookfield, Mass Mother, Mary Ann (Johnson) Phelps; daughter of Samuel and Charlotte Ann (Howe) Johnson of Boston, Mass Yale relatives include M Stuart Phelps (BA 1869) (half brother), Francis J Phelps, ex-'83 (brother), and Robert L Hamill, '20 (nephew)

Phillips-Andover First colloquy appointment Junior year, first composition and declamation prizes Sophomore year, Townsend Prize Senior year; member Class crew Freshman and Sophomore years, Yale Yacht Club (judge regatta Freshman and Junior years and starter Senior year), Freshman Football Team, chairman Yale Literary Magazine, member Andover Club, Political Science Club, University Club, Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, Skull and Bones, and Chi Delta Theta

Attended Yale Graduate School 1886–87 (MA 1888), in insurance business Chicago 1887-88, reporter and then telegraph editor New Haven Morning News 1888-89, reporter and city editor Hartford Courant 1889-90, engaged in editorial and financial work Chicago Herald 1890-95, secretary First Civil Service Commission City of Chicago 1895-97, associated with The Northern Trust Safe Deposit Company, Chicago, 1895-1929 (secretary, treasurer, and general manager until 1923, president and director 1923-29), retired in 1929 and had since interested himself in educational activities in Chicago, president Illinois State Safe Deposit Association 1916–18, chairman National Safe Deposit Advisory Council 1925, trustee, secretary, and treasurer Yale Scholarship Trust of Chicago 1905, president Yale Club of Chicago 1910–11 and of Associated Western Yale Clubs 1911-12, represented Yale Club of Chicago on Alumni Board 1910-16 (corresponding secretary 1910-13, chairman 1913-16, and member executive committee 1910-16), director Yale Publishing Association, Inc, member Board of Education, New Trier Township High School, Winnetka, Ill, 1918–33 (president 1920–24)

Married September II, 1888, in Chicago, Fanny Davisson, daughter of Charles Davisson and Susan Frances (Walbridge) Hamill, and sister of Robert W Hamill, '84, Charles H Hamill, '90, and Philip W Hamill, '98 Children Charlotte Lewis (BA Smith College 1911; BS Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1916), the wife of Parker Van Patton Dodge (BS Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1907, LL B George Washington University 1912), Susan Hamill (BA. Smith College 1912), the wife of William Frederick Zimmerman, Jr. (BA. Harvard 1910); Mary Katherine (died January 6, 1893), Elizabeth Stuart (died April, 1899), and Austin, '28

Death due to diabetes mellitus Ashes interred in Monterey, Calif. Survived by wife, son, two daughters, and eleven grandchildren

The athletic field of the New Trier Township High School was named Phelps Field in his honor.

John Henry Kirkham, B.A. 1887.

Born April 13, 1865, in Newington, Conn. Died April 13, 1939, in Portland, Conn.

Father, John Stoddard Kırkham, a farmer in Newington, state senator and representative, son of William and Sophia (Leffingwell) Kırkham of Newington Mother, Harriet Prudence (Atwood) Kırkham (Mount Holyoke ex-1846); daughter of Josiah and Prudence (Kellogg) Atwood of Newington Yale relatives include: Charles K Atwood (B A 1843) (uncle), Roderick W Hine, '84 (brother-in-law), James W Kırkham, '72, and William B Kırkham, '04 (cousins)

New Britain High School Dissertation appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, Commencement speaker; member Class lacrosse team Freshman and Sophomore years and University Lacrosse Team, winner featherweight wrestling winter athletic games Sophomore year, Class tennis club, financial manager Yale Daily News Senior year, president University Chess Club Sophomore and Junior years and winner first prize college chess tournament Senior year, member Pundit Club

Studied law with Judge J H White and in the law firm of Hyde, Gross & Hyde, Hartford, Conn, 1887–89, admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1889, had since practiced law in New Britain, associated with Mitchell, Hungerford [William C, '93 S] & Bartlett 1889–98, senior partner in the successive firms of Kirkham & Cooper [James E., '95], Kirkham, Cooper & Mink [S Russell, '13], Kirkham, Cooper, Hungerford & Camp, and finally Kirkham, Camp, Williams & Richardson, clerk City and Police Court 1894–95, assistant judge 1910–13, 1916–19, and judge 1920–21, corporation counsel 1921–33, for many years town counsel of Newington, director New Britain Institute (member library and art committees) and New Britain Welfare Society; member Board of Education, former director National Spring Bed Company, on executive

54

committee Yale Club of New Britain 1923; Class agent for the Yale Alumni University Fund 1914–39; member New Britain and Falcon Chess Club (honorary president), University Club of Hartford, Hartford County and New Britain Bar associations, and South Church (Congregational), New Britain, clerk of the Ecclesiastical Society and member of the Society's committee

Married April 29, 1896, in Brooklyn, NY, Lilian Sprague, daughter of William Gorden and Mary (Cooke) West Children John West, '21, and Lois (B.A Wells College 1927), the wife of Stanley Hart, *ex-*'23 S

Death due to general arteriosclerosis. Buried in Center Cemetery, Newington Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

James Rockwell Sheffield, B.A. 1887.

Born August 13, 1864, in Dubuque, Iowa Died September 2, 1938, at Upper Saranac Lake, NY

Father, Frederick William Hotchkiss Sheffield, president Merchants' National Bank of Dubuque, son of Amos and Amelia Hart (Hotchkiss) Sheffield of Saybrook, Conn. Mother, Sarah (Kellogg) Sheffield, daughter of Spencer and Margaret (Palmer) Kellogg of Utica, N Y. Yale relatives include. John Hart (B A 1703) (great-great-great-grandfather), Rev. William Hart (B A 1732) and John Hotchkiss (B A 1748) (greatgreat-grandfathers), and Rev Frederick William Hotchkiss (B A 1778) (great-grandfather)

Utica Free Academy and Williston Academy First colloquy appointment Senior year, third declamation prize and second prize for English composition, first and second terms, Sophomore year, president Freshman Lacrosse Team, on Class glee club Freshman and Sophomore years, University Glee Club and College Choir Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years; floor manager Junior Promenade, Class orator, member Yale Yacht Club, Williston Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, Scroll and Key, and Chi Delta Theta

Attended Harvard Law School 1887–88; private secretary to Senator William B Allison (Iowa) and assistant clerk senate committees on finance and appropriations 1888, law clerk New York City 1888–89, admitted to bar November, 1889, partner Mann [John H, '83 S] & Sheffield 1889–91, practiced independently 1892–93, joined Betts, Atterbury, Hyde & Betts 1893, senior partner Sheffield, Bentley & Betts and the succeeding firm of Sheffield and Betts since 1911; represented 11th District, New York City, in state legislature 1894, member Board of Fire Commissioners, New York City, 1895–98 (president of the board 1896–98), United States Ambassador to Mexico 1924–27, Ambassador Extraordinary and Plenipotentiary of United States Mission to Venezuela

1930, decorated with Order of Simón Bolívar, member Commission of Inquiry provided for in treaty of conciliation with Egypt 1933; delegate to Republican National Conventions 1916, 1920, 1924, 1936, and to all state conventions 1896–1924, member committee on finance, Republican National Committee, 1904, chairman state campaign committee of James W Wadsworth, Jr, '98, in 1920; vice-president 1901-02 and president 1914-17 National Republican Club; president Union League Club of New York 1923-24 and Republican College Men's Association; president board of trustees Saranac Inn Church, trustee Carnegie Endowment for International Peace 1919-38 (member executive committee 1938), Barnard College 1918-38 (chairman of the board 1930-37 and member executive committee 1937-38), Chestnut Hill Academy 1906-21, Presbyterian Hospital 1912-38, Babies Hospital 1933-38, Trudeau Sanatorium 1912-38, East Side Settlement of New York, and Grant Monument Association, director New York Herald-Tribune Fresh Air Fund 1928-38 (vice-president 1929-38), chief marshal torchlight parade, Yale Bicentennial, vice-president 1907–08, president 1908–10, Yale Club of New York; governor Yale Publishing Association, spoke at many University gatherings and toastmaster at Yale Alumni dinner (New York) for James Rowland Angell April 15, 1921; many of his speeches were published in pamphlet form; LL D Yale 1925, director Radio Corporation of America and its subsidiaries, director and treasurer Yonkers North End Land Company, member The Pilgrims (vice-president 1930-38 and on executive committee 1928-38), New York State Bar Association, New York County Lawyers' Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York Patent Law Association, American Bar Association, and Madison Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married November 2, 1898, in Cleveland, Edith, daughter of John and Sarah Keyes (Little) Tod, and great-granddaughter of George Tod (B A. 1795) Son, Frederick, '24, '27 L

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Utica Survived by wife, son, and one grandson

In 1935 Mr Sheffield established a fund at the University for work in the field of government and international relations

William Pirrie Taylor, B.A. 1887.

Born November 24, 1864, in Glasgow, Scotland. Died February 13, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, James Taylor, superintendent of engraving and die-cutting department, Hamilton Print Works and Sandersdale Printing Company, Southbridge, Mass, son of John and Jacobina (Walker) Taylor of Dundee, Scotland. Mother, Isabella (Pirrie) Taylor, daughter of William and Isabella (Peddie) Pirrie of Crieff, Scotland

Southbridge High School. Class glee club Freshman and Sophomore years, Class monitor Sophomore year, deacon four years, delegate to International YMCA. convention at Atlanta Junior year, teacher Bethany Mission, member Pundit Club

Engaged in YMCA work in Fitchburg and Boston, Mass, and assistant state secretary for Massachusetts and Rhode Island 1887-89; Greek and Latin master Pantops Academy, Charlottesville, Va, 1889–91, organized The Taylor School, Birmingham, Ala, 1891, and teacher and principal 1891–1904, licensed to preach in 1891 by the Brookfield Association of Congregational Churches and for many years did supply work in various churches, secretary Alabama State Committee YMCA 1892; president Alabama Christian Endeavor Union 1894-96, editor Alabama Endeavor; Latin master The Hill School 1904–06, organizer and director educational department Y M C A, Worcester, Mass, 1906-11, director Beverly (Mass) Independent Industrial School 1911-17, secretary in charge of Building No 27, YMCA, Camp Devens, 1917–19, training officer Rehabilitation Section, US Veterans' Bureau, Boston, 1919–25, registrar University Extension Conservatory, Chicago, 1926, field lecturer American Technical Society, Chicago, 1927, service counselor Morton Manufacturing Company, Chicago, 1928-30, held various positions on commission basis Chicago 1930-33, salesman in Chicago for the Encyclopaedia Britannica 1933-34, engaged in commission work and tutoring 1934-38; supervisor of vocational training under Adult Education Board affiliated with Public School Board of Chicago since April, 1938, an organizer and first president Yale Alumni Association of Alabama; member Southern Intercollegiate Football Association, National Education Association, National Society for the Promotion of Industrial Education, and Dane Street Church (Congregational), Beverly

Married June 17, 1890, in Brooklyn, NY, Nettie, daughter of Noble Archelus and Phoebe Jane (Stockholm) Taylor Children Dorothy Isabella (Chicago College of Osteopathy *ex-*'27), the wife of Edmund Howe Skirven, Andrew William, and Nettie Ella (died February 28, 1897)

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage and hypostatic bronchopneumonia Buried in Oakridge Cemetery, Southbridge, Mass Survived by wife, one daughter, son, five grandchildren, two sisters, Isabella Taylor Reynolds (Smith College ex-'96), the wife of J Edward Reynolds of Worcester, Mass, and Jacobina Taylor Bugbee (special student Mount Holyoke College 1895), the wife of Lucian Willis Bugbee of Dayton, Ohio, and four brothers, John Taylor and George Taylor of Worcester, Alexander P. Taylor of Westport, Mass, and Thomas S Taylor of Providence, R I.

William Rutherford Hayes Trowbridge, B.A. 1887.

Born May 19, 1866, in Bridgetown, Barbados, B W.I Died August 7, 1938, in London, England

Father, William Rutherford Hayes Trowbridge, '63. Mother, Isabella (Nesbit) Trowbridge Yale relatives include Daniel Trowbridge (B.A. 1725) (great-great-great-grandfather); Winston J Trowbridge, '79, Henry Trowbridge, '80, J. Parker Trowbridge, '83, Thomas R. Trowbridge, *ex-*'84 S., Francis B Trowbridge, '87, and Elford P. Trowbridge, '87 (cousins)

Harrison College, Barbados, and Hopkins Grammar School.

Associated with Trowbridge & Company, Barbados representative of H Trowbridge's Sons, West India merchants of New Haven, 1887-91; representative in West Indies of Colonial Bank of London 1891-1900; since 1900 had lived in England and devoted his time to travel and literary work, published numerous novels, biographies, and books of travel including Edith Dayton (1886), Gossip of the Caribbees (1893), For the Vagabond Hour (1896), A Girl of the Multitude (1902), The Situations of Lady Patricia (1903), An Inarticulate Genius (1904), That Little Marquis of Brandenburg (1904), Court Beauties of Old Whitehall (1906), Mirabeau, the Demi-God (1907), Seven Splendid Sinners (1908), Daughters of Eve (1911), The White Hope (1913, filmed in 1915 and 1923), Queen Alexandra, A Study of Royalty (1921), In the Sun with a Passport (1925), The High Garden (1928), The Hound Desire (1930), A Whorson Mad Fellow (1933), and two plays Jézebel (1903) and The Crimson Crystal (1928); edited and translated The Sisters of Napoleon (1909), contributed to Cornhill Magazine, Golden Book, and The Living Age, commissioned Lieutenant First Cadet Battalion, The Queen's (Royal West Surrey Regiment) 1900, resigned 1907 with rank of Captain, attached to Section Sanitaire Anglaise No I as motor ambulance driver on Lorraine front six months 1916; assigned to British Legation in Copenhagen in charge of gathering food supplies for British Army October, 1916-June, 1917; member Royal Societies Club, Royal Automobile Club, and the Playgoers (London)

Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Putney Vale Cemetery, London. Survived by two sisters, Miss Isabella Thomasine Trowbridge of Rome, Italy, and Florence Trowbridge Heaton (ex-'93 Art), the widow of J Edward Heaton, of Paris, France, and a brother, Harold Rutherford Trowbridge (Polytechnic Institute, Dresden) of Vienna

Leonard Woolsey Bacon, B.A. 1888.

Born February 24, 1865, in Stamford, Conn Died January 8, 1939, in Hamden, Conn.

Father, Rev Leonard Woolsey Bacon (B A 1850, M D. 1856, D D 1879). Mother, Susan (Bacon) Bacon Yale relatives include Leonard Bacon (B A. 1820) (grandfather); Benjamin W Bacon (B A 1847), Theodore Bacon (B A 1853), Francis Bacon (M D 1853), George B Bacon (B A. 1856), Edward W. Bacon (B D. 1869), Thomas R Bacon, '72, Alfred T Bacon, '73 (uncles), Henry S Bacon, '93, Leonard B Smith, '94, Winthrop D. Smith, '96, Leonard B. Bacon, '96, Harrison Gray, ex-'00 S, Roger T Bacon, ex-'11 S, Alfred H T Bacon, '14, Henry W. Closson, '16, Agnes B Sargent, '24 Art (cousins), Leonard Bacon, '09, B Selden Bacon, '11, Wallace G. Corwin, '17, Selden D Bacon, '31, Nathanael B Greene, '31 S (nephews), Dorothy B Woolsey, ex-'09 Art, Margaret T. Corwin, M A. Hon 1934 (nieces)

Norwich Free Academy, The Bingham School, Asheville, NC, and Phillips-Andover Attended Amherst College 1884–85 Entered Yale in 1885, third English composition prize Sophomore year, dissertation appointment Junior year, a founder of the Yale Orchestra and its librarian Junior year; member Andover Club

Attended University of Leipzig 1887-88, University of Pennsylvania 1888, Syracuse University 1889, and Mills Training School for Male Nurses, Bellevue School of Nursing, 1889–90, worked as professional nurse in Europe and United States 1889-91, attended Yale School of Medicine 1891-92 (M D. 1892); postgraduate study of medicine at universities of Tubingen and Bern 1906–07, engaged in practice of medicine New Haven 1892–1918, and since 1923, specialized in general surgery and orthopedics; assistant medical clinic Yale University School of Medicine 1892-94 and surgical clinic 1895-97; instructor operative surgery 1897-1905 and surgery 1905-06, city physician 1893-94, member of staff Hospital of St Raphael and Grace Hospital, commissioned Major, Medical Corps, September 5, 1918, attended Medical Officers' Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, assigned to General Hospital No 3, on orthopedic service Children's Hospital and Massachusetts General Hospital, assistant chief and later chief of orthopedic service General Hospital No 32, Chicago, February 1-June 15, 1919; surgeon chief General Hospital No 16, New Haven, June 15, 1919, until discharge September 1, 1919, in US Public Health Service in charge of surgical staff Hospital No 41, 1919–23, contributed numerous articles to medical and scientific journals, a founder of Beaumont Medical Club; president American Society of Orthopedic Surgeons, and New Haven Medical Association 1908, vice-president

Connecticut State Medical Society 1935–36, first vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1924–25 and president 1925–26; member New Haven County and American Medical associations, and New Haven Colony Historical Society

Married (1) July 6, 1892, in New Haven, Emma Waleska, daughter of Hugo and Emilie (Neumann) Schneeloch, and sister of Ralph H Schneeloch, ex-'01 M Children Leonard Woolsey, Jr, ex-'17; and Emma Waleska (B A. Vassar 1921), the wife of Theodore Schlosser Evans, '17 (M D Columbia 1921) Mrs Bacon died July 17, 1925. Married (2) April 8, 1927, in Bridgeport, Conn, Esther Louise, daughter of William and Anna Oleson Children Thorwald Oleson; Susan Esther, and Theodore Davenport

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, one grandchild, four sisters, Margaret B Corwin, the wife of Robert N Corwin, '87, Miss Susan Almira Bacon (B A Mount Holyoke College 1905, Ph D Yale 1911), of Palo Alto, Calif, Mabel Bacon Ripley (B A. Smith College 1896), the wife of Philip F Ripley, '97, and Elizabeth Bacon Greene, the wife of Prescott M Greene, '03 S., a brother, Selden Bacon, *ex-*'83, and a half brother, David Leonard Bacon, '16 S His brothers, Nathaniel T Bacon, '79 S, Benjamin W. Bacon, '81, and Theodore D. Bacon, '83 S, died in 1926, 1932, and 1930 respectively

Dr Bacon willed his prescription stubs to the University Library "as an authentic record of the actual practice of a New Haven physician"

Dorr Albert Hudson, B.A. 1888.

Born March 20, 1862, in Newfane, Vt. Died June 27, 1939, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Albert J Hudson, a salesman in Wakefield, Mass Mother, Elizabeth (Edwards) Hudson.

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Senior year, Class deacon four years, member Andover Club.

Attended Yale Divinity School 1888–91 (BD 1891); ordained in Congregational church, Cherryfield, Me, September 9, 1891, and minister there 1891, without charge 1891–93 because of ill-health; minister Miller's Falls, Mass, 1893–1904, Second Congregational Church, North Chelmsford, Mass, 1904–10, Westbrook, Me, 1910–25, Federated Church, Charlemont, Mass, 1925–30, and Gill, Mass., 1932–37, because of ill-health was unoccupied 1930–32, president Lowell District, Massachusetts Sunday School Association, 1907–08, statistical secretary Andover Conference of Congregational Churches 1908–09, moderator Cumberland County Association of Churches 1915–17; on Montague (Mass) School Committee 1898–99 (chairman 1899), member Federated Church, Charlemont

Married June 10, 1891, in Wakefield, Mass, Alice Evelyn, daughter of Warren H and Ellen Keziah (Carey) Godfrey Children · Paul Godfrey (Boston University 1913–14), Ruth Ellen (died June 23, 1899); and Doris Elizabeth, the wife of Philip Legate. Mrs Hudson died August 30, 1926

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Lakeside Cemetery, Wakefield, Mass Survived by one daughter, son, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs Harry E. Upham and Mrs. Arthur-Reed, both of Wakefield, and a brother, Will Hudson of Boston

Harry Weber McCauley, B.A. 1888.

Born November 3, 1865, in Reading, Pa Died September 8, 1938, in Spokane, Wash

Father, Rev. Charles Firey McCauley (BA 1838) Mother, Maria (Hoke) McCauley

Reading High School and private tutor Second Berkeley Premium Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years, twoyear honors in ancient languages Senior year; member Phi Gamma Delta and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Union Theological Seminary 1888–90 (assistant librarian and president of his Class), spent summers of 1889 and 1890 in missionary work in the Indian Territory and in Colorado; clerk under his brother in the Quartermaster's Office, Portland, Ore, 1891-92; was received into Roman Catholic Church 1891, attended Laval University 1893-96 (STB 1896), reporter Denver Republican 1896-98, enlisted May 1, 1898, as private Company E, First Colorado Volunteer Infantry, served in Philippines June, 1898–August, 1899 (promoted to corporal September 1, 1898); mustered out of service September 8, 1899, was one of party which on the voyage to the Philippines took possession of Wake Island for the United States on July 5, 1898, staff correspondent Denver Republican and Boston Globe during the campaign, member of a mining expedition in Honduras 1900, local editor Herald Democrat, Leadville, Colo, 1900-01, engaged in educational work in the Philippines under the Civil Service 1901; entered regular army 1901, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Coast Artillery Corps, July 1, 1901, First Lieutenant September 23, 1901, Captain January 25, 1907, Major July 24, 1917, Lieutenant Colonel (temp.) March 1, 1918, and Colonel July 15, 1918, served with 36th Company, Coast Artillery, Fort Santiago, PI, April-June, 1902, on recruiting service Ashland, Wis, Menominee, Mich, Stevens Point, W1s, and Eau Claire, W1s, 1902-03, stationed at Fort Revere, Mass,

1903-04, Fort Snelling, Minn, July-August, 1904; Fort Casey, Wash, 1904-07, Fort Trumbull, Conn, 1907-09; attended Coast Artillery School, Fort Monroe, Va, 1909-10 (graduated 1910); stationed at Fort Baker, Calif, 1910-16, with the Coast Defenses of Mobile, Fort Morgan, Ala, 1916-17, assistant to purchasing quartermaster, Kansas City, Mo, 1917-18, and with Coast Defenses of San Diego, Calif, July-December, 1918, honorably retired as Major December 7, 1918, because of disability acquired in the line of duty, Colonel retired since June 21, 1930 (under act of that date), since 1918 had resided in San Francisco; member Cathedral of Our Lady of Lourdes, Spokane.

Married October 24, 1903, in Eau Claire, Wis, Alma Leonard. No children

Death due to cerebral thrombosis. Buried in Riverside Park Cemetery, Spokane Survived by wife

Frederick Holmes Paine, B.A. 1888.

Born January 19, 1866, in Farmington, Conn. Died December 12, 1938, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Dr Levi Leonard Paine, '56. Mother, Jennette (Holmes) Paine. Yale relatives include Langdon W Clark, *ex-*'17 S, Edward B Paine, '31, Wingate H Paine, '36, and Leonard F Paine, '40 (nephews).

Phillips-Andover Attended Amherst College 1884–85 Entered Yale in Sophomore year, member Andover Club

În insurance business in Ohio 1888-89, teacher Michigan Military Academy, Orchard Lake, Mich, 1889–90, the Collegiate Institute, Newton, N J, 1890-91, and Hamilton Institute, New York City, 1891-1900; acting head of history department Eastern District High School, Brooklyn, from organization in 1900 until 1904 and head of department from 1904 until retirement in 1936, MA Yale 1894, lecturer on government Brooklyn Institute of Arts and Sciences 1916-23; became secretary in 1912 of Citizens' Committee on Founding a Brooklyn University and served about five years, president Gates Avenue Property Owners Association, Brooklyn, 1922-38, Association of First Assistants of New York City 1908-10 (chairman committee on legislation for many years), Schoolmasters' Association of New York City and Vicinity 1918–19; chairman New York Section, Middle States Association of History and Social Science Teachers 1910-12, 1915-16, and 1921-23; corresponding secretary Male High School Teachers Association of New York City; 1923-35 member of joint salary committee of fifteen which in 1928 secured increases in teachers' salaries, member New York High School Teachers' Association (chairman committee on pension legislation), Association of Men Teachers and Principals (chairman committee on

Yale College

affairs of high schools), Brooklyn Teachers Association (chairman committee on lectures and studies), American History Teachers Association, National Education and American Historical associations, executive committee Yale Association of Long Island, and Central Congregational Church, Brooklyn (deacon 1926-38)

Married July 11, 1900, in Hope Valley, RI, Mary Elma Tillinghast (B M. Smith College 1899), daughter of Caleb Edward and Mary Ann (Reynolds) Tillinghast and sister of Edward M Tillinghast, '88, Elbert R. Tillinghast, '88, and Richard B Tillinghast, '02 Children. Frederick Tillinghast, '22, and Priscilla (B.A. Smith College 1928), the wife of Washington Irving Van der Poel, Jr. (Trinity College ex-'31)

Death due to chronic valvular heart disease. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Bangor, Me Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and a brother, Edward S Paine, '04

George Madison Pavey, B.A. 1888.

Born May 16, 1865, in Washington Court House, Ohio Died September 23, 1938, in Dallas, Texas.

Father, Madison Pavey (graduate Cincinnati Law School 1859), a lawyer, prosecuting attorney of Fayette County, Ohio, state senator, son of Daniel and Mary (Calloway) Pavey of Leesburg, Ohio Mother, Mary Lucretia (Dunlap) Pavey, daughter of John and Susan (Brooks) Dunlap of Greenfield, Ohio.

College of Wooster ex-'85 Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Yale Assembly and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended Yale School of Law 1888–90 (LL B 1890, member Phi Delta Phi); in office of Foster & Ackley, New York City, 1890–91, admitted to Ohio bar March 5, 1891, assisted in management of his father's real estate in Washington Court House and also engaged in practice of law 1891–1903, assistant cashier The Merchants & Farmers Bank, Washington Court House, 1891–92, removed to Dallas in 1903 and there engaged in real estate business and in practice of law until retirement in 1932; contributed to *Magazine of American History*, member Presbyterian Church, Washington Court House

Married (1) August 17, 1892, in Washington Court House, Mabelle Howe Stoddard, daughter of William H and Rebecca T (Howe) Stoddard Children. Harold Madison and Edith Mabelle Mr and Mrs Pavey were divorced in 1907 Married (2) April 27, 1908, in Dallas, Emma Dot, daughter of David Saxon and Temperance Lucinda Arnold Son, George Madison, Jr (B S Southern Methodist University 1939)

Death due to endocarditis Buried in Oakland Cemetery, Dallas Survived by wife, children, a granddaughter, a sister, Miss Mary S Pavey (B A Wellesley 1893) of New York City, and a brother, Frank Dunlap Pavey, '84 Another brother, Charles Calloway Pavey, '84 L, died in 1925.

Joseph Grant Ewing, B.A. 1889.

Born January 21, 1866, in Harrisburg, Pa Died August 23, 1938, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Joseph Brunson Ewing, an attorney in Harrisburg, son of James and Justina (Grove) Ewing Mother, Mary Jane Kenny (Spiese) Ewing, daughter of Daniel and Mary Jane (Kenny) Spiese

Harrisburg Academy Class glee club Freshman and Sophomore years, University Glee Club Senior year, College Choir four years, financial editor Yale Record Senior year, Freshman Barge Crew and Tug-ofwar Team; member Dunham Boat Club, University Drum Corps, and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Secretary and treasurer Harrisburg Boiler & Manufacturing Company 1889-91, managed his father's estate and traveled abroad 1891-96, associated with Wolf-American Bicycle Company as observer on their behalf of cycle exhibitions in New York, Chicago, and Philadelphia, and then as manager of their Fifth Avenue store in New York City 1896-97; resided in Harrisburg 1897-1902; advertising manager Laflin & Rand Powder Company, New York City, 1902-03, manager Bureau of Advertising and Rifle Smokeless Powder Division, E I duPont de Nemours Powder Company, Wilmington, Del, 1903 until retirement in 1914, had since devoted time to literary work, an officer of American Rifle Team which won the Palma Trophy in England 1904, and of the team which won the Pan-American Championship at Buenos Aires 1913; appointed in 1905 inspector-general of rifle practice (with rank of Colonel) on staff of Governor of Delaware and served in that capacity for a number of years; adviser to national government on construction of rifle range at Guantánamo, Cuba, member 7th Regiment, New York, 1890 and Second Lieutenant, Company C, 1st Regiment of Delaware 1903, author The Rifleman's Handbook for Military Riflemen (1904), Rifle Range Instruction, a comedy, The Wickedness of Amanda, and Poems (1909), member Lambs Club of New York, Army and Navy Club of Washington, and Sons of the American Revolution

Married (1) in 1924, Mrs Emily Myers Married (2) July 14, 1938, Mrs Beulah Lee McNeff

Death due to carcinoma Survived by wife

٢

Albert Myrick Freeman, B.A. 1889.

Born October 10, 1865, in Provincetown, Mass. Died September 27, 1938, in Easton, Pa

Father, Reuben Freeman, captain of a whaling vessel which was captured by the Confederate cruiser *Alabama* during the Civil War, son of Joseph and Phebe (Linnell) Freeman of Orleans, Mass Mother, Elizabeth (Ryder) Freeman, daughter of Elisha and Elizabeth Ryder of Provincetown

Chester Valley Academy and private tutor Third English composition prize Sophomore year, second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; on Yale Courant board Senior year, member Yale Assembly Junior and Senior years, and Psi Upsilon

Headmaster Knapp Home School, Plymouth, Mass, 1889–90, in charge of Greek department Tabor Academy, Marion, Mass, 1890–93; instructor in ancient languages Franklin School, Cincinnati, 1893–94, instructor in Latin and Greek Blair Academy, Blairstown, N J, 1894–1938, assistant headmaster 1894–1914, and dean since 1914, interested in floriculture he maintained an extensive flower garden on the grounds of the Academy; member Blairstown Presbyterian Church (treasurer of benevolences since 1907).

Married (1) June 20, 1894, in Fair Haven, Mass, Elizabeth Clifford, daughter of Benjamin and Sarah Jane (Swan) Beetle. No children Mrs. Freeman died June 24, 1899. Married (2) June 22, 1904, in Bradford, Pa, Sarah Scott Levens (Ph B. Oberlin 1894, M A. 1898), daughter of Willard Abel and Sarah Elizabeth (Scott) Levens. Children Sarah Elizabeth (B.A. Mount Holyoke College 1928; Ph D Johns Hopkins 1933) and Albert Myrick, Jr, '30

Death followed an operation for an abdominal infection Buried in Cedar Ridge Cemetery, Blairstown Survived by wife and children

Frederic Nye Lindsay, B.A. 1889.

Born March 14, 1866, in Troy, N.Y Died February 26, 1939, in Rochester, NY

Father, William Lindsay, a clothier in Troy. Mother, Rebecca White (Whitmarsh) Lindsay

Troy High School Third declamation prize Sophomore year, member College Choir four years.

Instructor in classics Troy High School 1889–92, attended Yale Divinity School 1892–94 (B D. 1894), licensed to preach by Presbytery of Troy 1894 and ordained June 20, 1895, acting minister Presbyterian

Church, Charlotte, N.Y (now Lakeside Church, Rochester), 1894–1904, registered in Yale Graduate School 1902-03 (M A 1903); minister Grace Presbyterian Church, Rochester, 1905-07, assistant minister Central Church, Rochester, 1908–09; supply minister New York City 1910–12 and 1914–15, graduate student Union Theological Seminary 1909–13 and Columbia University 1909–12 (Ph D. 1912); acting minister Van Nest Presbyterian Church, New York City, 1913, minister Wells Memorial Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn, NY, 1916–18, religious director YMCA at Camp Sevier and later at Camp Merritt 1918–19; secretary Interchurch World Movement of North America, New York City, 1920-21, author Kerubin in Semitic Religion and Art (1912), member staff Near East Relief, with offices in New York City, 1921-24 and acting minister Greene Avenue Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn, 1925; chaplain Brooklyn Church and Mission Federation 1924 until retirement October 1, 1938, since 1938 had made his home in Rochester, moderator Presbytery of Rochester 1897; member New York National Guard, Masonic order, and American Society of Church History.

Married (1) October 4, 1899, in Honeoye Falls, N.Y, Georgianna, daughter of John G and Anna B. Neal Mrs Lindsay died April 2, 1902. Married (2) April 17, 1906, in Rochester, Anna Campbell, daughter of James and Julia (Campbell) McKown

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Elizabeth Lindsay of Troy

Edward Olaus Loe, B.A. 1889.

Born April 30, 1859, in Barre Mills, Wis. Died July 31, 1938, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Ole E Loe, a farmer in Grand Meadow, Minn ; son of Ole O. and Ingeborg (Sohus) Loe of Barre Mills Mother, Olianne Ida Matilde Loe

Phillips-Andover Andover Club

Attended Yale Divinity School 1889–92 (BD. 1892), ordained St. Olaf Lutheran Church, Baltimore, Md, June, 1892, and minister there 1892–93, instructor Grand Forks College 1893–94; minister Norwegian and English Lutheran Church, Milwaukee, Wis, 1894–98, Bethlehem Lutheran Church, Beloit, Wis, 1899–1903, in 1903 resigned from the ministry for doctrinal reasons; in office of Washburn-Crosby Company's mills, Minneapolis, 1904–08; engaged in private tutoring and in selling books in Seattle, Wash, 1908–14, associated with Seattle Lighting Company 1914–30, had not been actively engaged in business since 1930

Married January 4, 1899, in Crookston, Minn , Anna Christine, daugh-

ter of Abram O. and Una Serena (Torgerson) Twedten Children[.] Paul Marcus; Elsie Una (University of Washington *ex-*²24), Philip Abraham (D M D. North Pacific Dental College 1925), and Walter Daniel (University of Washington *ex-*²29)

Death due to angina pectoris Ashes interred in Mount Pleasant Columbarium, Seattle Survived by wife, children, and one grandson

Eugene Emile McCandliss, B.A. 1889.

Born September 18, 1868, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died November 8, 1938, in New York City

Father, Dr. William Arters McCandliss, a physician and surgeon in Ohio and in Philadelphia; son of James and Jane (Highland) McCandliss of Shippensburg, Pa Mother, Mary Minerva (Johnston) McCandliss, daughter of Carmi and Alma (Moss) Johnston of Cheshire, Conn Yale relatives include a brother, Charles D McCandliss, ex-'85 S

Rugby Academy, Philadelphia, and Hopkins Grammar School Member Freshman Glee Club and Sigma Nu

Engaged in the woolen and cotton manufacturing business, Media, Pa, 1889–92; manager Stanwix Hall, Albany, NY, 1892–1903, manager Virgil Practice Clavier Company, New York City, 1903–04, associated with United Fruit Company, Port Limon, Costa Rica, 1904–07, in office of Crosley Company, photoengravers in New York City, 1907–10 and 1917–18; manager Fordham Hospital, New York City, 1911–16, accountant and later manager purchasing department National Electrotype Company 1918–38; attended the Episcopal church

Married (1) June 24, 1891, in Hoosick, NY, Mary Annette, daughter of Cebra and Mary Annette (Gillette) Quackenbush Daughter, Eugenia Annette, the wife of Rev James Elmer McKee (B.A St Stephen's College 1910, graduate General Theological Seminary 1913) Mr and Mrs McCandhiss were divorced in 1907 Married (2) August 8, 1916, in New York City, Anna Elizabeth Parkes McKune, daughter of John Ambrose and Elizabeth (Murphy) Parkes

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by wife, daughter, four grandchildren, one sister, Mrs Mary M Betts of San Francisco, two half sisters, Mrs Alfred P Lee of Philadelphia, and Mrs Harold Dow of Douglass Hill, Me, one half brother, Roger McCandliss of Atlantic City, N J, a stepdaughter, Sister M Corita McKune, and a stepson, Nicholas McKune

William Clifford Moore, B.A. 1889.

Born September 16, 1867, in New York City Died March 22, 1939, in New York City.

Father, William Henry Helme Moore (B A. Union College 1844), president Atlantic Mutual Insurance Company and New York Life Saving Institute, vice-president Seaman's Bank for Savings, son of Lieut Col Jeremiah Moore and Juliana (Brush) Moore of Greenport, N Y Mother, Adelaide Louisa (Lewis) Moore; daughter of Isaac and Cornelia (Donaldson) Lewis of New York City Yale relatives include[•] Rev Isaac Lewis (B A 1765) (great-great-grandfather), and Rev. Isaac Lewis, Jr (B A 1794) (great-grandfather)

Everson's Collegiate School, New York City, and private tutor. Member Gamma Nu and Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1889-90 (member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to New York bar 1892, associated with law firm of Hand, Bonney, Pell & Jones, New York City, 1892-95; member firm Moore, Bleecker & Wheeler, New York City, 1895-1910; practiced independently 1910 until retirement in 1928 because of ill-health, in later years of practice, restricted his legal work chiefly to the care of estates; officer Pioneer Smelting Company; president and manager Working Women's Protective Union 1903-06; manager Life Saving Benevolent Association for a time and Havens Relief Fund Society of New York 1897-1920 (consulting secretary 1919-28), secretary Delta Kappa Epsilon Association of New York City 1907 and 1908 (during World War as a member of the executive committee of the Association cooperated with Small Arms Instructors Corps in publication of Small Arms Instructors Manual, used in various training camps); member Amateur Comedy Club, New York State Bar Association, New York Genealogical and Biographical Society, Sons of the Revolution, and Brick Presbyterian Church, New York City.

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Sterling Cemetery, Greenport Survived by a sister, Adelaide Moore Herrick, the wife of Elias Hicks Herrick (B A Princeton 1888) of New York City, and a brother, Arthur L Moore, '88.

Charles Cook Paulding, B.A. 1889.

Born December 10, 1868, in New York City. Died September 26, 1938, in Saratoga Springs, NY.

Father, William Henry Paulding, a merchant in New York City; son of George and Eleanor (VanMater) Paulding of New York City Mother,

Yale College

Anne Mitchell (Depew) Paulding, daughter of Isaac and Martha Minot (Mitchell) Depew of Peekskill, N Y Yale relatives include Rev Justus Mitchell (B A. 1776) (great-great-grandfather), Roger M Sherman (B.A. 1792) (great-great-uncle), Chauncey R Mitchell (*ex*-1804) (great-grandfather), Chauncey M Depew, '56 (uncle), and Sherman L. Depew, *ex-*'04 S (cousin)

Peekskill Military Academy and Berkeley School, New York City First dispute appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment and special honors in English Senior year, member Class Day Committee and Psi Upşilon.

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1889-91; admitted to New York bar May, 1891, managing clerk in office of Alexander & Green, New York City, 1891–93; assistant in law department New York Central & Hudson River Railroad Company (consolidated into The New York Central Railroad Company in 1914) 1893-97, assistant to general counsel 1897–1902, assistant to general attorney 1902–05, assistant general attorney 1905-08, solicitor 1908-20, assistant vice-president 1920-27, vice-president public relations 1927-29, vice-president law and public relations 1929 until retirement in 1933 because of ill-health, advisory counsel 1933-38; during World War solicitor for New York Central Railroad under US Railroad Administration and also served in US Treasury Department; chairman draft board in Westchester County, contributed an article on New York Central Lines to 14th edition, Encyclopaedia Britannica, trustee Peekskill Military Academy 1929-38 (vicepresident of the board 1933-37 and president since 1937), president Union League Club of New York 1931-38, Hundred Year Association 1933-34, Yale Club of New York 1926-29 (member of the council since 1919, executive committee 1923-29, and vice-president 1926), Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County 1917-20 (vice-president 1916–17), and its representative on Alumni Board 1919–36 (first vicechairman of the board 1931-32); director Broadway Association, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State and American Bar associations, The Pilgrims (member executive committee 1928), Society of the Cincinnati, and St. Thomas' Protestant Episcopal - Church, New York City (vestryman since 1936)

Unmarried.

Death due to pulmonary heart disease Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Peekskill, N Y. Survived by a sister, Miss Anne Depew Paulding of New York City

In 1931 Mr Paulding endowed the Yale Scholarship at Princeton University.

Charles Abernethy Valentine, B.A. 1889.

Born May 19, 1868, in New York City. Died May 30, 1939, in Poughkeepsie, NY

Father, Joseph Manson Valentine, merchant and woolen manufacturer in New York City, son of Lewis Valentine of New Jersey Mother, Julia (Townsend) Valentine; daughter of John Townsend of New York City

Mount Pleasant Hall, Ossining, NY Second colloquy appointment Junior year, second English composition prize Sophomore year; designed cover for Class Book

Studied architecture Columbia University 1889–90, draftsman Jardine Brothers, architects in New York City, 1890–91; studied architecture in Paris 1891–94, attending École des Beaux-Arts 1892–94; draftsman Howard & Cauldwell, New York City, 1894–95, member firm Ludlow & Valentine 1895–1909 and of Valentine & Kissam 1913–20, independently engaged as architect New York City 1909–13 and 1920 until retirement in 1925, since retirement had resided in Chappaqua, N Y ; former member Players Club, Architectural League of New York, American Institute of Architects, and Episcopal church

Married November 25, 1896, in New York City, Helen Marguerite, daughter of Albert Gallatin and Louise (Shaw) Hyde. Children Charles Abernethy, Jr, ex-'20, Louise Hyde (B A Vassar 1920), the wife of C. Leith Speiden (B A Cornell 1915), Joseph Manson, '23, and Albert Fillmore, ex-'31 Art

Death due to general arteriosclerosis. Survived by wife, children, and nine grandchildren

Walter Alden DeCamp, B.A. 1890.

Born April 27, 1868, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died September 20, 1938, in Towson, Md

Father, James Milton DeCamp (B A Ohio Wesleyan 1867), general manager Liverpool, London & Globe Insurance Company, Cincinnati; son of James and Joanna (Evans) DeCamp of Cincinnati Mother, Jane (Brandebury) DeCamp, daughter of Charles and Martha (Hamilton) Brandebury of Delaware, Ohio Yale relatives include a brother, Charles B DeCamp, '97

Woodward High School and Franklin School, Cincinnati First Berkeley Premium in Latin composition and third Freshman scholarship, first declamation prize Sophomore year; philosophical oration, Scott Prize in French, second Henry James TenEyck Prize, and Exhibition speaker Junior year, high oration appointment, special one-year honors

Yale College

in political science, history, and law, and Class orator Senior year, played in Yale Orchestra Freshman year (librarian Sophomore year and business manager Junior year), member Apollo Glee Club, Junior Promenade Committee, Gamma Nu, Psi Upsilon, and Phi Beta Kappa

In office of King, Thompson & Richards and enrolled in University of Cincinnati College of Law 1890–92 (LL B. 1892), admitted to Ohio bar 1892; practiced with Arthur Espy ('90) 1892–93; member firm of Hollister & Hollister [Howard C, '78] 1893–1906, first assistant city solicitor of Cincinnati 1906–08, in 1908 became associated with Dudley V Sutphin, '97, partner DeCamp & Sutphin (later DeCamp, Sutphin & Brumleve) since 1910, trustee University of Cincinnati 1901–03, member Yale Alumni Board 1910–29 (corresponding secretary 1916–21 and member of the executive committee 1914–21, 1923–27), president Associated Western Yale Clubs 1913, governor Yale Publishing Association 1919– 26, member Cincinnati Home Guard and Calvary Church (Episcopal), Cincinnati.

Married October 9, 1894, in Cincinnati, Caroline Elliott, daughter of George Atherton and Alice (Elliott) Middleton Children Middleton, '18, and James Milton, '22 (LL B University of Cincinnati 1925)

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife, sons, and five grandchildren

Bert Hanson, B.A. 1890.

Born July 26, 1867, in Sanford, Me. Died December 13, 1938, in New York City

Father, Benjamin Franklin Hanson, a businessman in Somersworth, N.H., son of Benjamin F and Mary (Libby) Hanson of Sanford Mother, Fannie (Thompson) Hanson; daughter of Nahum and Lois (MacLellan) Thompson of Springvale, Me

Phillips-Exeter First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, Freshman Football Team; Yale Athletic Team three years, University Football Team Senior year; financial editor Class Book, member Class supper and photograph committees, Yale Assembly, Exeter Club, and Zeta Psi.

Instructor Siglar's Academy, Newburgh, NY, 1890-91; private tutor 1891-92, attended Cornell University Law School 1892-93 (LL B 1893, member football team, editor *Cornell Daily Sun*), admitted to the bar February, 1894; engaged in practice of law Syracuse, NY, 1894-95 and New York City since 1895 (law clerk in office of Ritch, Woodford, Bovee & Wallace and later member of the successive firms of Goodale, Hanson & Price 1901-04, Goodale & Hanson 1904-28, and Goodale, Hanson & Hooker [Henry S, '02] 1928-38), associated with Williams [James D, '94] & Hooker 1923–28, appointed by General Theodore A. Bingham, '76, third deputy police commissioner of New York City 1907 and served until 1909, assistant U.S Attorney General in charge of customs cases 1914–21; president Municipal Art Society 1910–12 and member board of directors 1909–18; vice-president and director American Reserve Fund since 1923, an incorporator in 1912, trustee, secretary, and treasurer National Academy Association 1912–38; secretary Reform Club 1904–23 and president 1923–28 (trustee 1904–28), director Union Paper Company, for many years in charge of New York dinners of his Class, treasurer Cornell Club of New York 1904–14 and vice-president 1914–17, member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, New York County Lawyers' Association, and Masonic order.

Married July 16, 1919, in New York City, Helen Potter (B.A. Smith College 1900, LL B. New York University 1908), daughter of Ellis Miller and Frances M. (Young) Potter Son, Ellis Potter.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield, N J Survived by wife and son

Norman James, B.A. 1890.

Born September 2, 1868, in Catonsville, Md. Died January 24, 1939, in Baltimore, Md

Father, Henry James, a lumber merchant; member firm of Henry James & Company, Baltimore, son of Nathaniel Emmes and Betsy (Ingersoll) James of Truxton, N.Y Mother, Amelia Belknap (Cate) James, daughter of Ammon and Eunice (Belknap) Cate of Catonsville, Md Yale relatives include Henry A James, '74, Dr. Walter B James, '79, and Robert C James, '94 (brothers); Henry James, '03, Allan Mc-Lane, Jr, '16, Ellery S James, '17, and Oliver B. James, '18 (nephews)

Phillips-Exeter. Class crew two years, substitute University Crew and captain Class boat club Sophomore year; Junior Promenade Committee; governor Yale University Club Junior and Senior years, Cup man; president Exeter Club and vice-president Southern Club Senior year; Triennial Committee, member Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Clerk Citizens' National Bank of Baltimore 1890–91; in office of Henry James & Company 1891, became secretary Baltimore Street Railway Company in 1891 and was later associated with the Phosphate Manufacturing Company, Pon Pon, SC, until 1895; member of the N W. James Lumber Company (later The James Lumber Company), Baltimore, since 1895 (president since 1913), director Safe Deposit & Trust

Yale College

Company, the Savings Bank of Baltimore, the Consolidated Gas & Electric Company, the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad, Louisville & Nashville Railroad, and the Atlantic Coast Line Company of Connecticut, member Baltimore branch Federal Reserve Bank for several terms, Mr James was a book collector and had built up a library on sport, natural history, and early Americana, his collection of Currier and Ives prints was one of the finest in the country, member St. Paul's Church (Episcopal), Baltimore.

Married (1) April 8, 1896, at Catonsville, Margie, daughter of Charles G. W Macgill (M D University of Maryland 1856) and Louisa Thompson (McEndree) Macgill Children. Charles Macgill, Margie, the wife of Janon Fisher, Jr (B A Princeton 1920), and Amelia (died April 2, 1917). Mrs James died March 16, 1907. Married (2) November 2, 1915, in Washington, D C., Isabella Louisa, daughter of Charles Evelyn Hagner (M D University of Pennsylvania 1869) and Isabella (Davis) Hagner

Death occurred after an illness of about a year Buried in Loudon Park Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, one daughter, son, nine grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Harry White of Baltimore and Mrs. Francis Newton of Easthampton, N.Y.

Stephen Hurlburt Kohler, B.A. 1890.

Born July 17, 1867, in Akron, Ohio Died February 5, 1939, in Orange, NJ

Father, Judge Jacob Adams Kohler of Akron, a lawyer, attorney general of Ohio 1886–88; son of Henry and Mary (Slanker) Kohler of Reading, Pa, and Summit County, Ohio Mother, Fanny Adeline (Coburn) Kohler; daughter of Stephen H Coburn, Jr, and Adeline (Myers) Coburn of Akron

Williston Academy. Secretary and treasurer Class baseball club three years; on *Yale Record* board Senior year; member Class Day Committee, University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head

In banking and real estate business Akron 1890–95, associated with Akron Varnish Company 1895–1900, and People's Hard Rubber Company 1900–03; secretary and general manager Globe Sign & Poster Company 1903 until retirement in 1915, in recent years had resided in South Orange, NJ; member Yale Club of New York City

Married June 5, 1895, in Akron, Lida, daughter of George Walker and Jane (Whitaker) Plumer. Children Hurlburt Stephen and Lida. Mrs. Kohler died in June, 1932

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Franklin (Pa) Cemetery Survived by children.

Charles Fitch Lester, B.A. 1890.

Born October 15, 1868, in Norwich, Conn Died October 15, 1938, in Scotch Plains, N.J.

Father, Giddings Hyde Lester of Norwich, son of Charles Fitch and Mary (Davison) Lester of New London and Norwich, Conn. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Logee) Lester, daughter of Olney and Mary Salisbury (Martin) Logee of Providence, R I.

Norwich Free Academy First Berkeley Premium Freshman year; dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment and Lucius F. Robinson Latin Prize Senior year, member Five Minute Club

Teacher of classics Canandaigua Academy 1890–91, attended Art Students' League 1891–92, New York Academy of Design, and Brooklyn Art School, maintained a studio in New York City 1897–1938, since 1920 had resided at Free Acres, a cooperative artists' colony at Scotch Plains, N J, for a number of years his work was predominantly black-and-white illustration of poems and short stories, contributed to *Godey's*, *Harper's*, and *Life*, some of his best work was on children's subjects, notably the "Nonsense Ballads" in *St Nucholas*, about 1900 took up color work to some extent and was an exhibitor at the American Water Color Society in 1908, 1909, and 1910, his work also embraced commercial illustration which became his chief interest in recent years, illustrated Will Rogers' daily "worst story" for the McNaught Newspaper Syndicate and did drawings for the Edelmuth Company, secretary Free Acres Association, treasurer Free Acres Tennis Club, member Second Congregational Church, Norwich, and New England Church, Brooklyn, N Y

Married November 27, 1920, at Snow Hill, Md., Davida Rose Gwendolyn deGuibert (Eureka College *ex*-'06), daughter of Louis Charles and Mary (Ingels) deGuibert No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife and a cousin, Miss Mary Emma Perkins of Athens, Ala.

Ralph Augustine McDonnell, B.A. 1890.

Born August 20, 1868, in Topsham, Me. Died May 26, 1939, in Hamden, Conn

Father, John Augustine McDonnell, a merchant in Boston Mother, Valeria Goodenough (Dennett) McDonnell, daughter of William and Eliza (Wilson) Dennett of Topsham

Siglar's Academy, Newburgh, NY Second dispute appointment Junior year, first dispute appointment Senior year, second composition prize Sophomore year

Yale College

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1890-92 (MD. cum laude 1892, Campbell Gold Medal), studied in Paris, Berlin, and Vienna 1892-93, had practiced medicine in New Haven since 1893 specializing in dermatology; clinical assistant in dermatology Yale School of Medicine 1893-97, instructor in dermatology and materia medica 1897-1902, clinical professor of dermatology 1902–20, and clinical professor emeritus since 1920, appointed to newly created position of dermatologist New Haven Hospital 1913 and served until 1921; consulting dermatologist New Haven Hospital 1921-28 and Grace Hospital 1930-39, for many years head of derinatology clinic, New Haven Dispensary, was a pioneer in Connecticut in the use of X-ray in treatment of skin diseases, contributed to various medical journals, member Committee on Sanitation and Medicine, Connecticut State Council of Defense, and Board of Examiners, Medical Reserve Corps, 1917–18, secretary 1897, 1899, treasurer 1900, and president 1905 New Haven Medical Association, vice-president New Haven County Medical Association 1905–06 and president 1906–07, president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1906-07 (secretary and treasurer 1895–98), and Connecticut State Medical Society 1933-34; secretary Class of 1890 from 1935 to 1939 and member reunion committee for many years, fellow American Academy of Dermatology and Syphilology; member Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, American Geographical Society, American Museum of Natural History, American Dermatological Association, American Academy of Medicine, American Medical Association, Nu Sigma Nu, Masonic order, and Church of the Redeemer (Congregational), New Haven.

Married August 4, 1892, in New Haven, Lillian May, daughter of Edward Lyman Washburn, '63, and Amelia Beanda (Heness) Washburn and sister of Edward H Washburn, '06 L. Children Ralph Edward, '17, '20 M ; Frank, '21, and Charles Washburn, *ex*-'24 S

Death due to X-ray carcinomatosis. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife (died September 26, 1939), sons, five grandchildren, a sister, Miss Elizabeth McDonnell, and a brother, William Dennett McDonnell, both of New Haven

Knowlton Mixer, B.A. 1890.

Born November 4, 1869, in Buffalo, NY Died February 19, 1939, in Los Gatos, Calif

Father, Sylvester Frederick Mixer (ex-1841 M, M.D Columbia University 1847), a physician in Buffalo Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Knowlton) Mixer, daughter of Perrin and Elizabeth (Carter) Knowlton of Cincinnati, Ohio. Yale relatives include a brother, Frederick Knowlton Mixer, ex-'82 Special S.

Private tutor Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; member Psi Upsilon.

Engaged in wholesale lumber business Buffalo 1890-1917; president and treasurer Mixer & Company 1892–1917, entered service August 25, 1917, camp director American Red Cross, Camp McClellan, August-November, 1917, overseas November 17, 1917-March, 1920, associate director (assimilated rank of major) Bureau of Refugees and Relief November, 1917–May, 1918, in charge of civilian activities City of Paris and Department of the Seine May-October, 1918, director of General Relief Northeast Zone October, 1918–January, 1919; field director Bureau of Liberated Zone January, 1919-May, 1919; American Red Cross commissioner for France (assimilated rank of Lieutenant Colonel) October, 1919–March, 1920, discharged March, 1920; general secretary The Family Welfare Association of Baltimore 1920; executive secretary Puerto Rico Chapter, American Red Cross, with headquarters at San Juan, 1921–22, director and manager Philippine Chapter, American Red Cross, 1922–24, in 1923 went to Japan in charge of earthquake relief mission of the Red Cross, resided in New York City 1924-27 and devoted himself to writing and social work (made a special study of social agencies in New York for the Welfare Council 1925); chairman Health Center Committee, Buffalo, president Children's Aid and Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children, Erie County, N.Y.; member council National Municipal League, since 1927 had resided in Los Gatos where he was engaged in ranching, literary work, and church activities; Chevaher Legion of Honor 1919, decorated with Montenegrin Order of Prince Danilo (3d class) 1920 and Order of the Red Cross, Japan, 1924, author Porto Rico, History and Conditions (1926) and Old Houses of New England (1927), member First Church of Christ (Scientist), Los Gatos

Married (1) January 17, 1895, in Utica, NY., Jessie May, daughter of Jesse B Anthony Children[.] Sylvester A (died March 3, 1896), Knowlton, Jr (BA Williams 1921), and Jesse Anthony Mr and Mrs. Mixer were divorced in 1917 Married (2) August 11, 1919, in Paris, France, Margaret, daughter of Elliott Warner and Emma (Stoner) Douglas.

Survived by wife, two sons, and a grandson

George Dallas Yeomans, B.A. 1890.

Born May 9, 1867, in Little Valley, NY. Died March 28, 1939, in New York City

Father, James Dallas Yeomans, general superintendent Buffalo, New York & Philadelphia Railway and later of Olean, Bradford & Warren Railway; member Interstate Commerce Commission under Presidents Cleveland, McKinley, and Roosevelt, son of Vine Yeomans of Buffalo Mother, Eunice Cornelia (Davis) Yeomans

East Aurora (N.Y.) Academy, Griffith Institute, Springville, NY, and Central High School, Buffalo Secretary Yale University Football Team Junior year and president Senior year; director Yale Field Corporation Senior year; Junior Promenade Committee; member Renaissance Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Clerk and law student in office of Wright & Hubbard, railroad and corporation lawyers, Sioux City, Iowa, 1890-92, admitted to Iowa bar May 11, 1892, junior partner Wright, Hubbard & Yeomans 1892-93, moved to Buffalo 1893 and admitted to New York bar that year, junior member firm of Humphrey, Lockwood, Hoyt, Green & Yeomans (later Lockwood, Hoyt, Green & Yeomans) 1893–99; practiced independently 1899-1900, moved to New York City 1900, associated with Brooklyn Rapid Transit Company 1900-33 (general attorney in charge of negligence litigation and land damage actions 1901-05, general counsel in charge of all law and claim matters 1905–33), when the company became the Brooklyn-Manhattan Transit Corporation in 1923 he was elected vice-president and senior counsel and also served as vice-president and general counsel of its subsidiaries the New York Rapid Transit Corporation, Brooklyn Bus Corporation, Williamsburgh Power Plant Corporation, and the South Brooklyn Railway Company, director of a number of transit companies; candidate for district attorney Erie County, NY, 1899; member New York State Bar Association, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution, New England Society of New York, The Pilgrims, and Church of the Incarnation (Episcopal), New York City

Married October 2, 1895, in Boston, May Baldwin Stoddard (B L Smith College 1892), daughter of Francis Russell Stoddard (B A Harvard 1866) and Mary Frances (Baldwin) Stoddard (special student Radcliffe College 1897). Children: Isabella Stevenson, the wife of George Platt Brett, Jr; Bruce Baldwin (died March 30, 1899), May Baldwin Stoddard, the wife of Hubbard Lynch, '18 S.; and Annis Southworth, the wife of Franklin Edward Vilas (Columbia *ex-*'25).

Death due to a heart attack. Buried in Oak Grove Cemetery, Plymouth, Mass Survived by wife, daughters, six grandchildren, and a brother, James Hoyt Yeomans of Washington, D C

Charles Russell Ely, B.A. 1891.

Born February 20, 1870, in Golumbus, Ohio Died February 22, 1939, in Washington, DC

Father, Charles Wright Ely, B A 1862. Mother, Mary Grace (Darling) Ely Frederick (Md) College and Bowen's School for Boys, Hartford, Conn Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; member Class crew Sophomore and Junior years and University Crew Senior year.

Attended National Deaf-Mute College (now Gallaudet College), Washington, 1891-92 and instructor in mathematics 1891-95, assistant professor of mathematics 1895-96, professor of mathematics and chem-1stry 1896–98, and professor of natural science since 1898 with the exception of one year (1912-13 superintendent of Maryland State School for the Deaf, Frederick), secretary of the faculty 1917-39, chairman Advisory Board for Athletics about twenty years, and vice-president 1920-39, M A Gallaudet College 1892 and Yale 1897, Ph D George Washington University 1900, member Selective Service Board, District 11, Washington, 1917–18, his hobby was collecting, breeding, and studying micro-lepidoptera; had contributed articles on this subject to various technical publications, at one time collaborator on forest insect investigations U.S. Department of Agriculture, resided summers at East River, Conn, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and American Institute of Chemists, member American Chemical Society, Entomological Society of America, Washington Entomological Society (president 1916, 1917), Convention of American Instructors of the Deaf, and All Souls' Church (Unitarian), Washington.

Married December 25, 1897, in Orange, N.J., Louise Day, daughter of Thomas Sexton and Annie Maria (Day) Crane Children: Elizabeth Day (B A Wellesley 1922), the wife of Elmer Stewart (B S. George Washington University 1912, LL B 1915); Grace Darling (B S Columbia University 1923), the wife of Aaron D Studybaker (B.S. Carnegie Institute of Technology 1927, M S. University of Pittsburgh 1936), and Sylvia Louise (B S Wheaton College 1929), the wife of Robert Wood Cushman (B A George Washington University 1933).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Fort Lincoln Cemetery, Washington Survived by wife, daughters, four grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Grace D. Ely (Wellesley ex-'93, B A. George Washington University 1924) of Washington, and Miss Mabel D Ely (Pratt Institute 1905) of Cleveland, and a brother, Richard G. Ely (B A Amherst 1906, M A. Yale 1907)

William Drown Rorer, B.A. 1891.

Born February 24, 1864, in Oak Lane, Philadelphia, Pa. Died June 22, 1939, in Cheshire, Conn.

Father, David Rorer, a farmer in Oak Lane, son of David Rorer of Oak Lane, Philadelphia. Mother, Mary Felton (Bickley) Rorer; daughter of Rev George Bickley and Mary (Williams) Bickley of Frankford, Philadelphia.

Central High School and Eastburn Academy, Philadelphia. Teacher Gradfrey Consolidated School, Philadelphia, 1885–87 Second colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, oneyear honors in political science, history, and law Senior year, member Yale Union

Principal Eastburn Academy 1891–96; dean of students Bethany College (Philadelphia) 1896–97; principal Philadelphia High School for Girls 1897–1903; attended Yale Graduate School 1904–07 (Ph D 1907), principal The Harrisburg Academy 1907–12, proprietor Rorer Book Store, New Haven, 1913–15; vice-president and tutor Berkeley School, Inc, New Haven, 1916–17; principal high school, Wallkill, N Y, 1917– 21 and Pine Bush, N.Y., 1921–25; instructor The Cheshire Academy since 1925; author of a history of the Isthmus of Panama and a textbook on Spanish-American history; member Methodist Episcopal Church, Cheshire.

Married July 13, 1893, in Lancaster, Pa, Laura Irene, daughter of William and Sara Ann (Kendig) Weidle. Children. William Yale, ex-'14 S (died February 26, 1927); Mary Dorothy (B A. Mount Holyoke College 1917), the wife of Harvey R. Hawgood, '16 S; Gladys Irene, the wife of Martin L Stahle; David (died March 18, 1919), Reginald Bickley, Ruth Christine, the wife of Cecil B Knauss, and Catherine Marjorie, the wife of Rodger Larson. Mrs Rorer died November 21, 1936

Death due to myocardial failure Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Cheshire. Survived by daughters, one son, eight grandchildren, a sister, Laura R. Williams of Philadelphia, and a brother, Virgil E Rorer, '89 L.

Edward Françis Simms, B.A. 1891.

Born March 5, 1871, in Paris, Ky Died December 6, 1938, in Baltimore, Md

Father, William Elliott Simms (LL B Transylvania Law School 1846), a lawyer; captain of infantry during the Mexican War, member Kentucky House of Representatives; United States Representative from Kentucky 1859–61; Senator Confederate States of America 1861–65, son of William Marmaduke and Julia (Shropshire) Simms of Paris, Ky Mother, Lucy Ann (Blythe) Simms; daughter of James Blythe of Richmond, Ky.

Second colloquy appointment Senior year, member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Attended University of Virginia Law School 1891–92 (LL B 1892),

admitted to Kentucky bar 1894, engaged in the practice of law in Paris for a short time; devoted himself to the raising of thoroughbred horses in Paris until 1902 when he moved to Houston, Texas, and engaged in the mining and petroleum business; retained his interest in race horses until his death

Married August 1, 1904, in Austin, Texas, Lillie Lee, daughter of Henry Berry and Sallie (Evans) Weir. No children

Death due to leukemia. Burial in Paris, Ky, and later in Houston. Survived by wife, a sister, Lucy Blythe Simms, a brother, William E Simms, '91, and a stepdaughter, Mrs Kenneth Franzheim.

George Herbert Girty, B.A. 1892.

Born December 30, 1869, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died January 27, 1939, in Washington, D.C

Father, Alfred Prinz Girty, a bookkeeper associated with the Standard Oil Company, Cleveland; served three years as a private in Company G, 67th Regiment, Ohio Volunteer Infantry, during the Civil War, son of George Herbert and Caroline (Prinz) Girty of New York City Mother, Emma Eugenia (Hopkins) Girty; daughter of James Edgar and Mary Dickinson (Lane) Hopkins of Cleveland Yale relatives include a greatuncle, William Fenn Hopkins (M.A Hon'1831).

Central High School, Cleveland First DeForest Mathematics Prize Freshman year, high oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second glee club Sophomore year, College Choir Junior and Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Graduate School 1892–94 (Ph D. 1894), and Stanford University 1894–95, geologist and paleontologist U S. Geological Survey with headquarters at Washington, D C., since April, 1895, had spent winters doing research and summers in field work in various parts of the United States; author of numerous bulletins and reports of the U S. Geological Survey, contributed to the *Proceedings of the United States National Museum*, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, life member American Museum of Natural History; member Geological Society of Washington, Geological Society of America, and Washington Academy of Sciences; attended Episcopal church, Washington

Married June 16, 1926, in Washington, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of John Jay Washburn and Hannah (Wanton) Washburn

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Rock Creek Cemetery, Washington. Survived by wife.

Arthur Wynne Shaw, B.A. 1892.

Born November 3, 1870, in Wilmington, Del. Died January 12, 1939, in Bellows Falls, Vt

Father, Rev. Charles Dannelly Shaw (graduate Union Theological Seminary 1862; D D. New York University 1881), a Presbyterian minister; moderator of the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church at Atlantic City and Omaha; son of John Dannelly and Sophia Bickley (Cross) Shaw of Philadelphia, Pa Mother, Mary Jane (Campbell) Shaw, daughter of Joseph and Sarah Ann (Hall) Campbell of Perth Amboy, N J

St Paul's School, Garden City, NY. High oration appointment Senior year; second Berkeley Premium Freshman year, member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended University of Edinburgh 1892-93 and universities of Jena and Berlin 1893-94, MA Yale 1895 in consideration of work at universities abroad; instructor Teachers' College, New York City, 1894-95, attended General Theological Seminary 1895–98, ordained deacon 1898 and priest 1899; assistant minister St Michael's Church, New York City, 1898-99, missionary Chichester, Ulster County, N.Y, 1899-1901, and at St. Andrew's Church, Waverly, Iowa, 1901–02, assistant minister St. James' Church and Christ Church while studying philosophy and psychology at University of Chicago 1902-04; assistant minister St Andrew's Church, Meriden, Conn, 1904–08, rector St. Luke's Church, Phillipsburg, NJ, 1908-11, St. Matthew's Church, Goffstown, NH, 1911-14, and Trinity Church, Woburn, Mass, 1914-15, assistant minister St Anne's Church, Lowell, Mass, 1915-20 (secretary Lowell Federation of Churches 1917-20); rector St Mark's Church, Dorchester, 1920 until 1927 when he retired from the ministry because of ill-health, principal Southard School, Lakewood, NJ, 1928-29, resided in Point Pleasant, N J, 1927-38 (served as justice of the peace 1932-38, member of the borough zoning commission, trustee of the Pleasant Point Public Libráry 1935–38), delegate to the diocesan convention in Trenton, since 1938 had lived with his son in Bellows Falls, member Religious Education Association and St. Mary's by the Sea, Point Pleasant (senior warden and treasurer).

Married February 4, 1899, in Elizabeth, N.J., Jessie, daughter of William Edgar and Jane Dodge (Raynor) Johnson Children Faith Wynne, the wife of Carson Marshall Wilkey, and Christopher Campbell, '24 (M D. University of Maryland 1931) Mrs Shaw died April 4, 1938

Death due to carbon monoxide poisoning Buried in Cedar Lawn Cemetery, Paterson, N.J Survived by children, six grandchildren, and a sister, Beatrice Shaw McGill (B A. Vassar 1897, M A Middlebury 1923), the wife of Franklin C. McGill of Point Pleasant, N J.

Howard Rockwell Townsend, B.A. 1892.

Born August 10, 1871, in Oyster Bay, NY. Died January 6, 1939, in Glen Cove, N.Y.

Father, Edward Mitchell Townsend, a dry goods merchant in New York City, senior partner in firm of Townsend & Yale; son of Daniel Young and Sarah (Titus) Townsend of North Salem, NY. Mother, Belinda (Rockwell) Townsend, daughter of Eli and Adelia Ann (Smith) Rockwell of Ridgebury, Conn

Berkeley School, New York City, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Member St Paul's School Club

Traveled in Europe and Egypt 1892–93, entered employ of Townsend & Yale [William, ex-'80 S] 1893 and had been associated with that firm and its successor, E M Townsend & Company, until 1931 as salesman, manager Boston office 1904–08, and partner 1918–31; vice-president E M Townsend Textile Corporation, New York City, 1931–33; senior partner Townsend, Stricker & Company, commission merchants in New York City, 1933–38, resided at Oyster Bay since 1923; member Seawanhaka Corinthian Yacht Club and Christ Church (Episcopal), Oyster Bay

Married January 28, 1905, in South Orange, NJ, Emilie Therese, daughter of John and Emilie (Lesher) Firth. Children Howard Rockwell, Jr, Emilie Theresa, the wife of Marshall Mead MacLeod (Princeton *ex-*29), and Audrey

Death due to cerebral thrombosis Buried in Youngs Memorial Cemetery, Oyster Bay Cove, NY. Survived by wife (died November 11, 1939), children, and a sister, Mrs Adele Townsend Kingsbury of New Haven, Conn.

Howard Dorrance Day, B.A. 1893.

Born January 8, 1871, in Providence, R I. Died May 15, 1939, in Providence, R I.

Father, James William Day, owner of a gas fixture business, Providence, general agent for Rhode Island of Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company, son of Samuel Dorrance and Emily (Brainard) Day of Danielson, Conn Mother, Anne Read (Allen) Day, daughter of Samuel Bowen and Mary (Chaffee) Allen of Seekonk, Mass Yale relatives include Graham D Pattinson, '34, and Paul D Pattinson, '42 (nephews)

Classical Department of Providence High School Attended Brown University 1889-90 (member Zeta Psi), entered Yale College at beginning of Sophomore year, second DeForest Mathematics Prize Sophomore year; first colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year

Engaged in experimentation in electricity and in tutoring 1893-94, attended Brown University 1894-99 (MA 1899), instructor in science English High School, Providence, 1894-1917 and at Classical High School 1917-18; assistant superintendent Rumford (RI) Chemical Works 1919 until retirement in 1938, author The Residual Viscosity of Thermal Expansion and The Increment of Magnetic Rigidity in Large Fields (pamphlets 1896-97), vice-president Rhode Island Tennis Association, second vice-president Rhode Island Golf Association 1917, captain Rhode Island Golf Team; chairman scholarship committee and member standing committee on relations of Yale University to Rhode Island, Yale Association of Rhode Island, chairman for Rhode Island National Garvan Chemistry Essay Contest 1925-27, on educational committee St Andrews Industrial School, Barrington, RI, member American Chemical Society and Central Church (Congregational), Providence

Married January 1, 1921, in Providence, Martha Buttrick, daughter of Edmund Russell and Anne LeMoine (Frost) Willson. Children Willson and Allen Frost

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in Riverside Cemetery, Pawtucket, R I Survived by wife, sons, four sisters, Mrs. George Woodley of Jamaica Plains, Mass., Mrs John L T Boomer of Fall River, Mass., Miss Anne Marjorie Day (B A. Vassar 1898, M A Brown 1918) of Providence, and Mrs. Ismay G Pattinson of Arcadia, Calif, and two brothers, Edwin B Day of Providence and Horace T Day (Brown *ex-*'01) of Boston.

William Henry Hackett, B.A. 1893.

Born July 15, 1871, in New Haven, Conn Died November 10, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Thomas Hackett, member New Haven Police Department, son of William and Mary (Boylan) Hackett of Kildare, Ireland Mother, Mary Ellen (McCrudden) Hackett; daughter of Cornelius and Margaret (Ryan) McCrudden of Granard, County Longford, Ireland

Hillhouse High School, New Haven. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years.

Teacher New Haven High School 1893–1909 (president Athletic Association 1904 and Senior class officer 1905–09), principal evening session Hillhouse High School 1899–1906 and Boardman Manual Training School 1906–09; instructor of Latin Roxbury School, Cheshire, Conn, 1915–16 and 1925–28, Milford (Conn) School 1924–25, and Elm

ş

City Tutoring School 1932; in 1907 with Arthur E. Booth, '91 S., initiated movement for organization of New Haven Teachers' League (first president and editor-in-chief of its journal 1907-09 and honorary president since 1909), with Mr. Booth was instrumental in securing legislation resulting in the present pension plan for school teachers and the Tenure of Office Act, city tax collector New Haven 1909–15 and 1918–23; state senator from the 8th District 1928-33, during his last term serving as chairman of appropriations committee, committee on contingent expenses, legislative expenses, school funds, and state parks and reservations, appointed state tax commissioner by Governor Cross in 1933 and had since served in that office; appointed to New Haven Civil Service Commission 1929 (chairman 1929–35), secretary, treasurer, and a director Franklin Plan Company, New Haven (subsidiary of Franklin Thrift & Loan Association), since 1928, president Young Men's Democratic Club 1917, president Connecticut Tax Collectors' Association 1912-13 and honorary member since 1935, vice-president New England State Tax Officials' Association 1935-36 and president 1936-37; president National Association of Tax Administrators 1938, chairman New Haven Branch Military Training Camps Association of the United States 1917, member Finance Committee New Haven War Bureau 1918; director Yale Alumni Association of New Haven 1927–30, member Democratic State Central Committee and delegate from New Haven to the State Democratic convention 1936, member St Joseph's Roman Catholic Church, New Haven.

Married June 30, 1897, in New Haven, Elizabeth Mildred, daughter of William and Mary Louise (Egan) Connor. Children Mildred Louise (B A Smith College 1920) and Thomas William, *ex-*'21 S (D D S. Temple University 1927) Mrs Hackett died January 3, 1926

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven Survived by children, one grandson, and two sisters, Mrs Mary E Farrell of New Haven and Mrs. William Strack of Milford, Conn

Herbert Irving Sackett, B.A. 1893.

Born August 8, 1871, in Geneseo, NY. Died January 2, 1939, in Williamsville, NY

Father, Edwin Sackett of Geneseo; son of Clark Sackett of Warren, Conn Mother, Susan Parnelly (Pierce) Sackett, daughter of Philo P and Lura (Minor) Pierce of Woodbury, Conn Yale relatives include an uncle, Darius P Sackett (B A. 1866).

The Sackett School, Oakland, Calif First dispute appointment Junior year

Yale College

Associated with Niagara Falls Electric Light & Power Company 1894–95 and with an electrical contractor in Buffalo 1895–96, in 1896 established The Sackett Electric Construction Company (president and general manager 1896–1910) and the H. I Sackett Electric Company (president and general manager since 1896), made president Electrical Contractors' Association of Buffalo 1899, vice-president Electric League of the Niagara Frontier since 1936; treasurer Lighting Fixture Dealers' Society of America 1922; director National Electrical Wholesale Association (chairman national electric range and hot-water heater committee 1937–39) and Buffalo Automobile Club; member 74th Regiment, New York National Guard, since 1903, captain and military aide on staff of Governor Alfred E Smith of New York 1919–20

Married (1) September 30, 1895, in Buffalo, Lillian Gertrude, daughter of Charles B and Mary H (Schaller) Huck. Son, Russell Pierce Mrs Sackett died in 1900. Married (2) July 2, 1902, in Buffalo, Lillian, daughter of William Stevens Mrs. Sackett died November 2, 1914 Married (3) in 1916, in Buffalo, Vera J Jeffries Mrs Sackett died October 3, 1930. Married (4) March 1, 1934, in Pennsylvania, Kathleen M, daughter of Philip O Erwin (M D University of Nashville 1883) and Nettie Erwin. Daughter, Susan Barbara

Mr and Mrs Sackett and their daughter were killed in a grade crossing accident Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by son

Erastus Mılo Cravath, B.A. 1894.

Born August 24, 1872, in Lincoln, Pa Died July 25, 1938, in Matinecock, NY

Father, Rev Erastus Milo Cravath, D D (B A Oberlin 1857), Congregational minister; a founder and president 1875–1900 Fisk University, son of Orin and Betsey (Northway) Cravath of Homer, N Y Mother, Ruth Anna (Jackson) Cravath, daughter of Caleb Samuel and Mary Beverley (Gause) Jackson of Kennett Square, Pa Yale relatives include Huson T. Jackson, '93 S, and Caleb S Jackson, '94 (cousins)

Attended Fisk University. Member Zeta Psi

For a number of years after graduation was engaged in the asphalt industry (associated successively with Trinidad Asphalt Company, New York City, and Metropolitan Asphalt Paving Company of New York), treasurer and secretary New York & Bermudez Company, asphalt importers, 1897–98, general manager Bermudez Asphalt Mines, Trinidad, 1898–1902, associated with Ecuador Gold Placer Mining Company and Chicago, Peoria & St. Louis Railroad, manufacturer of precision instruments 1902–04; vice-president and general manager Atlantic Contracting Company of New York and vice-president Atlantic Contracting Company of Canada 1904; spent a year in Central Africa for American Congo Company, making explorations and investigations in the Belgian and French Congo, traveled extensively in Mexico, the West Indies, and Canada on construction and development projects; partner New York Stock Exchange firm of Chisholm & Chapman since 1910, president Piping Rock Water Company 1915–38 and of Perfect Window Regulator Company, Inc, New York City, treasurer Piping Rock Estate since 1915 and Italy America Society 1937–38, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Oyster Bay (vestryman 1928–38).

Married September 15, 1909, in Tuxedo Park, NY, Alice Maud, daughter of Austin Parker and Alice Lockwood (Bradford) Baldwin. No children

Death due to an aneurism. Buried in Locust Valley (NY.) Cemetery. Survived by wife a sister, Elizabeth Cravath Miller, the wife of Herbert Adolphus Miller, Ph D. (B.A. Dartmouth 1899), of Bryn Mawr, Pa., and a brother, Paul Drennan Cravath, LL D (B.A. Oberlin 1882), of New York City

Ralph Squire Hull, B.A. 1894.

Born December 17, 1872, in Scranton, Pa. Died August 7, 1938, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, Stephen Parker Hull, a merchant in Scranton; son of William Henry and Rebecca (Parker) Hull of Olyphant, Pa Mother, Mary (Lillibridge) Hull, daughter of Levi and Almira (Northrup) Lillibridge of Blakely, Pa Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Winthrop H. Duncan, '94

School of the Lackawanna, Scranton First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years

Studied law in office of Willard, Warren & Knapp in Scranton 1894– 96, member Brooklyn office staff Title Guarantee & Trust Company 1896–1901, secretary and trust officer Title Guarantee & Trust Company, Scranton, 1901–02, admitted to New York bar 1903; associated in practice of law with John Larkin, New York City, 1903–25, and thereafter practiced independently in New York City, member American Bar Association, Appalachian Mountain Club, Alpine Club of Canada, Fresh Air Club (secretary since 1932), and Green Ridge Presbyterian Church, Scranton

Unmarried

Death due to uremia Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Scranton. Survived by a sister, Miss Blanche Rose Hull of Brooklyn, and two brothers, Harry Jerome Hull of New York City, and John Donald Hull (M E Cornell University 1903) of Seattle, Wash

Sanford Bouck Martin, B.A. 1894.

Born November 2, 1870, in Gettysburg, Pa. Died March 9, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Rev. Adam Martin, DD (B.A Hamilton College 1858), a Lutheran minister, professor of German languages and literature and instructor in French Pennsylvania College 1869–98 Mother, Ann Eliza (Sanford) Martin, daughter of Judge Lyman Sanford (B A Union College 1831) and Ann Eve (Bouck) Sanford of Middleburg, N Y.

B A. Pennsylvania (now Gettysburg) College 1890 (member Phi Gamma Delta), attended Columbia University School of Law 1890-91 and Yale School of Law 1891-93 (LL B 1892, LL M *cum laude* 1893), and Yale College 1893-94 (B A. 1894; first dispute appointment)

Admitted to Connecticut bar January 10, 1895, engaged in practice of law in New Haven 1895 until retirement in 1935, in partnership with Prentice W Chase (LL B 1887) 1895–96, and independently 1896–99, partner Bristol [Warren H, '90 L] & Martin 1899–1902, member firm Blydenburgh & Martin 1909–10 and practiced independently 1910–35, special assistant to state's attorney of New Haven County 1896–1900; assistant city attorney New Haven 1898, member Legal Advisory Board No. 6, during the World War; in 1913–14 by appointment of the mayor made an indexed compilation of the Charter of New Haven and a revision of the city ordinances, as a member of commission appointed in 1922 to revise and codify city ordinances made a further compilation of the charter, including the legislative amendments of 1923, member New Haven County Bar Association, American Bar Association, Yale Club of New York, and Trinity Lutheran Church, New Haven

Married June 8, 1911, in Albany, NY, Eleanor Theresa, daughter of Henry and Katharine (Fairleigh) Scollen No children

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife.

John Elliott, B.A. 1895.

Born June 8, 1865, in Cranford, NJ Died July 7, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, John Elliott, a farmer in Martinsville, N J, son of William and Margaret (King) Elliott of County Cavan, Ireland Mother, Margaret (Cooper) Elliott; daughter of Edward and Alicia (Whitfield) Cooper of Metuchen, N J

Pennington (NJ) Seminary. High oration appointment Junior year

pany of Canada 1904, spent a year in Central Africa for American Congo Company, making explorations and investigations in the Belgian and French Congo, traveled extensively in Mexico, the West Indies, and Canada on construction and development projects; partner New York Stock Exchange firm of Chisholm & Chapman since 1910; president Piping Rock Water Company 1915–38 and of Perfect Window Regulator Company, Inc, New York City; treasurer Piping Rock Estate since 1915 and Italy America Society 1937–38, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Oyster Bay (vestryman 1928–38)

Married September 15, 1909, in Tuxedo Park, NY, Alice Maud, daughter of Austin Parker and Alice Lockwood (Bradford) Baldwin. No children

Death due to an aneurism Buried in Locust Valley (N.Y.) Cemetery. Survived by wife a sister, Elizabeth Cravath Miller, the wife of Herbert Adolphus Miller, Ph D. (B A Dartmouth 1899), of Bryn Mawr, Pa., and a brother, Paul Drennan Cravath, LL D (B.A. Oberlin 1882), of New York City

Ralph Squire Hull, B.A. 1894.

Born December 17, 1872, in Scranton, Pa. Died August 7, 1938, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Stephen Parker Hull, a merchant in Scranton, son of William Henry and Rebecca (Parker) Hull of Olyphant, Pa Mother, Mary (Lillibridge) Hull, daughter of Levi and Almira (Northrup) Lillibridge of Blakely, Pa Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Winthrop H Duncan, '94

School of the Lackawanna, Scranton First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years.

Studied law in office of Willard, Warren & Knapp in Scranton 1894– 96, member Brooklyn office staff Title Guarantee & Trust Company 1896–1901, secretary and trust officer Title Guarantee & Trust Company, Scranton, 1901–02, admitted to New York bar 1903, associated in practice of law with John Larkin, New York City, 1903–25, and thereafter practiced independently in New York City, member American Bar Association, Appalachian Mountain Club, Alpine Club of Canada, Fresh Air Club (secretary since 1932), and Green Ridge Presbyterian Church, Scranton

Unmarried

Death due to uremia Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Scranton Survived by a sister, Miss Blanche Rose Hull of Brooklyn, and two brothers, Harry Jerome Hull of New York City, and John Donald Hull (M.E. Cornell University 1903) of Seattle, Wash

Sanford Bouck Martin, B.A. 1894.

Born November 2, 1870, in Gettysburg, Pa. Died March 9, 1939, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Rev. Adam Martin, DD (BA Hamilton College 1858), a Lutheran minister, professor of German languages and literature and instructor in French Pennsylvania College 1869–98 Mother, Ann Eliza (Sanford) Martin, daughter of Judge Lyman Sanford (BA Union College 1831) and Ann Eve (Bouck) Sanford of Middleburg, NY.

B A. Pennsylvania (now Gettysburg) College 1890 (member Phi Gamma Delta); attended Columbia University School of Law 1890–91 and Yale School of Law 1891–93 (LL B 1892, LL M *cum laude* 1893), and Yale College 1893–94 (B A 1894, first dispute appointment)

Admitted to Connecticut bar January 10, 1895, engaged in practice of law in New Haven 1895 until retirement in 1935, in partnership with Prentice W. Chase (LL B 1887) 1895–96, and independently 1896–99, partner Bristol [Warren H, '90 L] & Martin 1899–1902, member firm Blydenburgh & Martin 1909–10 and practiced independently 1910–35, special assistant to state's attorney of New Haven County 1896–1900, assistant city attorney New Haven 1898, member Legal Advisory Board No. 6, during the World War, in 1913–14 by appointment of the mayor made an indexed compilation of the Charter of New Haven and a revision of the city ordinances, as a member of commission appointed in 1922 to revise and codify city ordinances made a further compilation of the charter, including the legislative amendments of 1923; member New Haven County Bar Association, American Bar Association, Yale Club of New York, and Trinity Lutheran Church, New Haven

Married June 8, 1911, in Albany, NY, Eleanor Theresa, daughter of Henry and Katharine (Fairleigh) Scollen No children

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife.

John Elliott, B.A. 1895.

Born June 8, 1865, in Cranford, NJ. Died July 7, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, John Elliott, a farmer in Martinsville, N J, son of William and Margaret (King) Elliott of County Cavan, Ireland Mother, Margaret (Cooper) Elliott; daughter of Edward and Alicia (Whitfield) Cooper of Metuchen, N J

Pennington (N J.) Seminary. High oration appointment Junior year

and oration appointment Senior year, member Yale Union and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Law 1895-97 (LL B. 1897); admitted to Connecticut bar 1897; had engaged in independent practice of law in New Haven since 1897, director and counsel Eastern Screw Corporation; councilman from the tenth ward 1901-02 and alderman 1903-05, alderman at large and member Board of Finance 1909–13; member Municipal Legal Aid Commission 1927-36 (governing committee 1927); appointed to committee to codify city charter 1922; during World War served on legal advisory board in New Haven; had been a member of the Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard, since 1901, editor The Sales Act of Connecticut (1909) and The Sales Act of New Jersey (1909); member Connectiquit State Bar Association, New Haven County Bar Association (member committee on establishing a legal aid bureau in the county 1926), American Bar Association, National Security League, Connecticut Society of Mental Hygiene, American Geographical Society, National Aeronautic Association (New Haven Chapter), United States and Connecticut Chambers of Commerce, Union League Club of New Haven (president 1922–23), Masonic order, and Methodist Episcopal Church, Mount Horeb, N J

Married August 31, 1892, in Pennington, NJ, Lila Meribah, daughter of Rev Gideon Franklin Bishop and Elizabeth Anna (Clevenger) Bishop. Son, Clinton Fisk (died December 3, 1911)

Death due to chronic myocarditis with myocardial degeneration. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife.

Frederic Ives, B.A. 1895.

Born September 30, 1871, in New Haven, Conn. Died July 1, 1938, in Princeton, NJ.

Father, Frederic Ives, a manufacturer, member firm of Ives & Miller, proprietors of the Mount Carmel Axle Works; son of Henry and Eliza (Ives) Ives Mother, Susan Julia (Wakelee) Ives; daughter of Stiles and Julia (Wilmot) Wakelee Yale relatives include Wilbur Ives, '63 (uncle), and Henry Ives, '81 (brother).

Hopkins Grammar School, Phillips-Andover, and private tutor. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Andover Club and Psi Upsilon.

Secretary Elm City Brass Company 1895–97 and Connecticut Electrical Company 1897, agent Security Insurance Company, New Haven, 1898–99, clerk W J Moffatt, printer and manufacturer of envelopes and paper bags, New Haven, 1900–06; secretary and assistant treasurer Norman Printers Supply Company (later Norman & Gruener Company and then Walter H. Gracie Company), New Haven, 1907–14; associated with The Sheldon Company, electrotypers, New Haven, 1915–17 (secretary 1915–16); cost clerk Sargent & Company, hardware manufacturers in New Haven, 1918–36; retired in 1936 and had resided in Princeton since September, 1937; member St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New Haven.

Married January 23, 1896, in New Haven, Emily Norton, daughter of Samuel Russell and Emily Norton (Rogers) Mabbatt Children Elizabeth Norton (B S. Elmira College 1926 and Columbia University 1927) and Barbara Mabbatt. Mrs. Ives died June 21, 1929.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Center Cemetery, Branford, Conn Survived by daughters.

Edward Gridley Kendall, B.A. 1895.

Born May 31, 1877, in South Amenia, N.Y. Died April 28, 1939, in Concord, NH

Father, Rev. John Ludlow Kendall (B A Western Reserve University 1868; Princeton Theological Seminary 1868–69), a Presbyterian clergyman; son of John M and Nancy (Ludlow) Kendall of New Providence, N.J Mother, Eugenia Crippen (Malcolm) Kendall; daughter of Gilbert Ferris and Harriet Malcolm of Milton-on-Hudson, N Y Yale relatives include: James M. Kendall, '95, and Gilbert F Kendall, ex-'97 M (brothers); Charles F. Malcolm, ex-'06 S. (cousin); and James M Kendall, ex-'27 S (nephew).

Bucknell Academy Attended Bucknell University 1891–94 (member Phi Kappa Psi); entered Yale College at beginning of Senior year; philosophical oration appointment and one-year honors in philosophy, member Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1895–98 (Ph D 1899), teacher of English and history St. Paul's School, Concord, 1899–1901, instructor in philosophy and history Irving Female College, Mechanicsburg, Pa, 1901–02; teacher Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn., 1902–03, master of French St Paul's Cathedral School, Garden City, N Y, 1903–07, senior master Pawling School for Boys 1907–12, master The Hill School 1912–15 and St. Paul's School, Concord, 1916 until retirement in 1937 because of ill-health, since retirement had resided in Concord, enlisted Niantic, Conn, June 15, 1898, First Division, Connecticut Naval Battalion; captain's orderly and able seaman, U S S *Minnesota;* discharged August 4, 1898; member Chapel of St Paul's School (Protestant Episcopal).

Married November 25, 1909, in Lock Haven, Pa, Grace Margaret, daughter of George and Effie Pamelia (Rote) Weymouth No children Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Highland Cemetery, Lock Haven Survived by wife.

Henry Williams Sage, B.A. 1895.

Born April 7, 1872, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died August 12, 1938, in Brookville, N.Y.

Father, William Henry Sage, '65. Mother, Jane Gregg (Curtin) Sage Yale relatives include: Dean Sage, *ex-*'59 (uncle); Henry M. Sage, '90, Dean Sage, '97, James Fenimore Cooper, '13, Henry S. Fenimore Cooper, '17, Linn Fenimore Cooper, '21, Paul Fenimore Cooper, '21, Walter L. Goodwin, Jr, '24, H Sage Goodwin, '27, Edwin O. Holter, Jr, '30, and Dean Sage, Jr, '30 (cousins)

Westminster School, Dobbs Ferry, N.Y. Member University Club, Eta Phi, and Psi Upsilon.

Engaged in lumber business with H W Sage & Company, Albany, 1895–1938, associated with his father and his cousin Henry M Sage, '90, in the Sage Land & Improvement Company as vice-president and since 1933 as president, served as Major, American Red Cross, acting as deputy commissioner and head of purchasing department, English Commission, A R C, London, August 28, 1917–September, 1918, with his brother, Andrew G C Sage, '96, had operated a flat racing stable since the World War, steward of the National Steeplechase and Hunt Association 1925 until June, 1938, when he retired because of ill-health, financed an expedition to collect birds of the subtropical zone in Kenya Colony and the Ruwenzori and Kiva districts of Africa 1926; a trustee of the American Museum of Natural History 1929–38, he presented to the museum the East African Kidong Valley bird group; village trustee Brookville 1933–35

Married May 10, 1899, in Philadelphia, Marjorie Howard, daughter of Rev Samuel Lowrie and Elizabeth (Dickson) Lowrie. Children Marjorie Lowrie (Barnard College 1917–18), the wife of Washington Allston Flagg, Henry Williams, Jr, *ex-*'25, and DeWitt Linn.

Death due to Hodgkin's disease Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and a brother, Andrew G C Sage, '96 His brother, DeWitt Linn Sage, '97, died in 1901.

Harry Stephen Vorhis, B.A. 1895.

Born December 17, 1873, in Spencer, NY. Died April 13, 1939, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Rev Stephen Vorhis (BA Hamilton College 1836), a Presbyterian minister, son of Jotham and Betsy (Barker) Vorhis of North Spencer, N.Y. Mother, Ann Louisa (Lord) Vorhis (Alfred University 1848–49); daughter of Cornelius and Mary Louisa (Sturdevant) Lord of Prattsburg and Almond, N Y Yale relatives include a cousin, George B Stevens, '80 D.

Spencer Academy and Franklin Academy, Prattsburg, N.Y Second dispute appointment Senior year.

City editor Waterbury (Conn) Republican 1895–99 and Waterbury American 1899–1901; on staff New York Sun 1901–05, editor publishing firm Clifford & Lawton, New York City, 1905–07, president Silk Publishing Company and editor The American Silk Journal 1907–13, secretary Silk Association of America 1909–13, secretary Rubber Manufacturers Association, Inc, and associated with India Rubber World 1913–20; western manager Gove & Company, Inc, crude-rubber merchants in New York City, 1921–22; editor Notion and Novelty Review since 1922 and executive secretary and director National Notion Association, Inc, since 1924; secretary Notion Salesmen's Round Table of New York 1927–39; president Men's Classical Union of Long Island 1932–33, secretary Van Voorhees Association of America 1932–39, director Kings County Historical Society; member Sons of the Revolution, Holland Society of New York, St Nicholas Society of the City of New York, Masonic order, and North Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married (1) June 25, 1892, in New York City, Etta Victoria, daughter of Alvin Wade and Victoria Elizabeth (Potter) Branch Daughter, Iva Branch (Mrs. Edgar Marvin Hart) Mrs. Vorhis died May 4, 1897 Married (2) in March, 1903, in New York City, Harriet Alice, daughter of Charles and Alice (Benham) McCarthy Mr and Mrs Vorhis were divorced in 1908 Married (3) January 29, 1914, in Boston, Alberta Glenn, daughter of Charles Sutherland Mrs Vorhis died June 14, 1919 Married (4) September 7, 1920, in New York City, Irene Alice, daughter of James and Emma (Burrell) McKeon.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Spencer, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughter, four grandsons, and a sister, Mrs Mary Vorhis Thatcher (B.A Elmira College 1885) of West Danby, N Y

George Knight Budd Wade, B.A. 1895.

Born November 4, 1872, in St Louis, Mo Died August 29, 1938, in Woodmere, NY.

Father, Robert Buchanan Wade (U S Military Academy 1865), member firm of Budd & Wade, bankers in St Louis, and representative of Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company in St Louis, son of Colonel Richard Dean Arden Wade and Ann McKean (Buchanan) Wade Mother, Belle Neff (Budd) Wade, daughter of George Knight and Rebecca Neff (Paterson) Budd of St Louis Yale relatives include a brother, Robert Buchanan Wade, '93.

Smith Academy, St. Louis, private tutor, and St Paul's School, Concord, N H Yale Athletic Team Freshman year (second place, two-mile bicycle race Yale-Harvard meet), manager Yale Athletic Team and member executive committee Intercollegiate Athletic Association Junior year, president Athletic Association, director Yale Athletic Financial Union and of Yale Field Corporation Senior year; Sophomore German Committee and Junior Promenade Committee; member St Paul's School Club, University Club (assistant treasurer Junior year and member executive committee Senior year), Eta Phi, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key.

Attended Harvard Law School 1895–98 (LL.B. 1898), admitted to New York bar 1898; practiced law in office of Austin B. Fletcher, New York City, 1899–1901, independently engaged as a dealer and broker in railroad and other investment bonds, New York City, 1901–10; associated with Union Trust Company of New York and Kissel, Kinnicutt & Company, retired in 1932 because of ill-health and had since resided in Woodmere, trustee Park Hospital, Inc, New York City, since 1917 and secretary 1917–27, member Episce il church

Married (1) April 5, 1899, in Boston, Theodora Irving, daughter of Frederick Irving Knight (BA 1862, M.D. Harvard 1866) and Louisa Armistead (Appleton) Knight Daughter, Ruth, the wife of John Halifax Twining (Harvard ex-'24) Mr. and Mrs. Wade were divorced in 1927. Married (2) May 6, 1927, in Mendham, NJ, Lillian Evelyn, daughter of Samuel and Harriet (Ward) Hobson.

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis. Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife, daughter, and a grandson.

Jules [Gabriel] Henri de Sibour, B.A. 1896.

Born December 23, 1872, in Paris, France. Died November 4, 1938, in Washington, D.C.

Father, Count Jean Antoine Gabriel de Sibour, member French Diplomatic Corps stationed as consul in Charleston, S.C., and Richmond, Va ; son of Count Jean Baptiste Joseph de Sibour and Pauline, Countess de Sallmard Mother, Mary Louise (Johnson) de Sibour, daughter of Alfred Waldo Johnson (B A. Bowdoin 1845) and Anna (Atkinson) Johnson of Belfast, Me

St Paul's School, Concord, NH, and private tutor Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; University Track Team Sophomore year, secretary University Boat Club Junior year and president Ø

Senior year; Cap and Gown Committee, member Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Worked in offices of architects Ernest Flagg 1896-98 and Bruce Price 1898-99, New York City; attended Ecole des Beaux-Arts, Paris, 1899, associated with Bruce Price in architectural firm of Bruce Price & de Sibour, New York City, 1900–08, since 1906 had been independently engaged as an architect in Washington, D.C., architect for Chevy Chase Country Club, the French embassy and the Canadian legation, Science Hall of Howard University, and many other Washington buildings as well as the American embassy in Lima, Peru, associate architect United States post offices at High Point, NC, New Bern, NC., Jamaica, LI, Detroit, Mich, Portland, Ore, St Louis, Mo, and Winston-Salem, NC., and U.S. Marme Hospital, Staten Island, consulting architect Hudson Terminal Building, New York City, and for extension of Naval Academy buildings at Annapolis during World War, appointed chairman Washington Society of Fine Arts June 4, 1921; second vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Washington 1919-20, member Order of Lafayette (vice-grand commander), Allied Architects, American Institute of Architects, and St. John's Protestant Episcopal Church, Washington

Married November 5, 1938, in Washington, Margaret Marie Hain, daughter of William Howard and Adele (Clare) Clagett Children Henri Louis Jacques, '23, Jacques Blaise, and Jean Raymond Mrs. de Sibour died August 1, 1938.

Death due to direct inguinal hernia. Buried in Rock Creek Cemetery, Washington Survived by sons and three grandchildren.

James Hoyt Knapp, B.A. 1896.

Born October 13, 1872, in South Norwalk, Conn. Died June 29, 1939, in New York City

Father, James Henry Knapp, manufacturer of hats in Danbury and South Norwalk, son of James and Martha (Bailey) Knapp of New York City and South Norwalk. Mother, Mariette (Hoyt) Knapp, daughter of Starr and Sally Maria (Nichols) Hoyt of Bethel, Conn Yale relatives include. Howard H Knapp, '82 (brother), Farwell Knapp, '16, and Ferris B. Briggs, ex-'21 S. (nephews)

Phillips-Andover Class crew Freshman and Sophomore years, substitute University Crew Sophomore year, president Freshman Football Association and treasurer Class Football Association, member Andover Club, Hé Boulé, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Worked in a woolen mill, Lawrence, Mass, 1896–January, 1897, associated with woolen commission house of Kunhardt & Stockton (later The George E. Kunhardt Corporation), New York and Boston, 1897– 1932 (member of firm 1903-32 and vice-president 1918-32); salesman General Baking Company 1933 and J P. Stevens & Company, Inc, New York City, 1933-39; director Textile Manufacturers Alliance, Inc; chairman Stamford Committee, Yale Alumni Association of Fairfield County, 1921-22 and council member of association 1929-30; founder and charter member Woodway Country Club, Stamford, member Madison Avenue Church (Presbyterian), New York City

Married November 24, 1900, in South Norwalk, Ethel Ferris (Wheaton College ex-'93), daughter of Frank Arthur and Mary Ann (Cape) Ferris Children son (died June 26, 1902), Mariette Hoyt, the wife of Bayes M Norton, '26 S; and Martha Kunhardt (Smith College ex-'31), the wife of Alfred Busselle, Jr. (B A Haverford College 1926)

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Norwalk, Conn. Survived by wife, daughters, three grandchildren, a sister, Mrs. George E Kunhardt of Boston, and a brother, Philip N. Knapp of Norwalk

Leonard Bronk Lampman, B.A. 1896.

Born December 22, 1872, in Jamaica, N.Y. Died May 22, 1939, in New York City

Father, Rev Lewis Lampman, '66 Mother, Adelaide (Bronk) Lampman Yale relatives include a great-great-uncle, Worthington Ely (B A 1780)

Newark Academy and private tutor

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1896–98 and New York Law School 1898–99; admitted to bar June, 1899; became associated with law firm of Sheehan & Collin, New York City, 1899, managing clerk for Nathaniel A. Prentiss in New York City, with stock exchange firm of F. T Adams & Company, New York City, had been independently engaged as a broker in New York City (associate Kingsley, Mabon & Company and later Mabon & Company); a major interest throughout his life was farming at Coxsackie, N.Y., on land which had been in his family since colonial days, president Greene County (N Y.) Historical Society; treasurer Connecticut Chapter, Society of the Cincinnati, 1937–39, member The Pilgrims, Society of Mayflower Descendants, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution, Society of the War of 1812, St Nicholas Society of the City of New York, and Second Reformed Dutch Church, Coxsackie

Unmarried

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Coxsackie Survived by no immediate relatives

In memory of his father Mr Lampman made a bequest to the University for the benefit of the School of Medicine

John [McClintock] Longacre, B.A. 1896.

Born October 30, 1873, in Philadelphia, Pa Died April 22, 1939, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, James Madison Longacre, an insurance broker in Philadelphia, son of James Barton and Elizabeth (Stiles) Longacre of Philadelphia. Mother, Augusta (McClintock) Longacre, daughter of Rev John Mc-Clintock (B A. University of Pennsylvania 1835) and Caroline Augusta (Wakeman) McClintock of Carlisle, Pa Yale relatives include a brotherin-law, David L Huntington, '91 S

William Penn Charter School. Member Class crew and wrestler Freshman year; University Crew Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, University Football Squad Sophomore and Senior years; member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Engaged in general insurance business in Philadelphia since 1896, member firm Longacre & Ewing 1910–27 and under his own name since 1927; author: *Backgammon of Today* (1930); enlisted June 14, 1898, Battery A, Pennsylvania Light Artillery, served in Puerto Rico until September 3, 1898

Married June 9, 1910, in Yonkers, NY, Gertrude Radcliffe, daughter of David and Gertrude Radcliffe (Jenkins) Tomlinson Children Gertrude Radcliffe (B A. Bryn Mawr 1933) and Jean

Death due to embolism following an operation Buried in Woodlands Cemetery, Philadelphia. Survived by wife, daughters, a sister, Mrs. Helen Longacre Huntington of Spokane, Wash., and a brother, James Barton Longacre (B A. University of Pennsylvania 1888) of Philadelphia

Frank Miner Patterson, B.A. 1896.

Born June 29, 1873, in Albany, NY Died April 10, 1939, in New York City

Father, Patrick John Patterson, manufacturer of confectionery in Albany; son of John and Bridget (Dowd) Patterson of Tuam, Ireland. Mother, Julia (Corcoran) Patterson, daughter of Martin Joseph and Bridget (Purcell) Corcoran of Albany.

Albany High School First colloquy appointment Senior year, member Yale Union.

Coached football team University of Missouri and traveled in Mexico and the Southwest 1896–97, studied law in office of Amasa J Parker ['91] 1897–99 and attended Albany Law School 1898–99 (LL B 1899), admitted to bar 1899, managing clerk Hornblower, Byrne, Miller & Potter, New York City, 1899–1901, associated in practice of law with James,

Schell & Elkus, New York City, 1901-02; had since engaged independently in practice of law in New York City, counsel for Société Générale (Paris), Deutsche Bank (Berlin), Banca Crissavelonei (Roumania), Bank of Chosen (Japan), Banco di Roma (Italy), and Bank of Hong Kong; special counsel for Portugal and Switzerland in financial matters; general counsel Union News Company, Guaranty Trust Company, Foreign Trade Bank, Produce Exchange Bank, and Chase National Bank; city commissioner for claims 1911–13; general counsel State Department of Banks 1911–15, acting chairman State Banking Commission (chairman legislative committee) 1913–14; member City Planning and Survey Committee 1926, on Democratic National Committee 1900-39 (member finance committee 1936), and New York State Committee 1900-39 (chairman executive committee in 1910 campaign); LL M. Union University 1904, master Richmond County Fox Hounds 1911-15; member Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State and American Bar associations, and St. Patrick's Cathedral, New York City Unmarried

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in St. Agnes Cemetery, Albany Survived by three sisters, Mrs Margaret P. Cantwell, Miss Julia Patterson, and Miss Gertrude Patterson, and a brother, Martin Joseph Patterson, all of Albany.

Mr Patterson, by bequest to the University, provided for the establishment of the Frank M. Patterson Memorial Fund for scholarship aid, and for an undergraduate prize to be awarded for the best thesis or essay on topics dealing with American politics

Henry Spalding, B.A. 1896.

Born May 6, 1874, in New Haven, Conn. Died December 17, 1938, in Abington, Pa.

Father, Warren Alphonso Spalding, '81 S. Mother, Myra A. (Sanborn) Spalding

Hillhouse High School. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; one-year honors in history Senior year; member Yale Union and Hillhouse High School Club

Attended University of Pennsylvania School of Law 1896-99 (LL.B. 1899), admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1899; practiced law in Philadelphia since 1899 as member of firm of Fell & Spalding; member board of governors Philadelphia Bar Association 1929-31, chairman of the board 1931, and member board of censors 1935-37, member Union League of Philadelphia, Masonic order, and All Hallows' Church (Episcopal), Wyncote, Pa

Married November 4, 1903, in Philadelphia, Florence Cuthbert,

daughter of John Cuthbert and Sarah (Hancock) Dessalet Children Sarah, the wife of J Shepard Johnston; and Warren Sanborn, ex-'31

Death due to pneumonia. Buried in Mount Peace Cemetery, Philadelphia, Pa Survived by wife, children, one grandson, a sister, Emily Sanborn Spalding Merwin, the wife of Stuart C Merwin, '08 S, and two brothers, Clarence G Spalding, '98 S, and Edward B Spalding, '03 S. A sister, Ruth Lillian Spalding Bigelow, *ex-*'09 Art, widow of Otis M Bigelow, Jr., '04, died in 1937

Herbert Bassett Augur, B.A. 1897.

Born June 29, 1874, in Hartford, Conn Died November 19, 1938, in Portland, Ore.

Father, William LaForge Chambers Augur, associated with the Security Company of Hartford, son of George LaFayette and Jane Lackland (Adamson) Chambers Augur of Hartford Mother, Julia (Bassett) Augur; daughter of Edwin Curtis and Caroline (Hubbard) Bassett of Hartford

Hartford Public High School. High oration appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; Freshman Glee Club, vice-president Freshman Union, member Hartford Club and Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale School of Law 1897–98, instructor in English and classics Bishop Scott Academy, Portland, 1898–1902, and in Latin and history Hill Military Academy, Portland, 1902–04, organized Pacific Pulp Plaster Company of Portland, 1903, taking charge as vice-president and manager in 1904; head of history department Jefferson High School, Portland, from its organization in 1909 until retirement in 1937, author: *Government in Oregon* (1909); M A. Yale 1909; vice-president Oregon Yale Alumni Association 1922–23; former member Oregon National Guard, member Sons of the American Revolution (appointed treasurer Oregon branch 1904), Oregon Historical Society, American Peace Society, American School Peace League, Lang Syne Society, Masonic order, and Unitarian Church of Portland

Married July 11, 1900, in Hartford, Emilie Blount, daughter of James Edwards and Mary Landon (Blount) Thomas. No children.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Riverview Cemetery, Portland. Survived by wife.

Alfred Guitner Bookwalter, B.A. 1897.

Born October 26, 1873, in Western, Iowa. Died April 2, 1939, in Worthington, Ohio

Father, Lewis Bookwalter, DD, LLD (BA Western College 1872), president Leander Clark College 1894–1904, president Otterbein College 1904–09, son of Rev Isaac L. and Phoebe (Johnston) Bookwalter of Lisbon, Iowa Mother, Emma Maria (Guitner) Bookwalter, daughter of Daniel and Urilla Catharine (Miller) Guitner of Westerville, Ohio Yale relatives include Lewis B. Ward, '30, Otto W Burtner, Jr, ex-'30 S, and Arthur A Ward, Jr., '38 (nephews).

Dayton (Ohio) High School Attended Otterbein College 1893–94 and Western College 1894–96 (BA 1896); entered Yale at beginning of Senior year, philosophical oration appointment and one-year honors in philosophy, member Yale Union, Phi Gamma Delta, and Phi Beta Kappa

Enrolled Yale Graduate School 1897–98 and 1900–01 (MA 1901); graduate student in economics Harvard University 1903-04, master St Paul's School, Concord, NH, 1898-1900, 1901-03; secretary International Committee, Young Men's Christian Association, New York City, 1900–01, actively engaged in Y M C A. work 1903–26, serving as educational and industrial secretary, State Committees of Massachusetts and Rhode Island, 1903-09, general secretary State Executive Committee, Ohio, 1909–12, general secretary in Cincinnati 1912–20, and regional executive secretary International Committee for the Eastern Region 1920-26, member faculty Eastern Association School, Silver Bay, NY, summers 1906, 1908, 1909, 1911, 1912, 1920, 1921 (dean department for general secretaries 1921–25), member National Council YMCA 1933-34 (special secretary 1927), since 1926 president Willadean Nurseries, Inc, Sparta, Ky, and of The Berryhill Nursery Company, Springfield, Ohio; owner of a herd of Guernsey cattle since 1926; with cooperation of Ohio State University and Antioch College conducted successful experiments on his dairy farm in preserving green alfalfa as winter feed; engaged in rural rehabilitation work for Federal government 1934–35, lecturer on Association Administration on Samuel Thorne Foundation, Yale University, 1923–24, overseas July, 1918-July, 1919, in YMCA. service, with 42d, 28th, and 77th divisions at Château-Thierry and with the 37th Division at Baccarat Sector; at request of British General Headquarters inspected all sectors of British Front August, 1918; associate chief secretary, United Kingdom, London, for two months, in charge YMCA personnel, American Expeditionary Force, Paris, January-March, 1919, directed YMC.A. service at LeMans for three months, received two citations, trustee Antioch College 1932–38, Briarcliff Public Schools 1922–25, and Community Church 1921-27, secretary Massachusetts State Branch National Society for the Promotion of Industrial Education 1908-09; treasurer Briarchiff Construction Company, Inc, 1923-26, director Shuey Realty Company, Springfield, Ohio, member National Education Association, Religious Education Association, American Guernsey Cattle Club, Sons of the Revolution, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Springfield, Ohio.

Married April 21, 1908, in Dayton, Ohio, Amy Mitchell Shuey (B A Oberlin 1907), daughter of Edwin Longstreet and Effie (Mitchell) Shuey Children Alfred Shuey (died February 10, 1926), Emily Guitner (Rollins College 1929–31), Effie Mitchell (died July 23, 1913), Amy Edwina (B.A. Antioch College 1936), the wife of Harry S Gantz (B A Harvard 1929), and Lewis (B.A. Oberlin 1938)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Woodland Cemetery, Dayton, Ohio Survived by wife, two daughters, one son, and four sisters, Ethel B. Burtner (B A. Western College 1898), the wife of Otto W Burtner, '05 D, Alice B. Ward (B.A Smith College 1903), the wife of Arthur A Ward, '03; Miss Lulu Gertrude Bookwalter (B A Otterbein College 1908) of Ceylon, and Emma Bookwalter Hummel (B A Oberlin 1912), the wife of Arthur W. Hummel (B A University of Chicago 1909, Ph D. University of Leyden 1931), of Washington, D C

Frank Ray Kimbley, B.A. 1897.

Born February 21, 1874, in Owensboro, Ky Died December 2, 1938, in Greenwich, Conn

Father, John Franklin Kimbley (M.D Jefferson Medical College 1849), a physician and surgeon in Owensboro; son of Frank and Mary (Franklin) Kimbley of Greenville, Ky Mother, Sarah (Ray) Kimbley, daughter of James Brown and Esther (Gay) Ray of Indianapolis and Brookville, Ind

Allwond's University School, Louisville, Ky Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Southern Club and Zeta Psi

Attended Harvard University Law School 1897–1900 (LL B 1900); admitted to New York bar February, 1901; in office of Roger Foster, '78, New York City, 1901–02; partner in law firm of Nevin & Gilpin, New York City, 1902–09, since 1909 had been engaged in the brokerage business in New York City, first in partnership with his classmate Victor Sutro in the firm of Sutro & Kimbley and later in the firms of Kimbley & Company and Blyth, Bonner & Kimbley, had resided in Greenwich for many years, member Indian Harbor Yacht Club, Greenwich, and First Baptist Church, Owensboro

Married June 18, 1902, in Glens Falls, NY, Florence Louise, daughter of Frederick Hewitt and Arabelle (Seelye) Parks Children Florence Parks, the wife of William Hall Barnewall (Williams ex-'24), and Frederick Parks

Death due to cerebral embolism Buried in Glens Falls Cemetery Survived by wife, children, and three grandchildren

Frederick Tilney, B.A. 1897.

Born June 4, 1875, in Brooklyn, NY. Died August 7, 1938, at Centre Island, NY.

Father, Thomas Joseph Tilney, '70 Mother, Catherine Amelia (Hutchinson) Tilney Yale relatives include George F Doughty, '74 (greatuncle), Robert F. Tilney, '72, and Albert A Tilney, '90 (uncles); Robert F Tilney, 2d, '05 (brother); Joseph T. Wadsworth, '01, and John Mason Tilney, '13 (cousins); and Bradford S Tilney, '30 (nephew).

Boys' High School and Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn First dispute appointment Junior year, secretary Freshman Union; member Yale Literary Magazine and Yale Courant boards Senior year; historian; member Brooklyn Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Chi Delta Theta.

Reporter on the New York Sun 1897-98, attended Long Island College of Medicine 1899–1903 (M D 1903, valedictorian), student of neurology University of Berlin 1903-04 and of anatomy, embryology, and nervous diseases Long Island College of Medicine 1904-05; engaged in the practice of medicine in Brooklyn 1905-15 and in New York City since 1915; assistant demonstrator in anatomy Long Island College of Medicine 1905-06 and demonstrator 1906-07, lecturer in embryology 1906-13; clinical adjunct in neurology 1906-08 and instructor in neurology 1908-15, associate in anatomy College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia, 1909-14, associate professor of neurology 1914-15, professor of neurology and neuro-anatomy since 1915; appointed first medical director of Neurological Institute of the Presbyterian Medical Center 1935; director neurological department New York Post-Graduate Medical School 1919-24, consultant in neurology Presbyterian, Babies, Roosevelt, Brooklyn, Methodist Episcopal, Greenwich, Coney Island, Kings County, Queensboro, and Mountain View hospitals and at the Sloane Hospital for Women and the New York Post-Graduate Hospital, chairman medical board New York State Training School for Boys, Warwick, since 1933, chairman advisory board Bailey Educational Service for Children and Parents since 1936, contract surgeon (Lieutenant, M R C) US Army, December 26, 1917–January 23, 1919, and instructor Military Neuro-Psychiatric and Neuro-Surgical School, New York City; Ph D Columbia 1912, Sc D. Hon 1929, alumni trustee Long Island College of Medicine since 1931, author Epidemic Encephalitis (with Hubert S Howe) 1920, The Form and Functions of the Central Nervous System (with Henry Alsop Riley, '08) 1920, The Brain from Ape to Man (two vols, 1928), and The Master of Destiny 1930, contributed to numerous American and foreign medical journals, research associate American Museum of Natural History since 1932; fellow New York

Yale College

Academy of Sciences, New York Zoological Society, and American Philosophical Society; member Medical Society of the State of New York, New York Academy of Medicine (vice-president 1931-34, member of council 1931-38, and trustee 1935-38), Society of Practical Medicine of New York, New York Neurological Society (president), Brooklyn Society of Neurology, Galton Society, American Psychiatric Association, Association for Research in Nervous and Mental Diseases, American Association of Anatomists, American Medical Association, American Neurological Association (secretary 1919-25 and president 1926, and an advisory editor of its official publication since 1918); associate member Philadelphia Neurological Society, American Psychological Society, Royal Society of Medicine (London), and Psychological and Neurological Society (Vienna); member Plymouth Church (Congregational), Brooklyn

Married June 15, 1903, in Brooklyn, Camilla, daughter of Thomas Jefferson and Janet (Conway) Hurley Son, Frederick, Jr.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Farrar Tilney of New York City.

James Tilden Crane, B.A. 1898.

Born December 31, 1875, in Newburgh, NY Died October 12, 1938, in Stamford, Conn

Father, James Madison Crane (grad State Normal School, Albany, 1863; Pd.M. New York University 1893; MA Hon Union College 1890), a teacher and headmaster Newburgh Free Academy; chairman Newburgh Board of Education, son of Josiah and Keziah Saxton (Sturgis) Crane of Wallkill, N.Y. Mother, Elizabeth Paterson (Murray) Crane; daughter of John and Margaret (Paterson) Murray of Newburgh

Newburgh Free Academy Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended New York Law School 1898–1900 (LL B 1900), admitted to New York bar July, 1900, and to Connecticut bar 1912, associated with law firm of Boardman [Albert B, '73], Platt [Frank H, '77] & Soley, New York City, and its successor O'Brien, Boardman & Platt (later O'Brien, Boardman, Platt & Littleton) 1900–11, practiced independently in New York City 1911–31 and in Stamford since 1912, resided in Stamford 1909–38; treasurer Stamford Republican Town Committee 1926– 38; clerk City Court of Stamford since 1933; attended St John's Church (Episcopal), Stamford.

Married October 11, 1906, in New York City, Florence Kidder

Robinson Radford, daughter of Lieut. Col Erastus Root Robinson and Emma Clarice (Wallen) Robinson. No children.

Death due to hypertension, arteriosclerosis, and myocarditis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Newburgh, NY Survived by wife and a sister, Edith Crane Reed, the wife of Herbert Calhoun Reed, '95 S

Edgar Selah Downs, B.A. 1898.

Born September 25, 1874, in Southington, Conn Died March 3, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Isaac Downs, a farmer in Southington; son of Ambrose Iver and Emily Clark (Kensington) Downs of Connecticut Mother, Ellen Sabrina (Thorpe) Downs, daughter of Chester and Sabrina (Upson) Thorpe of Connecticut

Lewis High School, Southington, and Hillhouse High School, New Haven High oration appointment Junior and Senior years; third De-Forest Mathematical Prize Junior year, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1901 (Ph D. 1901; laboratory assistant in physics 1899–1901), assistant technical editor Electrical Review, New York City, 1901-02; instructor in science DeLancey School, Philadelphia, 1902, instructor in science and mathematics Thurston Preparatory School, Pittsburgh, 1902-03, electrical engineer Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company in Pittsburgh, St Louis, and New York City 1903–06, instructor in electrical engineering and mathematics Cooper Union School, New York City, 1906-07; tutor in electrical engineering Columbia University 1907-08; sales engineer Public Service Corporation of New Jersey with headquarters at Elizabeth 1908-09; organized the E S Downs Company, consulting electrical and mechanical engineers, Newark and Philadelphia, 1910 (president 1910-24); salesman Mack Truck Company, Philadelphia, one year; sales engineer Engineering Index Service, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 1927-33, salesman Brown, Wheelock, Harris, Stevens, Inc, real estate brokers in New York City, since 1933; associate American Institute of Electrical Engineers, member American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, East Orange, NJ

Married April 12, 1911, in Newark, NJ, Mary Helen, daughter of Dallas and Katherine Elizabeth (Van Sickle) Cox Son, Edgar Selah, Jr, '35

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Fairmount Mausoleum, Newark, N J Survived by wife and son.

Charles Maitland Fair, B.A. 1899.

Born September 26, 1877, in Chicago, Ill Died June 7, 1939, in New York City

Father, Robert Maitland Fair, partner Marshall Field & Company, Chicago, 1890–1905, son of Robert and Ann (Maitland) Fair of New York City. Mother, Emma (Dean) Fair, daughter of Charles Dean of Chicago. Yale relatives include Joseph B Fair, '93 S (brother), and Robert F. McCulloch, ex-'39 (nephew)

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago. Second colloquy appointment Senior year; second banjo club Freshman year, University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, contributed articles to Class Book, member American Humorists, University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Salesman and later assistant sales manager Marshall Field & Company, Chicago, 1899–1906, traveled in West Indies 1906–07, in brokerage business in New York City since 1907 (associated with Post & Flagg 1907–08, partner James B Colgate & Company 1917–20); had offices with Moore & Schley from 1922, member New York Stock Exchange 1908– 28 and since 1932, commissioned First Lieutenant, Motor Transport Corps, September 1, 1918, stationed in New York City until discharge November, 1918

Married (1) October 24, 1913, in Red Bank, NJ, Gertrude M, daughter of Frank and Nellie (Dalrymple) Bryan Son, Charles Maitland, Jr, ex-'39 Mr and Mrs Fair were divorced in 1930 Married (2) December 8, 1930, in New York City, Florence Crozer Rutherfurd, daughter of Edward and Florence (Robinson) Crozer

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Westbury, Long Island Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs David H McCulloch of Port Washington, N.Y.

Joseph Warren Greene, Jr., B.A. 1899.

Born February 22, 1876, in Brooklyn, NY. Died June 13, 1939, in Glen Ridge, NJ

Father, Joseph Warren Greene, '68. Mother, Julia Strong (Sherman) Greene.

Black Hall (Conn.) School Member Brooklyn Club

Attended New York Law School 1899–1901 and Harvard University Law School 1900–01, admitted to bar 1902; associated with law firm of Robinson Radford, daughter of Lieut Col Erastus Root Robinson and Emma Clarice (Wallen) Robinson. No children

Death due to hypertension, arteriosclerosis, and myocarditis Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Newburgh, NY Survived by wife and a sister, Edith Crane Reed, the wife of Herbert Calhoun Reed, '95 S

Edgar Selah Downs, B.A. 1898.

Born September 25, 1874, in Southington, Conn. Died March 3, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Isaac Downs, a farmer in Southington, son of Ambrose Iver and Emily Clark (Kensington) Downs of Connecticut Mother, Ellen Sabrina (Thorpe) Downs, daughter of Chester and Sabrina (Upson) Thorpe of Connecticut.

Lewis High School, Southington, and Hillhouse High School, New Haven High oration appointment Junior and Senior years, third De-Forest Mathematical Prize Junior year, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1901 (Ph D. 1901; laboratory assistant in physics 1899–1901), assistant technical editor Electrical Review, New York City, 1901-02; instructor in science DeLancey School, Philadelphia, 1902, instructor in science and mathematics Thurston Preparatory School, Pittsburgh, 1902-03, electrical engineer Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company in Pittsburgh, St Louis, and New York City 1903-06, instructor in electrical engineering and mathematics Cooper Union School, New York City, 1906-07; tutor in electrical engineering Columbia University 1907-08; sales engineer Public Service Corporation of New Jersey with headquarters at Elizabeth 1908-09; organized the E S Downs Company, consulting electrical and mechanical engineers, Newark and Philadelphia, 1910 (president 1910-24); salesman Mack Truck Company, Philadelphia, one year, sales engineer Engineering Index Service, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, 1927-33, salesman Brown, Wheelock, Harris, Stevens, Inc, real estate brokers in New York City, since 1933; associate American Institute of Electrical Engineers, member American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, East Orange, N J

Married April 12, 1911, in Newark, NJ, Mary Helen, daughter of Dallas and Katherine Elizabeth (Van Sickle) Cox. Son, Edgar Selah, Jr, '35

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Fairmount Mausoleum, Newark, N J Survived by wife and son.

Charles Maitland Fair, B.A. 1899.

Born September 26, 1877, in Chicago, Ill Died June 7, 1939, in New York City

Father, Robert Maitland Fair, partner Marshall Field & Company, Chicago, 1890–1905, son of Robert and Ann (Maitland) Fair of New York City Mother, Emma (Dean) Fair, daughter of Charles Dean of Chicago. Yale relatives include Joseph B. Fair, '93 S (brother), and Robert F McCulloch, ex-'39 (nephew)

Harvard School for Boys, Chicago Second colloquy appointment Senior year; second banjo club Freshman year, University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Sophomore, Junior, and Senior years, contributed articles to Class Book; member American Humorists, University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Salesman and later assistant sales manager Marshall Field & Company, Chicago, 1899–1906; traveled in West Indies 1906–07, in brokerage business in New York City since 1907 (associated with Post & Flagg 1907–08, partner James B. Colgate & Company 1917–20), had offices with Moore & Schley from 1922, member New York Stock Exchange 1908– 28 and since 1932, commissioned First Lieutenant, Motor Transport Corps, September 1, 1918, stationed in New York City until discharge November, 1918

Married (1) October 24, 1913, in Red Bank, NJ, Gertrude M, daughter of Frank and Nellie (Dalrymple) Bryan Son, Charles Maitland, Jr., ex-'39 Mr and Mrs Fair were divorced in 1930 Married (2) December 8, 1930, in New York City, Florence Crozer Rutherfurd, daughter of Edward and Florence (Robinson) Crozer.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Westbury, Long Island Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Mrs. David H McCulloch of Port Washington, NY.

Joseph Warren Greene, Jr., B.A. 1899.

Born February 22, 1876, in Brooklyn, NY Died June 13, 1939, in Glen Ridge, NJ

Father, Joseph Warren Greene, '68 Mother, Julia Strong (Sherman) Greene.

Black Hall (Conn) School. Member Brooklyn Club

Attended New York Law School 1899–1901 and Harvard University Law School 1900–01, admitted to bar 1902, associated with law firm of Arnold & Greene, New York City, for a short time 1902; with Title Guarantee & Trust Company, Brooklyn and Jamaica, L I, 1902–05 and New York Telephone Company 1906–18, trustee South Brooklyn Savings Bank, retired from business in 1919 and had traveled extensively abroad, since 1929 had been engaged in research on New York City and New Jersey history, working for the most part at the New Jersey Historical Society, contributed to *Proceedings of the New Jersey Historical Society, New York Historical Society Quarterly*, and to various Rhode Island newspapers, enlisted at Camp Meade, April 3, 1918, and served there with 324th Field Signal Battalion until July 22, 1918; overseas September 29, 1918–May 3, 1919, served with Company C, 323d Field Signal Batallion, until discharge May 22, 1919; member New Jersey Society of Colonial Wars and New Jersey Historical Society; attended First Presbyterian Church, Bloomfield, N J.

Married (1) November 25, 1903, in Brooklyn, Cornelia Andruss, daughter of Arthur Buchan and Cora (Goodwin) Mott. Son, Arthur Buchan Waring (B A Williams 1926). Mr and Mrs. Greene were divorced in 1917. Married (2) November 17, 1934, in Bloomfield, Maud Honeyman Bender (B A Wellesley 1905), daughter of Abraham Van Doren Honeyman (M A Hon Rutgers 1925) and Julietta (Reger) Honeyman

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield, NJ Survived by wife, son, a sister, Miss Julie S Greene of Summit, NJ, two brothers, Herbert G Greene, '03, and James T. Greene of New Braintree, Mass, two stepdaughters, Mrs Donald Richardson of Stirling, NJ, and Mrs Lionel A. Wood of Rockland, Mass, and a stepson, John H Bender of Glen Ridge, N.J.

William Stitt Hannon, B.A. 1899.

Born July 12, 1875, in Xenia, Ohio. Died September 7, 1938, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, Joseph Ewing Hannon, a retired merchant in Cleveland, son of Joseph and Ellen (Houston) Hannon of Xenia Mother, Clara Maria (Cobb) Hannon, daughter of Ahira and Maria (Bryant) Cobb of Cleveland

University School, Cleveland Second colloquy appointment Senior year, member Cleveland Club

Attended Harvard University Law School 1899–1902 (LL B 1902), admitted to Ohio bar 1903, had engaged in general practice of law in Cleveland since 1903, general attorney Union Savings & Loan Company 1915–38, secretary Johnson Wrecking Frog Company 1906–32 and president since 1932; secretary Stewartsville Coal Mining Company and Automatic Slot-closer Company, assistant secretary and director Cleveland Dental Manufacturing Company 1916–24; former director Cleveland University Club; during World War member local draft board and liberty loan committees.

Unmarried

Took his own life. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Xenia Survived by two brothers, Ewing Cobb Hannon of Dallas, Texas, and Arthur Mason Hannon (Cornell 1897–1900) of Carmel, Calif

Joseph Coolidge Palmer, B.A. 1899.

Born May 28, 1875, in Syracuse, NY. Died October 27, 1938, in Syracuse, NY

Father, Alva Weeks Palmer, wholesale and retail clothing manufacturer in Syracuse, son of Joseph and Sally Campbell (Coolidge) Palmer of Antwerp, N.Y. Mother, Frances Marsylvia (Cheney) Palmer, daughter of Timothy Collingwood and Ann Belden (Cook) Cheney of Syracuse. Yale relatives include: Henry N Hyde, '95 (cousin)

Syracuse High School and Phillips-Andover. First dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; Freshman Glee Club, College Choir three years, member Andover Club and Alpha Delta Phi

Attended College of Medicine, Syracuse University, 1899-1903 (M D 1903; member Alpha Omega Alpha and Nu Sigma Nu), interne in Paterson, NJ, Providence, R.I, and New York City 1903-04, had practiced medicine in Syracuse since 1904, specializing in diseases of children, studied six months in Paris and Vienna 1911, and summers of 1913, 1916, and 1918 in London, at the Harvard Medical School, and at the Trudeau School of Tuberculosis respectively, had been associated with the College of Medicine, Syracuse University, since 1904 (assistant in the obstetric clinic 1904–06 and instructor 1908–09, instructor in clinical surgery 1909–12, in medical inspection of schools 1911–12, and in hygiene, preventive medicine, and pediatrics 1912-16; assistant professor hygiene, preventive medicine, and pediatrics 1916-17, associate professor 1917-20, professor 1920-25, professor of hygiene, sanitation, and pediatrics 1925-27 and of clinical pediatrics 1927-38, professor emeritus 1938), assistant physician and assistant surgeon Syracuse Free Dispensary 1904-20, senior attending pediatrician Syracuse Memorial Hospital 1914-38, Syracuse Hospital for Women and Children 1905-20, and Onondaga County Orphan Asylum 1905-11; second assistant surgeon St. Joseph's Hospital 1908-09, assistant surgeon 1909-10, appointed to city health staff 1906, since 1914 director of health, Division of Health Supervision of School Children; secretary Central New York Certified Milk Commission; with Dr. Percy M. Hughes instrumental in building

the Hughes School for physically handicapped children; served September, 1918–February 15, 1919, on medical staff American Red Cross Commission on Tuberculosis, Italy (director part of the time); chairman information committee Yale Alumni Association of Syracuse 1922–23; president Syracuse Infant Welfare Association 1912–15, member Syracuse Academy of Medicine, Pediatric Club of Central New York, Onondaga County Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of New York (chairman section on the diseases of children 1925), American Medical Association, American Academy of Pediatricians, American Public Health Association, American School Health Association, American Child Health Association, and National Tuberculosis Association; attended St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Syracuse

Married May 6, 1909, in Syracuse, Zilla Rhoda Stone (Smith College ex-'05), daughter of Charles Luke and Zilla Buttrick (Sackett) Stone, and sister of Harold Stone, '02 Daughter, Harriet Sackett (B.A Smith College 1934), the wife of H E Astley Hawkins

Death due to valvular heart disease Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Syracuse Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs Florence Palmer Baker (Syracuse University *ex-*'81) of Delmar, N Y.

Malcolm Douglas, B.A. 1900.

Born September 5, 1876, in Albany, NY Died February 12, 1939, in Montecito, Calif

Father, Charles Henry Douglas, secretary and later partner Root Manufacturing Company, makers of knit goods, Albany, son of John Duncan and Catherine Jane (Miller) Douglass Mother, Sarah Martha (Root) Douglas, daughter of Josiah Goodrich and Martha (Mead) Root. Yale relatives include an uncle, George Douglass, '64.

Albany High School and Phillips-Andover Freshman Glee Club and University Glee Club three years (member quartette one year), member Junior Promenade and Class Day committees, member Les Misérables, Andover Club, Eta Phi, Psi Upsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Attended Albany Medical College 1900–04 (M D 1904), resident physician Albany City Hospital 1903–05, engaged in special work in pathology and bacteriology Bender Hygienic Laboratory, Albany, 1906–07, practiced medicine Albany 1907–17, clinical assistant Albany Medical College 1903–05, instructor in histology 1906–08, histology and physical diagnosis 1908–10, physical diagnosis 1910–11, physical diagnosis and therapy 1911–13, medicine and therapy 1913–15, and medicine 1915– 20, dispensary physician Albany Hospital 1907–11, assistant attending physician Tuberculosis Department 1910–13 and attending physician 1913–20, commissioned Captain June 14, 1917, attended Medical Offi-

5

cers' Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison, overseas May 3, 1918– August 17, 1919; stationed at U S Army Base Hospital No 33, Portsmouth, England, served with American North Russia Expeditionary Force, Archangel, and on Dvina River front May–June, 1919, decorated with Cross of St Anne (Russia), cited in general orders No. 11, Headquarters A.E.F, North Russia, July 19, 1919, discharged August 18, 1919, with rank of Major, did not resume practice of medicine after the war, traveled extensively, living in Tahiti for several months in 1920 and in 1921 visiting Samoa, the Tonga Islands, Fiji, Australia, and New Zealand; in recent years had resided in Santa Barbara, former member Clinical Club of Albany, Albany County Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of New York, and member All Saints by the Sea Church (Episcopal), Montecito.

Married November 26, 1928, in Paris, France, Rachel, daughter of Frederick Forest and Blanche (Griffith) Peabody No children

Death due to carcinoma Ashes scattered on the Pacific Ocean Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs Charles H Wilson of New York City, and two brothers, Charles H Douglas of Cohoes, NY, and Kenneth R Douglas, ex-'97 S Another brother, Duncan Douglas, '97 S, died January 21, 1920

David Rowland Francis, Jr., B.A. 1900.

Born May 31, 1879, in St Louis, Mo Died October 17, 1938, in La Due, Mo

Father, David Rowland Francis, LL D (B A Washington University 1870), head of brokerage firm Francis, Bro & Company, St Louis, mayor of St. Louis 1885–89, governor of Missouri 1889–93, Secretary of the Interior 1896–91; United States Ambassador to Russia 1916–19, son of John Broaddus and Eliza (Rowland) Francis Mother, Jane (Perry) Francis, daughter of John Deitz Perry of St. Louis Yale relatives include David R Francis, 3d, '36, and Sidney R Francis, Jr, ex-'39 E (nephews).

Smith Academy, St Louis, and St Paul's School, Concord, N H Member Yale Athletic Team Junior year, University Football Team Senior year; Cap and Gown Committee, St Paul's Club, Victorian Club, Viveurs, University, and Renaissance clubs, secretary St Louis Club Sophomore year, member Hé Boulé, Alpha Delta Phi, and Scroll and Key.

Associated with his brothers, J D Perry Francis, '97 S, and Talton T. Francis, '07, in Francis, Bro & Company since 1901; enlisted September 10, 1918, as private; attended Infantry Central Officers' Training School, Camp Pike, discharged November 21, 1918, president Yale Club of St Louis 1924–25; vice-president and director Camden (Ark) Gas Company and St. Louis County Water Company, director United Railways Company of St Louis (member bondholders' protective committee), Madison County Ferry Company, and Mississippi Valley Trust Company of St Louis

Married (1) June 12, 1901, in Danvers, Mass, Sarah C. Coulthurst, daughter of Charles Coulthurst. Daughter, Alice Pepperell. Mr. and Mrs. Francis were divorced in 1912. Married (2) November 6, 1913, in St. Louis, Nina Robinson Ater, daughter of Paul Gervais Robinson (M D Medical College of the State of South Carolina 1856) and Lina (Pratte) Robinson

Death due to coronary embolism Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis Survived by wife, daughter, and five brothers, J D. Perry Francis, '97 S, Charles B Francis, '02, Talton T. Francis, '07, Sidney R Francis, *ex-*'12, and Thomas Francis

Charles Jones, B.A. 1900.

Born August 15, 1878, in Paterson, NJ. Died December 8, 1938, in Montclair, NJ.

Father, Harry Jones, a mechanic with Waterman Pen Company, Seymour, Conn, son of Charles Jones of Coventry, England. Mother, Agnes (Hewson) Jones; daughter of William and Mary Ann (Cook) Hewson of Coventry

Seymour High School and private tutor Oration appointment Junior year and high oration appointment Senior year.

Instructor in English Rockville (Conn) High School 1900-02, worked in Montclair law office of Edwin B Goodell, '77, while attending New York Law School 1902-04 (LL B. *cum laude* 1904); admitted to New York bar 1904 and to New Jersey bar 1905, had engaged in the practice of law in Newark, N.J, since 1905, specializing in real estate and chancery law, partner firm of Jones & Gleeson until 1917, and associated with his son 1937-38, counsel Bloomfield (NJ) Savings Institution, president Supreme Title Company and State Capitol Title & Abstract Company, Newark and Trenton, 1925-38, secretary Guaranty Mortgage & Title Insurance Company and New Jersey Title & Abstract Company, charter member Newark Athletic Club, on board of governors Yale Alumni Association of Montclair and Vicinity, member Montclair Chamber of Commerce, Masonic order, and Unity Church, Montclair

Married June 15, 1909, in Bloomfield, Frances Marian, daughter of John Thomas and Clara Adelaide (Eveland) Ballard. Children Donald Ballard, '34, '37 L, and Shirley Frances

Death due to cardiac failure Buried in Mount Hebron Cemetery, Upper Montclair Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Miss Rose Jones of Stratford, Conn.

William Gray Ricker, B.A. 1900.

Born May 24, 1876, in Ryegate, Vt Died February 28, 1939, in St Johnsbury, Vt.

Father, Nathan H. Ricker, a stock farmer in Ryegate, son of Orson and Lydia (Taisey) Ricker of Groton, Vt Mother, Caroline (Henderson) Ricker, daughter of William and Hannah (Gray) Henderson of Peacham, Vt

St. Johnsbury Academy Second dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment and two-year honors in natural science Senior year; member Freshman Union and Wigwam.

Attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1900-04 (M D. 1904); resident pathologist Montreal General Hospital summers 1903 and 1904 and member resident staff 1904-05, practiced at Wells River, Vt., 1905-11 and in St. Johnsbury since 1911, specializing in diseases of the eye, ear, nose, and throat, during World War member state committee, Council of National Defense, and Medical Advisory Board, First District of Vermont; contributed to *Vermont State Medical Journal;* trustee St. Johnsbury Academy 1922-29, chairman St Johnsbury School Board 1917-29; member State Board of Health 1923-35 (chairman 1931-35); president Yale Alumni Association of Vermont State Medical Society (secretary 1916-36 and president 1936-37), New England Ophthalmological Society, American Medical Association, Masonic order, and North Congregational Church, St Johnsbury

Married (1) December 21, 1905, in Ryegate, Mary Sophia Nelson, daughter of Rev. James Beattie and Sophia (Nelson) Beattie Children[•] Margaret Henderson (B A Wellesley 1928), the wife of Addison Burnham Hastings (Bowdoin College *ex-*28); Nathan Beattie, 29, Elizabeth (B S Simmons College 1931), the wife of Arthur L Donnellan; and William Gray, Jr, *ex-*36. Mrs Ricker died November 28, 1932 Married (2) November 20, 1934, in Brookline, Mass, Lula Victoria, daughter of Lewis Napoleon and Myra Elizabeth (Martin) Roy

Death due to an accidental gunshot wound Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, St Johnsbury. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a half sister, Mrs Arthur Warren of Wells River

Robert Russell, B.A. 1900.

Born December 28, 1876, in Canton, NY Died April 8, 1939, in New York City

Father, Leshe Wead Russell, a lawyer in Canton, judge New York Supreme Court 1891–1903, son of John Leshe Russell (B A University of Vermont 1826) and Mary (Clark) Russell of Canton. Mother, Harriet Jane (Lawrence) Russell, daughter of Robert Fowler and Mary Lucy (Clark) Lawrence Yale relatives include[.] Rev. Samuel Russell (B A. 1712) (great-great-great-grandfather), Thomas Russell (B A 1749) (great-great-grandfather), John Russell (B A. 1704) and Rev Ebenezer Russell (B A 1722) (great-great-great-great-great-uncles); Clifford W. Hartridge, '87 (brother-in-law), and Malcolm Bogue, '11, and Samuel R Bogue, '03 (cousins).

Berkeley School, New York City, attended St. Lawrence University. Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Freshman Baseball Team and Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year, member College Choir three years, and University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; Alpha Delta Phi

Studied law in Canton 1900-01; attended New York Law School 1901-02, admitted to bar June, 1902; associated with his father and brother-in-law in firm of Russell & Hartridge, New York City, 1902-03, partner Russell & Faris [Martin B, '97] 1903-05; confidential clerk to Judge Charles B McLaughlin 1905-07 and to Judge James W. Houghton 1908-09, associated with firm of Gifford, Hobbs & Beard, New York City, 1907–08, lived in England 1909–11 engaged in writing fiction for American magazines, in newspaper work 1911-25 (on staff of Chicago American, Emporia [Kans] Gazette, Staunton [Va] Daily News, Baltimore News-Post 1918-19, and Washington Star 1919-20, assistant editor New Britain Herald 1920-25), life insurance agent Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, New York City, 1925 until retirement in 1931 because of ill-health, associated with H. K. Fly Company, publishers in New York City, 1926, attended Officers' Training School, Camp Lee, September-November, 1918, vice-president Connecticut Editorial Association, president Louis Lane Agency Association of the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States 1927; member Grace Church (Episcopal), Canton

Married April 22, 1919, in St Louis, Bernice, daughter of Owen and Katharine Tunney Daughter, Katharine Mrs. Russell died in April, 1928.

Death due to heart failure Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Canton Survived by daughter and a sister, Harriette, the wife of Sir Nigel Leslie Campbell of Amersham, Bucks, England.

Robert Stevenson, B.A. 1900.

Born June 25, 1878, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 17, 1938, in New York City.

Father, Robert Stevenson, president Robert Stevenson & Company, wholesale drugs and chemicals, Chicago, son of Charles and Sarah (Henderson) Stevenson of County Tyrone, Ireland Mother, Marianne Scott (Dill) Stevenson; daughter of James Reid and Marianne Scott (Sproul) Dill of County Tipperary, Ireland Yale relatives include a nephew, Kinney Smith, Jr, ex-'26

Private tutor, University School, Chicago, and Phillips-Andover University Glee Club Senior year, chairman Senior Promenade Committee; member Andover Club, Victorian Club (president Sophomore year), Viveurs, McCarthy Club (president Sophomore year), University Club, Chicago Club (president Senior year), Hé Boulé, Wigwam, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Associated with Robert Stevenson & Company as cashier, credit man, and treasurer 1900-03; bond salesman and later assistant manager in Chicago office of Lee, Higginson & Company, brokers, 1904-12, with his brother, John Stevenson, '06, joint manager of Chicago office of Kissel, Kinnicutt & Company, bond dealers, 1912-19, associate of John Burnham & Company, dealers in investment securities, Chicago, 1919-20, organizer and president Stevenson Brothers & Perry I Newton, ex-'08 S]. Inc., Chicago 1920-23 and of its successors Stevenson, Perry, Stacy & Company 1923-28 and Robert Stevenson & Company, Inc, since 1928; resident partner Kissel, Kinnicutt & Company 1928-31; special representative Farwell, Chapman & Company, brokers and investment dealers, Chicago, 1936–38, deputy Federal Food Administrator Illinois Division June, 1917–February, 1919, director and treasurer Robert Stevenson & Company since 1903; director Chicago Joint Stock Land Bank; member board of managers Presbyterian Hospital at time of his death, former member board of governors Investment Bankers Association of America, member board of trustees Winnetka, Ill, 1909–12 (mayor of Winnetka 1911-12); director Yale Club of Chicago 1904-05, second vice-president 1918-19, and president 1922-24, member City Club of Chicago and Fourth Presbyterian Church, Chicago (trustee 1934-38)

Married (1) May 7, 1901, in Chicago, Elizabeth, daughter of George W and Louise (Kinney) Smith Children Robert, 3d, '25, George Smith, '28; Malcolm Wilder, '28, and Marianne Scott, the wife of Bruce Thorne, '28 S Mrs Stevenson died in 1932 Married (2) May 16, 1935, in Gates Mills, Ohio, Eleanor Brown Husband, daughter of Francis C and Sarah Wetmore (Whiteside) Brown

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, two stepchildren, Thomas and Ethel Husband, and three brothers, John A Stevenson, '06, Richard D. Stevenson, ex-'14, and Charles Stevenson of Miami, Fla

Corliss Esmonde Sullivan, B.A. 1900.

Born December 19, 1876, in Shreve, Ohio Died February 14, 1939, in Hunting Valley, Ohio

Father, Jeremiah Jay Sullivan, founder in 1890 and president and chairman of board Central National Bank; founder Superior Savings & Trust Company of Cleveland, member Ohio State Senate 1879–93 and 1885– 89, served with Third Ohio Battery 1862–65; son of Jeremiah Jay and Mary (Moylan) Sullivan of Canal Fulton, Ohio. Mother, Selina Jane (Brown) Sullivan, daughter of Thomas Ashford and Mary (Bird) Brown of Shreve

University School, Cleveland. Second colloquy appointment Jumor year, first colloquy appointment Senior year; captain Freshman Football Team, substitute University Football Team Sophomore and Jumor years, Class baseball team and substitute University Baseball Team Freshman year; member University Baseball Team three years, Jumor Promenade Committee, member Wigwam, Les Misérables, Cleveland Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones.

Vice-president and treasurer Glens Run Coal Company 1900-17; president Superior Savings & Trust Company 1916-21, vice-president 1920-21 and president 1921-29 Central National Bank Savings & Trust Company (formed 1920 by consolidation of Superior Savings & Trust Company and Central National Bank), chairman of board Central United National Bank since 1929 when the bank was formed by merger of Central National Bank Savings & Trust Company and United Banking & Trust Company, president Cleveland Clearing House Association 1925–26 and 1938–39, member (from Fourth Federal Reserve District) Advisory Council, Federal Reserve Board, 1921–24, chairman committee on national banks, American Bankers Association Convention 1930, director Republic Steel Corporation, B F. Goodrich Company, Pioneer Steamship Company, Cleveland Graphite Bronze Company, Standard Products Company, Continental Shares, Inc, and Monarch Fire Insurance Company, Cleveland, mayor of Hunting Valley Village 1927 until resignation in 1937, polo player and master of the hounds Chagrin Valley Hunt Club, former treasurer Cleveland Community Fund; member Cleveland Chamber of Commerce and Crawford Road Christian Church, Cleveland

Married December 26, 1936, in Wickliffe, Ohio, Lucy Dwyer Mc-Kinney, daughter of John Dennis and Elizabeth (Stratton) Dwyer, and mother of the late Price McKinney, '33

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Gates Mills (Ohio) Cemetery. Survived by wife, two sisters, Miss Selma Sullivan and Helen Sullivan Seymour, the wife of Harold Freeman Seymour (Columbia University

ex-'07), both of Cleveland, a stepdaughter, Mrs. Gregory McIntosh (Bryn Mawr ex-'32) of Chagrin Falls, and a stepson, Rigan McKinney of Old Westbury, NY.

Dudley Stuart Blossom, B.A. 1901.

Born March 10, 1879, in Cleveland, Ohio Died October 7, 1938, in Lyndhurst Village, Ohio

Father, Henry Sheldon Blossom, a hardware merchant in Cleveland, son of Henry Carlos and Emma (Nash) Blossom of Cleveland Mother, Leila (Stocking) Blossom; daughter of Zalmon and Eliza (Dudley) Stocking of Mansfield, Ohio. Yale relatives include a nephew, John T Blossom, Jr, 1940.

Brooks Military Academy and University School, Cleveland Member University Banjo Club (secretary Junior year, president Senior year), University Mandolin Club, Junior Promenade and Cap and Gown committees, Cleveland Club (treasurer Junior year, president Senior year), Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Identified with business, philanthropic, and art activities of Cleveland throughout his life, associated with the W. Bingham Company, wholesale hardware dealers, 1901-25 (vice-president 1910-18), president Perry-Payne Company 1932-38, special partner in brokerage firm of Murfrey, Blossom & Company 1934-38, vice-president Blossom Lock Company 1926-29 and Payne-Bingham Company 1930-38, director Standard Tool Company, Cleveland Hobbing Machine Company, and Central National Bank; volunteered for service in American Red Cross November 21, 1917, and was promoted to captaincy March 1, 1918, assistant director Bureau of Supplies, Paris, March 30-October 10, 1918, discharged in December, 1918, appointed director of Public Health and Welfare, Cleveland, 1919, retained this post until 1932 with the exception of one year (1923-24) during which he served as one of the Republican representatives of Cuyahoga County in the Ohio General Assembly; in the legislature he showed special interest in all laws affecting the operation of the State Department of Public Welfare, introduced bills relating to the care of the underprivileged, and served as chairman of committee on benevolent and penal institutions; while welfare director he conducted campaign which made possible the City Hospital and initiated a program to improve physical plants of Cleveland's welfare institutions, member Ohio Relief Commission 1931-33, president Associated Charities 1933; treasurer Cleveland Community Fund 1933-34, general chairman 1934-37, in recognition of his services made honorary life chairman June, 1938; member State Citizen's Advisory Committee, Welfare Federation Board, director The Maternity Hospital and Humane

Society, through Musical Arts Association of Cleveland, of which he was a founder and executive vice-president and treasurer 1922–23, he helped build Severance Hall, the permanent home of the Cleveland Symphony Orchestra, and was leader of campaign which established endowment fund of that orchestra; a violinist of merit he took part in musical productions of the Hermit Club; member Cleveland Museums of Art and Natural History; as chairman of the board of directors 1936– 37 instrumental in planning and bringing to completion the Great Lakes Exposition, vice-president Associated Western Yale Clubs 1919–20; vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Cleveland 1917, president 1919–20, and representative on the Alumni Board 1933–May, 1938, member of corporation Case School of Applied Science 1934–36, LL D. Western Reserve 1932, member Church of the Covenant (Presbyterian), Cleveland

Married September 29, 1910, in Cleveland, Elizabeth Beardsley, daughter of Charles William Bingham, '68, and Mary (Payne) Bingham, and sister of Harry Payne Bingham, '10 Children Dudley Stuart, Jr, '34; and Mary Payne (Vassar ex-'34), the wife of Ben Purse Gale (B A. Cornell 1930)

Death due to myocardial infarction Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and three brothers, Carl Woodruff Blossom (B S Harvard 1904), Pelham Hooker Blossom (Harvard ex-'09), and John Theodore Blossom, '14

Mr Blossom's will provided for a bequest to Yale endowment funds to further the educational purposes of the University.

Edwin Hotchkiss Tuttle, B.A. 1901.

Born September 23, 1879, in New Haven, Conn Died January 25, 1939, in Washington, DC.

Father, Lucius Bement Tuttle, '63 L Mother, Emma Louise (Hotchkiss) Tuttle (Mount Holyoke *ex-*'77) Yale relatives include: Luzon B. Morris, '54 (uncle), Charles G Morris, '95, and Ray Morris, '01 (cousins)

Hillhouse High School First Berkeley Premium Freshman year, philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member Phi Beta Kappa

Attended Yale Graduate School 1901–03 and University of Paris 1903–04, studied and traveled in Spain, France, and Italy 1904–05, master in modern languages Mackenzie School, Dobbs Ferry, NY, 1905 and at the Boys' Latin School, Baltimore, Md, 1907, resided in North Haven, Conn, 1916–29, made a lifelong study of all known languages of the world, had been associated with the Languages Publishing Company, Washington, for about twenty years before his death, special editor con-

nected with the publication of Webster's New International Dictionary; in recent years had resided in summer at Mount Carmel, Conn ; author Dravidian Developments (1930) and numerous articles on philology and allied subjects published in American and European learned journals, member Association Phonétique Internationale and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Unmarried.

Took his own life. Buried in Edgewood Cemetery, Wolcott, Conn Survived by two brothers, Lucius Tuttle, '01, and Charles P Tuttle, '06

Mr. Tuttle bequeathed his books, magazines, and pamphlets to the University.

Melville Alphonse Stern, B.A. 1902.

Born April 27, 1880, in New York City Died July 21, 1938, in Paris, France

Father, Louis Stern, president Stern Brothers, Inc, dry goods merchants in New York City, United States commissioner to Paris Exposition 1900; son of Meyer A and Sophia R. Stern of Ziegenhain, Germany Mother, Lisette (Strupp) Stern; daughter of Isaac and Bronia (Rosenstock) Strupp of Melsungen, Germany. Yale relatives include. Robert B Stearns, '10, and Frederick B Kaye, '14 (cousins)

Dr. Chapin's and Dr Sachs' schools, New York City. First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, member Fencing Club and University Club.

Associated with Stern Brothers, Inc., 1902–15 (vice-president 1910– 15); vice-president Standard Forwarding Company, New York City, 1917–20; retired from active business in 1920, since 1922 had been executor and trustee of his father's estate, resided in New York City but in recent years had spent much time abroad.

Married February 12, 1907, in New York City, Beatrice Leila, daughter of David and Caroline (Steiner) Hecht Son, Louis, 2d, '32

Death due to a heart attack. Temporary burial in Cemetery of Père Lachaise, Paris. Survived by wife, son, and two sisters, Baroness Irma Regina deGraffenried (B A Barnard 1904) of Fribourg, Switzerland, and Miss Beatrice Lisette Stern (B A Barnard 1925) of New York City

Edward Herbert Cameron, B.A. 1903.

Born January 24, 1875, in Yarmouth, Nova Scotia Died December 20, 1938, in Chicago, Ill

Father, William Jack Cameron, associated with George S Taylor & Company, tailors in Yarmouth; son of Hugh and Elizabeth (Brown)

Cameron of River John, Nova Scotia. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Allen) Cameron; daughter of Herbert and Mary (Valentine) Allen of Hebron, Yarmouth County, Nova Scotia.

Milton High School, Yarmouth; graduate Nova Scotia Normal School, Truro, 1894, B.A. Acadia University 1900, principal Bridgetown (N S) High School 1900–02, joined Class of 1903 at Yale in Senior year; philosophical oration appointment and honors in philosophy; member British Club and Phi Beta Kappa.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1903-06 (M A. 1904, Ph D. 1906; member Sigma X1), instructor in psychology 1906-10 and assistant professor 1910-15, assistant professor of education 1915-19; professor of educational psychology University of Illinois since 1920 and director of the summer session since 1930, author Psychology and the School (1921), Educational Psychology (1927); editor Viewpoints in Educational Psychology (1930), had contributed numerous articles to psychological and educational magazines; president Yale Club, of Urbana-Champaign 1931-35; member Phi Delta Kappa, American Psychological Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Association of University Professors, Association of College Teachers of Education, and Champaign Congregational Church

Married August 18, 1906, in West Roxbury, Mass, Annie Louise, daughter of William DeWolfe and Annie (Wesley) O'Donnell Children Winifred Wesley (B A University of Illinois 1928) and Mary Louise (B A University of Illinois 1932, M A. 1934).

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, Urbana, Ill Survived by wife, children, three sisters, the Misses Nora, Marion, and Margaret Cameron, and a brother, Albert Cameron, all of Vancouver, British Columbia

Mansfield Ferry, B.A. 1903.

Born June 21, 1882, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 4, 1938, in New York City

Father, Charles Herbert Ferry, '72 Mother, Emily Dwight (Mansfield) Ferry Yale relatives include William H Ferry, '68 (uncle), and Frank F Ferry, '00, John F Ferry, '01 S, Montague Ferry, '02 S, and Horace F. Ferry, '06 (cousins)

Taft School and Hopkins Grammar School. Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, member University Club, Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Cercle Français, Taft School Club, Illinois Club, Wigwam, and Psi Upsilon

Attended Harvard University Law School 1903-06, 1908-09 (LL B cum laude 1909, editor Harvard Law Review, member Phi Delta Phi);

engaged in legal work Santa Barbara, Calif, 1906-07, traveled on the West Coast 1907-08, admitted to New York bar 1909; clerk in office of Root, Clark & Bird, New York City, 1909-10, practiced independently in New York City 1910-17, member firm of Geller, Rolston & Blanc and its successors, Taylor, Blanc, Capron & Marsh, and later Mitchell [William D., '94 S.], Taylor, Capron & Marsh, New York City, since 1920; entered government service July, 1917, serving with State Councils Section, Council of National Defense, Washington, DC, entered the Bureau of Law of the Alien Property Custodian in Washington January 1, 1918; assistant general counsel to the Alien Property Custodian 1918 and general counsel January 1, 1919, until resignation September 15, 1919, treasurer of the Practicing Law Institute 1938, member American Law Institute (adviser on restatement of law of trusts), Bar Association of the City of New York, New York State and American Bar associations, New York County Lawyers' Association, New York Law Institute, The Pilgrims, Society of Mayflower Descendants, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution, Hereditary Order of Descendants of Colonial Governors, and St Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married April 9, 1917, in New York City, Jean Morris, daughter of Mrs. Isabel (Morris) Ledyard Children John Mansfield (Harvard 1942), Frances Isabel (Vassar 1942), and May Mansfield

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Grove Street Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, and a brother, Ronald Mansfield Ferry (B A. Harvard 1912) of Cambridge, Mass.

Norman Churchill Hull, B.A. 1903.

Born August 5, 1881, in Pittsfield, Mass Died July 1, 1938, in Pittsfield, Mass.

Father, James Wells Hull, president Berkshire Life Insurance Company, Pittsfield; son of Charles Williams and Lucina Ann (Churchill) Hull of New Lebanon, N Y Mother, Helen Edwards (Plunkett) Hull, daughter of Thomas Fitzpatrick and Harriette Merrick (Hodge) Plunkett of Pittsfield, Mass Yale relatives include Edward B Hull, '06 (brother), William R Plunkett, ex-'54 (uncle), and Edward Boltwood, '92 (cousin)

Pittsfield High School and Phillips-Andover Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; treasurer Yale Chess Club Sophomore year, member Andover Club.

Attended Harvard University Law School 1903-06 (LL B 1906), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1906, partner Swift, Campbell & Hull, Pittsfield, 1906-10, had practiced independently since 1910, city clerk of Pittsfield 1912-16, president Co-operative Coal Company, director Pittsfield Coal Gas Company, associate member Legal Advisory Board during World War, member Berkshire Bar Association and First Church of Christ (Congregational), Pittsfield.

Married July 22, 1922, in Brookline, Mass, Katharine VanBaarle, daughter of John Louis Liecty, Jr, and Sallie Goodrich (Fiske) Liecty, and granddaughter of John M. Fiske, '56 No children

Death due to intestinal obstruction and paralytic ileus Buried in Pittsfield Cemetery Survived by wife and three sisters, Helen Hull Kellogg, the wife of Walter C Kellogg (B A. Williams 1899; LL B. Harvard 1902) of Pittsfield, Rosamond Hull Morse (B A. Smith College 1901), the wife of Harold F Morse of Southport, Conn., and Carolyn Hull Korthals-Altes, the wife of Wilhelm C. Korthals-Altes (Delft University) of Amsterdam, Holland

Walter Chafey Moodie, B.A. 1903.

Born May 21, 1882, in Los Gatos, Calif Died May 7, 1939, in White Plains, NY.

Father, Rev. Royal Corban Moodie, '78 Mother, Carrie Augusta (Root) Moodie

Craftsbury, Williston, and St Johnsbury academies. Dissertation appointment Junior and Senior years; secretary Williston Club Junior year.

Engaged in general merchandising business at Martha's Vineyard, Mass , 1903–08, attended University of Vermont College of Medicine 1908–11 and University of Nebraska College of Medicine 1911–12 (M D 1912), interne Bishop Clarkson Memorial Hospital, Omaha, Nebr , June 1, 1912–June 1, 1913, associated with Dr. Ream on Indian Reservation, Walthill, Nebr , 1913–15, engaged in practice of medicine in Jefferson, S Dak , 1915–17 and Elk Point, S Dak., 1917–24, assistant physician South Dakota State Sanatorium for Tuberculosis, Sanator, 1924–26, since 1926 had practiced in Valhalla, N Y., school physician Valhalla Junior High School since 1927, on staffs of St Agnes and White Plains hospitals, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, September 19, 1917; promoted to captaincy April 24, 1919, staff officer Base Hospital, Camp A A Humphreys, May, 1918, until discharge in May, 1919, member American Legion, Masonic order; attended Community Church, Valhalla

Married November 7, 1914, in Macy, Nebr , Mabel, daughter of William and Betty (Stinson) Alexander No children.

Death due to acute coronary thrombosis Buried in Craftsbury Common Cemetery, Craftsbury, Vt Survived by wife.

Robert Seneca Smith, B.A. 1903.

Born November 18, 1880, in Clarendon, Vt Died January 14, 1939, in Hamden, Conn

Father, Seneca Eugene Smith, a farmer in Clarendon, son of Nathan and Alzina (Button) Smith of Clarendon. Mother, Martha Fuller (Everest) Smith, daughter of Heman and Theresa (Ewing) Everest of Clarendon.

Rutland (Vt) English and Classical Institute Philosophical oration appointment Junior and Senior years; second Henry James TenEyck Prize Junior year, superintendent Sunday School, Yale Hall, member German Club, Zeta Psi, and Phi Beta Kappa (vice-president Senior year).

Attended Yale Divinity School 1903-06 and Yale Graduate School 1904-05 (M.A 1905, BD 1906, general secretary Yale University Christian Association 1904–06), ordained First Congregational Church, Montclair, NJ, October 15, 1906, and assistant minister there in charge of religious education 1906–11, minister First Congregational Church, Poughkeepsie, NY, 1911-17, teacher volunteer Bible classes Vassar, professor of Biblical literature Smith College 1917-25 and member administrative board 1918-23, visiting professor of religious education Yale 1923–24 and Horace Bushnell Professor of Christian Nurture since 1925; librarian Sneath Memorial Library 1930-32 and curator 1932-35, dean New Haven Training School for Church School Workers 1927-36, dean and chaplain Connecticut Congregational Young People's Conference 1933-37, Ph D Yale 1927, D D Middlebury College 1938, author Fundamentals for Daily Living (1921), The Use of the Old Testament in Current Curricula (1929), If Worship Meant Something to Me (1930), New Trails for the Christian Teacher (1934), The Person I Hope to Become (1935), Seven Keys to the Castle of Living (1935), The Art of Group Worship (1938), co-author with Professor Charles F Kent, '89, The Work and Teachings of the Earlier Prophets (1907); editor with Dean Luther A Weigle (Ph D 1905) Yale Studies in Religious Education and Nelson's Religious Series, in 1936 contributed to Educational Progress and School Administration edited by Professor Clyde M Hill, director religious work Y.MCA. Beaune, France, February-September, 1919, officiated at many college services and acted as supply minister in several of the local churches, had delivered lecture courses and preached at numerous educational gatherings throughout the country, for many years taught summers at YMC.A schools at Lake Geneva, W1s, Estes Park, Colo, and Silver Bay, NY, lecturer on Christian fundamentals YMCA Training School, New York City, 1917, chairman committee on worship, National Council, Young Men's Christian Association 1928-32 (member

Yale University Obituary Record

committee on evangelistic emphasis 1927-32, program committee 1928-39, and commission on message and purpose 1930-38), director Board of Home Missions and member commission on evangelism and devotional life, National Council of the Congregational and Christian Churches, chairman youth committee, Connecticut Council of Churches, and member committee on religious education, Connecticut Conference of Congregational and Christian Churches; chairman Department of Spir-Itual Training, National Congress for Parents and Teachers, 1929; member Educational Commission, International Council of Religious Education, trustee Wheaton College 1925-39; director Class of 1903 Yale College Fund, Congregational Education Society, Congregational Publishing Society, and New Haven Council of Churches, member Society of Biblical Literature and Exegesis, American Theological Society, Religious Education Association, Society of Biblical Institutes, Association of Bible Teachers in Schools and Colleges, Connecticut Valley Theological Club, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married July 18, 1906, in Clarendon, Emma Wyman Kingsley (grad. Wheaton College 1905), daughter of John Harrison and Lizzie Ann (Wyman) Kingsley Son, Kingsley Robert (B S Middlebury College 1933; B F.A Yale 1937) Mrs Smith died January 29, 1925.

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, Rutland, Vt Survived by son, and three brothers, Arthur Frederick Smith (B A. Dartmouth 1920) of West Hartford, Conn, Hervey Button Smith of Hartford, and Erwin Everest Smith of Springfield, Mass

Franklin Douglas Williams Glazier, B.A. 1904.

Born August 31, 1882, in Glastonbury, Conn. Died February 19, 1939, in South Glastonbury, Conn.

Father, Frank Dwight Glazier, member firm of Franklin Glazier & Sons, manufacturers of woolens in South Glastonbury, son of Franklin and Mary Cecilia (Skinner) Glazier Mother, Emily Spencer (Williams) Glazier, daughter of William Stuart and Mary Edwards (Goodwin) Williams of Glastonbury Yale relatives include Thomas Williams (B A. 1748) (great-great-grandfather); Solomon Williams (*ex*-1803) and George Goodwin (B A 1806) (great-grandfathers); Richard E Goodwin (B A 1807) and Edward Goodwin (B A 1823) (great-great-uncles); George G Williams, '80 S, Lewis S Welch, '89 (uncles); and Richard B. Bulkeley, Jr, '34 (nephew)

Hartford Public High School and The Hotchkiss School First dispute appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year; member Yale University Dramatic Association, Wranglers, University Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Wolf's Head.

Studied architecture under Messieurs Chifflot and Laloux and at the École des Beaux-Arts 1904-09; draftsman Ewing & Chappell [George S., '99], New York City, 1909-12; associate in office of James Gamble Rogers, '89, 1912-17 and 1919; traveled in France 1920, engaged in practice of architecture with W F Brooks, Hartford, since 1920, overseas March 2, 1917-July 2, 1919, with American Field Service, Section 16, attached to 64th Division, French Army, in Verdun Sector March-September, 1917, commissioned First Lieutenant, Engineers, January 4, 1918; Captain April 8, 1919, served on staff of Chief Engineer, Lines of Communication, American Expeditionary Force, at Paris and Tours, later transferred to liaison service with French Army, discharged August 8, 1919; member American Legion, French Veterans of the World War, Elizabethan Club, and St. Augustine's Church (Roman Catholic), South Glastonbury.

Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford Survived by father, a sister, Mary Glazier Bulkeley, the wife of Richard B Bulkeley, '08, and a brother, Philip A Glazier, ex-'07 S Another brother, W. Stuart Glazier, '06, died January 9, 1937

Henry King Love, B.A. 1904.

Born April 23, 1883, in Des Moines, Iowa . Died October 10, 1938, in Seattle, Wash.

Father, Henry King Love, president Iowa National Bank, Des Moines, son of Henry King and Susan Florence Kingman (Otis) Love of Keokuk, Iowa Mother, Pattie Bennet (Thomas) Love; daughter of Joseph S and Martha Bennett (Olmsted) Thomas of Cadiz, Ohio Yale relatives include. Otis L. Guernsey, '16, and Nathaniel T Guernsey, Jr, '22 (nephews).

St. Paul's School, Concord, NH Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Camera Club

Associated with N. W Halsey & Company, bankers in New York City, 1904–08; half owner with Gerald Beebe, '04, of Bear Springs Ranch, a fruit ranch in Underwood, Wash, 1908–09; subsequently bought Mr Beebe's interest and operated the ranch alone 1911–19, agent in Chicago for Bitter Root Valley Irrigation Company 1910–11, manager bond department Portland (Ore) office 1919–22 and of Seattle office 1922–24 Lumbermens Trust Company, Pacific Northwest manager, with offices in Seattle, Halsey, Stuart & Company, stock brokers and dealers in investment securities, 1924–30, associated with Wm P Harper & Son, a bond house in Seattle since 1932, member Amphion Society of Seattle and the Episcopal church Married November 10, 1924, in Portland, Marjorie, daughter of Charles Judson and Josephine (Fletcher) Pond Son, Henry King, Jr.

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Evergreen Memorial Park, Seattle Survived by wife, son, and a half sister, Martha Love Guernsey (Helmuth College, Canada, 1879–81), the widow of Nathaniel Taylor Guernsey, '81, '83 L

Hugh Joseph Murphy, B.A. 1904.

Born March 12, 1880, in Wallingford, Conn Died July 5, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Hugh Murphy, a foundry superintendent in Wallingford; son of John Murphy of County Cavan, Ireland Mother, Mary Ann (Gleeson) Murphy, daughter of Denis and Margaret (O'Mara) Gleeson of New Haven

Hillhouse High School Second colloquy appointment Senior year.

Attended Yale School of Law 1904-07 (LL.B. 1907, member Kent Club), admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1907, had since been engaged in practice of law in New Haven; member New Haven Board of Aldermen 1912-17, assistant city clerk of New Haven 1918-24 and since 1932 (compiled *Journal of the Board of Aldermen* and *City Year Book*), justice of the peace, New Haven County, 1928-34, in 1922 appointed secretary of committee created by Board of Aldermen to codify and revise city ordinances and in 1927 was given charge of having this revision printed and indexed and of incorporating into it amendments and legislation enacted since beginning of the codification; during the World War served as chairman Legal Advisory Board, Division No 3; member Fair Haven Library Committee and chairman Amalgamated Fair Haven Library Committees; treasurer St Rose's Holy Name Society 1925; member St Rose's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Unmarried

Death due to rheumatic heart disease Buried in St. Lawrence Cemetery, West Haven, Conn. Survived by two sisters, Miss Mary Christine Murphy of New Haven and Sister Maria Rose of St Patrick's Convent, and two brothers, John Aloysius Murphy (B A. Manhattan College; M D New York University Medical College 1897) and Dennis Sebastian Murphy, both of New Haven

George Elwood Nichols, B.A. 1904.

Born April 12, 1882, in Southington, Conn Died June 20, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Rev George Edward Nichols, '81 D Mother, Mary Estelle (Smith) Nichols Yale relatives include Jay G Eldridge, '96 (brotherin-law), W. Bradford Walker, '16 S, Robert W Eldridge, Ph D 1927, and Robert Walker, '32 S (nephews)

Hillhouse High School First colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1904-09 (Ph D 1909, assistant in botany 1905-09, proctor 1906-09), and University of Chicago summer 1910; instructor in botany Yale University 1909-15, assistant professor 1915-23, associate professor 1923-26, and professor 1926-39 (Eaton Professor of Botany 1936-39), acting chairman department of botany 1924–25 and chairman since 1927, director Yale Botanical Gardens since 1926; member University Committee on Yale Natural Preserve since 1929, associate professor of botany Biological Station, University of Michigan Summer School, 1920–26 and professor since 1927, botanical - adviser on sphagnum for surgical dressings American Red Cross 1918, author: The Vegetation of Northern Cape Breton Island, Nova Scotia (1918), co-author. Organic Adaptation to Environment (1924), contributed articles to scientific journals; member editorial board Ecology 1925-33 and American Journal of Botany 1927-32, member advisory board Yale Scientific Magazine 1927-39, associate editor Ecological Monographs 1938-39; president Ecological Society of America 1932 (vice-president 1920; representative on board of control Botanical Abstracts), president Sullivant Moss Society 1938-39, treasurer Botanical Society of America 1925-32 (vice-president 1933-35); fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, on International Committee on Concepts and Nomenclature in Plant Sociology 1932, member arboretum committee Connecticut College for Women, Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, Michigan Academy of Science, Connecticut Botanical Society, New England Botanical Club, Torrey Botanical Club, New York (associate editor 1919–24), Association of American Foresters, Connecticut Forest and Park Association, Wild Flower Preservation Society, Association of American Geographers, British Ecological Society, Limnological Society of America, American Association of University Professors (secretary-treasurer Yale Chapter 1926–27), Sigma X1 (vice-president 1925-26), and Calvary Baptist Church, New Haven (deacon 1921-28)

Married June 23, 1909, in New Haven, Grace Elizabeth, daughter of Emory Judson Walker (M D Hahnemann Medical College 1868) and Martha (Pittman) Walker Children Marion Louise (B A Connecticut College for Women 1932), the wife of H. Bradford Arnold (B.A Swarthmore College 1933); Grace Evelyn (B A Connecticut College for Women 1934), the wife of Arnold D. Rhodes, '37 F., George E., 3d, '38; and Mary-Martha (Yale School of the Fine Arts 1936–38).

Death followed an operation Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Louise S. Nichols (Wheaton ex-'06) of New Haven, and a brother, Captain Newton L. Nichols, USN (grad United States Naval Academy 1907)

George Nathaniel Holmes Clement, B.A. 1905.

Born September 17, 1883, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died January 20, 1939, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Nathaniel Holmes Clement (B A Dartmouth 1863), a lawyer; served in 7th Rhode Island Cavalry at Harper's Ferry 1862, judge city court of Brooklyn 1883–96, state supreme court justice 1896; son of Zenas and Catharine Allison (Holmes) Clement. Mother, Catherine Amelia (Piper) Clement, daughter of Enoch Burdick and Mary Ann (Ford) Piper.

Brooklyn Latin School and Phillips-Andover

Attended Harvard Law School 1905–08 (LL.B. 1908); admitted to New York bar 1908; practiced in office of George D. Yeomans, '90 (counsel for the Brooklyn Rapid Transit System), New York City, 1908–09, then in office of Frank V Johnson, and was later associated with Bennet & Cooley until 1913, with Reynolds, Thomas [Abel C, '05] & Friedman [Stanleigh P, '05], New York City, 1913–17 [later Thomas & Friedman], commissioned Captain, Field Artillery, Officers' Reserve Corps, April 14, 1917; commissioned Captain, Ordnance, National Army, August 15, 1917; attended Ordnance Officers' Training Camp at Watervliet, Camp Ordnance Officer Camp Travis; assistant editor Army Supply Catalogue, Washington, discharged September 3, 1919, attended Columbia University 1919–20 and Carnegie Institute of Technology 1920–21, in maintenance and construction engineering department Standard Sanitary Manufacturing Company, Pittsburgh, 1922 until retirement in 1926 because of ill-health; had since resided in Brooklyn

Married December 26, 1917, in New York City, Grace Harriet, daughter of Edward Louis and Minna Harriet (Witte) Graef Daughter, Catharine Allison (B A Vassar 1939)

Mr and Mrs Clement and Mr Clement's mother lost their lives when their house was destroyed by fire Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by daughter and a brother, Arthur W Clement, '00 (LL B New York Law School 1902)

ł

Lawrence Darr, B.A. 1905.

Born February 24, 1883, in Oil City, Pa Died August 20, 1938, in Bayonne, France

Father, George Washington Darr, member firm of Darr, Luke & Moore, bankers and brokers in New York City and Pittsburgh, Pa, treasurer Thames Paper Company of London, son of George and Sarah (Gardner) Darr of Oil City Mother, May (Shively) Darr, daughter of John and Sarah (Herpst) Shively of Oil City Yale relatives include a cousin, George W Darr, '11.

Shady Side Academy and Phillips-Andover Sophomore winner lightweight wrestling match against the Freshmen; member Wranglers, Shady Side Academy Club (secretary Sophomore year), Pittsburgh Club (treasurer Sophomore year), University Club, and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Traveled around the world 1905–06, associated with Darr, Luke & Moore in New York City and later with Darr & Moore; secretary and treasurer Continental Box Board Company, New York City, 1913–17, entered service August 27, 1917, Second Officers' Training Camp, The Presidio, San Francisco, commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry November 27, 1917, and assigned 12th Infantry, Camp Fremont, attached to General Staff in Washington August 30, 1918, promoted to Captain October 15, 1918, and assigned to office of Chief of Staff, discharged February 19, 1919, since the war had not been actively engaged in business and had traveled extensively abroad, resided in France, member New York Yacht Club and Indian Harbor Yacht Club

Married February 5, 1914, in New York City, Alice Lillian, daughter of Edwin Orr and Clara Julia (Rohmer) Deming. No children Mrs Darr died February 18, 1933.

Death due to a heart attack Ashes interred in San Francisco, Calif Survived by no immediate relatives

Chester Rhoades de la Vergne, B.A. 1905.

Born December 19, 1883, in New York City. Died September 13, 1938, in New York City

Father, John Chester de la Vergne, president de la Vergne Refrigerating Machine Company; first president North Side Board of Trade City of New York, son of John and Eunice (Williams) de la Vergne of Esperance, N Y Mother, Catherine Arabella (Van Aernam) de la Vergne, daughter of John and Gertrude (La Grange) Van Aernam of Duanesburg, N Y.

Phillips-Andover Second colloquy appointment Senior year, manager

Freshman Glee Club, member Apollo Glee Club Junior year; president Wranglers Sophomore year, editor Yale Datly News Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Andover, University, City Government, and German clubs, Alpha Delta Phi, and Wolf's Head

Traveled around the world 1905–06; associated with banking firm of William Saltman & Company, New York City, June-November, 1906, with Joseph Walker & Sons, bankers in New York City, 1906-07; partner de la Vergne & Benjamin, bond brokers in New York City, 1907-08; owned and operated Glenbow Horse and Cattle Ranch, Glenbow, Alberta, Canada, 1908–18, managing director Cadomin Coal Company, Ltd, Cadomin, Alberta, 1920-21, president Premier Motors, Ltd, and Premier Garage Company, Ltd, Calgary, Alberta, 1923-32 (instrumental in promoting use of automobiles throughout western provinces of Canada), president Delta Finance Company, Ltd, Calgary, 1925-32, and of Blakely Corporation, Seattle, Wash, 1932-33, due to ill-health had not been actively engaged since 1933, resided in New Canaan, Conn, 1937-38, captain Cochrane Polo Team 1914, member Ranchmen's Club, Renfrew Club (Calgary), Calgary Golf and Country Club, Calgary Gun Club, New York Yale Club, and Protestant Cathedral (Episcopal), Calgary N

Married July 5, 1905, in Mamaroneck, NY, Gladys, daughter of Louis and Celia (Bright) Block Children Gertrude (Skidmore College ex-'29), the wife of Reginald Tanner; and Chester Rhoades, Jr, '30

Death due to diverticulitis Buried in Esperance Cemetery Survived by wife, children, four grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs. Craig R. F Drake and Katharine de la Vergne Stevenson (B A Smith College 1905), the wife of Archibald Ewing Stevenson (B S New York University 1904, C E 1905; LL B New York Law School 1909), both of New Canaan.

Berrien Hughes, B.A. 1905.

Born November 12, 1882, in Richmond, Mo. Died May 27, 1939, in Denver, Colo.

Father, Charles James Hughes (B.A Richmond [Mo] College 1871; LL B University of Missouri 1873), a lawyer in Denver, United States Senator 1909–11, son of Charles James and Serena Catherine (Pollard) Hughes of Kingston, Mo Mother, Lucy Slaughter (Menefee) Hughes; daughter of Lafayette Slaughter and Mary Harper (Colgan) Menefee Yale relatives include a nephew, William E Hughes, '36

Holbrook School, Ossining, NY Class baseball team and football squad Freshman year; Class football team Sophomore year, College Baseball Team three years (manager Junior year, captain Senior year);

Class hockey team; secretary Yale University Baseball Association Junior year; editor Yale Banner, member committee on investigation of the honor system, Junior Promenade Committee; member Wigwam, Epicurean, Denver, and Colorado clubs, Alpha Delta Phi, and Skull and Bones

Attended Harvard University Law School 1905–08 (LL B 1908), admitted to Colorado bar September, 1908, in law department Denver Tramway Company 1908–12, assistant in law firm Hughes [Gerald, '97] & Dorsey [Clayton C, '90], Denver, 1912–18 and partner 1918–39, attended Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor, September 1–November 11, 1918, commissioned Captain, Field Artillery Reserve Corps, November 11, 1918, trustee Colorado Museum of Natural History since 1912, director Moffat Coal Company, president Colorado Yale Association 1923–24 (chairman scholarship fund committee 1923), member Denver Country Club, Polo Club, and Arlberg Ski Club.

Unmarried

Death due to injuries received in a skung accident Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver. Survived by a sister, Ethel H Woodruff, the wife of W. Wallace Woodruff, '94, and two brothers, Gerald Hughes, '97, and Lafayette M Hughes, '02 S.

Charles Sheldon Judd, B.A. 1905.

Born July 11, 1881, in Honolulu, T H Died June 29, 1939, in Honolulu, T H.

Father, Albert Francis Judd, '62 Mother, Agnes Hall (Boyd) Judd Yale relatives include George R Carter, '88 S, and John R. Galt, '89 (cousins), F Judd Cooke, '33, Thomas H Cooke, *ex-*'37, Gerrit P Judd, 4th, '38, Stephen M Cooke, *ex-*'39, and J Robert Judd, Jr, '39 (nephews)

Punahou School Second colloquy appointment Junior year, second dispute appointment Senior year, Class football team. Sophomore year, Class swimming team Junior year and Class crew Senior year, Cap and Gown Committee, president Yale Hawaiian Club Senior year, member Camera and Snowshoe clubs, Alpha Delta Phi, and Elihu

Attended Yale School of Forestry 1905–07 (MF cum laude 1907, member Sigma X1) and registered Yale Graduate School 1928–29, forest assistant United States Forest Service stationed at Diamond Mountain National Forest, California, 1907–08, in timber sales office of Forest Service, Washington, DC, April–December, 1908, assistant chief of silviculture December, 1908–January, 1910, and assistant district forester January, 1910–July, 1911, and 1912–15 Portland, Ore, commissioner of

public lands, president, and executive officer 1911-12 and superintendent of forestry, chief fire warden, and executive officer since 1915 Board of Commissioners of Agriculture and Forestry, Territory of Hawan (with title of territorial forester since 1927); chairman Conservation Commission of Hawaii 1916-19, member Shade Tree Commission, Honolulu, 1922-31; lectured on timber sale procedure University of Washington 1911, and on forestry University of Hawaii 1922-23, appointed collaborator with Federal Horticultural Board 1921, was a frequent contributor to technical journals; served on many committees of Hawaiian and Pan-Pacific organizations including committee which supervised entomological survey of the Pacific 1927, land classification committee, Territorial Land Planning Board, and forest resources committee, Pan-Pacific Scientific Congress 1930, botanist Pan-Pacific Scientific Research Council 1921, in 1923 accompanied Bernice P. Bishop Museum expedition to Nihoa and Necker Islands and made topographical maps of the islands; active in Boy Scout movement, scoutmaster Troop 74, Honolulu Council, 1933-34, deputy commissioner 1937-39, and member Court of Honor, member Hawaiian civilian rifle team National Rifle Matches, Camp Perry, 1929, vice-president 1931 and president 1932 Hawaiian Academy of Science; member Mauna Kea Expedition 1935; member Society of American Foresters (vice-chairman for Hawaii, North Pacific Section 1931-34 and Columbia River Section 1934-36), Social Science Association of Honolulu, Botanical and Outrigger clubs (Honolulu), Oregon Conservation Association, National Association of State Foresters, American Association for the Advancement of Science, Society of Sons and Daughters of Hawanan Warriors, Sons of the American Revolution, and Central Union Church (Congregational), Honolulu

Married June 11, 1910, in New Haven, Louise, daughter of Professor Jules Luquiens (Ph D 1873) and Emma (Clark) Luquiens and sister of Professor Frederick B Luquiens, '97, and Huc-Mazelet Luquiens, '02. Children Emma (B A Vassar 1937), the wife of James Morgan Richmond (B A University of California 1932; LL B Stanford University 1936), Anne (died July 25, 1918), and Charles Sheldon, Jr. (University of Hawau 1938–39, Yale 1943)

Death due to congestive heart failure Buried in Nuuanu Cemetery, Honolulu Survived by wife, one daughter, son, two sisters, Miss Agnes E Judd, and Sophie Judd Cooke, the wife of George P. Cooke, '05, and five brothers, Albert F Judd, '97, James R Judd, '97, Henry P Judd, '01, Gerrit P Judd, 3d (V M D University of Pennsylvania 1908), of Molokai, Hawaii, and Lawrence M Judd of Honolulu Another brother, Allan W Judd, ex-'01, died February 27, 1930

Walter Eugene Marsden, B.A. 1905.

Born August 6, 1881, in Penfield, Pa Died January 25, 1939, in Montclair, NJ.

Father, George Marsden, a retired manufacturer in Johnstown, Pa, son of William Marsden of Martinsburg, Pa Mother, Mary Martha (Woodward) Marsden, daughter of William Duke and Angeline (Thompson) Woodward of Penfield

Johnstown High School and private tutor

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1905–08; admitted to New York bar 1909 and to New Jersey bar 1918, engaged in practice of law New York City 1909–18 and in Montclair, N J, since 1918, served as town attorney of Montclair 1918–25, member Central Presbyterian Church, Montclair

Married June 8, 1912, in Washington, NJ, Ada Rose, daughter of Enoch G. and Lucretia (Cooke) Fitts No children

Death due to chronic hypertrophic cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Washington (N J) Cemetery Survived by wife, mother, and a brother, Russell Marsden of Montclair

John Teobaldo Monzani, B.A. 1906.

Born September 3, 1883, in Waterbury, Conn Died April 29, 1939, in Waterbury, Conñ

Father, Charles Frederick Monzani, member advisory board Scovill Manufacturing Company, Waterbury; son of Theobald Peregrine and Emily (Prosser) Monzani of New York City Mother, Jane (Hogg) Monzani, daughter of John Hyde and Ann (Hessling) Hogg of Horsforth, Yorkshire, England

Waterbury High School and the Taft School Second colloquy appointment Senior year; basketball squad Junior year, on Freshman Glee Club; member College Choir Junior and Senior years, Taft School Club

Associated with his classmate Russell Janney in manufacture of preserves, New Haven and later Clintonville, Conn, 1906–08; with G W Smith & Company, real estate brokers, New Haven, 1909, assistant chief operator The Southern New England Telephone Company, Waterbury, Bridgeport, and New Haven, 1909–12; studied in law office in Waterbury 1909–12; admitted to Connecticut bar 1912; had been engaged in practice of law in Waterbury since 1912; member successive firms of Carmody, Monagan & Larkin [William J, Jr, '07, '09 L] 1916–20 and Carmody [Terence F, '95 L] & Thoms [William E, '94] 1920–26; associated with Judge Francis T Reeves and Judge Harry J Beardsley

J

['00, '03 L] 1926-36 and with Milton W Goss, '32, '35 L, at time of death, deputy coroner 1916-17 and coroner for New Haven County in Waterbury 1917-39, secretary Republican Town Committee 1914-15, member Waterbury Bar Association, American Bar Association, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Waterbury

Married June 28, 1916, in Waterbury, Helen Edith, daughter of George Melvin and Mary (Pepper) Hayward Son, John Teobaldo, Jr (Princeton 1941)

Death due to coronary sclerosis Buried in New Pine Grove Cemetery, Waterbury Survived by wife, son, mother, and a brother, Charles F Monzani (BA Washington College 1917, M.A 1918) of Waterbury.

Louis Kossuth Oppitz, B.A. 1906.

Born May 29, 1878, in Kaschau, Hungary Died July 18, 1938, in Lebanon, Ill.

Father, William Stephen Oppitz, a confectioner in Kaschau Mother, Klara (Kovacs) Oppitz, daughter of George Kovacs of Hungary.

Private tutor, BA National Normal University 1904, taught at Abbeville (Ga) Normal School 1904–05; entered Yale in Senior year; dissertation appointment

Superintendent of public schools, Milford, Ohio, 1906-08, attended Yale Graduate School 1908-09 (MA 1909); superintendent of schools Batavia, Ohio, 1909–10, instructor in physical science and mathematics Lebanon University 1910–11, teaching assistant in physics University of Michigan and student in graduate school 1911–12, instructor in physics University of Pennsylvania 1912–15 and enrolled in the Graduate School (Ph D 1915), associate professor of physics Western College for Women, Oxford, Ohio, 1915–16, professor of physics Westminster College, New Wilmington, Pa, 1916–18, College of St Thomas, St Paul, Minn, 1918–20, Earlham College, Richmond, Ind, 1920–21, Shorter College, Rome, Ga, 1921–22, Howard College, Birmingham, Ala, 1922–24 and 1925-29 (dean of science 1925-29), Colorado State Teachers College 1924-25, and Central College, Fayette, Mo, 1929-30, professor of physics and head of department McKendree College, Lebanon, Ill, 1930-32 and 1935-38; professor of physics Alfred Holbrook College, Lebanon, Ohio, 1933-34, unoccupied 1932-33 and 1934-35; author. Optical Constants of the Binary Alloys of Silver with Copper and Platinum (1917), fellow American Geographical Society, American Association for the Advancement of Science; member Masonic order and First Methodist Episcopal Church, Lebanon

Married June 6, 1905, in Lebanon, Ohio, Nell Fidella Griswold (B A. National Normal University 1906, M A University of Illinois 1934),

daughter of George Washington and Louvina Maria (Rapp) Griswold Children: Helen Louise (died at birth); Dorothea Elizabeth (McKendree College ex-'36), the wife of Clarence French, John Andrew (BA McKendree College 1938); Robert James, and Louis Harold

Death due to cardiovascular degeneration and diabetes Buried in College Hill Cemetery, Lebanon, Ill Survived by wife, sons, one daughter, and a granddaughter.

Prentiss Bailey Gilbert, B.A. 1907.

Born October 3, 1883, in Rochester, NY Died February 24, 1939, in Berlin, Germany

Father, Lieutenant Colonel William Wallace Gilbert (BA University of Rochester 1861), First Lieutenant, 19th US Infantry 1861–64, son of Joseph G. and Ruth (Wallace) Gilbert of Brooklyn, NY. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Chapman) Gilbert, daughter of Edward and Elizabeth (Tuck) Chapman of Utica, NY.

Bradstreet School, Rochester. Special aide during Philippine insurrection 1900–01, attended College of San Carlos, Cebu, PI, Ph B University of Rochester 1906 (member Psi Upsilon), entered Yale College at beginning of Senior year, oration appointment.

Assistant secretary and mine superintendent Monarch Plaster Company, Rochester, 1907–10; engaged in travel and study in Europe, the Orient, Australasia, Oceania, and Central America 1911-14, attended Columbia University 1915-16; in 1916 organized School of Extension Teaching, University of Rochester (M.A. 1916; first director and teacher of short story writing 1916–17), commissioned First Lieutenant, US Reserves September 18, 1917, detailed to Military Intelligence Division, Office of Chief of Staff January 23, 1918, commissioned First Lieutenant Military Intelligence, General Staff July 2, 1918, and promoted to Captain August 20, 1918; chief of Combat Section, Military Intelligence Division; discharged March 12, 1919, commissioned Major, US Reserves May 8, 1921, and Lieutenant Colonel, Military Intelligence Officers' Reserve Corps August 14, 1923; graduated U S Army War College 1924; special assistant Department of State 1919-20, chief Division of Political and Economic Information 1920–27, assistant chief and acting chief Division of Western European Affairs, Department of State, Washington, 1927-30; first secretary United States Embassy, Paris, for a short time 1930; United States Consul, Geneva, 1930-37, haison officer between United States and Council of the League of Nations and took part, as nonvoting member, in conferences attending adjustment of the Chaco War; attended discussions of League concerning Sino-Japanese war 1931 (at which time he sat at the Council, the first American to do so), active during world disarmament conferences 1932 and 1934; represented the United States at Fourth General Conference on Communications and Transit 1931, in 1937 appointed counselor and chargé d'affaires, United States Embassy, Berlin; had been in full charge of embassy since November 16, 1938, when Ambassador Hugh R. Wilson, 'o6, was recalled to the United States, took part in negotiation of an agreement on disposition of cases of American Jews in Germany; represented United States at Stockholm and Amsterdam congresses, International Chamber of Commerce, 1927, 1929; United States representative Committee on Technical Collaboration with China 1936, in 1930 made adaptation of Raoul Aurenheimer's play *Der Gute Konig*, produced in Philadelphia under title *A Maid of Honor*, fellow Royal Geographic Society (London); member Military Order of the Loyal Legion, Military Order of Foreign Wars, United Spanish War Veterans, Société Nautique (Geneva), and Authors Club (London)

Married November 9, 1918, in New York City, Charlotte Jeannette, daughter of Joseph Benson Gilder (US Naval Academy 1872–74) and Gwendolyn (Jackson) Gilder No children.

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Petite Saconnex Cemetery, Geneva, Switzerland. Survived by wife.

William Augustine Perry, B.A. 1907.

Born May 22, 1883, in Tarboro, NC. Died September 26, 1938, in Columbia, S.C.

Father, Rev John William Perry (St Augustine's College 1881), an Episcopal minister in Tarboro; son of Kemp and Chanie Perry of Granville County, N C Mother, Mary Eliza (Pettipher) Perry; daughter of William Henry and Catharine (Scott) Pettipher of New Bern, N C

St Augustine's College, Raleigh, NC, and Hopkins Grammar School Second colloquy appointment Senior year; contributed to Yale Courant

Principal public elementary school Tarboro 1907–11, St. Athanasius' School (private elementary and high school under supervision of the American Church Institute for Negroes), Brunswick, Ga, 1911–27, Colored Memorial School, Brunswick, 1927–28, and Waverley School, Columbia, S C, 1928–38, appointed supervising principal Waverley, Benedict, Leevy, and St Mark's schools, Columbia, 1930, director of observation and practice teaching Allen University since 1930, Ed M. Harvard 1934, Candidate, Infantry, Officers' Training Camp, Fort Des Moines, Iowa, June–September, 1917; trained at Harper's Ferry for Y M C A work June–August, 1918; editor since 1935 School Work, published by Department of Principals of Palmetto State Teachers'

Association, president Richland County Teachers' Association 1932-34, director of music Columbia Forum for Social and Ethical Progress, member National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Boy Scouts of America, Masonic order, and St Luke's Protestant Episcopal Church, Columbia (vestryman and organist 1931-38 and lay reader March-September, 1938).

Married August 16, 1911, in Tarboro, Susan Mabel, daughter of Ruffin and Mariana (Jones) James. Children Mabel Elizabeth (B A Knoxville College 1931, New York University 1937–38), the wife of Harold Edgar Thornell (B S. Howard University 1931, M D 1935), Ruth Augusta (B.A. Knoxville College 1933; Boston University 1936–37), John William (died April 12, 1917); and Ludwald Orren-Pettipher

Death due to uremia and chronic nephritis Buried in St Luke's Protestant Episcopal Cemetery, Tarboro. Survived by wife, daughters, one son, and father.

Harold Bartlett Scott, B.A. 1907.

Born September 21, 1884, in Syracuse, NY. Died November 22, 1938, in Tarrytown, NY.

Father, Frederick Bartlett Scott, associated with Syracuse Supply Company; son of Leonard and Harriet Elizabeth (Bartlett) Scott of Constantia and Syracuse, N.Y Mother, "elle (Hawley) Scott, daughter of Hiram and Matilda (Cowles) Hawley of Syracuse Yale relatives include two nephews, Maxwell Brace, Jr, '37, and Charles C Brace, ex-'38.

Syracuse High School and Syracuse Classical School, attended Syracuse University 1902–03 Entered Yale in Freshman year, second colloquy appointment Junior year, first colloquy appointment Senior year, Freshman Basketball Team; University Banjo and Mandolin clubs Junior and Senior years, member Delta Kappa Epsilon.

Clerk Syracuse Supply Company 1907–08, salesman 1908–09, manager wholesale electrical department 1909–12; assistant manager The Denver Chemical Manufacturing Company (manufacturers of antiphlogistine), New York City, 1912–14, general manager since 1914, director since 1928, and president 1932–38, a founder and director Washington Irving Trust Company (chairman of the board 1936–38), contributed to *Field and Stream*, *Drug Trade News*, and *Export Trade and Finance*, director Syracuse Supply Company, World Medical Topics, Lower Manhattan Industrial Association, Repton School for Boys, American Manufacturers Export Association (merged with National Foreign Trade Council in 1936) 1931–38 (chairman drug and chemical group 1931–32), member Drug and Chemical Club, National Electrical Jobbers' Association, and Irvington Presbyterian Church (trustee 1930–33)

Married October 20, 1909, in Tarrytown, Mabel Brace (B.A. Vassar 1907), daughter of Charles Clement Brace (M D Hahnemann Medical College 1875) and Mabel (Maxwell) Brace Children Cornelia (B A Vassar 1937), the wife of Andrew Heiskell (graduate Sorbonne, Paris, 1935, Harvard 1935–36), Harold Bartlett, Jr, '39, and Charles Brace

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Ferncliff Cemetery, Greenburgh, N Y Survived by wife, children, father, a sister, Marion Scott Brace (B A Syracuse University 1909), the wife of Maxwell Brace, '13, and two brothers, Walter H. Scott, '07, and Frederick B Scott, Jr (Cornell ex-'18) of Syracuse

Malcolm Sterling Banks, B.A. 1908.

Born September 11, 1885, in Brooklyn, NY. Died September 12, 1938, at Point Pleasant Beach, NJ.

Father, Willard Neal Banks, associated with L S Cooper & Company, tea brokers in New York City, son of William Henry and Phoebe (Kelley) Banks of Brooklyn Mother, Mary (Maxwell) Banks; daughter of Lascelles and Grace Wolfe (Tone) Maxwell of Brooklyn

Adelphi Academy Second colloquy appointment Senior year; member Beta Theta Pi

Engaged in general office work in firm of Dominick Brothers & Company, members New York Stock Exchange, 1908–11, clerk Johnson & Higgins, average adjusters and insurance brokers, New York City, 1911– 16, in stock transfer department Franklin Trust Company, New York City, 1916–20, assistant cashier Bank of America 1920–28, retired from active business 1928–34, associated with the Employers Liability Assurance Corporation, Ltd, in Point Pleasant since 1934, member Point Pleasant Fishing Club (vice-president), Yale Club, and St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Brooklyn.

Married October 6, 1920, in Brooklyn, Isabel Marie, daughter of Robert Edward and Mary Elizabeth (Wainwright) Lowe Daughter, Judith Sterling

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Cypress Hills Abbey, Brooklyn. Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Mrs Raymond S Anderson, and a brother, L Maxwell Banks, '20.

Edward Paul Alker, B.A. 1909.

Born August 23, 1887, in Great Neck, NY Died November 18, 1938, in Great Neck, NY

Father, Alphonse Henry Alker (B S College of the City of New York 1871, LL B. Columbia University 1873), a lawyer in New York City; vice-president Pennsylvania Cement Company, son of Judge Henry Alker and Marie Sophie (Hix) Alker of New York City Mother, Florence Augusta (Ward) Alker, daughter of James Edward and Harriet Augusta (Morrill) Ward of Great Neck Yale relatives include J Edward Meyer, Jr, '34, Ward A Meyer, *ex*-'36 E, and Hayward R Alker, '36 S (nephews)

Cutler School, New York City Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, vice-president Spanish Club, chairman governing board Yale Corinthian Yacht Club Senior year; member Automobile and University clubs, and Zeta Psi

Traveled abroad 1909–10, associated with W R Grace & Company, merchants in New York City, 1910–11, assistant treasurer and later treasurer and sales manager Pennsylvania Cement Company, New York City, 1911-38; special partner in investment firm of Anderson, Reilly & Company (later James A Reilly & Company) 1936-38, engaged in special sales work with Keystone Portland Cement Company of New York City 1938, president Hempstead Harbor Lumber Corporation 1924, vice-president Pennceco Coal Company 1924, treasurer Cayuga Operating Company 1924, director Pennsylvania-Dixie Cement Corporation; an organizer and former vice-president First National Bank of Little Neck, director Bank of Great Neck, member house committee New York Yale Club 1937–38, enlisted U S Naval Reserve Force with rating of coxswain March 2, 1917, assigned to SP 579, promoted to warrant boatswain October 2, 1917, and assigned to USS Vencedor (S P 669) as commanding officer on patrol and convoy duty, promoted to Ensign August 8, 1918, discharged February 13, 1919, competed in many races on Long Island Sound and was a member of the New York Yacht and Manhasset Bay Yacht clubs, a leader in Democratic politics in Nassau County, member Nassau County Bipartisan Beer Control Board 1933, member St Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married October 23, 1912, in New York City, Ernestine Josephine, daughter of Carsten William and Ottilie (Stiastny) Sierck, and sister of William S Sierck, '02 S No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in All Saints Cemetery, Great Neck Survived by wife, two sisters, Florence Alker Meyer, the wife of J Edward Meyer, '02 S, and Mrs Mabel Alker Orvis of Port Washington, NY, and two brothers, Henry A Alker, '07 S, and Carroll B. Alker, '15

Percy Macaulay Gilbert, B.A. 1909.

Born March 17, 1884, in Toronto, Ontario. Died June 9, 1939, in Amityville, NY.

Father, Abel Henry Gilbert, member firm of Gilbert and Company, New York City; son of Abel Henry and Mary Elizabeth (Hampton) Gilbert of Sidney, Ontario Mother, Martha Matilda (Ostrom) Gilbert, daughter of Henry and Elizabeth Harriet (Foster) Ostrom of Hastings County, Ontario

Brooklyn Boys' High School, and Phillips-Exeter. Member Freshman Football and Crew squads and Freshman Religious Committee, Class Financial Committee, Delta Kappa Epsilon and Wolf's Head

Salesman Massachusetts Monumental Company, New York City, 1909–10, clerk George A Bell & Son, fire and marine insurance brokers, New York City, 1910–11, had been independently engaged as an insurance broker in New York City since 1911, member Plandome Field and Marine Club and Great Neck (L I) Community Church

Married September 4, 1911, at Fourth Lake, N.Y., Florence Louise Mallory (Mount Holyoke College ex-'08), daughter of Henry Lee Mallory and Mary Louise (Phillips) Mallory (Mount Holyoke ex-'77) Daughter, Helen Phillips

Death due to multiple sclerosis Survived by wife, daughter, and four brothers, Fred M Gilbert, '98, Frank C Gilbert, '03, Harry D. Gilbert, '04 S, and Charles H. Gilbert, '08

Ward Edgerly Pearson, B.A. 1909.

Born November 8, 1887, in Lowell, Mass. Died February 8, 1939, in London, England.

Father, Frederick Stark Pearson, Sc D., LL D (A M B Tufts College 1883), consulting engineer, head of Pearson Engineering Corporation, Ltd, president and director Barcelona Traction, Light & Power Company, Ltd, Mexico Tramways Company, Rio de Janeiro Tramway, Light & Power Company, Mexican Light and Power Company, Ltd, and Mexico North Western Railway Company; son of Ambrose and Hannah (Edgerly) Pearson of Nashua, N H Mother, Mabel (Ward) Pearson, daughter of William Henry and Augusta (Broad) Ward of Lowell

Mitchell's Military Boys' School, Billerica, Mass, and The Hotchkiss School Second dispute appointment Senior year; member Delta Kappa Epsilon

Worked in Pearson Engineering Corporation, Ltd , London, 1909–10;

associated with Empire Trust Company, New York City, 1910–11 (assistant secretary and director 1911), treasurer Pearson Engineering Corporation, Ltd., 1912–15 and president 1915–30, since 1930 had resided in London; chief engineer Manchester (England) Gas Company 1930–38; in this post he was engaged in constructing bombproof shelters under the streets of London; trustee Village of Brightwaters 1917–21 and president 1922–24; director and chairman of the board Denver & Salt Lake Railroad 1915; treasurer French Restoration Fund 1919, member Pan American Society.

Married December 27, 1909, in New York City, Helen Elise, daughter of Edgar Theodore Weed (B A College of the City of New York 1877, M.D Columbia University 1881) and Marie Louise Baudelot (Turrell) Weed Children. Frederick Stark, 2d, '34, and Theodore Talmadge, '39.

Death due to thrombosis Survived by wife, sons, a granddaughter, a sister, Mrs Reginald Nicholson of London, and a brother, Frederick A. Pearson, '14

Michael Nathaniel Slotnick, B.A. 1910.

Born May 10, 1889, in Odessa, Russia Died October 27, 1938, in New York City

Father, Israel Slotnick, a mill superintendent in Odessa Mother, Rose (Silverman) Slotnick.

Holyoke (Mass) High School. First dispute appointment Junior and Semior years

Attended Yale School of Law 1910–12 (LL B 1912), admitted to Massachusetts bar 1912 and to New York bar 1922, practiced law in Holyoke 1912–21 (general counsel for the American Writing Paper Company 1918–21) and in New York City since 1922, associated with Kugel [Simon H, '00 L.] & Saxe 1922–23; member Kugel & Telsey 1923–32 and Kugel & Slotnick 1932 until he resumed independent practice May 1, 1938; member Holyoke Board of Aldermen 1916–17 and Massachusetts State Legislature 1918, member New York County Lawyers' Association and Congregation Rodeph Sholom, New York City

Married December 25, 1919, in New York City, Mae Helen, daughter of Herman and Ellen Kugel and sister of Simon H Kugel and Harry J Kugel, '10 Son, James Herman

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Union Field Cemetery, Cypress Hills, N Y. Survived by wife, son, a sister, Lena Slotnick Cohen (B A Mount Holyoke 1908), the wife of Louis Cohen, of Northampton, Mass., a half sister, Mrs. Frances Barger of Northampton, and a half brother, Morris Slotnick of Holyoke.

Arthur VanBrunt, B.A. 1910.

Born July 19, 1885, in New York City. Died February 9, 1939, at Lake Worth, Fla

Father, George E. VanBrunt of New York City Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Canning) VanBrunt

Mount Hermon Boys' School Philosophical oration appointment Junior year; high oration appointment Senior year; honors in the studies of Freshman and Junior years; honors in history Senior year, member Phi Beta Kappa

Associated with Harris, Forbes & Company, brokers in New York City, 1910–11, bond salesman and later manager stock department Potter, Choate & Prentice 1911–18 when he withdrew from business because of ill-health, lived on a farm at Cornwall Bridge, Conn., 1918– 25; salesman Hayden, Stone & Company, securities, New York City, 1925–26, became associated with Potter & Company 1927 and later with Munds, Winslow & Potter; had also been associated with various estates and private holding corporations; member Presbyterian church

Married (1) November 25, 1911, in New York City, Anna Louise, daughter of John and Ella Narrow Mrs VanBrunt died March 16, 1922 Married (2) March 8, 1927, Margaret G Maher

Death due to coronary thrombosis Survived by wife

John Alden, B.A. 1911.

Born April 15, 1886, in Rochester, NY Died July 6, 1938, in Hamilton, Ontario

Father, John Ferriss Alden (C E Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute 1872), president Rochester Bridge & Iron Works, vice-president Locke Insulator Manufacturing Company, Rochester, and Canadian Porcelain Company, Hamilton; special district representative American Bridge Company, son of Sidney and Harriet Newell (Weston) Alden of Cohoes and Troy, N Y Mother, Mary Emma (Bogue) Alden, daughter of George Chase and Mary (Perry) Bogue of Canton and Brooklyn, N Y Yale relatives include Ebenezer Booge (B A 1748) (great-great-greatgrandfather), Rev Aaron J Booge (B A 1774) and Rev Publius V. Bogue (B A 1787) (great-great-great-uncles), and Samuel R Bogue, '03, and Malcolm Bogue, '11 (cousins)

Bradstreet School, Rochester, and Lawrenceville School Member Freshman Fencing Team, University Fencing Association (vice-president Junior year, president Senior year), Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Lawrenceville School Club, and Zeta Psi

Attended New York State College of Agriculture, Cornell University, winter 1911; associated with Livingston County Land Company (scientific farming), Rochester, 1911, manager Valley Truck Gardens, Dansville, N.Y., for a short time 1912; moved to Hamilton November, 1912, where he assisted in incorporation and establishment of Canadian Porcelain Company, Ltd, manufacturers of porcelain insulators (secretarytreasurer since 1912, manager since 1915, and vice-president since 1928); member Engineers' Club, Hamilton, and Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), Hamilton.

Married February 26, 1913, in Buffalo, NY, Virginia Mabel, daughter of Charles F and Alice J LeRoy Children John, Jr, and James David.

Death due to myocardial failure Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, Rochester Survived by wife, children, a grandson, mother (died May 17, 1939), three sisters, Mary Alden Lane, the wife of Edwin S Lane, '08 S., Mrs Ralph Westcott Lester of East Aurora, N Y., and Priscilla Alden Hutchens, the wife of Don King Hutchens (M D Columbia 1919) of Rochester, and a brother, Sidney C Alden, '17 S.

Henry Gerhardt Baars, B.A. 1911.

Born February 21, 1888, in Pensacola, Fla Died May 27, 1939, in Pensacola, Fla.

Father, Henry Gerhardt Sophus Baars, president H Baars & Company, lumber exporters in Pensacola; vice-consul for Austria-Hungary at Pensacola; served with Savannah Guards in Civil War, son of Ernst and H (Siebers) Baars of Oldenburg, Germany Mother, Mary Ellison (Dunwody) Baars, daughter of John Franklin and Annie Ellison (Bryan) Dunwody of Liberty County, Ga. Yale relatives include. John Dunwody (B A. 1807) (great-great-uncle), and James B. Dunwody (B.A 1836) (great-uncle)

Pensacola Classical School and St Paul's School, Concord, NH. Member University Club.

'Had been associated with his family's lumber, export, and real estate interests since graduation, treasurer and director H Baars & Company 1909–17, Lakeview Property Company 1909–39, and Gulf Export Company 1915–22; secretary Gulf View Heights Company 1921–36; devoted much of his time in recent years to farming and poultry raising in Pensacola; member Christ Church (Episcopal), Pensacola

Married October 4, 1916, in Pensacola, Lelia Catharine, daughter of Harry Howard and Caroline Frances (Turton) Hallmark Children[.] Henry Gerhardt, Jr, and Frank Ellison.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in St John's Cemetery, Pensacola. Survived by wife, sons, a sister, Mrs Annie Baars Blandford, and two brothers, John E. Baars (Harvard ex-'99) and Theodore D. Baars (Harvard ex-'98; Cornell ex-'01), all of Pensacola

William Cammack Mıller, B.A. 1911.

Born December 25, 1886, in Washington, D C. Died June 16, 1939, in Washington, D C.

Father, John Miller, owner and president Washington Brick Company; son of John Henry Miller of Kendal, England. Mother, Sarah Booth (Pulman) Miller.

Eastern High School, Washington. Attended George Washington University 1906–07, entered Yale College 1907, second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years; member Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Sophomore and Junior years, Wranglers, and Zeta Psi.

Attended George Washington University Law School 1911–12 and 1914–17 (LL B 1917, member Phi Delta Phi), engaged with his brother in real estate and development business under partnership name W C and A N Miller since 1912; president W. C. & A. N Miller Development Company since its organization 1926, and treasurer Washington Securities Company 1923–39, vice-president Washington Brick & Terra Cotta Company 1930, director Columbia Title Company and District Title Company, president Washington Real Estate Board 1927-28 (vicepresident 1925), National Association of Real Estate Boards 1933, Washington Chamber of Commerce 1933, and Yale Club of Washington 1931-32 (secretary 1916-20, first vice-president 1927-28); enlisted June 4, 1918, as chief yeoman, US Naval Reserve Force; detailed to office of Secretary of Navy until discharge March 20, 1919; on advisory board Riggs National Bank 1934-39, member Operative Builders' Association, Washington Economic Club, Masonic order, and All Souls' Memorial Church (Episcopal), Washington

Married July 24, 1918, in Washington, Mabel Elizabeth, daughter of James O'Connor and Elizabeth (French) Roberts Children: Sarah Booth and William Cammack; Jr

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Abbey Mausoleum, Arlington, Va Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Mrs Sarah M Birney of Washington and Mrs Frances M Brockett of Washington and Cleveland, and a brother, Allison N Miller (Cornell ex-'17) of Washington

Crompton Tuttle Johnson, B.A. 1912.

Born August 13, 1890, in Windsor, Conn. Died May 27, 1939, in West Hartford, Conn.

Father, Elijah Cooper Johnson, president The First National Bank of Hartford; son of Nathaniel Cooper and Mary Ann (Clark) Johnson of Middle Haddam, Conn. Mother, Annie Elizabeth (Tuttle) Johnson, daughter of Rev Reuel Hotchkiss Tuttle (B A. Trinity College 1846) and Sarah Ann (Crompton) Tuttle of Windsor.

Hartford Public High School

Attended Yale Graduate School 1912–14, 1915–16 and Harvard Graduate School 1916–17, associated with Lee, Higginson & Company, investment securities, New York City, 1914–15, connected with the book business since 1920; with Dunster House Book Shop, Cambridge, Mass, 1920–22, studied in France 1922; traveled extensively in Europe and England and collected many books, associated with Mitchell's Book Shop, Hartford, 1929, and with the Farmington Book Shop 1929–30, since 1929 independently engaged as a dealer in first editions and rare books in Hartford and vicinity, volunteered American Field Service June, 1917, served overseas until March, 1919, with Transport Militaire Unit 537 and Section Sanitaire Units 18 and 642, United States Army Ambulance Service attached to French Army, discharged March 26, 1919, member Connecticut Historical Society, Columbiad Club, Yale Library Associates, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Unmarried.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Palisado Cemetery, Windsor Survived by a sister, Miss Margery Katharine Johnson of Hartford, and a brother, Kenneth C Johnson, '15

Arthur Howard Peck, B.A. 1912.

Born August 11, 1887, in Northfield, Conn Died May 22, 1939, in New York City

Father, Howard Curtis Peck, a hardware dealer in Northfield, son of Jeremiah and Cordelia (Dudley) Peck of Watertown, Conn Mother, Laura Emma (Magary) Peck; daughter of James Alexander and Harriet Emma (Stevens) Magary of Three Rivers, Mich

Mount Hermon School First dispute appointment Junior year, dissertation appointment Senior year, member Adee Boat Club, Woodbee Warblers, Fireside Club, Mount Hermon Club, and Zeta Psi

Master of mathematics and history Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn, 1912–13, master of mathematics and physics Groton School

1913–15, statistical investigator Plantations Department, United States Rubber Company, Netherlands East Indies, 1915-16 and assistant purchasing agent with headquarters at Medan, Sumatra, 1917-18, associated with Edgar B Davis, New York City, 1919–21; eastern representative The Speedaumatic Company of Chicago 1921-23; district manager Alexander Hamilton Institute, New York City, 1923-25, assistant manager Lawrence Investing Company, Inc., Bronxville, N.Y, 1925-29 and of Lawrence Management, Inc, 1929-30, underwriter C D Connell Agency of Provident Mutual Life Insurance Company, New York City, 1930-35, independently engaged as insurance broker, New York City and White Plains, 1935-39 (mactive since 1936 because of ill-health), secretary and director United North & South Oil Company, Inc , 1920-26, and United North & South Development Company, Inc, San Antonio, Texas, 1926-39; secretary 1928-33, treasurer 1934-35, and director 1928-35 Keyston'e Metal Tie Corporation; director Kisco River Holding Company, Inc, vice-president and a director since 1932 Westchester County Planning Federation, member since 1929 and chairman 1930-39 Planning Board, Town of Newcastle, NY.; treasurer 1933-36 and chairman 1937-38 Third District Republican Committee, Town of Newcastle; vice-president Chappaqua Parent-Teachers Association 1928-29, member American Association of Malaya, Academy of Political Science (New York), Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Chappaqua (deacon and member executive council 1928-36). Married April 16, 1922, in Bronxville, NY., Eleonard, daughter of Charles Stanfield and Evelyn DuGuay (deTroum) Ethier Children:

Patricia Eleonard, Howard Edgar, and Lorraine Constance Death due to complications following an operation Survived by wife, children, mother, and two sisters, Mrs Constance P Vose of Framing-

ham, Mass, and Eudora P Moore (B A. Wellesley 1912), the wife of Rev Homer E Moore (B A College of Puget Sound 1915; S T B. Boston University 1918) of Mystic, Conn

Harris Holmes Vail, B.A. 1912.

Born January 9, 1892, in Cincinnati, Ohio Died April 10, 1939, in Cincinnati, Ohio

Father, Derrick Tilton Vail (M D Miami Medical College, Cincinnati, 1890), an ophthalmologist in Cincinnati, son of Derrick Garret and Elizabeth (Tilton) Vail of Franklin, Ohio Mother, Dellah (Harris) Vail; daughter of Jasper Delano Harris (M.D University of Wooster 1869) and Sarah (Farrell) Harris of Franklin, Ohio. Yale relatives include two nephews, Herbert V Dwight, '40 E, and Edward H Dwight, '41.

Franklin School, Cincinnati First colloquy appointment Junior year,

second dispute appointment Senior year, on Class baseball and crew squads, University Baseball Squad, manager Class hockey team Junior year, member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Ohio and Bacchus clubs, and Zeta Psi.

Attended Harvard University Medical School 1912–16 (MD cum laude 1917, member Aesculapian Club and Alpha Omega Alpha), surgical house officer Peter Bent Brigham Hospital, Boston, February 15, 1916–May 3, 1917, and voluntary assistant surgical service January– March, 1920, house officer Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary May 10,

* 1920-October 1, 1921, since 1921 had been associated with his father and later with his brother in medical practice in Cincinnati, specializing in diseases of ear, nose, and throat, assistant in otolaryngology 1923-26, 1927-28, and instructor since 1930 University of Cincinnati College of Medicine; assistant attending laryngologist Cincinnati General Hospital 1925-39; on staffs of Christ and Good Samaritan hospitals, commissioned Lieutenant (1g), US Naval Reserve Force April 30, 1917, and Lieutenant (1g.), US Navy June 30, 1917, promoted Lieutenant (t) October 20, 1917, served aboard U.S S Virginia until April 5, 1918, when transferred to Second Provisional Brigade Marines, Santo Domingo, stationed U.S. Naval Hospitals, League Island, Pa, June-September, 1919, and at Boston September-October, 1919, discharged October 20, 1919, contributed articles to many medical journals, president League for the Hard of Hearing, Cincinnati, 1938–39; fellow American Medical Association, member Cincinnati Academy of Medicine, Cincinnati Otolaryngological Society, Ohio State Medical Society, American Academy of Ophthalmology and Otolaryngology, American Otological Society, Alpha Kappa Kappa, and First Presbyterian Church, Walnut Hills

Married May 31, 1917, in Swampscott, Mass, Adelaide Winship, daughter of Charles Newcomb and Adelaide (Winship) Brush and sister of Horace D Brush, ex-'12 Children Virginia, Charlotte, and Charles Brush.

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Woodhill Cemetery, Franklin, Ohio. Survived by wife, children, two sisters, Rosalind Vail Dwight, the wife of Harold S Dwight, '14 S, and Dellah Vail Borders, the wife of Melville W. Borders, Jr, '19, and a brother, Derrick Vail, '19

John Stafford Hunter, B.A. 1913.

Born August 26, 1891, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died December 5, 1938, in Pittsburgh, Pa

Father, James Grant Hunter, superintendent Carnegie Steel Company, Pittsburgh, son of William Bruce and Jane (Grant) Hunter of Pittsburgh Mother, Elizabeth Johnson (Phipps) Hunter, daughter of William Henry and Agnes (McCall) Phipps of Pittsburgh Yale relatives include a cousin, Lawrence C Phipps, Jr, '07 S

Shady Side Academy and Haverford School. First colloquy appointment Junior year; first dispute appointment Senior year; member Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, Browning and University clubs, Friars, and Alpha Delta Phi.

Associated with Lyon, Singer & Company, Pittsburgh, 1913–18; general manager Oak Brick Company, Latrobe, Pa, 1918–20; had been associated with Pittsburgh Clay Products Company since 1920 as sales manager 1920–28, vice-president 1928–37, and president 1937–38

Married March 7, 1916, in Pittsburgh, Edith, daughter of James Wilham and Ida Jane (Wainwright) Macfarlane. Son, James Grant (Kenyon College 1941)

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh Survived by wife, son, and two brothers, Henry P. Hunter, '11 S, and Francis W. Hunter, '15 S.

Torrance Curtiss Welch, B.A. 1913.

Born November 14, 1890, in Gowanda, NY. Died February 10, 1939, in Torrance City, Calif

Father, Theodore Frelinghuysen Welch, '69. Mother, Jennie (Torrance) Welch Yale relatives include Jared S. Torrance, '75 S (uncle); and George S Welch, '90 (cousin).

Gowanda High School, Lafayette High School, Buffalo, Pasadena High School, and Harvard School, Los Angeles Second colloquy appointment Junior and Senior years, photographic editor Yale Courant Senior year, took special work Yale School of Law Senior year.

Engaged in real estate business 1913–21 (secretary Thomas D Campbell & Company, Los Angeles, Dominguez Land Corporation, Torrance, Calif, Santa Monica Bay Home Telephone Company, and Torrance Water, Light and Power Company), member Los Angeles Stock Exchange 1920–33, of firm Andrews & Welch, dealers in oil lands and leases, 1920–26, president Torrance Mutual Building & Loan Association 1924–39, Torrance C Welch & Company, Los Angeles, 1931–33, and Los Angeles Curb Exchange 1932–33; admitted to California bar 1923, had engaged in practice of law in Torrance since 1934; trustee Southwest Museum 1923–39 and Inglewood Township Bar Association 1936–39, director Pomona Mutual Building & Loan Association, had great interest and skill in photography and owned a fine collection of Yale pictures taken over a period of years; many of his pictorial photographs had been hung in various salons in the East and abroad

Married (1) June 28, 1915, in South Pasadena, Calif, Genevieve,

daughter of Gilbert Brydon Ocheltree and Ida Ocheltree Children. Mary Curtiss (B.A. Stanford University 1937) and Barbara (University of California ex-'39), the wife of James Dorr Eddy (B S University of California 1937) Mr. and Mrs Welch were divorced in 1922 Married (2) December 2, 1924, in Ventura, Calif, Maud, daughter of Nathan William and Rilla Elizabeth (Cater) Hammond

Death due to chronic myocarditis with myocardial degeneration. Buried in Gowanda, N.Y. Survived by wife, daughters, a grandson, and a brother, Brian K. Welch, '16

Wallace Dudley Kenyon, B.A. 1914.

Born December 1, 1892, in Providence, R I Died December 6, 1938, near Warrenton, Va

Father, Walter Sumner Kenyon (D.D S Boston Dental College 1889), a dentist in Providence; son of Charles Dake and Mary Eliza (Rodman) Kenyon of Providence Mother, Jessie Louise (Rouse) Kenyon, daughter of William Augustus Rouse, Jr., and Josephine Maria (Lummis) Rouse of Providence

Hope Street High School, Providence One-year honors and dissertation appointment Junior year; oration appointment Senior year; member Class hockey and tennis teams; Apollo Glee Club Sophomore and Junior years; College Choir Junior year, member Psi Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa

Associated with Paye & Baker Manufacturing Company, silversmiths and manufacturing jewelers in North Attleboro, Mass, 1914-17, president and treasurer O. M Draper Corporation (manufacturers of gold chains), North Attleboro, 1917-22, assistant treasurer the Webster Company (silversmiths), North Attleboro, 1918-21, and president and treasurer since 1921, organizer and president NJ Magnan Corporation, Inc, manufacturers of tennis racquets, North Attleboro, 1923-38, yeoman US Naval Reserve Force at Norfolk, Va, May-June, 1918, attended Harvard University R.OTC summer of 1918, enlisted in regular Army and attended Field Artillery Central Officers' Training School, Camp Zachary Taylor; discharged December 5, 1918, chairman finance committee Town of North Attleboro 1924-25, director Manufacturers' National Bank of North Attleboro and Industrial Trust Company of Providence; owned and operated an estate in Virginia where he hunted with Old Dominion, Warrenton, and other neighboring packs, member Jacobs Hill Hunt (master and treasurer 1929-31), Agawam Hunt, Hope Club, Eastern Horse Club, and Yale Alumni Association of Rhode Island

Married June 28, 1916, in North Attleboro, Mildred Frances Webster

(B.A Smith College 1912), daughter of George Kendall and Harriet Abigail (Richards) Webster Children: Ann Webster, George Webster, and Walter Wallace

Death due to coronary heart disease Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence Survived by wife, children, and mother

Paul Jacob Banker, B.A. 1915.

Born April 25, 1893, in Poast Town, Ohio. Died August 24, 1938, near Gibson Island, Anne Arundel County, Md

Father, Elmer LeRoy Banker, a retail grocer and commission merchant in Middletown, Ohio, son of Jacob and Catherine (Selby) Banker of Poast Town Mother, Nettie Ruth (Banker) Banker; daughter of Peter Polner and Eliza (Lucas) Banker of Poast Town

Middletown High School and private tutor Second colloquy appointment Junior year; second dispute appointment Senior year, member Apollo Glee Club Sophomore year and College Choir Sophomore and Senior years

Member staff *Middletown* (Ohio) *News-Signal* for a short time 1915, managing editor 1919–27, associate editor *Commerce and Finance*, New York City, 1915–17, editor *St George's Magnet*, the publication of St George's Episcopal Church, New York City, 1916–17, assistant managing editor *Baltimore Evening Sun* 1927–29 and assistant managing editor *The Sun* since 1929; entered Second Officers' Training Camp, Plattsburg, August, 1917, commissioned First Lieutenant, Infantry November 25, 1917, and attached to Company A, 314th Infantry, 79th Division, at Camp Meade, went overseas with this regiment May 29, 1918, detached from regular duty August, 1918, and assigned to General Headquarters, American Expeditionary Forces, Paris, in charge of censorship of press photographs, after armistice compiled official pictures for Army War College, discharged July 8, 1919; member Masonic order and Roland Park Presbyterian Church, Baltimore, Md

Married March 30, 1920, in Winnipeg, Canada, Alfretta Elspeth, daughter of Albert and Emily Jean (Cline) Wilcox. Children. Paul Albert, 1942, Barbara Jean, Elspeth Ann, and Peter

Death due to accidental drowning Buried in Druid Ridge Cemetery, Baltimore Survived by wife, children, parents, and two sisters, the Misses Kathleen and Mary Banker of Middletown, Ohio

Alfred Hebard Chappell, B.A. 1916.

Born August 9, 1892, in New London, Conn Died January 21, 1939, on the S S. La Paz in the Straits of Magellan

Father, Alfred Hebard Chappell, treasurer F H & A. H Chappell Company, coal dealers, New London, son of Franklin and Hannah Sage (Huntington) Chappell of New London Mother, Adelaide Estelle (Shepard) Chappell; daughter of George T and Lucretia (Turner) Shepard of New London Yale relatives include Donald Chappell, '00, Harold Chappell, '01 (cousins), Thomas Huntington Chappell, '28, and George S. Chappell, Jr., '30 (nephews)

Bulkeley School, New London, Pomfret School, and The Hotchkiss School. Second dispute appointment Junior year, on Freshman Glee Club, University Glee Club four years, and College Choir Senior year; member University Club, Psi Upsilon, and Wolf's Head

Associated with Rhoades & Company, bankers in New York City, for short time 1916; with American Trading Company, New York City, 1916–17, in charge of stove and lamp department Standard Oil Company of New Jersey at Norfolk 1919–23; salesman Boston district, The Texas Company, 1923–25; registered Yale Graduate School 1926–31 and 1933– 34 (assistant in English 1928–31), teacher of English Milwaukee Country Day School 1934–38, had been engaged as a tutor since October, 1938, entered service May 15, 1917; attended Officers' Training Camp at Plattsburg; commissioned First Lieutenant, Air Service August 15, 1917, Adjutant U S. Army School of Military Aeronautics, University of Illinois; discharged December 6, 1918, member Elizabethan Club

Married August 25, 1917, in Winchester, Mass, Margaret, daughter of Samuel Walker McCall, LL D (B A. Dartmouth 1874), and Ella Esther (Thompson) McCall Children Samuel McCall (Haverford College 1941) and Margaret

Death due to head injuries received in an accident. Buried at sea Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Edith C Sheffield of Waterford, Conn, and two brothers, Frank V. Chappell, '98 S, and George S Chappell, '99.

> Walter Dreicer, B.A. 1916. [formerly Walter Lasar] Born February 24, 1895, in New York City. Died October 3, 1938, in New York City.

Father, Max Lasar of New York City, importer of precious stones Mother, Mary (Dreicer) Lasar, daughter of Jacob Dreicer Yale relatives include a cousin, Louis S. Davidson, '13 S. Columbia Grammar School, New York City Second dispute appointment Junior year, on eligibility list of Dramatic Association Freshman year and associate member Junior year.

On graduation joined Dreicer & Company, Inc., the jewelry firm established in New York City by his grandfather; on liquidation of the business in 1927, established his own firm of Walter Dreicer & Company, Inc., and continued in that connection until his death; the third generation of his family in the jewelry business in New York he was a specialist in the judging and setting of pearls as his uncle and grandfather had been before him, interested in photography; lectured to students of photography on principles of composition and exhibited his pictures in New York City, founder and an officer Oval Table Society, an organization of photographers; member Camera Club of New York and Royal Photographic Society of Great Britain

Unmarried

Death due to myocardial failure Survived by mother.

Gilbert Edwin Porter, 3d, B.A. 1916.

Born July 19, 1892, in Chicago, Ill. Died April 10, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Gilbert Edwin Porter (LL B Northwestern University 1884), senior partner in law firm of Isham, Lincoln & Beale, Chicago; son of Gilbert Edwin and Kate (Tewkesbury) Porter of Eau Claire, Wis Mother, Edith (Lorimer) Porter, daughter of Rev George Claude Lorimer (Georgetown College, Kentucky, *ex*-1860) and Belle (Burford) Lorimer of Chicago. Yale relatives include an uncle, George H Lorimer, *ex-*'88

Chicago Latin School and Phillips-Andover. Manager Freshman Glee Club and Freshman Mandolin Club, member Apollo Glee Club Junior year, Freshman Fence Orator, on Sophomore German, Junior Promenade, and Class Supper committees, Cup man; member Whiffenpoofs, Sword and Gun Club, Andover Club, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Skull and Bones

Assistant secretary Chicago, North Shore & Milwaukee Railroad Company 1916–17, Chicago district manager General Motors Acceptance Corporation 1920–25, manager Chicago office 1925–29 and vice-president 1929–31 First National Company of Detroit, since 1931 had been an executive in brokerage firm of Winthrop, Mitchell & Company, Chicago, enlisted as Private, 17th Engineers, June 5, 1917, transferred to 333d Field Artillery and commissioned Second Lieutenant June 6, 1918; adjutant 26th Field Artillery, Camp McClellan, promoted First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 1, 1918, discharged February 4, 1919; director Yale Club of Chicago 1925–27 and chorister 1926; member (for the West) Decennial Reunion Committee, member and vestryman Church of the Holy Spirit (Episcopal), Lake Forest, Ill.

Married April 7, 1920, in Anniston, Ala, Anne Horry, daughter of Thomas Erby Kilby (LL D University of Alabama 1921) and Mary (Clark) Kilby. Children Edith Lorimer, Mary Kilby, and Anne Horry

Death due to malignant hypertension. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, children, father, and a brother, Burford L. Porter, '19.

George Kendrick Denison, B.A. 1918.

Born October 19, 1895, in Little Rock, Ark Died June 11, 1939, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Rev. Robert Charles Denison, D.D. (B A Amherst College 1889), Congregational minister, professor of philosophy Pomona College 1920-36; son of George Denison (B A Amherst College 1855) and Emma Abbott (Webster) Denison of St Louis, Mo Mother, Martha (Kendrick) Denison, daughter of Adin Almerin and Mary (Jewett) Kendrick of Alton, Ill, and St Louis

New Haven High School and Cheshire Academy Member Zeta Psi; Yale R O.T C, overseas service with Transport Militaire Unit 184, American Field Service, May–November, 1917, enlisted as private (first class), Air Service, January, 1918, attended School of Military Aeronautics, Princeton, and received flying training at Dorr, Taliaferro, and Langley fields; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Service, July, 1918; discharged December, 1918, returned to college and awarded degree in 1919 with enrollment in Class of 1918

In purchasing department Samson Tractor Company, Janesville, Wis, 1919–20; buyer California Packing Corporation with headquarters at San Francisco since 1921, chairman board of trustees Isleton (Calif) schools 1931–39, member Claremont (Calif) Congregational Church

Married June 19, 1926, in Sacramento, Calif, Gertrude Anne, daughter of George Edgar and Alice Marian (Smith) Bryan Children George Bryan, Marilyn Anne, and Robert Charles.

Death due to cardiovascular renal disease Buried in National Cemetery, San Francisco Survived by wife, children, mother, and a sister, Lucia Denison Baylis, the wife of Roger V. Baylis, '15 S

John Cullen Collins, B.A. 1919.

Born September 27, 1897, in Dorchester, Mass Died January 29, 1939, in Boston, Mass

Father, John Joseph Collins of Dorchester, salesman Kenney Brothers & Wolkins, Inc, manufacturers of school furniture in Boston; son of John Joseph and Hannah (Monahan) Collins of Dorchester. Mother, Katherine Elizabeth (Cullen) Collins; daughter of John and Katherine Elizabeth Cullen of Dorchester

Boston Latin School. Second colloquy appointment Junior year; Yale Naval Training Unit November 30, 1917–June 5, 1918; boatswain's mate US Naval Reserve, Pelham Bay Naval Training School, July 6– December 5, 1918, returned to college and awarded degree with his Class.

Salesman Gummins & Pierce, wool merchants in Boston, 1919–21; associated with Kenney Brothers & Wolkins, Inc, 1921–33 (sales manager in Boston 1921–27 and in New York City 1927–33), salesman in metropolitan Boston, Henry S Wolkins Company, since 1933; member St Ambrose Church (Roman Catholic), Dorchester

Married June 6, 1922, in North Adams, Mass, Mary Frances, daughter of Thomas and Mary Barret (Dillon) Connors Children John Joseph, James Francis, and Joan Cullen

Death due to acute myocarditis Buried in Holyhood Cemetery, Brookline, Mass Survived by wife, children, and father.

Charles Joseph Stucky, B.A. 1919.

Born October 14, 1896, in New York City. Died December 26, 1938, in Clinton, Conn

Father, Charles Stucky, a dairyman in Rockville, Conn ; son of Carl and Elizabeth (Lang) Stucky of Bavaria, Germany Mother, Agnes (Albrecht) Stucky, daughter of Dr. Leonardt Albrecht and Albertine (Heckler) Albrecht of Breslau, Germany

Rockville High School Oration appointment Junior and Senior years; scholar of the first rank Junior year, chemical unit S A.T.C. September– November, 1918, member Sigma X1

Instructor science and mathematics Branford (Conn) High School 1919–21 and science Westminster School, Simsbury, Conn, 1921–22; graduate student and assistant in chemistry Pennsylvania State College 1922–24 (M S 1924); attended Yale Graduate School 1924–27 (Ph.D 1927, member Gamma Alpha, laboratory assistant chemistry 1924–25 and physiological chemistry 1925–26); research chemist Scott & Bowne, manufacturers of Scott's Emulsion, Bloomfield, N J., 1927–30; acting

Yale College

director Oliver Memorial Research Foundation, St Margaret Memorial Hospital, Pittsburgh, 1930, research biochemist New York State Psychiatric Institute and Hospital 1930–34, associate professor of biochemistry Georgetown University School of Medicine 1934, professor and acting director of the department February–June, 1934, and professor and director 1934–36, author *Studies in the Physiology of Vitamin B* (1929) and of numerous papers published in biochemical, physiological, and medical journals, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science, member Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (member council, Washington section), American Chemical Society, American Association of University Professors, and Roman Catholic church

Married July 25, 1933, in New York City, Rose Madyline Keiber (BS New York University 1928, MA 1938), daughter of Frank and Frances (Goldate) Keiber No children.

Death due to renal tuberculosis Buried in St Bernard's Cemetery, Rockville. Survived by wife, mother, and five sisters, Mrs Raphael Fahey, Mrs. William Ertel, Mrs Leonard Ohls, and Mrs Theodore Scheiner, all of Rockville, Conn., and Mrs William Morris of Hartford, Conn.

Walter Anker Peterson, B.A. 1920.

Born October 22, 1894, in Rosebank, NY Died January 2, 1939, in Douglaston, NY.

Father, John Christian Peterson, a contractor in New York City, son of Hans Jørgen and Kristine (Kofoed) Pedersen of Bornholm, Denmark Mother, Johanna (Anker) Peterson, daughter of Jens Hansen and Johanne (Kaas) Anker of Bornholm

Curtis High School, Staten Island, attended New York Law School 1913–16 (LL B. 1916), attended Yale College 1916–17 and 1919–21 (received B A. 1921 with enrollment in Class of 1920); enlisted as private October 12, 1917, assigned to Company L, 308th Infantry, 77th Division, overseas April 19, 1918–April 19, 1919, saw action in Baccarat and Vesle sectors and in Oise-Aisne offensive, wounded September 13, 1918, discharged May 9, 1919, admitted to New York bar May 19, 1919, had been associated with law firm of Hunt, Hill [Charles B, '93 S] & Betts, New York City, since 1919, member Masonic order and St John's Church (Episcopal), Rosebank

Married June 3, 1925, in Atlanta, Ga, Olga Louise, daughter of James Artemus and Emilie (Hirth) Culver No children

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Moravian Cemetery, Staten Island. Survived by wife, and five sisters, Anna Louise Peterson Richardson, the wife of Levi S Richardson (University of Michigan ex-'95) of Nutley, NJ, Mrs Gustaf L. Bjorklund of Brooklyn, N.Y., Mrs Robert P Silva of West Brighton, N.Y, Frances Ethel Peterson Delli-Paoli, the wife of Americus V. Delli-Paoli (LL B. Fordham University 1923) of Richmond Hill, NY, and Margaret Peterson (B.A New York University 1922, MA. 1932) of New York City.

William Townsend Adee, B.A. 1923.

Born June 19, 1902, in Tuxedo Park, NY. Died August 8, 1938, in Monroe, NY

Father, Ernest Rufus Adee, '85. Mother, Geraldine (Fitzgerald) Adee. Yale relatives include George A Adee, '67, Philip H. Adee, '73, Frederick W Adee, '73, and Edwin M. Adee, '81 (uncles); and George T. Adee, '95, Charles S Adee, *ex-*'97, and Raynham Townshend, Jr, '34 (cousins)

St Bernard's School, New York City, and St. Paul's School, Concord, N H Scholar of the third rank Junior year; on Freshman Hockey Team and University Hockey Squad Sophomore and Junior years; member Apollo Banjo-Mandolin Club Freshman year; member St. Paul's School Club and Zeta Psi

Attended Corpus Christi College, University of Cambridge, 1923–24 (member Hockey Team) and Columbia University School of Law 1924– 25, assistant editor The Outlook Company, New York City, 1928–30; associated as a broker with Commodity Exchange, Inc, New York City since 1935, member Yale Club of New York, Racquet and Tennis Club, Knickerbocker Club, Tuxedo Club, and St. Mary's Church (Episcopal), Tuxedo Park

Married (1) December 12, 1931, in New York City, Beatrice Goelet, daughter of William Greenough Mr and Mrs. Adee were divorced in 1935 Married (2) January 24, 1936, in New York City, Sarah Garrard, daughter of Major [William] Garrard Comly, '93 S, and Katherine Virginia (Walcott) Comly Son, George Townsend, 2d.

Mr and Mrs Adee lost their lives in a fire which destroyed their house. Buried in the Churchyard of St Mary's Church, Tuxedo, N.Y Survived by son and mother.

Richard Daniel O'Connell, B.A. 1923.

Born December 20, 1903, in East Hartford, Conn. Died June 12, 1939, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Dr. Thomas Smith O'Connell (M D. College of Physicians and Surgeons, Baltimore, 1892) of East Hartford, son of Michael Timothy and Anne (Smith) O'Connell of Colchester, Conn Mother, Nellie (Flynn) O'Connell; daughter of Dominick and Elizabeth (Ward) Flynn of East Hartford. Yale relatives include a brother, T Ward O'Connell, '22.

East Hartford High School. Attended Dartmouth College 1919–21; joined Class of 1923 at beginning of Junior year.

Associated with Travelers Insurance Company, Hartford, 1923–25, attended Yale School of Law 1925–28 (LL B 1928); admitted to Connecticut bar 1928, research assistant in law Yale University 1928–29; engaged in the practice of law Hartford and East Hartford 1929–39, assistant prosecutor East Hartford 1931–33 and prosecutor 1935–37, judge Town Court of East Hartford 1933–35 and 1937–38; appointed state director, National Emergency Council, April 1, 1936, and served until January 1, 1938; attended University of Berlin 1938–39, co-author (with Charles E. Clark, '11) The Hartford Small Claims Court (1929); member Hartford County, Connecticut State, and American Bar associations, and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), East Hartford

Married June 23, 1937, in Hartford, Mildred Mary Brereton (B A Trinity College [Washington] 1929), daughter of Edward Joseph and Mary Ellen Veronica (Hurley) Brereton

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Mary's Cemetery, East Hartford Survived by wife and a sister, Margaret O'Connell Welsh (B A College of St. Elizabeth 1927), the wife of Frederick Welsh of Valley Stream, N.Y.

Charles Stockwell Ohley, Ph.B. 1923.

Born October 12, 1902, in Atlantic City, NJ Died August 7, 1938, in Hopemont, WVa.

Father, William Alexander Ohley, president Ohley Coal Company and vice-president Cabin Creek Consolidated Coal Company, Charleston, W.Va; son of Frederick William and Drusilla (Stoner) Ohley of Berlin, Pa Mother, Marie Louise (Downtain) Ohley; daughter of Wilham G. and Marie Louise (Stockwell) Downtain of Covington, Ky Yale relatives include a brother, William Downtain Ohley, '23

Charleston High School. Captain Freshman Basketball Team and member University Basketball Team three years, leader Yale Banjo Club four years; vice-president Yale Glee, Banjo, and Mandolin Clubs Association Senior year, member Southern Club and Beta Theta Pi

Credit manager Dana-Barnes Company, wholesale dry goods house, Charleston, 1923–29; associated with Greenbrier Electric Company, Lewisburg, W Va, 1929–31, and Procurement Division of the Treasury Department 1931–32, junior councilor West Virginia Reemployment Service 1932-38, associated with the Ohley Estate for a short time; due to ill-health was forced to retire in June, 1938

Married November 28, 1925, in Charleston, Frances Worth, daughter of John Swift and Launie (Abney) Dana No children

Death due to tuberculosis Buried in Spring Hill Cemetery, Charleston. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Silas W. Pickering, 2d, of Charleston.

Raymond Otis, B.A. 1924.

Born May 25, 1900, in Evanston, Ill Died July 13, 1938, in Santa Fé, N Mex

Father, Joseph Edward Otis, ex-'90 S (LL D Knox College 1930), chairman board of directors Personal Loan & Savings Bank of Chicago; son of Joseph Edward and Maria (Taylor) Otis of Chicago Mother, Emily Porter (Webster) Otis, daughter of George Huntington and Ellen Frances (Pickford) Webster of Chicago. Yale relatives include George H Webster, ex-'91, Stuart Webster, '92, and Herman A. Webster, '00 S (uncles), J Sanford Otis, '19, Winthrop Buckingham, '20, Otis Buckingham, '23, and Huntington Eldridge, '28 (cousins)

Chicago Latin School and Phillips-Andover On *Elihu* board; member Dumb-bells, Sword and Gun, Andover, and University clubs, Delta Kappa Epsilon, and Scroll and Key

Studied archeology in Santa Fé 1925–26, instructor in Latin and English Berkshire School, Sheffield, Mass, 1926-27, since 1927 had resided in Santa Fé and devoted his time to writing, author Fire Brigade (1934; published in United States under title Fire in the Night), Miguel of the Bright Mountain (1936), Little Valley (1937), Indian Art of the Southwest (a pamphlet, 1931), and History-Santa Fé Volunteer Fire Department (a pamphlet, 1932), contributed a number of short stories to magazines in England and the United States; a founder in 1932 and secretary-treasurer 1932-38 Writers Editions, Inc, chairman 1937-38 Committee on Spanish-American Affairs, organized in 1937 to bring about a better understanding of the problems and needs of the Spanish-American population of the Southwest, outstanding work of committee was prevention of eviction of small farmers in Middle Rio Grande Conservancy District, and stimulation of the Liga Obrera, an organization representing interests of Spanish-Americans; trustee, member executive committee, and secretary Indian Arts Fund, on Class of 1924 Decennial Year Book Committee; member I eague of American Writers

Married January 21, 1928, in New York City, Frances Lindon, daughter of Joseph Lindon and Corinna Haven (Putnam) Smith No children

Death due to uremia and nephrosclerosis Ashes scattered in the Truchas Mountains, N Mex Survived by wife, parents, a sister, Emily Yale College

Huntington Otis Owings, the wife of Nathaniel Alexander Owings (B.A. Cornell 1927) of Chicago, and two brothers, Joseph E. Otis, Jr, '16, and Stuart H Otis, ex-'23 His brother, George W. Otis, '19, died in 1919.

Edward Michael Kline, Ph.B. 1927.

Born March 10, 1906, in Mount Vernon, NY Died August 12, 1938, in North Castle, NY.

Father, Samuel Kline, salesman with Salant & Salant in New York City; son of David and Fanny (Strauss) Kline of Chillicothe, Ohio. Mother, Stella (Holzman) Kline; daughter of Michael and Lizzie (Lauer) Holzman of Baltimore, Md

DeWitt Clinton High School, New York City Entered with Class of 1926; Joined 1927 in Junior year, first rank stand Junior year, philosophical oration appointment Senior year; member Phi Beta Kappa

Associated with Standard Varnish Works, New York City, 1927–29, with L F. Rothschild & Company, stock brokers, New York City, 1929–32 and Meinhard, Greeff & Company, factors, 1932, statistician Erdman & Company, stock brokers, New York City, 1932–34 and with brokerage firm of Ladenburg, Thalmann & Company since 1934

Married March 10, 1933, in New York City, Geraldine, daughter of Jerome Benjamin and Mina (Bach) Scofield No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Westchester Hills Cemetery, Mount Hope, N.Y. Survived by wife, mother, and a brother, Donald Holzman Kline of Springfield, Mass

Norvin Rudolf Lindheim, B.A. 1928.

Born January 23, 1908, in New York City Died April 6, 1939, in New York City

Father, Norvin Rudolf Lindheim (B A Johns Hopkins 1900, LL B Columbia 1903), secretary Eitingon Realty Company, New York City, son of Reuben and Hortense Cilla (Guggenheimer) Lindheim of New York City Mother, Irma (Levy) Lindheim, daughter of Robert Isadore and Tillie (Morgenstern) Levy of New York City

Horace Mann School, New York City Freshman Boxing Squad and Freshman Lacrosse Team, member Hierarchy Club

Attended Columbia University 1928–32 (B Arch 1932), lived in Palestine 1932–38, associated with firms of Chaikin 1932–33 and A Sharon in Tel Aviv 1933–38, architect for private residences, laboratories, and hospitals, his work included clubhouse of Daniel Sieff Institute at Rehovoth, Beilinson Hospital at Petach Tikvah, Communal Colony (Ain Hashofet) at Givat Noah, and Workers Cooperative Dwellings, Tel Aviv, associate architect Jewish Palestine Pavilion, New York World's Fair, and supervised its construction, architect Federal Housing Administration of New Jersey 1938-39

Married July 4, 1931, in New York City, Helen, daughter of Arnold Charles and Caroline F Weil No children. Mrs Lindheim died April 30, 1938

Death due to uremia Ashes interred in Mishmar Ha-Emek, Palestine. Survived by mother, a sister, Hortense L. Wheatley (Columbia ex-'34), the wife of John Wheatley of Phoenix, Ariz, and three brothers, Donald R Lindheim (Cornell 1931-32; University of California 1940) of Palestine, Richard W Lindheim (BA University of Chicago 1938) of Chicago, and Stephen W Lindheim of Mishmar Ha-Emek, Palestine.

Robert Wheeler, B.A. 1929.

Born April 28, 1907, in New Haven, Conn Died May 13, 1939, in Newtown, Conn

Father, James Everett Wheeler, '92, '94 L, a lawyer in New Haven; son of Edwin Saxton Wheeler, MA. Hon 1886, and Ella Marion (Welch) Wheeler of New Haven Mother, Edith Pemberton (Williams) Wheeler; daughter of Francis Cope and Mary Leggett (Frame) Williams of Philadelphia Yale relatives include. Pierce N Welch, '62, and Harmanus M. Welch, '75 (great-uncles), Lloyd Kitchel, *ex-*'20, Saxton W. Kitchel, *ex-*'23, and Denison Kitchel, '30 (cousins).

New Haven High School and Pomfret School On Class crew squad Freshman, Sophomore, and Junior years, member Alpha Delta Phi

Associated with Southern New England Telephone Company, New Haven, 1929–30; studied architecture Yale School of the Fine Arts 1930– 34 (B F A 1934), draftsman and later assistant shop superintendent the Dextone Company, New Haven, 1934–37; assistant purchasing agent New Haven Clock Company 1938–39, member Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Unmarried

Death due to burns received when the studio in Newtown, Conn, in which he was sleeping burned Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by parents and two sisters, Miss Mary P Wheeler (B A. Connecticut College for Women 1923) of New Haven, and Lucy W. Beardsley (B A Vassar 1925, Yale Graduate School 1925–26), the wife of Franklin Beardsley (B A Princeton 1930) of Slingerlands, N Y.

Charles Marshall Davidson, Ph.B. 1930.

Born October 22, 1905, in Brooklyn, NY Died April 5, 1939, in New York City

Father, Charles Marshall Davidson, banker, and real estate and insurance broker, New York City; son of Charles and Ellen Louise (Layton) Davidson of New York City Mother, Ellen Louise (Davidson) Davidson; daughter of Charles Marshall and Lucinda (Collyer) Davidson of Brooklyn

Montclair (N J) Academy Scholar of the second rank Freshman year; oration appointment Senior year

Attended Yale Graduate School 1930–31 (M S 1931), Harvard Business School summer 1937, and Yale School of Engineering October-November, 1937; independently engaged 1931–33, field office manager Connecticut State Employment Service 1933–35; psychologist in charge of research Ætna Life Insurance Company, Hartford, 1935–37, research psychologist Life Office Management Association of New York 1938–39; member American Psychological Association and Connecticut Valley Psychological Association (vice-president 1939)

Married August 23, 1927, in Irvington, NJ, Varley, daughter of Alfred Varley and Ruth (Hairston) Sims Children Charles Marshall, Jr, and Laura Ruth Sims

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Greenburgh, N Y Survived by wife and children

David Edgar Albright, B.A. 1932.

Born May 24, 1909, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died December 27, 1938, in Okauchee, Wis

Father, Charles Edgar Albright (M D Rush Medical College 1889), agent Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company, Milwaukee; son of George Nicholas and Barbara Ellen (Thompson) Albright of Dancyville and Stanton, Tenn. Mother, Laura (Uihlein) Albright, daughter of Henry and Helene (Kreutzer) Uihlein of Milwaukee

Milwaukee Country Day School, The Hotchkiss School, and Milford School Entered Yale College with Class of 1931 but joined 1932 the following year; member '31 Freshman Football Squad and Baseball Team; '32 Baseball Team Sophomore year, Junior University Baseball Squad, Class football team Junior and Senior years, '31 Freshman Glee Club Squad; member University Club and Delta Kappa Epsilon

Traveled in Europe 1932, in sales department Hoberg Paper Mills, Green Bay, W1s, 1933; executive vice-president Crown Motor Company, Milwaukee, 1934–36, attended University of Chicago 1937; associated with Preston & Cook, industrial real estate, 1938, member Immanuel Church (Presbyterian), Milwaukee.

Married April 18, 1938, in Evanston, Ill, Virginia Milner-Preston (BA Mills College 1936), daughter of Gilbert George and Gretchen (Holt) Milner-Preston

Death due to injuries received in a railroad-crossing accident. Buried in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee. Survived by wife, parents, and two sisters, Marion Albright Tallmadge (Smith College ex-30), the wife of Edward Samuel Tallmadge (Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute ex-24), and Lorraine Albright Flint, the wife of Arthur McGeoch Flint (Harvard ex-25), both of Milwaukee.

Stiles Ewing Tuttle, B.A. 1933.

Born December 17, 1910, in St. Paul, Minn Died August 23, 1938, in Kent, England

Father, Clarence Ewing Tuttle (University of Minnesota ex-'06), chairman of the board Rustless Iron & Steel Corporation of Baltimore, Md Mother, Amy Elizabeth (Stearns) Tuttle.

The Hotchkiss School Freshman Polo Team; University Polo Squad Sophomore year; University Polo Team and 150-lb. Football Squad Junior year, University Polo Team Senior year; member Cannon and Castle and Alpha Sigma Phi

Sales engineer Rustless Iron & Steel Corporation, Baltimore, 1933-38 and in England since May, 1938, commissioned in Field Artillery U.S. Army Officers Reserve 1933; member Maryland and Green Spring Valley Hunt clubs and Maryland Polo Club (president 1937-38)

Unmarried

Ashes interred in St Thomas Cemetery, Garrison Forest, Md Survived by parents and a sister, Miss Marion Jane Tuttle of Garrison.

Theodore Stanley Proxmire, Jr., B.A. 1936.

Born August 29, 1913, in Lake Forest, Ill. Died February 19, 1939, in Earleton, Fla.

Father, Theodore Stanley Proxmire (Ohio State University ex-'02; M D Hahnemann Medical College 1904), physician and surgeon in Lake Forest, son of Theodore Stanley and Elizabeth (Swadley) Proxmire of Lancaster, Ohio Mother, Adele (Flanigan) Proxmire; daughter of Patrick and Rose (O'Reilly) Flanigan of St Louis, Mo.

Lake Forest Academy and The Hill School University Boxing Squad

Sophomore and Junior years, competed in Second Annual Eastern Intercollegiate Flying Meet at Springfield Senior year, member Trumbull College, the Riffs, and Chi Psi.

Associated with American Airlines, Boston, Mass, 1936–37, attended Air Corps Primary Flying School, Randolph Field, Texas, March– October, 1937 (graduated October 12, 1937) and Air Corps Advanced Flying School, Kelly Field, October, 1937–February, 1938, where he was assigned to pursuit group, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Corps Reserve February 16, 1938, assigned to First Pursuit Group, 27th Pursuit Squadron, Selfridge Field, Mich, 1938, by examination became Second Lieutenant, Air Corps, Regular Army, summer 1938, member St Mary's Roman Catholic Church, Lake Forest

Unmarried

Lieutenant Proxmire lost his life in an airplane accident while on maneuvers in Florida. Buried in Lake Forest Cemetery Survived by parents, a sister, Adele Proxmire, and a brother, Edward W Proxmire, '38.

Shackelford Bauer, B.A. 1937.

Born October 8, 1916, in New York City Died December 25, 1938, in New York City

Father, Charles Christian Bauer of New York City, an organizer of League of Nations Association 1922, executive director 1922–23, 1925– 29, and vice-chairman of the council since 1929; member executive committee Geneva Institute of International Relations and of National World Court Committee; son of William Frederick and Catharine (Shackelford) Bauer of Springfield, Ohio Mother, Shirley Erskine (Neal) Bauer, daughter of Colonel James Erskine Neal and May (Mc-Kinney) Neal of Hamilton, Ohio

Madison and Browning schools, New York City, and the Taft School On golf squad and debating team Freshman year, Freshman Glee Club Squad; member Jonathan Edwards College and Political Club, president Sachem Club Senior year; University Debating Association and Yale Political Union; cadet sergeant Yale R O T C

Member American Committee, League of Nations Association, Geneva, during summer 1937; held a Rockefeller Foundation fellowship in radio education with National Broadcasting Company, New York City, April–September, 1938; had contributed articles to popular magazines; member New York Yale Club and Trinity Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Unmarried

Death due to an intestinal ailment Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery,

Scarsdale, N Y. Survived by parents and a sister, Neal Bauer Pell (Bryn Mawr ex-'27) of New York City.

Frederick Wilder Bellamy, Jr., B.A. 1937.,

Born June 5, 1915, in New York City. Died October 30, 1938, in New York City

Father, Frederick Wilder Bellamy (B A. 1909; LL.B. New York Law School 1911), senior partner in brokerage firm Dominick & Dominick, New York City, son of Frederick Putnam Bellamy (C E Union University 1868) and Blanche (Wilder) Bellamy of Brooklyn. Mother, Florence (Walton) Bellamy, daughter of John James and Agnes Conover (Hunter) Walton of Brooklyn Yale relatives include Francis E. Walton, '04, and Henry A Walton, '06 (uncles)

St Mark's School University Squash Squad three years; assistant manager Tennis Team Junior year and manager Senior year; Freshman Student Council, member Davenport College (hockey team three years, captain Senior year, squash and golf teams one year and touch football team Junior and Senior years, captain Senior year); member The Fence and Wolf's Head

Statistician Dominick & Dominick since 1937; member St. Matthew's Church (Episcopal), Bedford, N Y.

Married November 6, 1937, in Providence, RI, Eleanore Hayden, daughter of Chester Coburn Darling (Princeton *ex-*'10) and Marion Hayden (Preston) Darling.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in St. Matthew's Churchyard, Bedford. Survived by wife, parents, and two brothers, Gayer D. Bellamy and David Hopkins

Easton Burlingame, B.A. 1938.

Born August 8, 1916, in Albany, NY. Died March 31, 1939, in Altamont, N.Y.

Father, Westcott Burlingame, president Burlingame Motors Corporation, Albany, son of Eugene Burlingame (LL B Albany Law School 1871) and Emma Patton (Watson) Burlingame of Albany Mother, Mary Boyd (Easton) Burlingame, daughter of William and Caroline (Newton) Easton of Glens Falls, N.Y Yale relatives include an uncle, Eugene W Burlingame, '98

Albany Academy Oration appointment Junior and Senior years, third rank stand Sophomore year, member Branford College, on Freshman Football Squad and Track Team, University and Branford College Track teams three years

Associated with F. C Huyck & Sons, Rensselaer, NY., since graduation; member First Presbyterian Church, Albany.

Unmarried.

Died suddenly. Buried in Albany Rural Cemetery Survived by parents and two brothers, Westcott Burlingame, Jr, '36, and Rufus W. Burlingame of Altamont, NY

Gardner Willard Millett, Jr., B.A. 1938.

Born August 19, 1915, in Greens Farms, Conn. Died June 26, 1939, in Norwalk, Conn

Father, Gardner Willard Millett (University of Washington ex-'06) of Greens Farms, president Exchange Buffet Corporation, New York City, son of Daniel Caldwell and Kate (Child) Millett of Chehalis, Wash Mother, Harriet Dawson Coleman (Glover) Millett; daughter of Henry Sheaff and Harriet Dawson (Coleman) Glover of Fairfield, Conn Yale relatives include. John H. Glover (B A 1846) (great-grandfather), John L. R. Glover, ex-'17 S (uncle); Daniel C Millett, '41 (cousin)

Choate School, Wallingford, Conn Freshman Track Squad, University Track Team three years; member Timothy Dwight College, The Mohicans, Zeta Psi, and Elihu.

Reporter Bridgeport Post-Telegram 1938-39; member St Paul's Church (Episcopal), Fairfield, Conn

Unmarried.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Oaklawn Cemetery, Fairfield. Survived by parents, two sisters, the Misses Harriet Coleman Millett and Anne Caldwell Millett, and a brother, Henry Glover Millett, '43, all of Greens Farms.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

George Benjamın Chittenden, Ph.B. 1871.

Born December 25, 1849, in Madison, Conn Died February 25, 1939, at East River, Conn

Father, Samuel Conklin Chittenden, engaged in lumber business in Madison, a projector and one of original stockholders in the Shore Line Railroad, son of Samuel and Amanda (Kelsey) Chittenden of East Guilford, Conn Mother, Amanda Anne (Munger) Chittenden, daughter of George and Parnel (Kelsey) Munger of Madison. Yale relatives include a brother, Samuel H Chittenden, '67 S

Guilford (Conn) Institute Civil engineering course; member St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1871-73 (CE 1873); associated with U S. Coastal Survey 1871-73 and U.S Geological Survey 1873-78, in 1874 prepared for publication a pamphlet of the Department of the Interior on *Meteorological Observations* in Colorado and Montana Territories, associated with Chittenden Brothers, civil engineers, Washington, D C, 1878-85; engineer on construction of dam across Potomac River at Great Falls 1883-85, had been engaged in mining operations in the Southwest 1885-1920 (general manager Saddle Mountain Mining Company, Christmas, Gila County, Ariz, 1901-11, engaged in copper mining in Arizona 1911-20); retired in 1920 and had since resided at East River, member Yale Engineering Association and Madison Congregational Church

Married December 25, 1876, in Washington, DC, Ella Spencer, daughter of James Smith Delano (BA Knox College 1854) and Elmira Sophronia (Spencer) Delano Children. Mira, the widow of Morgan H. Bowman, '05 S; Horace Washburn, '03 S, '04 F.; and Marjorie Lee. Mrs Chittenden died June 18, 1929

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in West Cemetery, Madison. Survived by children, eight grandchildren, one of whom is George H. Chittenden, '39, and one great-grandchild

Fillmore Cogswell, Ph.B. 1873.

Born November 30, 1850, in Marble Dale, Conn. Died December 15, 1938, in Richmond, Va

Father, George Washington Cogswell, owner of a sawmill, store, and marble works in New Preston, Conn, son of Reuel and Rhoda (Smith) Cogswell of New Preston. Mother, Lydia Ann (Potter) Cogswell; daughter of Minor and Polly (Grey) Potter of Litchfield, Conn Connecticut Literary Institute, Suffield, and Day's School, Bridgeport Civil engineering course, first lieutenant Undine Boat Club (member committee on constitution); Undine Crew three years, Class baseball team Senior year; delegate to third annual convention National Rowing Association of American Colleges at Springfield Senior year, member Plane Table Party of '73 S.

Associated with U.S Coast Survey near New Haven summer 1873, did engineering work for U.S Railway Mail Service on Houston & Texas Central Railway 1873–78, assisted his father in business 1878–82; engaged in engineering work in Colorado 1882–1929, assistant city engineer of Denver 1889–91, assistant engineer Board of Public Works 1892–93, and deputy state engineer of Colorado 1895–97, resident hydrographer U S Geological Survey 1897–1903 and U S. Reclamation Service 1903–06, engineer Irrigation Division No I, State of Colorado, 1909 until retirement in 1929; had resided in Richmond, Va, since 1931, member Colorado Yale Association 1882–1931, Yale Engineering Association, and New Preston Congregational Church

Married January 15, 1880, in New York City, Lillian Wheaton, daughter of Daniel Webster and Ellen (Wheaton) Patterson Daughter, Ellen Patterson, the wife of Charles Freeman Gillette Mrs Cogswell died December 16, 1926

Death due to the infirmities of age Buried in New Preston Cemetery Survived by daughter.

Walter Holcomb, Ph.B. 1877.

Born October 13, 1853, in New Hartford, Conn Died August 17, 1938, in Torrington, Conn.

Father, Carlos Holcomb, a farmer and first selectman in New Hartford, son of Harvey and Catherine (Case) Holcomb of Granby, Conn Mother, Adah Lavina (Bushnell) Holcomb, daughter of Isaac and Orpha (Deming) Bushnell of Hartford

Suffield (Conn) Academy and Lewis Academy, Southington, Conn Civil engineering course, consolidated Freshman Crew, participated in single-scull race Junior year; secretary Christian Union Junior year, member Sheffield Scientific School Octet, Class picture committee, and Phi Gamma Delta

Principal South Center School, Southington, 1877-80 and 1882-83; studied law in office of his brother, Marcus H. Holcomb (LL D 1921) 1877-80, admitted to Connecticut bar 1881, engaged in construction work in the Ozarks on Missouri, Arkansas & Southern Railroad 1881-82, and on St Paul Water Works May-December 1884; in law office of O'Brien & O'Brien, St Paul, December, 1884-July, 1885, engaged independently in practice of law St Paul 1885-96 and in Torrington 1896 until retirement in 1934, represented Torrington in Connecticut General Assembly 1905-06, town clerk Torrington 1898-1900, judge Borough Court 1903-17, and first city attorney 1923-33; state's attorney for Litchfield County 1917-34; for many years Republican town committeeman; president Litchfield County Bar Association 1932; vice-president Litchfield County University Club; author Memories of Walter Holcomb (1935), honorary member Connecticut Taxpayers Association; member Masonic order and Center Congregational Church, Torrington

Married October 18, 1888, in Torrington, Edith Adelia, daughter of Hermanus Almeron and Caroline Edith (Blakeslee) Sanford Children Carlos Sanford, ex-'11 S; Dorothy (died January 7, 1895); and Adah Caroline (B A. Radcliffe College 1920), the wife of David Stewart Roberts (M E Stevens Institute of Technology 1918). Mrs. Holcomb died February 10, 1934.

Death due to prostatic hypertrophy. Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Southington Survived by one daughter, son, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs Adah Adaline Weaver of Westfield, Mass.

Thomas Fitch Rowland, Jr., Ph.B. 1877.

Born July 30, 1856, in New Haven, Conn. Died January 12, 1939, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Thomas Fitch Rowland, a manufacturer in Brooklyn, son of George and Ruth Caroline (Attwater) Rowland of New Haven. Mother, Mary Eliza (Bradley) Rowland; daughter of Charles and Sarah (Stanley) Bradley of New Haven Yale relatives include Gov Thomas Fitch (B A. 1721) (great-great-great-great-grandfather), Andrew Rowland (B A. 1757) (great-great-great-grandfather), Samuel Rowland (M A Hon. 1809) (great-great-graindfather); Samuel Rowland, ex-'71, H. Edwards Rowland, ex-'71, Amory E. Rowland, '73 S, Thomas A. Bostwick, ex-'78 Special S, and Rebecca R Forbes, ex-'81 Art (cousins)

Private school, Brooklyn. Dynamic engineering course; statistician, member Class Shooting Club, Dynamic Whist Club, and Telegraph Company; member Phi Gamma Delta, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with The Continental Iron Works, Brooklyn, 1877–1927 (secretary and treasurer 1887–1909 and president 1909 until retirement in 1927), trustee Webb Institute of Naval Architecture 1908–39, member American Society of Civil Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers, Union League Club, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution; junior

Į

warden Christ Church (Episcopal) Brooklyn, 1901–13, and member St Bartholomew's Church, Brooklyn

Married October 6, 1880, in Westport, Conn., Estelle Maria, daughter of Bradley and Fanny H (Fanton) Hull Daughter, Jessie Estelle, the wife of William Ellis Coykendall. Mrs Rowland died January 17, 1932

Death due to bronchial pneumonia Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by daughter and one grandson

John Abeel Weekes, Ph.B. 1877.

Born July 24, 1856, in Oyster Bay, NY Died May 4, 1939, in New York City.

Father, John Abeel Weekes (B.A New York University 1839), a lawyer in New York City; son of Robert Doughty and Julia (Brasher) Weekes of New York City Mother, Alice Hathaway (Delano) Weekes, daughter of Joseph Clement and Alice Russell (Howland) Delano of New Bedford, Mass Yale relatives include Henry deF Weekes, '74, and Frederick D. Weekes, ex-'76 (brothers), Robert W deForest, '70, and Henry W. deForest, '76 (cousins)

Williston Academy Select course, member consolidated Freshman Baseball Team, captain Class Baseball Team and vice-president Yale University Boat Club Senior year, on Thanksgiving Jubilee Committee Freshman year, member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Studied at University of Stuttgart 1877–79, University of Geneva 1879–80, and Columbia University 1880–81, admitted to bar July, 1881; had engaged in practice of law in New York City since 1882, specializing in tax cases (associated with firm of Weekes & Forster and later Weekes Brothers); represented 25th District, New York County, in state assembly 1898 and 1900–02 (member, at various times, committees on taxation and retrenchment, codes, railroads, military affairs, and canals), president New York Historical Society 1913–39, governor Union Club 1930–36, member St Nicholas Society of the City of New York, and Sons of the American Revolution

Married (1) December 3, 1897, in New York City, Estelle, daughter of Charles Wright and Margaret (Lane) Durant Children Estelle Durant (Smith College *ex-*'22), the wife of Anthonie den Hartogh, and Alice Delano, 2d Mrs Weekes died December 24, 1918 Married (2) June 25, 1920, in New York City, Elsa Adele, daughter of Henry and Harriet A. (Baker) Schreiter

Death due to heart disease. Buried in Latten Cemetery, Oyster Bay, N Y Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, and two sisters, Miss Alice Delano Weekes and Mrs Sarah Weekes Hoppin of Oyster Bay

George Leverett Wilson, Ph.B. 1877.

Born February 14, 1855, in West Killingly, Conn. Died April 1, 1939, in Minneapolis, Minn.

Father, Seth Abraham Wilson, a farmer in West Killingly, son of Zadok Wilson of Killingly Mother, Ellen M (Lee) Wilson.

Danielson (Conn) High School. Civil engineering course, Class statistician

Teacher and principal of a school in Brooklyn, Conn, 1877–79; graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1879–80 (C.E 1885), engaged in railroad engineering work in Iowa, Minnesota, and North Dakota 1880–83; engineer on construction of water works, St Paul, Minn, 1883–85, associated with city engineer's office in St. Paul 1885– 1903 (assistant city engineer 1891–1903); engineer maintenance of way Twin City Rapid Transit Company, Minneapolis and St Paul, since 1903, member American Society of Civil Engineers, Masonic order, and Plymouth Church (Congregational), Minneapolis.

Married February 26, 1884, in Danielson, Fannie Maria, daughter of Asahel G and Elizabeth (McComber) Scranton Children. Ruth Ellen (B A Wellesley College 1909) and Lee Scranton (died in July 1889) Mrs Wilson died August 21, 1927

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis Survived by daughter

Oswin Hart Doolittle Fowler, Ph.B. 1878.

Born January 17, 1857, in North Haven, Conn Died March 3, 1939, in Meriden, Conn

Father, Henry Baldwin Fowler, a farmer in North Haven, son of Seth Baldwin and Freelove (Graves) Fowler of North Guilford, Conn. Mother, Lucy Eloise (Doolittle) Fowler; daughter of Alfred and Lois (Dayton) Doolittle of Wallingford and North Haven, Conn. Yale relatives include two uncles, Oswin H Doolittle (B A. 1844) and Jonathan E Doolittle (M D 1852)

Hillhouse High School and Hopkins Grammar School Select course; Commencement speaker

Teacher in district school North Haven 1878–79; principal Center Street School, Fair Haven, and acting school visitor and secretary North Haven Board of Education 1880–81, attended Yale School of Law 1879– 81 (LL B 1881), admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1881, had engaged in general practice of law in Wallingford, Conn, since 1881, judge of probate court 1893–95, prosecuting attorney 1902–03, 1906–11 and judge 1911–25 borough court of Wallingford, borough attorney, Wallingford, 1913–14 and town counsel of Wallingford 1915–31, represented Wallingford in the state legislature, director since 1909 and attorney Dime Savings Bank, chairman 50th and 55th Reunion Committees, member New Haven County Bar Association, Connecticut Society Sons of the American Revolution, and St Paul's Episcopal Church, Wallingford

Married September 4, 1884, in Wallingford, Carrie Belle, daughter of Samuel Blakeslee and Lavinia (Cook) Parmelee Children Mabel Ella, the wife of John W. Leavenworth, '05 S, Ethel Blakeslee, and Helen Parmelee, the wife of David Tomlinson Mrs Fowler died February 17, 1938

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in In Memoriam Cemetery, Wallingford. Survived by daughters, six grandchildren, and two greatgrandchildren

Edmund Beecher Wilson, Ph.B. 1878.

Born October 19, 1856, in Geneva, Ill Died March 3, 1939, in New York City

Father, Isaac Grant Wilson, LL D (BA Brown University 1838), a lawyer, chief justice Appellate Court of Chicago Mother, Caroline Louisa (Clark) Wilson, daughter of Scotto and Sally M (Freeman) Clark of Boston and Geneva, Ill

Attended Antioch College 1873–74 and University of Chicago 1874– 75, entered Yale in 1876; natural history course, Commencement speaker, president Yale Natural History Society Senior year; member Berzelius

Assistant in zoology Yale 1878–79, fellow in biology Johns Hopkins University 1879-81 (Ph D 1881), assistant in biology Johns Hopkins 1881-82 and fellow by courtesy 1882-84; student universities of Cambridge and Leipzig 1881-82 and at Naples Zoological Station 1882-83, lecturer on biology Williams College 1883–84, lecturer on comparative anatomy and physiology Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1884–85, associate professor and later professor of biology Bryn Mawr 1885-91, adjunct professor of biology Columbia University 1891-94, professor of invertebrate zoology 1894–98, professor of zoology 1898–1911, DaCosta Professor of Zoology 1911-28 and DaCosta professor emeritus in residence since 1928, member University Council 1901-03, 1905-06, and 1910–16, Dean Faculty of Pure Science 1905–06, for many years member consulting board of Institute of Cancer Research, Columbia University, author An Atlas of the Fertilization and Karyokinesis of the Ovum (1895), The Cell in Development and Inheritance (1896, second edition 1900, third edition under title The Cell in Development and Heredity 1925), The

Physical Basis of Life (1923); co-author (with William T. Sedgwick) An Introduction to General Biology (1887, 1895); contributed to many learned publications and had published a number of addresses in pamphlet form; trustee 1890-1929 and trustee emeritus 1929-39 Marine Biological Laboratory, Woods Hole, Mass, where he spent summers teaching and in research, represented Columbia University at Darwin Centenary 1909, delivered Crooman Lecture of the Royal Society 1914; received Elliot Gold Medal and Carty Medal from National Academy of Sciences 1925 and 1936 respectively, awarded Linnean Medal 1928, LLD. Yale and University of Chicago 1901, Johns Hopkins 1902; Sc.D. University of Cambridge 1909, Harvard 1924, and Columbia 1929, M.D. Hon University of Leipzig 1909; Ph D Hon John Casimir University, Lwów, 1926, Dr Hon University of Louvain 1927; president American Society of Zoologists 1895, American Society of Naturalists 1900, New York Academy of Sciences 1904, Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 1905-06, and American Association for the Advancement of Science 1913, fellow American Academy of Arts and Science; honorary fellow Royal Microscopical Society (London), and Royal Society (Edinburgh), honorary member Cambridge Philosophical Society, Société de Biologie (Paris), Société Zoologique de France, Société Nationale de Petrograd, Société d'Histoire Naturelle (Moscow), Portuguese Scientific Society (Lisbon), corresponding member Zoological Society (London), Preussische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Bayerische Akademie der Wissenschaften, Akademie der Wissenschaften (Vienna), Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, foreign associate Académie des Sciences (Paris) and Academia dei Lincei (Rome), foreign member Royal Society and Linnean Society (London), Académie Royale de Belgique, Royal Academy of Sciences (Amsterdam), Société Hollandaise (Haarlem), Christiania Academy, and Royal Bohemian Society of Sciences; member National Academy of Sciences

Married September 27, 1904, in Orange, NJ, Anne Maynard Kidder (BA Bryn Mawr 1903), daughter of Jerome Henry and Anne Mary (Maynard) Kidder Daughter, Nancy (Bryn Mawr ex-'28), the wife of John Lobb, '30

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Ashes interred in churchyard of the Church of the Messiah, Woods Hole, Mass. Survived by wife and daughter

Thomas Edward Doolittle, Ph.B. 1880.

Born November 15, 1858, in Cheshire, Conn. Died September 25, 1938, in North Platte, Nebr

Father, Elkanah Doolittle, a civil engineer in Onarga, Ill, First Lieutenant, Company A, Connecticut Volunteers, during Civil War, son of Milton and Mary Jane (Jones) Doolittle of Cheshire Mother, Triphenia (Pangborn) Doolittle, daughter of Thomas and Jane (Harper) Pangborn of Onarga. Yale relatives include Elkanah Doolittle (BA 1789) (greatgrandfather)

Grand Prairie Seminary and Cheshire Academy. Biology course, Class secretary and treasurer Freshman year; member graduating committee, Alpha Chi, Linonia, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Engaged in assaying and mining in Colorado 1880–83 and in stock raising and breeding in Atkinson, Nebr, in association with his brothers and under the name Doolittle Brothers 1883–1900, rancher in North Platte since 1900, member Masonic order and Church of Our Saviour (Episcopal), North Platte

Married December 17, 1884, in Atkinson, Lillian Gertrude, daughter of Andrew David and Adeline Brown Children Milton Elkanah (died in 1919), Warren Andrew (University of Nebraska ex-'10), Thomas Pangborn, Florence Adeline (died in 1907), Emily Jane, the wife of Gustave Wienbarg, and Hosmer Brown Mrs Doolittle died October 15, 1928.

Death due to bronchial pneumonia. Buried in North Platte Cemetery Survived by three sons, one daughter, nine grandchildren, and two greatgrandchildren.

Martin Edward Jensen, Ph.B. 1880.

Born October 14, 1859, in Cleveland, Ohio. Died October 6, 1938, in Norwich, Conn.

Father, Julius Bartholf Jensen, a merchant in Cleveland Mother, Amelia Jensen.

Brooks Academy, Cleveland Chemistry course, editor Yale Daily News Senior year; member Casino and Billiard clubs, York Hall and Chi Phi (delegate to convention Senior year).

Taught mathematics and science Brooks Academy 1880-81 and Norwich Free Academy 1881 until 1901 when ill-health forced retirement' from teaching profession; engaged as public accountant 1905-38, city treasurer Norwich 1903-05, moderator for first district at city and town elections for many years, member Board of Park Commissioners 1911-17 and 1925-38 and of the Gas and Electrical Commission 1907-10 and 1919-24; a corporator of the Chelsea Savings Bank; secretary and treasurer Norwich Industrial Improvement Company, treasurer Ufford Textile Company 1934-38; contributed short stories to Golf, Century, and New England Magazine, and verses to Lippincotts; member Trinity Church (Episcopal), Norwich

Married July 2, 1883, in Norwich, Susan May, daughter of Henry Lester and Anne (Roath) Parker. Son, Gerard Edward (B A 1907, M A 1909, Ph.D 1913). ٤

ト

Death due to acute cardiac dilatation Buried in Maplewood Cemetery, Norwich Survived by wife, son, and a grandson, Oliver Ormerod Jensen, '36.

Elliott Joseph Stoddard, Ph.B. 1880.

Born February 13, 1859, in Seymour, Conn. Died May 19, 1939, in Detroit, Mich

Father, Joseph Nettleton Stoddard, a farmer in Seymour, son of Abiram Stoddard (B A. 1800) and Eunice (Clark) Stoddard Mother, Sophia Ives (Budington) Stoddard, daughter of William Budington of New Haven, Conn Yale relatives include William Stoddard (B A 1804) (great-uncle), Jonathan Stoddard (B A 1831), Thomas Stoddard (M D 1836), and William Stoddard (LL B 1844) (uncles), Charles N Johnson, '58 (cousin), and Raymond F Stoddard, '93 S., Robert C Stoddard, '94 S, Clifford I Stoddard, ex-'96 S, Sanford Stoddard, '99, and Henry B Stoddard, '02 (nephews)

Hopkins Grammar School Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1877– 79, mechanical engineering course, in Class crew Freshman year; member Dunham Boat Club, Alpha Chi (campaign committee), and The Colony and Berzelius, awarded Ph B in 1910 with enrollment in Class of 1880

Attended Columbia University School of Law 1879-81 (LL B 1881), engaged in practice of law in Connecticut 1881-82, graduate student Sheffield Scientific School 1882–83, admitted to Michigan bar 1883, had engaged in practice of law in Detroit since 1883, specializing in patent law, professor of patent law Lawrence Institute of Technology 1933-39, compiled Practice in the United States Patent Office (1907), author Gas-Engine Design (1900), Interlocutory Motions in the United States Patent Office (1908), The Patent Citator (1909), Annotated Rules of Practice in the United States Patent Office (1920), for more than fifty years associated with the Detroit Young Men's Christian Association, on jury of awards, automobile exhibits, and gas engine expert, jury on marine exhibits, St Louis World's Fair 1904, member National Association of Stationary Engineers (chairman national education committee), Engineers and Mechanics Club of Detroit, Associated Technical Societies of Detroit, Detroit Engineering Society, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Society of Automotive Engineers, Sigma Rho Tau (alumni council 1928-39), State Bar of Michigan, American Bar Association, and Cass Community Methodist Episcopal Church, Detroit

Married (1) January 2, 1896, in Mayville, Mich , Jennie E , daughter of Byron Harris No children Married (2) September 14, 1910, in Detroit, Grace Harriot, daughter of Ezra Jackson and Jane (Lewis) Bartlett

170

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Woodmere Cemetery, Detroit Survived by wife and two brothers, Henry Stoddard (M A. Hon. 1888) and Robert Stoddard of Waco, Texas. His brother, William B Stoddard, ex-'65 L, died in 1921.

Edward Bailey, Ph.B. 1881.

Born October 19, 1861, in Harrisburg, Pa. Died October 17, 1938, in Harrisburg, Pa

Father, Charles Lukens Bailey, 170n merchant, founder Central Iron & Steel Company and member firm Charles L. Bailey & Company, Inc, Harrisburg, son of Joseph and Martha (Lukens) Bailey Mother, Emma Harriet (Doll) Bailey; daughter of William H and Sarah McAllister (Elder) Doll Yale relatives, besides those mentioned below, include four nephews, Charles L Bailey, 3d, '20, William S. Bailey, '21, Gilbert M. Bailey, ex-'22, and George W Reily, 3d, ex-'30 S

Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course, on Freshman Crew and Freshman Football Team, vice-president Yale University Boat Club Senior year (judge fall regatta), governor University Club and aide Yale Garfield and Arthur Battalion Senior year, on graduating committee and member St Anthony and Delta Psi

Graduate student in chemistry, Sheffield Scientific School, September-December, 1881, became associated with his father in Charles L Bailey & Company, Inc., 1882, a director Harrisburg National Bank since 1889, vice-president 1891-92, president 1892-1927, and chairman board of directors 1927-38, assisted in organization of Harrisburg Trust Company 1893 (president 1893–1918, vice-president 1918–26, and chairman board of directors since 1927), president Harrisburg Traction Company 1889-1935 and Williamsport & North Branch Railway Company, vice-president Central Iron Works 1888-91, an organizer in 1913 and first president Harrisburg Railways Company (chairman of board 1913-30), organized United Ice & Coal Company and Pennsylvania Surety Company, first treasurer American Iron & Steel Institute 1906-22, director Harrisburg Gas Company, Magee Carpet Company, Moorhead Knitting Company, Harrisburg Hotel Company, and J Horace McFarland Company; assisted in organizing and served on board of directors of many banks in Harrisburg area, including The Steelton Bank & Trust Company, Farmers Trust Company of Carlisle, Farmers National Bank of Newville, East End Trust Company of Harrisburg, Halifax National Bank, and New Cumberland National Bank; contributed largely to development of several local churches, including Market Square Presbyterian Church of which trustee, senior elder, and treasurer, Calvary and Immanuel Presbyterian churches, and Market Street Baptist Church,

represented Yale Alumni Association of Central Pennsylvania on Alumni Board 1924–27 (member executive committee 1924–27); served as treasurer of Pennsylvania State Capitol Building Commission and for fifteen years was on Pennsylvania Forestry Commission, trustee Harrisburg Home for the Friendless since 1899 and president of board since 1920; member board of trustees Pennsylvania State Hospital for the Insane at Harrisburg 1899–1938 and president of board 1925–34; member American Institute of Mining Engineers and Yale Engineering Association, since 1900 had resided at Eagles Mere during the summer and was greatly interested in development of that section (director Eagles Mere Land Company and trustee and treasurer Eagles Mere Presbyterian Church)

Married October 2, 1889, in Harrisburg, Elizabeth Hummel, daughter of George Wolf Reily (BA 1854; M.D University of Pennsylvania 1857) and Elizabeth Hummel (Kerr) Reily, and sister of George W. Reily, Jr, '92 S Children Elizabeth Reily, the wife of Henry M. Gross, '06 S, Martha, the wife of Powell Crichton (LL B Harvard 1907); and George Reily, '23 S

Death due to chronic myocarditis and chronic nephritis Buried in Harrisburg Cemetery Survived by wife, children, ten grandchildren, a sister, Emma Bailey Speer (Bryn Mawr ex-'94), the wife of Robert E. Speer (M.A Hon 1900), and a brother, James B Bailey, '89 S His brothers, William E Bailey, '82, and Charles L Bailey, Jr, ex-'86, died in 1925 and 1926 respectively

Edward Irving Stone, Ph.B. 1883.

Born October 14, 1863, in Bethlehem, Conn Died October 22, 1938, in Bethlehem, Conn

Father, George Camp Stone, for many years a town official in Bethlehem, son of David Mansfield Stone of Middlebury, Conn Mother, Lucy Ann (Strong) Stone, daughter of Chauncy and Mary Ann (Kasson) Strong of Bethlehem

Day pupil Curtis School for Girls, Bethlehem Select course, second English composition prize Freshman year

Teacher in preparatory grades, Munger Lane School, Bethlehem, 1883–84, salesman of bank and office supplies for the greater part of the time since 1884 and had also engaged in farming in Bethlehem, represented Bethlehem in Connecticut General Assembly 1901, messenger state house of representatives 1915 and later in state senate, health officer Bethlehem 1903–35 and justice of the peace 1903–16, 1918–34, Connecticut correspondent *The Commercial Stamp Trade Journal*, member Masonic order and the Grange Married (1) February 3, 1893, in Binghamton, NY., Rosa A Price. Mrs. Stone died in 1920 Married (2) April 29, 1922, in New York City, Florence, daughter of James and Martha (Stephenson) Murray

Death due to chronic myocarditis with decompensation. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, a sister, Minnie Stone VanOlinda (BO Emerson College of Oratory 1890), the wife of George W. VanOlinda of Bethlehem, and a brother, Rev Dwight C. Stone, '87 D.

Edson Keith, Ph.B. 1884.

>

Born June 27, 1862, in Chicago, Ill Died February 4, 1939, in Sarasota, Fla

Father, Edson Keith, president Edson Keith & Company, milliners in Chicago Mother, Susan (Woodruff) Keith. Yale relatives include Walter W. Keith, '92 S (brother), Elbridge B. Keith, '90 S (cousin), and Walter W. Keith, ex-'23 S. (nephew).

Harvard School, Chicago. Dynamic engineering course, vice-president of the Class and member cup committee Senior year; Bicycle Club, member Alpha Chi (campaign committee), and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Engaged in study of languages and in voice culture in Paris 1884–85, attended Columbia University School of Law 1885–88 (LL B 1889), resided in Denver, Colo, 1891–92; engaged in business in Chicago 1892– 1916 as member firms Keith Brothers & Company (wholesale manufacturers of men's hats and gloves), Edson Keith & Company (wholesale millinery), and Keith & Company (grain elevators), moved to Sarasota in 1916 and engaged in fruit farming until retirement in 1923, contributed to a number of magazines; composed several songs and a light opera, member Yale Club of Sarasota, and Universalist church

Married April 15, 1891, in Denver, Colo, Nettie, daughter of Frederick Amelung and Sarah Elizabeth (Pike) Keener Children. Edson (died June 10, 1892), Katherine (Ph B University of Chicago 1916, died May 26, 1930), who was the wife of David Adler, Jr (B A Princeton 1904), and Frederick Walter, *ex*-'18 S.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by wife, one son, and one grandson, Frederick W. Keith, Jr, '42.

Robert Neill Brace, Ph.B. 1885.

Born October 3, 1861, in Hastings-on-Hudson, N.Y. Died December 24, 1938, in Ridgefield, Conn.

Father, Charles Loring Brace (B A 1846), founder of Children's Aid Society 1853 Mother, Letitia (Neill) Brace Yale relatives include a brother, Charles Loring Brace, '76 S, and a nephew, Charles Loring Brace, 3d, '18 S

Hooker's Academy. Dynamic engineering course Second prize in English composition Freshman year, honorable mention in mathematics Junior year, winner 440-yard dash spring athletic games and Sheffield Scientific School athletic games Junior year, member Class tennis club Junior and Senior years, on graduating committee.

Worked as civil engineer with Northern Pacific Railroad 1885–93; had been superintendent home-finding department Children's Aid Society, New York City, 1893 until retirement in 1931, since retirement had resided in Ridgefield, member St Stephen's Church (Episcopal), Ridgefield

Married June 5, 1909, in New York City, Elizabeth Mead, daughter of Augustus L and Sarah E (St John) Hyde. No children.

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y Survived by wife and two sisters, Emma Brace Donaldson (Smith *ex-*'81), the widow of Henry H Donaldson, '79, and Letitia Brace Croswell, the wife of James Croswell (B A Harvard 1873) of Santa Barbara, Calif

Merritt Mead Clark, Ph.B. 1885.

Born May 12, 1865, in Bedford, NY Died April 5, 1939, in Brookfield, Conn

Father, John Green Clark, a farmer in Bedford, son of John and Lucy (Mead) Clark of Bedford Mother, Mary Augusta (Mead) Clark, daughter of Edward and Susan Ann Eliza (Merritt) Mead of Greenwich, Conn Yale relatives include an uncle, Daniel M Mead, *ex*-1856

Bedford Academy. Select course; third English composition prize Freshman year

Engaged in farming in Bedford 1885–1906 and in Brookfield Center, Conn, since 1907, vice-president county Farm Bureau, treasurer Town of Brookfield 1932–38; member Masonic order.

Married (1) June 7, 1898, in Bedford, Mary Eunice, daughter of James and Ellen (Castle) Rankin. Mrs Clark died February 16, 1933 Married (2) May 24, 1934, in South Salem, NY, Mary, daughter of William Augustus and Sarah (Fassett) Castle

Death due to carcinoma Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs John Robertson Holmes of Katonah, NY, and a brother, John Willis Clark of Bedford.

David Leavitt Hough, Ph.B. 1885.

Born April 27, 1865, in Fort Wayne, Ind Died October 12, 1938, in Amityville, NY

Father, John Hough (B A. Middlebury College 1838), a lawyer in Fort Wayne; son of John Hough (B A 1802, D D Middlebury College 1845) and Lucy (Leavitt) Hough of Middlebury Mother, Sarah E (Dawkins) Hough Yale relatives include Sheldon C Leavitt, B A 1802 (great-uncle), John H. Wickersham, '01 S, and E. Winslow Williams, '14 (nephews)

Private tutor Dynamic engineering course, member Theta X1

Worked in Wabash Railroad shops, Springfield, Ill, 1885-86 and in Southwark Foundry & Machine Company, Philadelphia, 1886–87, superintendent of shops Belmont Iron Works 1887–88, shipping clerk and later chief engineer of structural department at Camden Iron Works of R D Wood & Company 1888-92, chief engineer and general manager East River Gas Company, Long Island City, 1892-95 (designed company's plant at Ravenswood and its distribution system in Manhattan), traveled in Europe and Northern Africa 1895–97, general manager National Contracting Company 1897–98, commissioned Lieutenant, First Regiment, US Volunteer Engineers, June 7, 1898, served as Regimental Quartermaster June 14–September, 1898, commissioned Captain, Company F, September, 1898, detailed January, 1899, as transport quartermaster in charge of USS Manitoba and was engaged in transporting troops to Cuba, mustered out of service January 25, 1899, president and organizer United Engineering & Contracting Company, New York City, March 1899 (built Manhattan crosstown tunnels from the East River to Pennsylvania Station), became president New York Tunnel Company 1905, with this company completed construction for Interborough Rapid Transit Company of tunnel under East River from Battery Park to Brooklyn (the first subaqueous tunnel from Manhattan put into operation), president Cuban Engineering & Contracting Company organized in 1898 to build Havana sewer system, managing director Moscow Central Station Company 1914–17, in charge of new-business department, and later on special assignments The Foundation Company, New York City, 1920-31; commissioned Major, Construction Division,

Quartermasters Corps, April 17, 1918; transferred May 30, 1918, to Stevedore and Labor Branch to organize, equip, and instruct labor battalions; detailed October 8 as Army member, Longshoremen's War Committee, New York City; discharged December 14, 1918; member Committee of Twenty-One, Inc, for development of athletic facilities at Yale, member Union Club, Naval and Military Order of the Spanish-American War, Yale Engineering Association, American societies of Civil Engineers, Mechanical Engineers, and Mining Engineers, American Institute of Gas Engineers; attended St. Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married December 2, 1903, in New York City, Heloise, daughter of William Bedlow and Katherine Morris (Parker) Beekman. Children: Heloise Beekman (B A. Barnard 1929; M D. Cornell 1934) and John Beekman (Lehigh University 1929–31; Rutgers University 1931–33) Mrs Hough died April 18, 1936.

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Lindenwood Cemetery, Fort Wayne Survived by son and daughter.

Harry David Kohn, Ph.B. 1885.

Born April 1, 1865, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 26, 1938, in New York City.

Father, David Abraham Kohn, member Kohn Brothers, clothiers in Chicago, son of Abraham and Dorothea Kohn of Wurttemberg, Germany, and Chicago Mother, Theresa (Levi) Kohn.

Chicago High School Select course; historian for select course; member Alpha Chi

Associated with Kohn Brothers, Chicago, as employee and later as member of firm 1885–97; head of firm of Kohn & Company, wholesale clothiers, New York City, 1897–1910, partner, secretary, and treasurer Washington Clothing Company, New York City, 1897–1913 and president of merged firms of Alfred Benjamin Company–Washington Company 1913–19; vice-president Industrial Acceptance Corporation, New York City, 1919–25; customer's man with Newburger, Henderson & Loeb 1928 until retirement 1930; served as president National Association of Clothiers.

Married October 4, 1892, in Chicago, Nellie, daughter of David and Carrie (Rosenfeld) Stettauer. Daughter, Eleanor Frances (B.A. Smith College 1923)

Death due to arteriosclerosis and bronchial pneumonia. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by wife and daughter

Willard Crawford Reid, Ph.B. 1885.

Born October 14, 1862, in Syracuse, NY Died March 16, 1939, in New York City

Father, Lewis Hubbard Reid, B A 1847 Mother, Maria Louisa (Fuller) Reid. Yale relatives include Lewis F Reid, '75, Clarence L Reid, '77, and Edward W. Reid, '86 (brothers), Horace H Reid (B A 1843) (uncle); and Allen W Reid, ex-'09 (nephew)

Prepared under his father and eldest brother at Lakeville, Conn. Select course; teacher Broadway Mission School Senior year

Engaged in business in Chicago 1885–87, in charge wholesale department Gray & Collins, grocers in Chicago, 1887–89; established his own firm 1890 under name Davis, Reid & Alexander (later Alexander & Reid Company), tiles, mantels, and fireplaces, New York City, and served as secretary and treasurer until 1908, president and treasurer Cutler Mills Company, Packerville, Conn, 1909–17, owner and treasurer Reid Mills Company, North Oxford, Mass, 1917–22, retired in 1922, since retirement lived in New York City winters and in Lakeville summers, member Society of Mayflower Descendants and Central Presbyterian Church, New York City (deacon 1899–1904 and elder since 1904)

Married October 15, 1903, in Washingtonville, NY, Antoinette, daughter of Walter Raymond and Mary Scott (Denniston) Marsh Son, Edward Marsh Mrs. Reid died March 1, 1924.

Death due to a stroke Burned in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y. Survived by son

Henry Howard Whitehouse, Ph.B. 1885.

Born April 6, 1864, in Hartford, Conn Died August 24, 1938, in Mystic, Conn

Father, Abraham Percival Whitehouse, an inventor of firearms, superintendent and manager Colt's Patent Fire Arms Manufacturing Company, Hartford; son of Isaac Whitehouse of Birmingham, England Mother, Frances Deline (Chaffee) Whitehouse; daughter of Abel and Mary (Vineca) Chaffee of South Wilbraham, Mass

Hartford Public High School Biology course; Commencement speaker; member Yale Bicycle Club Junior and Senior years

Graduate student in physiological chemistry Sheffield Scientific School 1885–86, attended College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 1886–89 (M D. 1889); interne New York Skin and Cancer Hospital 1889–91; engaged in practice of medicine New York City since 1891, specializing in dermatology and syphilology; instructor in

Yale University Obituary Record

dermatology 1894-97, departmental director and professor of dermatology and syphilology 1914-28 New York Post-Graduate Medical School, clinical instructor in dermatology Cornell University Medical College 1902-06, visiting physician Demilt Dispensary where he also held a class in skin diseases 1894-1909; attending dermatologist Post-Graduate Hospital 1919-34, associated with New York Skin and Cancer Hospital 1896–1934 (clinical assistant, assisting physician, physician, attending physician, and finally president medical board), retired from active hospital work 1934 but continued as consulting dermatologist and syphilologist New York Skin and Cancer Unit of Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital, associated with Manhattan State Hospital, Home for the Friendless, Wartburg Farm School, Bushwick Hospital, and St Mary's Hospital (Hoboken, N.J.), contributed to numerous medical journals, diplomate American Board of Dermatology and Syphilology; honorary member American Dermatological and Syphilological Society; member New York Dermatological Society (president 1900, 1908, 1926), medical societies of the State and County of New York, American Medical Association, American Dermatological Association, Yale Engineering Association, and Fifth Avenue Presbyterian Church, New York City

Married (1) October 11, 1893, in Brooklyn, NY, Lillian, daughter of James Joseph and Matilda (Hubbard) Van Winkle. Children Chester Howard (died in infancy) and Irving Percival, '19 Mrs Whitehouse died April 6, 1930 Married (2) July 9, 1932, in Mystic, Carolyn Harding, daughter of Silas Edwin and Helen Louise (Tift) Beebe.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Elm Grove Cemetery, Mystic Survived by wife, one son, and five grandchildren

William David Johnson, Ph.B. 1886.

Born November 13, 1863, in Staffordville, Conn Died May 10, 1939, in Hartford, Conn

Father, David Ebenezer Johnson of Stafford and New Haven, Conn, carpenter and builder associated with Todd & Son, New Haven, son of Luther and Polly (Washburn) Johnson of Stafford Mother, Maranda (Colburn) Johnson, daughter of Dexter and Louisa (Tupper) Colburn of Stafford

Woodstock (Conn) Academy and Hillhouse High School Dynamic engineering course, third English composition prize and honorable mention in all studies Freshman year, prize for excellence in mathematics Junior year, Commencement speaker, prize for excellence in dynamic engineering Senior year

Associated with Rhode Island Locomotive Works, Providence, RI,

1886–87; engineer New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1887–91; partner Curtis & Johnson, architects in Hartford, 1891– 1903; independently engaged as an architect in Hartford 1903–11 and since 1921; had branch office in New York City 1905–07; organized William D. Johnson Construction Company, New York City, 1907, member Johnson & Burns, Inc., Hartford, 1911–21, his firm designed Woodland and Holcomb Street schools, Hartford, the State Reformatory, Cheshire, Conn, buildings of the State Hospital, Middletown, Conn., and many residences in Connecticut and apartment houses in New York City; member Yale Engineering Association, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, and First Baptist Church, Hartford (president Hartford Baptist Union for many years)

Married December 15, 1887, in Putnam, Conn, Carrie Lummis, daughter of Lucian Benjamin and Eunice Ann (Chapman) Webster. Son, Roy Webster.

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife and son.

Arthur W1swell Jepson, Ph.B. 1889.

Born October 21, 1866, in New Haven, Conn Died September 21, 1938, at Stony Creek, Conn

Father, Benjamin Jepson (M A Hon 1912), composer, author, and critic; first public school supervisor of music in the United States, for over fifty years teacher of music in New Haven public schools, Benjamin Jepson School in New Haven named in his honor, son of John Jepson of New Haven. Mother, Mary Louise (Wiswell) Jepson, daughter of James Madison and Emmeline (Eddy) Wiswell of New Haven

Hillhouse High School Dynamic engineering course, member Freshman Glee Club

Office manager C W. Morse & Company, New Haven, 1889–91, secretary and treasurer Metropolis Manufacturing Company 1891, worked with surveyors for New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad 1891–92, office manager George Osborn Manufacturing Company, metal goods, Bridgeport, Conn, 1893–96, in charge assembling department American Graphophone Company, Bridgeport, 1896–1907 and of building operations for W. E Sessions Company in Bristol, Conn, 1907–09, manager Bristol Water Company 1909–18, cashier, paymaster, and later assistant sales manager Dunbar Brothers Company, spring manufacturers in Bristol, 1918–26, comptroller Bristol Hospital, Inc, 1926–28, retired in 1928 because of ill-health, was greatly interested in music and had several choirs under his charge, in 1907 was musical director of the choir of West End Congregational Church and leader of the Tippecanoe Glee Club, both in Bridgeport; member Prospect Methodist Church, Bristol.

Married October 21, 1890, in Stony Creek, Adelaide Julia, daughter of Nathan Cuyler and Jeannette (Barnes) Frink. Children Lilian Isabelle, the wife of Dwight Herrick Carter, '14, and Alida (died March 13, 1902).

Mr and Mrs Jepson lost their lives when their summer residence was destroyed by a hurricane and tidal wave. Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol Survived by daughter, three grandchildren, a sister, Clara Louise Jepson Beers (Smith ex-'98, Yale School of Music ex-'06), the wife of Clifford W Beers, '97 S, and a brother, Professor Harry B. Jepson, '93.

George Wellington Miles, Ph.B. 1889.

Born December 30, 1868, in Milford, Conn. Died March 29, 1939, in Winthrop, Mass.

Father, George Wellington Miles, a manufacturer of fertilizer in Milford, son of Theophilus and Eliza Judson (Curtis) Miles of Milford. Mother, Mary (Lee) Miles, daughter of John and Mary (Sheffield) Lee of Lyme, Conn Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Stiles Judson, '85 L

Hopkins Grammar School Chemistry course, coxswain Class crew Freshman year

Spent summer of 1889 at Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station, New Haven, in chemical laboratory, Illinois Steel Company, Chicago, 1889–90, first assistant Stillwell & Gladding, analytical chemists, New York City, 1890–92; in charge of laboratory of A O. Little, analytical chemist, Boston, 1892–1900, since 1900 had been independently engaged as a consulting and analytical chemist in Boston, held a number of patents in the cellulose field, was first to discover commercially valuable cellulose acetates and first to recognize the process of partial hydration of acetated cellulose which opened up new fields in the industry, inventor Miles process of sewage salvage, member American Chemical Society, American Leather Chemists Association, Technical Association of the Pulp and Paper Industry, Society of Chemical Industry, and Royal Society of Arts (London), attended Congregational church

Married August 25, 1914, in Boston, Alice Adelle, daughter of Manassa nd Eliza (Donnell) Roden No children. Mrs Miles died June 16, 1930

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and cardiac thrombosis. Buried in Milford Cemetery Survived by a sister, Miss Martha Curtis Miles (Music certificate 1918) Another sister, Minnie M Judson (Art certificate 1887), died in 1938

Ralph Roger Clapp, Ph.B. 1890.

Born November 22, 1867, in Pawtucket, R I. Died October 9, 1938, in Providence, R I

Father, Bela Parsons Clapp, a manufacturing chemist in Pawtucket, son of Bela Parsons and Cynthia (Carr) Clapp of Williamsburg, Mass Mother, Sarah Anne (Hopkins) Clapp; daughter of Samuel Rice Hopkins of Rice City, R I

Pawtucket High School, attended Brown University 1886-87 (member Delta Upsilon) Chemistry course, Senior appointment, Commencement speaker; member The Colony and Berzelius

Assistant in analytical chemistry Yale University 1890–91, superintendent Standard Ammonia Company, London, England, 1891–1912, president B. P. Clapp Ammonia Company, New York City, 1912–30, associated with Providence Gas Company 1930 until retirement in 1932, member British Empire Club, Providence

Married May 25, 1893, in Pawtucket, Alice, daughter of Pardon Elisha Tillinghast (M A Hon Brown 1890) and Ellen Frances (Paine) Tillinghast. Children Roger Tillinghast (B A Brown 1919, LL B Harvard 1922) and Kenneth John Mrs Clapp died September 13, 1936

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence. Survived by sons, four grandchildren, a sister, Mrs J Howard Hull of White Plains, NY, and a brother, Samuel Hopkins Clapp (BA 1901, Ph D 1908)

Clarence Beverly Davison, Ph.B. 1890.

Born June 27, 1869, in Brooklyn, NY Died July 17, 1938, in Millbrook, NY

Father, Henry James Davison, an engineer in New York City, son of James and Theresa (Danziger) Davison of New York City Mother, Ella Cole (Howard) Davison, daughter of George Washington and Carolyn (Foreman) Howard of Balqumore, Md Yale relatives include G Howard Davison, '88 S (brother), William Bayne, 3d, '11 S., Carroll S Bayne, '14 S, Alden Davison, ex-'19, and Howard C Davison, '24 S (nephews)

Drisler School, New York City. Civil engineering course, won lightweight wrestling bout against the Freshmen Junior year, Class crew Freshman and Senior years, vice-president Yale Athletic Association Junior year; member New York City Club, St Anthony, and Delta Psi

Associated with Bayne & Davison, coffee jobbers and importers in New York City 1890–1909 (partner 1896–1909), senior member Davison & Murphy, coffee importers, New York City, 1909–38, director G B Farrington & Company, New York City, since 1919, chairman of the board MacThwaite Oil & Gas Company and of its successor, the Petroleum Investment Company, since 1926; during World War was director New York Coffee and Sugar Exchange and major in volunteer police reserves New York City, retained his interest in sports after graduation and in 1896 was lightweight wrestling champion New York Athletic Club, in the late 90's began to raise and release pheasants on the estate of his uncle in Millbrook, being one of the first backers of the sport in the state, with his son was joint owner of the Millbrook Pheasant Farm, the oldest paid shooting preserve in the United States, had resided there since, 1929, chairman game committee Wyandanch Club, Smithtown, N Y,' 1915–29, member Masonic order and Lyall Memorial Federated Church, Millbrook

Married March 24, 1891, in New York City, Helen, daughter of William and Amanda (Kerfoot) Bayne Son, Clarence Beverly, Jr, '18 S

Death due to endarteritis obliterans and myocardial degeneration. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City Survived by wife, son, three grandchildren, two sisters, Miss Ella Howard Davison of Millbrook and New York City, and Mrs Reginald Pownall of England, and a brother, Henry J Davison, Jr (LL B Columbia 1884)

Frederick James Mann, Ph.B. 1890.

Born October 13, 1870, in Utica, NY Died June 23, 1939, in El Cerrito, Calif

Father, James Ford Mann, ex-'59, a lawyer in Utica, son of Charles Addison and Emma (Bagg) Mann of Utica Mother, Emma Louise (Oberteuffer) Mann, daughter of John Henry and Elizabeth (Mariner) Oberteuffer of Philadelphia, Pa Yale relatives include Moses Bagg (B A 1837) and Matthew Bagg (B A. 1839) (great-uncles), Charles A. Mann (B A 1856) and Matthew D Mann (B A 1867) (uncles), and Arthur S Mann, '99, Joseph R Swan, '02, Paul F. Mann, '03, Matthew D Mann, Jr, '06 S, Alan N Mann, '08, Richard L Mann, '09 S (cousins)

Utica Free Academy Biology course

Attended University of Buffalo Medical School 1890–93 (M D 1893), resident, medical staff, Buffalo General Hospital, 1893–94, resident physician Infants' Summer Hospital, Charlotte, N Y, one summer and Hudson River State Hospital, Poughkeepsie, 1896–99, engaged in practice of medicine, specializing in diseases of ear, eye, nose, and throat, Poughkeepsie, 1899–1915, New Britain, Conn, 1915–24, Southington, Conn, 1924-29, on staff of Westport Sanitarium 1929-33, in practice Darien, Conn., 1933–38; retired 1938 and had since resided in Berkeley, Calif; assistant Manhattan Eye, Ear and Throat Hospital 1905–07 and on staff St Francis Hospital, Poughkeepsie, school physician Poughkeepsie 1907–15, secretary Medical Society of Dutchess County 1907–14, member Medical Society of the State of New York, American Psychiatric Association, American Medical Association, and St Luke's Church (Episcopal), Noroton, Conn

Married January 3, 1901, in Poughkeepsie, Mina Louise, daughter of Joseph George and Rebecca Carmen (North) Frost Children. Eleanor North (B A Vassar 1922, M A 1924), the wife of George H Guttridge (B.A University of Cambridge 1920, M A 1925), and Julia Duhring (B A Vassar 1924), the wife of George A Buchanan (Columbia ex-'26). Mrs Mann died November 16, 1938

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Utica. Survived by daughters, two sisters, Miss Julia D Mann of Utica and Sophia Mann Doolittle, the wife of Julius T. A Doolittle, '84, and two brothers, Clarence Churchill Mann (BA Harvard 1899) of Toronto, and John H Mann, '83 S

Henry Hudson Shepard, Ph.B. 1891.

Born June 16, 1871, in Indianapolis, Ind Died January 7, 1939, in New York City

Father, Orry Mortimer Shepard, general superintendent New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, New Haven, Conn, served in U S Telegraph Service in the Civil War, son of Henry Hudson and Augusta (Case) Shepard of Honeoye Falls, N Y Mother, Cornelia (Clark) Shepard, daughter of Dr Walter Clark and Eliza (McConnell) Clark of Harrison, Ohio

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Civil engineering course, Senior appointment, member Second Glee Club and Theta Delta Chi

In engineering departments New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company 1891–95 and Burlington, Cedar Rapids & Northern Railroad, Cedar Rapids, Iowa, 1895–96, superintendent Unadilla Valley Railway 1896–1901, superintendent Delaware, Lackawanna & Western Railroad Company in Easton, Pa, Syracuse, NY, and Scranton, Pa, 1901–10, in Buffalo, NY, and Hoboken, NJ, 1914–18, and general superintendent with offices in Scranton 1918–26, general superintendent Charlotte Harbor & Northern Railway, Boca Grande, Fla, 1911–14, vice-president and general manager Brooklyn Eastern District Terminal since 1926, private Company F, Second Regiment, Connecticut National Guard, 1888–91, member American Society of Civil Engineers and Episcopal church Married May 21, 1901, in Cincinnati, Fanny Lee, daughter of George Washington and Rebecca Lawder (Parker) Ward. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Honeoye Falls Cemetery. Survived by wife and three sisters, Mrs Harry M Pollock of Wyoming, Ohio, Idyl Shepard Way (*ex-*'86 Art), the wife of Charles L. Way, '85, and Mrs Louise Shepard Crawford of New York City.

Amasa Trowbridge, Ph.B. 1891.

Born November 10, 1870, in Hartford, Conn. Died April 14, 1939, in Togus, Me.

Father, Elisha Trowbridge, an iron founder associated with Mathushek Piano Company of West Haven, Conn, son of John Works and Delotia (Lyon) Trowbridge of Eastford and West Haven Mother, Agnes (Brown) Trowbridge, daughter of Matthew and Janet (Anderson) Brown of New Haven Yale relatives include a nephew, Henry E. Trowbridge, ex-'10 S

Hillhouse High School Mechanical engineering course; member Class Book Committee

Draftsman C B Cottrell & Sons, Westerly, R I, 1891-92; superintendent of buildings and grounds Connecticut State Hospital, Middletown, 1892-93, designer General Electric Company, Lynn, Mass, February-September, 1893, and with Winchester Repeating Arms Company 1893–95, engineer Pope Tube Works, Hartford, 1895–96, instructor Boardman Manual Training High School, New Haven, 1896–97, independently engaged as consulting engineer New Haven 1897–98; designer William Cramp & Sons, Philadelphia, 1898–99, instructor in mechanical and marine engineering Lehigh University 1899-1903; adjunct professor of mechanical engineering Columbia University 1903-06, salesman and engineer Nonpareil Cork Manufacturing Company, New York City, 1906-07, works manager The Veeder Manufacturing Company, Hartford, 1907–13, president and manager Rhodes Manufacturing Company, Hartford, 1913-15, division superintendent Remington Arms & Ammunition Company, Bridgeport, Conn, 1915–17, works manager H L. Raphael's Refinery, London, 1919–22, secretary for education National Industrial Conference Board, New York City, 1922-23, appraisal engineer Day & Zimmerman, Philadelphia, 1924-25; chief engineer The Sesamee Company, Hartford, 1925-30, securities salesman Cities Service Company, Hartford, 1930-34, supervising engineer Willimantic (Conn) Airport 1934, had been in ill-health since 1934, enlisted Naval Battalion, Connecticut National Guard, October 17, 1896, as fireman; promoted chief engineer and lieutenant commanding Engineer Division November 9, 1897, commissioned Passed Assistant Engineer with rank of Lieutenant (J.g.), US Navy, June 22, 1898, served as chief engineer aboard USS. Catskill until discharge September 27, 1898, commissioned Major, Ordnance, June 25, 1917, first assistant works manager, Watervliet Arsenal July 31, 1917–June 7, 1919, translated Mechanics of Air Machinery by Julius Weisbach and Gustav Herrmann (1905), assisted in revision of The Century Dictionary (1905), in 1906 revised articles on mechanical and marine engineering subjects for New International Encyclopedia and Nelson's Encyclopedia; contributed to various technical magazines, member Yale Engineering Association, New England Society of Naval Engineers, Society of Automotive Engineers, Society of Naval Architects and Marine Engineers, American Society of Naval Engineers, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Spanish War Veterans, Sigma X1 (Columbia chapter), Masonic order, and Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Married September 4, 1900, in North Haven, Conn, Mary Carolyn, daughter of Joseph Edwin and Margaret (Stewart) Bishop

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Cedar Hill Cemetery, Hartford. Survived by wife, two sisters, Miss Cornelia Burton Trowbridge (B S. Cornell 1899) of Eastford, and Miss Janette Trowbridge (B.S. Columbia 1906) of Melbourne Beach, Fla, and a brother, E Grant Trowbridge, '94 S

Ralph William Sprague, Ph.B. 1892.

Born June 12, 1869, in Chicago, Ill Died January 21, 1939, in Orange, Calif.

Father, William Sprague, a glass merchant in Chicago, son of William and Louisa (Jewett) Sprague of Hallowell, Me Mother, Caroline Robinson (Smith) Sprague, daughter of Justin Ely and Cornelia (Wetmore) Smith of Hallowell Yale relatives include. Edward P Smith, '94 S, and E. Burnham Smith, '98 (cousins).

Phillips-Andover. Select course; member Andover Club and Theta Delta Chi.

Salesman W. H. Heegaard & Company, wholesale cigar and tobacco firm, Chicago, 1892–1905, secretary Sprague Smith Company, wholesale jobbers of plate and window glass, Chicago, 1905–21, engaged in farming in Rive side, Calif, 1921–25, in real estate business, Los Angeles, 1925–31; since 1932 had lived on Balboa Island, California

Married June 20, 1893, in Chicago, Ione Vail, daughter of William Henry and Bettie Louise (Vail) Heegaard Children Louise Heegaard (Sweet Briar College ex-'17), the wife of Julian Chesney Brooks (Northwestern University ex-'19), Katharine (died January 16, 1901), and Caroline (Drake University ex-'26), the wife of H Sturgis Smith

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Los Angeles Survived by wife, two daughters, three grandchildren, and two brothers, Frederick W Sprague, '87, and Richard P Sprague of Wilmette, Ill

William Rankin Johnston, Ph.B. 1893.

Born February 12, 1872, in Shippensburg, Pa Died December 26, 1938, in Shippensburg, Pa.

Father, George Vance Johnston, a merchant in Rock Island, Ill, and later a farmer in Shippensburg, son of John and Mary (Vance) Johnston of Shippensburg Mother, Abigail McGinley (Rankin) Johnston, daughter of Dr William Rankin (University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1817–19) and Caroline Olivia (Nevin) Rankin of Shippensburg Yale relatives include a cousin, George V Harper, '83 S

Cumberland Valley State Normal School and private tutor Chemistry course, honorable mention for work in advanced chemistry Freshman year, Senior appointment, member Franklin Hall and Theta X1

Chemist Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station 1893-94 and National Cash Register Company, Dayton, Ohio, 1894-95; attended Yale School of Law 1896-97 (LL B 1897); admitted to the bar in Franklin County, Pa, 1897, in Philadelphia 1898, and in Cumberland County, Pa, 1901, associated with J Quincy Hemsicker in practice of law Philadelphia 1897–1901, practiced independently in Shippensburg since 1901, secretary and treasurer A S Wade & Company, Registered, manufacturers of telephone pole fittings in Shippensburg, 1908-25, Valley Lumber Company 1912–25, Robinia Pin Company 1913–26, and Gulf Arm & Creosoting Company, general counsel since 1922, trust officer since 1926, and a director since 1929 First National Bank of Shippensburg, vice-president Mountain Breeze Orchard Company 1912-37, and of the Yale Alumni Association of Central Pennsylvania 1914-15, member Cumberland County, Philadelphia, and Franklin County Bar associations, American Association for the Advancement of Science, American Chemical Society, and Shippensburg Presbyterian Church (treasurer 1907–21)

Married February 2, 1911, in New York City, Jean Moodey Beattie (Wilson College *ex-'11*), daughter of George Edgar and Mary Addah (Moodey) Beattie Daughter, Jean Vance (B A Smith College 1934; Ph D Yale 1938)

Death due to chronic myocardial degeneration Buried in Spring Hill Cemetery, Shippensburg Survived by wife and daughter.

\$

William Lansing, Jr., Ph.B. 1893.

Born July 12, 1874, in Albany, N.Y. Died March 20, 1939, in New York City

Father, William Lansing (BA Williams 1857), a lawyer in Albany Mother, Caroline (McClellan) Lansing

Albany Academy. Mechanical engineering course, member The Colony and Berzelius

Civil engineer Texas Central Railroad Company, Waco, 1893–95, assistant engineer and later engineer Department of Docks, New York City, 1895–1937, in this position he was in charge of construction of the Staten Island docks and Floyd Bennett Airport, engineer New York Edison Company 1915–18; retired in 1937, commissioned Captain, Engineers, September 3, 1918; at Engineer Officers' Training Corps, Camp A. A. Humphreys, until November 12, 1918, with Company C, 124th Engineers, at Camp Forrest until discharge April 30, 1919, member Yale Engineering Association.

Married October 7, 1903, in Brookline, Mass, Mabel, daughter of Charles D and Mary Brown Daughter, Marianne (Mrs Fountain)

Death due to a heart attack Buried in Albany Survived by wife, daughter, and a sister, Mrs Edward Simon

Ralph Stewart Robinson, Ph.B. 1894.

Born February 9, 1870, in Colchester, Conn Died July 8, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Myron Winslow Robinson (M D Berkshire Medical Institution 1861) Mother, Emma Jane (Stewart) Robinson

Bacon Academy, Colchester. Mechanical and electrical engineering courses

Worked in an engine room, Derby, Conn, for short time 1894 to gain practical knowledge of steam engines, associated with Marlin Firearms Company, New Haven, as chief clerk and later as traffic manager 1894– 1917, in service department New Haven Clock Company since 1918, from 1917 to 1924 resided in East Haven, auditor for East Haven 1923– 24, member Sons of Union Veterans of the Civil War, Yale Engineering Association, and St John's Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married (1) in January, 1895, in New Haven, Josephine Marie, daughter of Richard F Kellogg Children Emma Stewart, the wife of Arthur J Petrie, '17; Myron Winslow, and Ralph Stewart, Jr Mr and Mrs Robinson were divorced in 1915 Married (2) September 16, 1920, in

1

New Haven, Edna, daughter of Samuel Jackson and Mathilde (Gustafson) Wilson

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, six grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Anne M. Robinson of New York City

John Lawrence Yates, Ph.B. 1894.

Born February 27, 1872, in Milwaukee, Wis. Died November 3, 1938, in Fox Point, Wis

Father, Theodore Yates, Colonel, U S. Army, retired, son of Peter Yates of Syracuse, N Y Mother, Marion Jane (Wolcott) Yates; daughter of Dr Erastus Bradley Wolcott and Jane (Dousman) Wolcott of Wisconsin

Milwaukee Academy and Phillips-Exeter Mechanical engineering course, Class baseball team and sergeant University Drum Corps Junior year, member University and Exeter clubs.

Graduate student in biology and chemistry University of Wisconsin 1894-95 (BS 1895), attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1895-99 (MD 1899), interne Johns Hopkins Hospital 1899-1901, assistant in pathology Johns Hopkins 1901-02, assistant demonstrator of pathology University of Pennsylvania 1902-03; member staff Augustana Hospital, Chicago, 1903–06, had engaged in the practice of medicine in Milwaukee since 1906, being particularly interested in the study and treatment of peritonitis, Hodgkin's disease, and cancer, professor of surgery Marquette University 1913-20 and associate research professor of oncology 1937-38; appointed associate research professor of oncology University of Wisconsin July 1, 1938, member surgical staff Milwaukee County Hospital 1906–26, on consulting staff 1926–38, and head of oncology department since 1937, member surgical staff Milwaukee Children's Hospital 1907-20 and on consulting staff since 1920; attending surgeon Columbia Hospital, Milwaukee, 1916-38, and Muirdale Sanatorium for Tuberculosis 1921–32, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Wisconsin 1934-35, president 1935-37, and representative on Alumni Board 1915-34 (second vice-chairman 1930-31; member nominating committee 1932 and executive committee 1928–30); member honorary committee on Yale War Memorial 1920, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, October 25, 1917, at La Panne, Belgium, promoted to Major June 6, 1918, and to Lieutenant Colonel October 23, 1918; attached to surgical unit serving with field and mobile hospitals during Château-Thierry, St Mihiel, and Argonne offensives, discharged January 23, 1919; awarded Senn medal 1905 and the Samuel D Gross Prize of the Philadelphia Academy of Medicine 1915, fellow American College of

Surgeons and American Surgical Association, honorary member Minneapolis Surgical Association, member Society of Clinical Surgery, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Medical Association (chairman section on general and abdominal surgery 1934–35), State Medical Society of Wisconsin, Milwaukee Surgical Society, Medical Society of Milwaukee County, Milwaukee Academy of Medicine, Chicago Surgical Society, American Board of Surgery, Western Surgical Association, and Eclat Club; attended Episcopal church

Married April 26, 1905, in Baltimore, Md, Kathrine, daughter of George Abram and Mary (Wingerd) Gross No children

Death due to arteriosclerosis of the kidneys Ashes interred in Forest Home Cemetery, Milwaukee. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Louis Allis of Milwaukee.

Richard Armstrong, Ph.B. 1895.

Born July 16, 1873, in Saybrook, Conn Died August 4, 1938, in Hampton, Va

Father, William Nevins Armstrong, '58. Mother, Mary Frances (Morgan) Armstrong Yale relatives include. William D Morgan, '58, and Charles L Morgan, '67 (uncles), Morgan K Armstrong, '01 S (brother); Morgan Walcott, '88 S, and Gerald Morgan, '01 (cousins)

Banner School, Hampton, and Phillips-Andover Civil engineering course, Freshman Football Team and Crew, Freshman substitute University Football Team and member of team Junior and Senior years, University Crew Junior and Senior years (captain Senior year), vicepresident University Boat Club Senior year, member Andover Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Partner Armstrong Brothers Company, wholesale oyster growers in Hampton, since 1895, president Armstrong Land & Improvement Company 1904–38, Armstrong Seatag Corporation 1914–19, and Security Storage & Van Company, Norfolk, Va, 1917–38, Captain American Red Cross and director Bureau of Naval Service, American Red Cross Commission for Great Britain, September 15, 1918–March 31, 1919, member Elizabeth City County Board of Supervisors 1914–18, appointed by Governor Pollard member of Virginia Commission of Fisheries 1930, and commissioner 1931–38, Alumni Fund agent for his Class 1905–18 and since 1919, president Yale Club of Virginia 1921–22, Virginia State chairman Southern Division, Yale \$20,000,000 Endowment Campaign 1926; governor Yale Publishing Association, director W. F Richardson Security Storage Company, Richmond, retained his interest in athletics after graduation and served as assistant coach Yale crew which competed at Henley in 1896, and as coach U S Naval Academy crew 1897–98; was aboard yacht *Endymion* during 1905 race for the Emperor of Germany's cup; attended St John's Church (Episcopal), Hampton

Married April 21, 1906, in Hampton, Rosa Fairfax, daughter of Wills and Florence (Whiting) Lee No children

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Cypress Cemetery, Saybrook, Conn Survived by wife and a brother, Matthew C Armstrong of Hampton

Henry Pierre McQuaid, Ph.B. 1895.

Born June 9, 1872, in New Haven, Conn Died October 4, 1938, in Scianton, Pa

Father, Peter McQuaid, a real estate dealer in New Haven; son of Patrick and Janet (Petrie) McQuaid of Webster, Mass Mother, Ellen Sabrina (Carney) McQuaid; daughter of John T and Sophronia (Lamb) Carney of Webster Yale relatives include Paul A McQuaid, Jr, '37, and John G McQuaid, '40 (nephews)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, and private tutor Biology course.

Chemist in laboratory division of Pennsylvania Railroad at Altoona, Pa, 1895–1902, worked on a coffee plantation in Mexico 1902–03, chemist Cheeseman Chemical Company, Scranton, 1903–07, associated with Title Guarantee & Surety Company, Scranton, 1907–21 and with insurance firm of Moore, Foster & Burwell, Scranton, since 1921; Y M C A secretary in France April 4, 1918–July 9, 1919, attached to the 42d Division in the Lorraine Sector and to the 77th Division during the Château-Thierry and Argonne offensives, member Masonic order and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Scranton

Married January 30, 1907, in Scranton, May, daughter of Henry Augustus and Sarah Ribble (Hutchinson) Kingsbury. No children.

Death due to uremic poison. Buried in Dunmore (Pa) Cemetery. Survived by wife and three brothers, Samuel A. McQuaid of North Billerica, Mass, William A McQuaid, '89, and Paul A McQuaid, '98.

Ernest George Schurig, Ph.B. 1895.

Born February 18, 1874, in New Haven, Conn Died February 12, 1939, in Hamden, Conn

Father, Ernest August Schurig, a carriage maker in New Haven, son of Carl August and Wilhelmina (Kulka) Schurig of Radeburg, Germany. Mother, Katherine Susan (Hausmann) Schurig, daughter of Rudolph and Susan (Walte) Hausmann of Switzerland and New Haven. Yale relatives include. Charles Hildebrand, '75 S, and Frederick G Hausman, '04 S (cousins)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Civil engineering course, prize for excellence in chemistry Freshman year; general honors Senior year, member Freshman Glee Club

Associated with Union Bridge Company, Athens, Pa, as draftsman 1895–98 and assistant engineer during erection of wharfs and coaling station at Key West and the Florida Keys 1898–1900, in bridge engineering department New York Central & Hudson River Railroad 1900–02, assistant in civil engineering department US Navy 1902–04, successively superintendent of construction, supervising superintendent of construction, and district engineer in office of the supervising architect US. Treasury Department since 1904; in these positions he traveled widely and at various times had offices in Philadelphia, Washington, Logansport, Ind, Lebanon, Pa, Peoria, Ill, New Haven, and Boston, retired in October, 1938, because of ill-health and resided in New Haven, member American Society of Engineers, American Society of Civil Engineers, Society of Constructors of Federal Buildings, Masonic order, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven

Married June 7, 1905, in Bluffton, Ind , Mary Aveline, daughter of Saul Staver No children. Mr and Mrs Schurig were divorced in 1921

Death due to lobar pneumonia Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by a sister, Miss Louise B Schurig (Music certificate 1906), and two brothers, Robert C Schurig and Fred F Schurig, all of New Haven

Wyatt Hamilton Allen, Ph.B. 1896.

Born July 17, 1874, in San Francisco, Calif Died February 23, 1939, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Henry Francis Allen, a commission merchant, member firm of Allen & Lewis, San Francisco; son of Lucius Hamilton and Sarah (De-Witt) Allen. Mother, Frances Billop (Wyatt) Allen, daughter of Christopher Billop and Mary Angelica (Croghan) Wyatt of Westchester, N Y

San Rafael (Calif) School. Electrical engineering course, Senior honors, on Yale Daily News board Senior year, Class historian, member University Club, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Attended Johns Hopkins University 1896–97 (PAE 1897), assistant engineer C & C Electrical Company, Ampere, NJ, 1897–98, assistant to consulting engineers Hunt & Meredith, San Francisco, 1898–1900 and partner in the firm (which became Cory, Meredith & Allen) 1900–12, independently engaged as a consulting engineer 1912–15, partner J T Brown Company, grain merchants in San Francisco, 1915-22; since that time had engaged in the grain business under his own name, president and director Henry F. Allen, Inc, since 1906 and H. F. Allen Estate Company since 1907; president 1922-30 and secretary since 1930 California & Gough Building Company, San Francisco, contributed to *Electrical World and Engineer* and *Journal of Electricity*, director Merchants Exchange, Inc, Bankers Investment Company, and Bank of Rio Vista; former director United Bank & Trust Company of California, First National Bank of San Francisco, Griffith-Durney Company, and California Fruit Canners Association, member American Institute of Electrical Engineers, Electrochemical Society, Book Club of California, and Trimity Church (Episcopal), San Francisco

Married October 3, 1900, in Ross, Calif., Alysse, daughter of Frank Bela and Alice (Jones) Latham. Children · Alysse Wyatt and Latham Hamilton (Stanford University summer 1923)

Death due to angina pectoris Buried in Mountain View Cemetery, Piedmont, Calif. Survived by wife and children.

William Frederick Forepaugh, Ph.B. 1896.

Born December 18, 1871, in St. Paul, Minn Died September 11, 1938, in Darien, Conn.

Father, Joseph Lybrant Forepaugh, a merchant in St Paul; son of William Frederick and Mary (Harmon) Forepaugh of Philadelphia, Pa. Mother, Mary Antoinette (Lanpher) Forepaugh; daughter of Maurice and Elvira (Parker) Lanpher of St Paul

Phillips-Exeter Select course; associate editor Yale Daily News Freshman year and editor Junior and Senior years; member Yale Alumni Weekly committee Junior year and business manager Senior year, member board of managers Yale Coöperative Society Junior year, member Exeter Club, and St Anthony and Delta Psi

Associated with Union Bank, St Paul, 1891–93, reporter New York Evening Sun 1896–98, engaged in oil business with his classmate John F. Havemeyer under firm name J F Havemeyer & Company, New York City, 1898–1900, affiliated with Flower & Company, bond dealers and brokers, New York City, 1900–11, in February, 1911, selected to make a survey of Herring-Hall-Marvin Safe Company; elected president of the concern June, 1911, and served in that position until 1933; associated with Norton, Inc., in New York City since 1933, director Dominion Safe & Vault Company, Ltd, Farnham, Quebec; interested in horticulture he had won many prizes for exhibits, chairman house committee New York Yale Club 1908–09 and former member of the council Married March 11, 1912, in New York City, Lillian Anderson, daughter of James Gage. No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Ashes interred in Oakland Cemetery, St Paul Survived by wife, two sisters, Miss Alice Maud Forepaugh of St. Paul and Mary Forepaugh Johnson, the wife of Henry S Johnson (B.A Princeton 1878) of New York City, and a brother, J Louis Forepaugh, '96 S

Joseph Congdon Belden, Ph.B. 1897.

Born June 11, 1876, in Chicago, Ill. Died February 17, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, John Secord Belden of Chicago, western manager Fire Association of Philadelphia, son of Charles Willis Belden (M D College of Physicians and Surgeons of the Western District of New York 1835) and Frances (Cummings) Belden of Warsaw, N Y, and Dubuque, Iowa Mother, Amanda Williams (Pool) Belden, daughter of Charles and Elizabeth Holt (Young) Pool of New London, Conn Yale relatives include a brother, Charles P Belden, '93 S.

Princeton (NJ) Preparatory School and Hyde Park High School, Chicago. Electrical engineering course, Class statistician, member Class Supper Committee and secretary Chicago Club Senior year, member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Purchasing agent and sales manager Kellogg Switchboard & Supply Company, Chicago, 1897–1902, organized the Belden Manufacturing Company (makers of electrical wire cordage and cables) 1902 and had served as president and chairman of the board since that time; president Employers' Association of Chicago 1933–37, vice-president 1937 and 1938 and director 1932–36 Illinois Manufacturers' Association, director Lake Forest Trust & Savings Bank, vice-president of his Class for a number of years, represented Yale Club of Chicago on Alumni Board 1920–21

Married June 7, 1902, in Kenilworth, Ill, Mary Campbell Rew (Northwestern University 1897–1901), daughter of Francis and Harriet Brady (Campbell) Rew Son, Joseph Congdon, Jr, '26 S

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Elizabeth Belden McWilliams, the wife of Roy McWilliams, '97. 5

Robert Carr Lanphier, Ph.B. 1897.

Born January 25, 1878, in Springfield, Ill. Died January 29, 1939, in Springfield, Ill

Father, John Crenshaw Lanphier, a lawyer in Springfield, son of Charles Henry and Margaret (Crenshaw) Lanphier of Springfield Mother, Susan (Young) Lanphier, daughter of Alfred and Mary Ellen Young of Young's Point, Tenn Yale relatives include a nephew, John C Lanphier, 3d, ex-'30

Springfield High School Electrical engineering course, prize for excellence in mechanical drawing and honorable mention for excellence in chemistry and in all studies Freshman year, senior appointment, editor Yale Scientific Monthly Senior year, chairman Class Day historians and member Class Day Committee, member Theta Delta Chi and Sigma Xi.

Engaged in experimental work on electric meters 1897-99, an organizer of Sangamo Electric Company, manufacturers of electric meters and precision instruments 1899 (superintendent and chief engineer 1899-1905, secretary and general manager 1905–17, vice-president and general manager 1917-27, and president 1927-39), since 1919 principally occupied with development of foreign branches of the company; director Union Special Machine Company, Central Illinois Light Company, General Time Instruments Corporation, New York City, and the Springfield Marine Bank, had taken out a number of important patents on electric meters and apparatus, was frequently called to testify as an expert in electric patent cases, author Electric Meter History and Progress (1925), Forty Years of Sangamo 1896–1936 (1936), a leader in educational, philanthropic, and civic affairs, Lanphier High School and Lanphier Park, Springfield, named in his honor, trustee Illinois College since 1916 (member buildings and grounds committee), national councilor Abraham Lincoln Council Boy Scouts of America; trustee Young Men's Christian Association, Springfield, 1920–28, cofounder and first president Associated Welfare Agencies, Springfield, 1918–23; vice-president Family Welfare Association 1923-39, chairman Sangamon County Chapter American Red Cross, president Springfield Chamber of Commerce 1927-29, fellow American Institute of Electrical Engineers, member Yale Engineering Association (executive committee 1930-32) and First Presbyterian Church, Springfield (elder 1938).

Married October 16, 1901, in Chicago, Bertha Louise, daughter of Edward Thomas and Margaret (Vance) Oliver Children Edward Oliver, ex-'23 S (died September 22, 1922), Robert Carr, Jr, '27 S, Charles Henry, '31 S, and Margaret (B A Vassar 1938), the wife of C DeWitt Smith, '38 S Death due to carcinoma Buried in Oak Ridge Cemetery, Springfield Survived by wife, daughter, two sons, five grandchildren, mother, and three brothers, John Crenshaw Lanphier, Jr, and Charles Goin Lanphier of Springfield, and Lieut Comdr. Alfred Young Lanphier, U.S N (grad U S Naval Academy 1910), of New York City

In 1922 Mr and Mrs Lanphier established the Edward O Lanphier Memorial Prize which is awarded to a member of the Senior class in the School of Engineering for proficiency in the field of electrical engineering.

George Pillsbury Morrill, Ph.B. 1897.

Born October 27, 1874, in Feeding Hills, Mass. Died September 29, 1938, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Julius Abbott Morrill (Amherst ex-'66) of Springfield, a Civil War veteran, associated with Charles Scribner's Sons, son of Calvin and Sophronia (Lee) Morrill of St Johnsbury, Vt Mother, Sarah Chamberlain (Bell) Morrill (grad Mount Holyoke 1865), daughter of Dr Cyrus A Bell and Emma (Chamberlain) Bell (Mount Holyoke ex-1841) of Feeding Hills

Springfield (Mass) High School and private tutor Civil engineering course.

Assistant principal Gardner (Mass) High School 1897, rodman, chainman, and transitman in office of city engineer Springfield 1897–1901, appointed to civil service in Philippine Islands 1901, superintendent of schools in the Province of Batangas, P I, 1901-03, assistant city engineer Manila and assistant to chief engineer Manila water works construction 1903-07, chief engineer of public works in district of Santa Clara, Cuba, designing and constructing water works and flood protection works 1907-14, studied at Yale January-June, 1915 (engaged in engineering work on the Yale Bowl and taught in summer school of engineering), construction superintendent Westinghouse, Church, Kerr Company, Drummondville, Quebec, 1915, sales engineer C R Dodge & Company, New York City, 1915-16, associated with Raymond Concrete Pile Company 1916-31 (engineer and construction superintendent 1916-20, district manager in charge of New England territory 1920-24, manager in Orient with headquarters Tokyo, Japan, 1924–25, in New York office February-May, 1925, and district manager of Florida territory 1925-31), independently engaged in business 1932-33; Connecticut distributor for American Bitumuls Company since 1933, lived in Westbrook, Conn, president Miami Chapter Associated General Contractors 1929-30, member American Society of Civil Engineers (president Miami Section 1931), Yale Engineering Association, Sociedad Cubaña de Ingenieros,

Royal Society of Arts (England), Boston Society of Civil Engineers, Connecticut Society of Civil Engineers, American Concrete Institute, and Bellows Falls (Vt) Congregational Church

Married July 9, 1916, in Springfield, Maude, daughter of George S and Mary (Gleason) Gray Children Janet Gray (B.A Mount Holyoke College 1939), Margaret Chamberlain (Bouvé-Boston School of Physical Education); and George Percival (Wesleyan University 1942)

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Cyprus Cemetery, Westbrook Survived by wife and children.

Arba Kellogg Alford, Ph.B. 1898.

Born September 5, 1876, in Winsted, Conn. Died May 22, 1939, in Madison, NJ.

Father, George Herbert Alford, a hardware and furniture merchant in Winsted, son of Arba and Mary (Case) Alford of Riverton, Conn Mother, Jennie Camp (Kellogg) Alford, daughter of George and Beulah (Camp) Kellogg of Winsted

West Winsted High School and The Hotchkiss School. Mechanical engineering course; Class crew Freshman year, chairman Class dance committee Senior year, member Sheffield Debating Society and Hotchkiss Club

Bookkeeper and salesman Excelsior Needle Company (later The Torrington Company), Torrington, Conn, 1898–1902, associated with Laidlaw & Company, bankers in New York City, 1902-06, and Chisholm & Pouch [Edgar D., '98 S], brokers, New York City, 1906-07; special deputy superintendent, banking department, State of New York, 1907 and 1909, and in charge of stock transfer tax bureau 1908, associated with Assets Realization Company 1909–14, treasurer Gegal Motor Car Company, Detroit, 1914-15; associated with Pouch & Company 1916-19 (partner 1917–19), president Brazos Oil Corporation 1920–21, represented several bank and trust companies in New York in matters of finance and policy 1921–26, secretary and manager 1926–30 Brooklyn Trust Company (assistant vice-president 1928-30), agent Connecticut Mutual Life Insurance Company 1930–32, temporary senior examiner banking department, State of New York, 1932-35, in receivership department, Irving Trust Company, 1934-35, retired in 1935 because of illhealth, member American Institute of Banking and Second Congregational Church, Winsted

Married November 11, 1915, in New York City, Eleanor, daughter of George and Margaret (Landers) Smith Son, Arba Kellogg, Jr. (Antioch College ex-'38)

Death due to chronic myocarditis with decompensation Buried in

Forest View Cemetery, Winsted Survived by wife, son, and a sister, Miss Helena B. Alford (B A. Smith College 1906) of Buffalo, N Y

Hamilton Fish Benjamin, Ph.B. 1898.

Born January 21, 1877, in Washington, DC Died October 26, 1938, in Atlantic Beach, NY

Father, Colonel Samuel Nicoll Benjamin (US Military Academy 1861); son of William Massaena and Sarah Jane (Turk) Benjamin of New York City. Mother, Julia Kean (Fish) Benjamin, daughter of Hamilton Fish (B A. Columbia 1827) and Julia (Kean) Fish of New York City Yale relatives include: John Kean, '76, Julian H Kean, '76, Percy W. Arnold, '96 S., Edwin B. King, '98, and Stuyvesant Fish, '05 (cousins)

St Mark's School Mechanical engineering course, substitute University Football Team and member Class football team Freshman year, "University Football Team Junior and Senior years, vice-president University Football Association and vice-president of his Class Senior year, Cup man; member University Club, Renaissance Club, The Druids, St Mark's Club (vice-president Senior year), and St Anthony and Delta Psi.

Clerk Farmers Loan & Trust Company, New York City, 1898-1901, associated with banking firm of Joseph Walker & Sons, New York City, 1901-03, organized firm of Benjamin, Ferguson [John S, '00] & Mc-Murty, New York City, 1904 (senior partner 1904–17 and of its successor, Benjamin & Ferguson, 1917-38); member New York Stock Exchange 1902-32 (governing committee 1919-30), vice-president since 1909 and director Andros Realty Company, director Ruland & Benjamin, Inc; for five years a member Squadron A, New York National Guard; enlisted as private, 1st class, Aviation Section, Signal Reserve Corps November 12, 1917, trained at Signal Corps Aviation School for nonflying officers, Kelly Field, graduating January 12, 1918, assigned to duty in the office of department aeronautical officer, Southern department, Fort Sam Houston; commissioned First Lieutenant January 20, 1918, and subsequently served in department of aeronautical officer of the Eastern division, as commandant of the Air Service Mechanical Training School at Carnegie Institute of Technology, with the First Reserve Wing, Hazlehurst Field, Mineola, and under the director of Military Aeronautics, Washington; discharged December 2, 1918, member Union Club, twenty-five- and thirty-year reunion committees, St Anthony Club (president 1928–34), and Osteopathic Society, New York City (president board of directors New York Osteopathic Clinic 1936–38).

Married (1) January 2, 1909, in Lenox, Mass, Emily Low, daughter of

William B. Bacon. Mr. and Mrs Benjamin were divorced in 1923 Married (2) July 18, 1932, in New York City, Ruth Ann, daughter of David Peter and Frances (Simmons) Wolfe.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in St Philip's Churchyard, Garrison, N Y Survived by wife and a brother, Colonel Julian Arnold Benjamin (B S U S Military Academy 1900) of Garrison-on-Hudson.

Edmund John Drummond, Ph.B. 1898.

Born December 25, 1876, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died December 14, 1938, in Lakeville, Conn.

Father, John Landells Drummond, a stock broker in New York City, son of Richard and Jean Drummond of New York City. Mother, Jemima (Dodds) Drummond, daughter of Edmund and Elizabeth (Dryer) Dodds of New York City. Yale relatives include: Andrew Fletcher, '16 S, and Francis Olmsted, '34 (nephews), and Frank W. Tuttle, '15 (cousin)

Phillips-Andover Select course, Freshman Football Team, Junior Class president; deacon, member Andover Club, The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with Henry W. Peabody & Company, New York City, 1898–1903, partner in brokerage firm of J M. Martin & Company, New York City, 1903–06; member New York Stock Exchange 1906–28, specializing in steel issues, retired in 1928 and had since resided in Lake-ville, Class treasurer 1923–38 and on twenty-five- and thirty-year reunion committees, member Presbyterian church

Married June 14, 1906, in New York City, Jessie Sherman, daughter of Francis Howard Olmsted, '74, and Gertrude Meredith (Holley) Olmsted, and sister of Alexander H Olmsted, '04, and Frank H. Olmsted, '09. Children. Gertrude Holley, John Landells, '29, and Lucy Holley.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Salisbury (Conn.) Cemetery. Survived by wife, children, one grandson, and a brother, Howard Drummond, '04

Herbert Hastings, Ph.B. 1898.

Born April 27, 1874, in Tidioute, Pa Died July 14, 1938, in Brighton, NY.

Father, Alexander Bostwick Hastings of Hartford, son of Solomon Hastings of Busti, N Y Mother, Minerva (Lyon) Hastings, daughter of John and Ann Frances (Westcott) Lyon of Busti

Union School and Collegiate Institute, Jamestown, NY, mechanical

engineering course, prizes for excellence in mathematics and mechanical drawing Freshman year, prize for excellence in mathematics Junior year, honors and prize for excellence in mechanical engineering Senior year, member Hartford Club and Sigma X1

Draftsman Bridgeport (Conn) Brass Company 1898–99, chief draftsman and machine designer Typograph Company, Berlin, Germany, and Lanston Monotype Company, London, 1899–1900, did special engineering and designing for Pratt & Whitney Company, Hartford, Conn, 1900–01, engaged in designing and superintending construction of special automatic bookbinding machinery Smyth Manufacturing Company, Hartford, 1901–02; chief draftsman and assistant superintendent Edison Phonograph Company, Orange, NJ, 1902–03, mechanical engineer and superintendent of machinery The German-American Button Company, Rochester, NY, 1903–14, president and treasurer Rochester Manufacturing Company since 1914; trustee Allens Creek School 1911–21; member Rochester Automobile Club, Rochester Chamber of Commerce, and Third Presbyterian Church, Rochester

Married June 5, 1901, in Hartford, Conn, Grace Harriet, daughter of Joel Butler and Sarah Wadsworth (Lyman) Sexton Children Mabel Sexton (University of Rochester ex-'25), Clark Lyon (B S Union College 1928); Warren Walker, Herbert Lyman; and Minerva Kathryn

Death due to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Jamestown Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, and two sisters, Mrs Ara Warren of Bay City, Mich, and Mrs Maude Walker of Franklin, Pa

William Ebenezer Ford, Ph.B. 1899.

Born February 18, 1878, in Westville, Conn Died March 23, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Elbert Ford, a druggist in Westville, son of William Ford Mother, Caroline Aby (Bishop) Ford, daughter of William and Charlotte (Love) Bishop

Hillhouse High School, New Haven Chemistry course, prize for excellence in all studies and honorable mention in physics, German, and mathematics Freshman year, honorable mention in advanced German Junior year, appointment and two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year, member Hillhouse Club and Sigma X1

Graduate student in Sheffield Scientific School and Yale Graduate School 1899–1903 (Ph D 1903, treasurer Graduate School Y M C A), had been associated with the University's department of mineralogy since graduation, as assistant 1900–03, instructor 1903–06, and assistant professor 1906–20, appointed professor of mineralogy and member governing board Sheffield Scientific School 1920, curator of the mineralogical collections 1922–39, during summer of 1917 member subcommittee on road and fortification materials, Council of National Defense; Silliman Memorial lecturer 1917–18, contributed to American Journal of Science and A Century of Science (1918), compiled Second Appendix to the Sixth Edition of Dana's System of Mineralogy (1909) and the Sixth Edition of Dana's System of Mineralogy (1915), editor. Dana's Manual of Mineralogy (1912 and 1929), and A Text-Book of Mineralogy, by Edward S. Dana, '70 (1922 and 1932); for some years had resided in summer on Cape Cod, fellow Geological Society of America, Mineralogical Society of America, American Academy of Arts and Sciences, and Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences; honorary member Aurelian Honor Society (1919); graduate member Delta Phi, member American Association for the Advancement of Science, and Church of Christ in Yale University

Married December 18, 1920, in Geneseo, N.Y., Mary Treat, daughter of Napoleon Augustus and Mary Bryan (Treat) Jennings No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Westville Cemetery. Survived by wife.

Otto Hayes Lindenberg, Ph.B. 1899.

Born March 4, 1877, in Columbus, Ohio Died August 4, 1938, in Petoskey, Mich.

Father, Philip Lindenberg, general manager of The M. C Lilley & Company, manufacturers of uniforms and equipment, Columbus; son of Philip Lindenberg of Columbus Mother, Clara Carolina (Kanmacher) Lindenberg, daughter of George and Marie (Zimmerman) Kanmacher of Columbus Yale relatives include Carl R Lindenberg, '95 S, Frank H Lindenberg, '99 S, Paul Lindenberg, '03, Robert Lindenberg, *ex-*'05 S (cousins), and John T Lindenberg, '32 (nephew)

Michigan Military Academy and Phillips-Andover Member Class cup committee, Dunham Boat Club, Andover Club, and The Colony and Berzelius

Associated with The M C Lilley & Company (subsequently The Lilley Company and The Lilley-Ames Company) as superintendent of sales and manufacturing, director, vice-president and treasurer 1899– 1929, and president since 1937, vice-president and treasurer General Utilities Products Company, Inc, Columbus, 1929–30, had resided in Nashville, Tenn, since 1933, trustee Columbus Gallery of Fine Arts 1928–29, director Columbus Brass Company, Horstmann Uniform Company, Philadelphia, member Broad Street Presbyterian Church, Columbus

Married September 19, 1905, in New York City, Marie Louise, daugh-

ter of Victor Emanuel and Emma Elise (Banzer) Shwab Children Elise Huntington, the wife of Persus Daniel Houston, Jr, and Enid Lee, the wife of Henry Murfree Carney (M D Vanderbilt University 1933).

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Mount Olivet Cemetery, Nashville. Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, Miss Mary Lindenberg and Mrs Vernon Harrison, both of Columbus, and two brothers, George W Lindenberg, '02, and Philip H Lindenberg, '16

Clarence Eugene Weaver, Ph.B. 1899.

Born January 7, 1877, in Newark, NJ Died November 27, 1938, in Savannah, Ga

Father, William Albert Weaver, a farmer in South Woodstock, Conn; son of William Albert and Phebe E (Bates) Weaver of South Woodstock. Mother, Sarah Bowen (Matteson) Weaver, daughter of Halsey and Sarah (Bowen) Matteson of West Greenwich, R I

Woodstock Academy Civil engineering course, prize for excellence in German and mechanical drawing and honorable mention in mathematics Freshman year, prize for excellence in mathematics and honorable mention in advanced German Junior year, two-year honors and prize for excellence in civil engineering Senior year, member Sigma Xi

Assistant engineer Mexican International Railroad with headquarters at C Porfirio Diaz, Coahuila, 1899–1905, resident engineer Sonora Railway, Guaymas, Mexico, 1905–09 and of the Cananea, Rio Yaqui & Pacific Railway 1907–09; engineer maintenance of way Sonora Railway and Southern Pacific Railroad Company of Mexico at Empalma, Mexico, 1909–11, roadmaster Illinois Central Railroad with headquarters at New Orleans, La, 1911–13 and district engineer 1913–16, associated with the Central of Georgia Railway since 1916 as engineer maintenance of way 1916–26, chief engineer since 1926, assistant general manager 1931–33, and general manager since 1933, on leave of absence from the Central of Georgia Railway serving as Southern regional director of railroads under the Federal coordinator of transportation 1933–36, member Yale Engineering Association, American Railway Engineering Association, Masonic order, and Baptist Church, South Woodstock

Married January 7, 1903, in Eagle Pass, Texas, Marie Lazelle, daughter of John Franklyn and Winnette Mathilda (Ware) Dickey Children Maxwell Dickey (B S University of Georgia 1929) and Sarah Bowen Weaver Ringwalt (B.A. Brenau College 1934)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Bonaventure Cemetery, Savannah Survived by wife, daughter, son, a grandson, and a brother, Halsey A. Weaver, '95 S.

Harold Allen, Ph.B. 1900.

Born November 15, 1877, in Pittsburgh, Pa Died April 5, 1939, in Washington, D.C

Father, Edward Jay Allen (Duquesne College ex-1847; MA Hon University of Pittsburgh 1897) of Pittsburgh, Colonel, 155th Regiment, Pennsylvania Volunteers, registrar Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States, son of Edward and Amelia (Bindley) Allen Mother, Elizabeth Wilson (Robinson) Allen, daughter of William and Mary (Enoch) Robinson

Shady Side Academy Select course; vice-president Sheff Debating Club Senior year, Class Book Committee, member Six Shooter, Shady Side Academy, and Pittsburgh clubs

Attended Harvard University Law School 1900–03, admitted to Pennsylvania bar 1903, associated with law firm of Way, Walker & Morris, Pittsburgh, 1903–11 and partner in succeeding firm of Morris, Walker & Allen 1911-17, associated with S S Robertson in practice of law in Pittsburgh 1917, with United States Employment Service, Department of Labor, Washington, June, 1918-March 23, 1919; counsel Board of Contract Adjustment, US War Department, 1919–20, since that time special attorney US Bureau of Internal Revenue, was instrumental in the establishment of Shenandoah National Park, co-author and editor Guide to Paths in the Blue Ridge (1932 and 1934), director Children's Bureau of Pittsburgh and Juvenile Court Association of Allegheny County (on legislation committee), member Legal Aid Association, director Yale Club of Washington 1933-34, governor Arts Club of Washington, member District of Columbia Commandery, Military Order of the Loyal Legion of the United States (hereditary companion and registrar), and Episcopal church

Married June 26, 1919, in Kennett Square, Pa, Mabel Lydia Stiner (B A Swarthmore 1912), daughter of William Hamilton Stiner No children

Death due to septicemia Ashes interred in Homewood Cemetery, Pittsburgh. Survived by wife and two sisters, Miss May L Allen of Pittsburgh and Washington, and Mrs Edna Allen Rickmers of Miami, Fla

Louis Tallmadge Jaques, Ph.B. 1900.

Born November 28, 1878, in Chicago, Ill Died May 10, 1939, in Chicago, Ill.

Father, Frank Forester Jaques, a tea importer in Chicago, son of Dr Edward Jaques and Mary Elizabeth (Forester) Jaques of Canada and New York City. Mother, Abbie Louise Wight (Everett) Jaques, daughter of Aaron Emilius and Abigail Lovell (Wight) Everett of Boston and Dedham, Mass

Lake View High School, Chicago Select course, Yale University Bicycle Team Junior and Senior years, captain Six Shooter Club Senior year, member Chicago Club.

Associated with Jaques Manufacturing Company, makers of baking powder, Chicago, 1900-05 and 1907 until retirement in 1922 (traveling salesman 1900-04, vice-president 1908-22, director since 1922), in tea business with his father 1905-07, attended Northwestern University Law School 1915-18 (LL B 1918; member Order of the Coif), chief of Price Interpretation Section, Distribution Division, U S Food Administration, Washington, 1918-February, 1919, member Chicago Athletic Association, University Club of Chicago, Yale Club of New York, and Church of the Atonement (Episcopal), Chicago

Married April 12, 1905, in Omaha, Nebr, Anna Ri, daughter of Clinton Dewitt and Anna Dorcus (Dutton) Orcutt Children Anna Ri, Lois Thurley, the wife of Peter Gyula Sandor Mero (University of Leipzig 1925–27), and Abbie Jane, the wife of Claude Burnett Chiperfield

Death due to peptic ulcer Buried in Rosehill Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife, daughters, a sister, Marguerite Jaques Huth, the wife of Walter H Huth (B S. University of Illinois 1907), and two brothers, Colonel Charles Everett Jaques and Willard Wight Jaques, all of Chicago

Walter Lewisohn, Ph.B. 1900.

Born January 7, 1880, in New York City Died July 31, 1938, in Greenwich, Conn

Father, Leonard Lewisohn, member banking firm of Lewisohn Brothers, New York City. Mother, Rosalie (Jacobs) Lewisohn Yale relatives include a brother, Oscar A Lewisohn, '04 S

Chapin's Collegiate School and Dr Sachs' School, New York City Select course, member Six Shooter Club

Associated with Lewisohn Brothers 1900-23 (senior partner since 1902); retired in 1923 because of ill-health, member New York Stock, Cotton, and Coffee exchanges, engaged in copper, coffee, and oil operations, director Seneca Copper Company

Married October 11, 1909, in New York City, Selma, daughter of Maurice J Kraus Son, Walter Pickett (University of Wisconsin 1931-32, Yale School of the Fine Arts 1941) Mr and Mrs Lewisohn were divorced in 1928

Death occurred after a long illness Buried in Ferncliff Cemetery, Greenburgh, NY Survived by son, three sisters, Miss Irene Lewisohn and Mrs. Martin Vogel, both of New York City, and Miss Alice Lewisohn of Zurich, Switzerland, and a brother, Frederick Lewisohn of New York City

Francis Patrick Nolan, Ph.B. 1900.

Born September 15, 1879, in Mount Carmel, Conn. Died November 22, 1938, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Patrick Nolan, a farmer in Hamden, former selectman; son of Owen Nolan of Ireland. Mother, Ellen Ann (Warner) Nolan, daughter of Ann Warner

Hamden Hall Civil engineering course, honors for excellence in all studies of Junior year, two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year

Associated with civil engineering department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad 1900–April, 1902, in office of Sheldon E Minor, '82 S, Greenwich, Conn, April–September, 1902; studied philosophy at Seminario Vescovile, Piacenza, and theology at the Seminary at Bedonia, Italy, 1902–05, ordained in the Catholic Church in Hartford, June, 1906, entered Seminary of St Thomas, Bloomfield, Conn, as a prefect 1905, instructor in mathematics and science 1906–25, during summers of 1907 and 1908 served among the east shore summer resorts of Connecticut, building St Francis' Chapel, Crescent Beach, and Church of Our Lady of Good Counsel, Sound View, priest St Justin's Church, Hartford, since 1925, president Hartford Board of Park Commissioners 1930–31, director Hartford Community Chest.

Death due to uremia and chronic parenchymatous nephritis Buried in Mount St Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield Survived by mother, three sisters, Mrs Stephen Hoey of New Haven, Mrs. William Lagan of Bloomfield, and Miss Kathryn R Nolan of Hamden, and three brothers, John, Owen L, and Laurence S Nolan of Hamden

Harry Hubbard Pittinger, Ph.B. 1900.

Born June 12, 1878, in Brooklyn, NY. Died November 17, 1938, in Paterson, NJ

Father, James Henry Pittinger, member wholesale lumber firm of Watson & Pittinger, Brooklyn Mother, Harriet E (Distin) Pittinger

Brooklyn Latin School Select course, member Brooklyn Club, Chi Phi, and York Hall

Attended New York Law School 1900–02, admitted to New York bar 1903, worked in law department of Title Guarantee & Trust Company, Brooklyn, 1902–04; engaged in private practice in Brooklyn for a short time in 1904, associated with Title Guarantee & Trust Company, New York City, as assistant counsel 1904–10, head of closing department 1910–27, and assistant solicitor since 1927; had resided in Ridgewood, N J, since 1913, member Ridgewood Home Defense during the World War, member West Side Presbyterian Church, Ridgewood

Married April 14, 1909, in Brooklyn, Edith Minna, daughter of Edward Richard and Mary Jane (Auerbach) Vollmer Children Jane Distin, the wife of Edward K. Dreier (B.A. Dartmouth 1926), Richard Henry (died August 21, 1915); and Ruth Ann, the wife of George J Sieburg, Jr. (Cornell *ex-*'38)

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Hillside Cemetery, Plainfield, NJ Survived by wife, daughters, and two grandchildren

Ross Whiting Bragg, Ph.B. 1901.

Born April 14, 1880, in Cincinnati, Ohio. Died August 30, 1938, in Cincinnati, Ohio

Father, Charles F Bragg; son of Caleb S and Mary A Bragg of Cincinnati. Mother, Ella (Spence) Bragg, daughter of Thomas Ross and Emma Barbara (Heinbaugh) Spence of Detroit and Cincinnati

Franklin School, Cincinnati, and Taft School Mechanical engineering course; member Cap and Gown Committee and Taft School Club

Worked with The William Cramp & Sons Ship & Engine Building Company and New York Shipbuilding Company, Camden, NJ, 1901–03, in charge glycerine department Procter & Gamble Company, Cincinnati, 1903–17, vice-president Triumph Manufacturing Company, makers of baking machinery, Cincinnati, 1918 until retirement in 1921 because of ill-health, attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Benjamin Harrison May–August, 1917, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps August 15, 1917; promoted to First Lieutenant February 20, 1918; served with Bakery Companies 2, 369, and 315 at Camps Sherman and Grant; overseas September 26–October 4, 1918, discharged October 14, 1918, because of physical disability, charter member University Club of Cincinnati; attended Calvary Church (Episcopal), Cincinnati

Married July 3, 1923, in Cincinnati, Harriet Thomas, daughter of Benjamin Franklin and Katherine (Klum) Corwin No children

Took his own life Buried in Spring Grove Cemetery, Cincinnati Survived by wife, a stepsister, and a stepbrother.

Ernst Watson Farley, Ph.B. 1901.

Born February 21, 1879, in Cleveland, Ohio Died October 14, 1938, in Atlanta, Ga

Father, Thomas Swasey Farley, in the insurance business, Cleveland, son of James Phillips and Chloe Swift (Callotte) Farley of Chelsea, Mass. Mother, Anna Osgood (Cheever) Farley; daughter of Ira and Mehitabel Gardner (Felt) Cheever of Salem and Chelsea, Mass

Cleveland Central High School Electrical engineering course; University Bicycle Team three years (captain Senior year), intercollegiate record holder for the one-mile tandem bicycle race, member Class cup committee and Cleveland Club

Assistant electrical engineer New York Telephone Company for a time in 1901, assistant superintendent and electrical engineer Iron Elevator & Transfer Company, Buffalo, NY, 1901-04; assistant to the electrical engineer Niagara Construction Company, Ltd, of Ontario 1905, associated with Oliver Chilled Plow Company, South Bend, Ind, 1905, Ontario Power Company, Niagara, N.Y, 1905-06, Telluride (Colo) Power Company 1906–07, maintenance supervisor and later purchasing agent American Locomotive Company, Schenectady, N.Y, 1907-14, owner and president Richmond (Va) Engineering Company (incorporated 1926) since 1914; elected second vice-president Richmond Chamber of Commerce in 1938, former president Richmond Rotary Club, president advisory board Salvation Army, corresponding secretary Richmond Young Men's Christian Association and member board of directors 1918-38, chairman school committee Virginia Mechanics Institute 1909-39, vice-president Yale Alumni Association of Richmond 1923-25, director Richmond School Board and Automobile Club of Virginia, member County and District Board of Henrico County, American Society of Mechanical Engineers (chairman Virginia section 1937-38), American Institute of Electrical Engineers, and Ginter Park Baptist Church (charter member, deacon 1917-38, and trustee 1936-38)

Married April 12, 1911, in Richmond, Maude Hutcheson Starke (B S Women's College, Richmond, 1904), daughter of Edwin Douglas and Susie (Dingess) Starke Children. Ernst Watson, Jr. (B S in E E. Virginia Military Institute 1934), Edwin Starke (B S Richmond University 1936), James Cheever (B.S. in E E Virginia Military Institute 1937), Maude Safford (B A. Hollins College 1938), and Susanna (Hollins College 1940).

Death due to lobar pneumonia. Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Richmond. Survived by wife, children, a brother, Ira C Farley of Cleveland, and a stepsister, Mrs. George Phypers of Cleveland.

Thomas Davies Adams, Ph.B. 1902.

Born July 27, 1881, in Westport, Conn Died February 1, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Ebenezer Banks Adams, a farmer in Westport, son of Ebenezer Banks Adams (B.A. 1835) and Mary Sanford (Davies) Adams of Westport, Conn. Mother, Mary Anna (Bulkley) Adams, daughter of Hezekiah and Dolly Brintnall (Bartlett) Bulkley of Stamford, Conn Yale relatives include: Rev Samuel Russell (BA 1712) (great-great-greatgreat-grandfather); William Brintnall (B.A 1721) and Rev Samuel Sherwood (BA 1749) (great-great-great-great-grandfathers), Rev Nathaniel Bartlett (BA. 1749) and Rev Hezekiah Ripley (BA 1763, member of the Yale Corporation 1790–1817) (great-great-grandfathers), Rev Thomas F. Davies (BA 1813) (great-grandfather), Nathaniel Adams (BA 1810), Lemuel S Davies (BA. 1843), and Rev Thomas F Davies (BA 1853) (great-uncles), Harry R Sherwood, '99 L (cousin) His ancestor, Rev. Samuel Russel (B.A Harvard 1681), of Branford, was one of the founders of Yale and a Fellow 1701–30.

Staples High School, Westport, and Hopkins Grammar School Mechanical engineering course, honorable mention in mathematics and prize for excellence in English Freshman year, honors in German Junior year, two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year

Draftsman Birmingham Iron Foundry, Derby, Conn, 1902–06, in gun testing division du Pont de Nemours Company 1906–07, draftsman and designer Werner & Pfleiderer, Saginaw, Mich., 1908–09; engineer Bridgeport (Conn) Safety Emery Wheel Company 1909–16, designer Union Metallic Cartridge Company, Bridgeport, 1916–18, chief engineer Ansco Company, Afton, N Y, 1918–20, industrial engineer The Borden Company, New York City, since 1920, member Greens Farms (Conn) Congregational Church

Married September 1, 1906, in Morrisville, Vt, Minnie May, daughter of James Sidney and Melissa (Hull) Sherwood, and sister of Edward J Sherwood, '98 S. Children. Thomas Davies, Jr, '29 S, Mary Anna Sherwood (B A Mount Holyoke College 1931), the wife of Donald C Harrison, '29 S, and Dorothy Elizabeth (Vassar 1941) Mrs Adams died October 27, 1935.

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Upper Greens Farms Cemetery, Westport Survived by children, three grandchildren, three sisters, Miss Dorothy Ripley Adams of Westport, Julia Sanford Adams Davis (B A Mount Holyoke College 1907), the wife of Thomas Carroll Davis (M D Jefferson Medical College 1909) of Philadelphia, and Mrs Frank Disbrow of Pasadena, Calif, and two brothers, Joseph Adams of Westport and Rev E. Bradford Adams, '01, '04 D

Ralph Waldo Campbell, Ph.B. 1902.

Born March 2, 1878, in Salem, Ohio Died December 22, 1938, in Salem, Ohio.

Father, Robert Owen Campbell, a retired banker in Salem Mother, Jane (Lloyd) Campbell

Phillips-Andover. Chemistry course; Class statistician; member Andover Club and The Colony and Berzelius.

Engaged in real estate business in Salem 1902–10, and in the practice of law as member of the firm Boone & Campbell, Salem, since 1910; member American Bar Association.

Married October 11, 1905, in Salem, Edna I Schiller. Children Jane Schiller (University of Wisconsin 1926–27) and Robert William (B A University of Wisconsin 1931).

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart. Buried in Grandview Cemetery, Salem Survived by wife and children.

Albert Conro Fiero, Ph.B. 1904.

Born December 11, 1882, in Joliet, Ill. Died January 19, 1939, in New York City.

Father, Albert Winfield Fiero, inspecting and consulting engineer; a founder and member Robert W. Hunt & Company, Chicago, son of Peter Fiero of Battle Creek, Mich Mother, Florence Eugenia (Carpenter) Fiero, daughter of Samuel Tonkin and Emilie Denny (Thompson) Carpenter

Howe (Ind) School Attended University of Chicago 1900-01 (member Beta Theta P1) Civil engineering course, on Class crew Freshman year, Freshman Glee Club, Apollo Glee Club Junior and Senior years, University Glee Club Senior year, member University Club.

Engineer on location and construction San Pedro, Los Angeles & Salt Lake Railway 1904–05, assistant resident engineer Indiana Harbor Railway 1905, consulting engineer Robert W Hunt & Company 1905–06, assistant location engineer and resident engineer of construction Puget Sound Extension of Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railway Company 1906, associated with J Allen Haines, Inc., Chicago, dealers in railway and electrical supplies 1906–07; floor broker Chicago Stock Exchange 1907–09, vice-president and director Conner Land Company 1909–15, operated a fruit ranch in the Rogue River Valley near Medford, Ore., 1909–18, secretary, treasurer, and director Rogue River Fruit & Produce Association 1912–17; member Farmers' & Fruit Growers' League of Rogue River Valley; governor Rogue River Valley University Club of Medford 1910–17 and vice-president 1913–14, associated with The Buda Company, Chicago, 1918–20 as manager Washington, DC, office 1918–19 and European sales manager with headquarters in Paris 1919–20, manager South and West Africa export department The White Motor Company, with headquarters at Johannesburg, 1920–23 and managing director The White Company, Ltd., Toronto, 1923–25, associated with Hemphill, Noyes & Company, investment securities, 1925–31 (district manager for Ohio 1926–31), with Vitaglass Corporation, New York City, 1932–35; assistant vice-president Financial Independence Founders, Inc, since 1936; former member Oregon Horticultural Society, member Calvary Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married June 1, 1910, in Medford, Ore, Alice Grace, daughter of William Thomas and Lydia (Gardner) Andrews No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Johet, Ill Survived by wife and a sister, Miss Emilie Louise Fiero of New York City.

Charles Joseph Redshaw, Ph.B. 1904.

Born June 30, 1882, in Ansonia, Conn Died November 7, 1938, in Derby, Conn

Father, Samuel Gaunt Redshaw, manufacturer of paper boxes in Ansonia, son of John Mawsos and Sarah (Gaunt) Redshaw of Leeds, England, and Ansonia Mother, Amelia (Lawton) Redshaw, daughter of Lewis and Rachel (Higginbottom) Lawton of Ansonia

Ansonia High School and Booth Preparatory School, New Haven Civil engineering course.

Worked in office of Charles H. Nichols, '92 S, consulting civil engineer in New Haven, for three months after graduation; associated with The Derby Gas Company (later The Derby Gas & Electric Company) since 1905 (secretary 1933-38 and a director 1935-38), assistant secretary, assistant treasurer, and a director Birmingham Water Company, Derby, since 1934, director The Wallingford (Conn) Gas Light Company 1934 and 1937-38, and general manager and clerk since June 10, 1938, member Connecticut Water Works Association, Connecticut Forest and Park Association, New England Gas Association, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Ansonia (had attended St James' Church in Derby for many years)

Married April 11, 1917, in Derby, Mary Elizabeth, daughter of James Henry and Mary Anne (Reilly) Corcoran No children.

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Oak Cliff Cemetery, Derby. Survived by wife and a brother, John Lewis Redshaw of Ansonia

Noel Armstrong, Ph.B. 1905.

Born January 26, 1882, in New York City Died September 7, 1938, in Newburgh, N.Y.

Father, David Maitland Armstrong (BA Trinity College 1858), artist and worker in stained glass in New York City, United States consul in the Papal State 1869–72, director American department of the Paris Exposition 1878, Chevalier, Legion of Honor, and Associate National Academician, son of Edward and Sarah Hartley (Ward) Armstrong of New York City and Charleston, N.Y Mother, Helen (Neilson) Armstrong, daughter of John and Margaret Ann (Fisk) Neilson of New York City.

St Mark's School, Southborough Forestry course, member Track Team Junior and Senior years and Cross Country Team Senior year.

Associated with a firm of landscape architects and engineers in New York City 1905–06, draftsman El Paso & Southwestern Railroad, Sonora, Mexico, 1906–08, manager The Arrow Brick Works, Roseton, N Y, 1908–17; had engaged in fruit farming at his farm "Danskammer" near Newburgh since 1917, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Marlboro, N Y (warden 1918–38)

Married November 7, 1914, in Newburgh, Anne Corbin, daughter of John Harper (BA Columbia 1877) and Fannie Ball (Hoe) Harper Children Anne Corbin (BA Vassar 1937), the wife of Frank Brooks; Noel, Jr (Lehigh University *ex-*'41), and John Harper (died August 24, 1923)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Christ Church Cemetery, Mailboro, NY Survived by wife, daughter, one son, three sisters, the Misses Margaret Neilson Armstrong and Helen Maitland Armstrong, and Mrs Alfred Edey, and a brother, Hamilton Fish Armstrong (B A Princeton 1916), all of New York City.

Bruce Cartwright, Ph.B. 1905.

Born January 22, 1882, in Honolulu, T H Died March 11, 1939, in Honolulu, T H.

Father, Bruce Cartwright (University of Vermont *ex-'77*), president Cartwright & Company, Ltd, Hawanan representatives of The Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, and the Preferred Accident Insurance Company of New York, son of Alexander Joy Cartwright Mother, Mary Louisa (Wells) Cartwright, daughter of Norfolk Walter and Minerva Jane (Gruwell) Wells

Phillips-Andover Select course, member Freshman Football Team,

vice-president Yale Freshman Navy, on football squad Senior year, Class Book historian; vice-president Yale Hawanan Club, member Kopper Kettle Klub, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Bookkeeper Henry Waterhouse Trust Company, Ltd, 1905-06, treasurer Honolulu Gas Company 1906-07, attended Yale School of Forestry December, 1907-March, 1908, drill foreman US Navy Department, Pearl Harbor, 1908-09 and subinspector of dredging February-July, 1909, associated with Cartwright & Company, Ltd, since 1909 (solicitor, bookkeeper, and president since 1919), commissioned Captain Quartermaster Reserve Corps June 1, 1916; called to active duty July 25, 1918, transferred to Motor Transport Corps August 21, 1918, served as Chief of Overseas Liaison Division, Motor Transport Corps, Washington, December, 1918-March, 1919, Major, Quartermaster Reserve Corps March 1, 1919-September 13, 1921, commissioned Lieutenant Commander, US Naval Reserve Force September 13, 1921, member Land Board, Territory of Hawaii, 1914-17, commissioner Board of Agriculture and Forestry 1926-34, trustee Queen's Hospital since 1916 (secretary 1916-35), Library of Hawau since 1928 (treasurer 1935-39), and Hawaman Historical Society (president 1923-25), Peruvian consul and acting Norwegian consul for the Territory of Hawaii 1909-18, associate in ethnology Bernice P Bishop Museum since 1927, honorary high chief of the Alataua-American Samoa, author The Legend of Hawan-loa (1929) and Some Alus of the Migratory Period (1933), had contributed articles to philatelic, historical, and genealogical journals, fellow American Geographical Society; member Honolulu Chamber of Commerce, American Legion, Military Order of the World War, Dutch Settlers Society of Albany, California Genealogical Society, Hawaiian Volcano Research Association, Polynesian Society, Junior Philatelic Society (London), American Philatelic Society, International Philatelic Society, American Numismatic Society, and Masonic order

Married (1) June 1, 1911, in Honolulu, Caroline Julia Fredericka Claire, daughter of William Frederick and Claire Eloise (Coleman) Williams Children Bruce, 3d (died March 25, 1912), William Edward, and Coleman (died in 1932) Mrs Cartwright died in January, 1919 Married (2) June 26, 1919, in Hilo, Alyce Moore Steele

Death due to myocarditis Ashes interred in Oahu Cemetery. Survived by wife, one son, a grandchild, two stepgrandchildren, and a stepdaughter, Mrs Charles Russell Frazier, Jr.

Theodore Williams Ely, Ph.B. 1905.

Born November 21, 1884, in Elyria, Ohio. Died September 25, 1938, in Manchester, Mass.

Father, Charles Theodore Ely (B A Western Reserve 1879), operator of sandstone quarries in Elyria, member Ely Realty Company, son of Heman and Mary Frances (Day) Ely of Hartford, Conn Mother, Caroline Laura (Williams) Ely, daughter of Robert Parmley and Amelia (Cowden) Williams of Hudson, Ohio Yale relatives include Jeremiah Day (B A 1756) (great-great-uncle), Thomas Day (B A. 1797) (greatgrandfather), Jeremiah Day (B A. 1795) and Thomas M Day (B.A. 1837) (great-uncles), George Henry Ely, '65, and Albert H. Ely, '85 (uncles), Malcolm Ely, ex-'91, Heman Ely, '94 S., Frederick E. Williamson, '98, Arthur P. Williamson, '07, Albert H. Ely, '15, and Thomas Marshall, '28 (cousins)

Elyria High School, attended Case School of Applied Science, Cleveland, 1901–02 (member Phi Delta Theta) Biology course.

Attended Western Reserve University School of Medicine 1905-09 (M D 1909, member Nu Sigma Nu), interne south department Boston City Hospital 1909-10, medical house officer Children's Hospital, Boston, April-September, 1910 and assistant visiting physician 1913-17, assistant visiting physician children's department Boston Dispensary 1912–13, fellow in pediatrics Harvard Medical School 1913–17, had engaged in practice of medicine Charleston, S C, 1911, Boston 1911–17, Alpena, Mich, 1923-24, Great Barrington, Mass, 1924-29, Bedford, Mass, 1929, and Manchester, Mass, since 1929; surgeon Boston Immigration Station, U S Public Health Service, 1920–22, commissioned First Lieutenant July 5, 1917, with Massachusetts Ambulance Company 1 (federalized as Ambulance Company, 101st Sanitary Train), overseas September 7, 1917-May 8, 1919, saw action in Chemin des Dames and Lorraine sectors, Champagne-Marne defensive, and Marne-Aisne, St Mihiel, and Meuse-Argonne offensives, transferred to medical department 102d Infantry October 29, 1918, discharged August 7, 1919, school physician Dorchester and Hyde Park, Mass, 1921-22, and Bedford 1928, physician Manchester Board of Health 1930–35 and school physician 1935-37, had contributed articles to several medical journals, member Massachusetts Medical Society, American Legion (vice-commander Manchester Post 1938), University Club, Boston, and Congregational Church, Manchester

Married (1) February 26, 1908, in Cleveland, Ohio, Ethel Marsh, daughter of Samuel Eladsit Williamson (BA Western Reserve 1864) and Mary (Marsh) Williamson Daughter, Harriet Day, the wife of Walter Dore Jenckes (BA Princeton 1931) Dr and Mrs. Ely were

¥

divorced in 1921 Married (2) August 30, 1922, in Pawtucket, RI, Florence, daughter of Charles Henry and Hanna (O'Brien) Derby

Death due to coronary heart disease Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Manchester. Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Mary Day Ely Pomeroy, the wife of Cleve Hale Pomeroy (B A Western Reserve 1912) of Cleveland, and a brother, Robert Ely of Seattle, Wash

Carleton Huiskamp, Ph.B. 1906.

Born December 11, 1881, in Keokuk, Iowa. Died May 18, 1939, in Iowa City, Iowa

Father, Henry Christian Huiskamp, president American Guaranty Fund Mutual Fire Insurance Company, St Louis, son of Heindrick and Lucretia (Landaal) Huiskamp of Amsterdam, Holland Mother, Julia (Werth) Huiskamp; daughter of William and Julia Fannie Werth of Singapore

Phillips-Andover Select course, member University Baseball Team three years; Class secretary for a short time Senior year, member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Mail clerk Third National Bank, St Louis, 1906–07, in contract department Home Telephone Company, Detroit, for short time 1907, with Rainier Foundry, Seattle, and later McConnell Engineering Company, Tacoma, Wash., 1907–08, independently engaged in real estate and loan business, Seattle, 1909–20; manager Jordan Storage & Distribution Company, Seattle, 1920–29; retired in 1931, had since resided in Keokuk, member University Club, Seattle, attended Episcopal church

Married October 30, 1907, in Seattle, Laura Eliza, daughter of James Chester and Sarah Ann (Neely) McVay Children Ann, the wife of Thomas L McDermond, Julie, the wife of Lawrence Francis Steffen (M D. Northwestern University 1932), and Carla, the wife of William A Logan

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Oakland Cemetery, Keokuk Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildren, and two brothers, Henry Werth Huiskamp (Carthage College ex-'81) and James Woolson Huiskamp, both of Keokuk

Waldo Cory Johnston, Ph.B. 1906.

Born April 29, 1883, in Cooperstown, NY Died November 11, 1938, in Cooperstown, NY

Father, James Anson Melrose Johnston, agent Clark Estates, Cooperstown, son of Thomas and Betsey B Johnston of Cooperstown Mother, Genevieve (Cory) Johnston, daughter of William Ellery and Samantha (Wood) Cory of Cooperstown Yale relatives include. Waldo Cory, *ex-*'77 (uncle), and Alicia deT. Ogden Jones, School of the Fine Arts 1938– 39 (niece)

The Hill School Select course, honor division Freshman year; mile relay team and track squad three years, Sheffield Debating Association Junior year (vice-president Senior year), treasurer City Government Club Senior year, Class deacon; Cup man, member Linonia (on executive committee Senior year), University Club (governor Senior year), Yale Corinthian Yacht Club, St Anthony and Delta Psi

Agent Clark Estates since 1906; president and director Otsego Farmer Publishing Company since 1923, vice-president Leatherstocking Corporation 1920–34 and president since 1934, secretary and treasurer Cooperstown Aqueduct Association 1914–34, and president since 1934; vicepresident and director Lakewood Cemetery Association 1914–38; treasurer Otsego County Historical Society since 1934 and the National Baseball Museum, Inc , since 1936, former director First National Bank of Cooperstown, chief Cooperstown Fire Department for several years, entered service December 19, 1917, and commissioned First Lieutenant, Signal Corps, on duty with the Washington Examining Board; promoted Captain, Air Service (Aeronautics) October 5, 1918; discharged April 2, 1919, member First Presbyterian Church, Cooperstown

Married November 4, 1907, in New York City, Marie deTrofimoff, daughter of Mahlon Ogden Jones, *ex-*'69 (B A. University of Illinois 1870) and Vera (deTrofimoff) Jones, and sister of Alexander deT Jones, '00 S Son, Waldo Cory Melrose, '37

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Lakewood Cemetery, Cooperstown Survived by wife, son, and a brother, Douglas T Johnston, '07 S

Alton Ensign Wells, Ph.B. 1906.

Born March 23, 1885, in New Haven, Conn Died January 14, 1939, in New York City

Father, Horace Alonzo Wells, associated with Sargent & Company, New Haven Mother, Nellie (Baker) Wells

Boardman Manual Training High School. Electrical engineering course

Associated with Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, for a short time in 1906, in electric signal department New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad 1906–07, associated with Union Switch & Signal Company, Hartford, 1907; checker and later in charge of the Dutch Point Station, Hartford Electric Light Company, 1907–10, associated with Rice & Baldwin Electric Company, Hartford, 1910–11; electrician T. Edward Oakes Company, Hartford, 1911–14; associated with Otis Elevator Company, Hartford, 1914–15, moved to New Jersey in 1918, engineer Public Service Production Company, Jersey City, for a time; salesman Philip H. Harrison & Company, Newark, NJ, 1929, electrical engineer Phelps Dodge Refining Company, Woodside, NY, since 1936; member Episcopal church

Married October 20, 1914, in South Manchester, Conn, Nellie Frances, daughter of John and Catharine (Fox) Farrell No children

Death due to heart disease Buried in Cypress Hills Cemetery, Brooklyn, N.Y Survived by wife

Ralph William Burnet, Ph.B. 1907.

Born June 14, 1883, in Chicago, Ill Died August 7, 1938, in Minneapolis, Minn

Father, William Henry Burnet, associated with N K Fairbanks Company, Chicago; son of William and Anna (Van Valkenburgh) Burnet Mother, Myra Louise (Sears) Burnet, daughter of John and Mary Jane (Curtis) Sears of Lockport, Ill Yale relatives include a nephew, Robert W. Burnet, *ex-*'34

Phillips-Andover Electrical engineering course, member Freshman Banjo Club and Yale Corinthian Yacht Club

Apprentice with Fore River Shipbuilding Company, Quincy, Mass, 1907–09 and American Shipbuilding Company, Elyria, Ohio, 1909–10, founder, president, and treasurer Northwestern Steel Cabinet Manufacturing Company, Minneapolis, 1910–12, manager of the home agency Consolidated Fire & Marine Insurance Company (later Northwestern Fire & Marine Insurance Company), Minneapolis, 1912–20, sales manager Plant Rubber Company 1920–31, retired in 1931 and had since devoted his time to his hobby, photography, member St Mark's Church (Episcopal), Minneapolis

Married July 4, 1907, in New Rochelle, NY, Julie, daughter of Guyon Fountain and Julie (Bernard) Gosman Children Margaret Louise Burnet Fite (BA Goucher College 1931), Mary Elizabeth (Goucher College ex-'33), the wife of Bruce Noel Coulter (Ph B Brown University 1920), William Bernard (BS Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1937), Jane; and Julie Ann

Death due to essential hypertension and cardiac decompensation Ashes interred in Lakewood Cemetery, Minneapolis Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs John H Hardin of Pasadena, Calif

Leigh Irving Holdredge, Ph.B. 1907.

Born January 12, 1879, in Oneonta, NY. Died November 11, 1938, in Oneonta, NY.

Father, Jonah Erving Holdredge, a merchant in Oneonta, son of John Alexander and Hannah (Harrington) Holdredge of West Burlington, N Y Mother, Ella (Wallace) Holdredge; daughter of Nathaniel Homer and Mary E (Cunningham) Wallace of Rockwells Mills, N Y.

Oneonta State Normal School Chemistry course; member honor division Freshman year

Associated with Fourth National Bank in Atlanta, Ga, for short time 1906, instructor in chemistry Polytechnic Institute, Brooklyn, NY, 1906-09, chemist Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station, New Haven, Conn, 1909–12; in charge of public health laboratories of Dr Charles E North, conducted research for Delaval Separator Company, and acted as consultant Franco-American Food Company, 1912-13; conducted investigations for Hudson Condensed Milk Company of New York at Hermon, NY, 1913 and for American Sugar Refinery 1913-14, chemist and bacteriologist in charge of Sewage Disposal Experiment Station of New York City at West New Brighton 1914-16, member Hilton Trading Company, dealers in heavy chemicals, 1916-17, assistant manager New York office of Newport Chemical Works 1917-18, in charge Philadelphia office Wallace & Tiernan Company, Inc, Newark, N J, 1918-22, represented The Paradon Engineering Company in New York State 1923–25, sanitary engineer Duro Company, Inc., New York City, and associated with Edward E Johnson Company, Inc, St Paul, Minn, 1925–35, in 1930 organized Holdredge Swimming Pool Service for purpose of furnishing sanitary supervision for a group of about twelve commercial pools in New York City and vicinity, district sanitary engineer Division of Sanitation, New York State Health Department 1935-38, member district committee Otschodela Council, Boy Scouts of America, New York State Association of Dairy and Milk Inspectors, New York State Sewage Works Association, American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, the Association of State Civil Service Employees, and First Baptist Church, Oneonta Unmarried

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage and hypertension Buried in Glenwood Cemetery, Oneonta Survived by a sister, Miss Beulah Holdredge of Oneonta.

William Jarvis Boardman, 2d, Ph.B. 1908.

Born November 29, 1885, in Cleveland, Ohio Died September 6, 1938, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, William Henry Boardman (B A. Trinity College 1883), associated with Diamond Portland Cement Company, Cleveland, son of William Jarvis Boardman (B.A. Trinity College 1854; Yale School of Law ex-1855) and Florence (Sheffield) Boardman of Cleveland Mother, Augusta Wick (Bissell) Boardman; daughter of Charles Stuart and Cynthia Dutton (Wick) Bissell of Cleveland Yale relatives include Daniel Boardman (B.A. 1709) (great-great-great-grandfather), William W Boardman (B A 1812) and George S Boardman (ex-1818) (great-greatuncles); John Addison Porter, B A 1842, Elijah G Boardman, ex-1852, William W. Phelps, '60, George St J. Sheffield, '63, Charles J. Sheffield, '67 S. (great-uncles), Joseph E Sheffield (M A Hon 1871; benefactor of the Sheffield Scientific School) (great-grandfather), Elijah G Boardman, '91 (uncle), Mabel T. Boardman, M.A Hon 1911 (aunt), and Bruce Crane, '31 (cousin)

St. Paul's School, Garden City, NY. Metallurgy course; member Kopper Kettle Klub, St Elmo and Delta Phi

Associated with Lake Shore & Michigan Southern Railroad, Cleveland, July-October, 1908, in blast furnace department American Steel & Wire Company, Cleveland, 1908–09, foundryman for M A. Hanna Company at West Middlesex, Pa, 1909–10 and at Detroit Iron & Steel Company 1910–11, salesman Baker Motor Vehicle Company, Cleveland, 1911–17, president and general manager Summit Silica Company, Barberton, Ohio, 1917–26, associated with The Central Steel Company, Massillon, Ohio, 1926–28, sales manager in chemical and agricultural department, Dolomite, Inc, Cleveland, 1928–30, engaged in independent engineering research work 1930–31, salesman Cushman Refrigeration & Heating Company, Inc, Cleveland, 1931 until retirement in 1932 because of ill-health; member Masonic order and Trinity Cathedral (Episcopal), Cleveland

Married September 4, 1909, in Cleveland, Elizabeth Stuart, daughter of Claude Hazeltine and Mary (Kilbourne) Wetmore Children William Jarvis, 3d, Anita Wetmore, the wife of William Mechel Weathers, Sheffield; Mabel Thorpe; and Elizabeth Wetmore

Death due to endothelial sarcoma of the pleura Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and two sisters, Edith B Cobb, the wife of Richard H Cobb (B A Cornell 1909) of Cleveland, and Mrs. Frank G Johns of Coral Gables, Fla

William Parker, Jr., Ph.B. 1908.

Born November 3, 1888, in Columbus, Ga Died October 10, 1938, in Atlanta, Ga.

Father, William Parker, president and general manager Standard Cotton Mills, Cedartown, Ga, son of Peter and Christine (Mattock) Parker of Yorkshire, England. Mother, Annie (Berry) Parker, daughter of Benjamin and Annie Almira Berry of Columbus, Ga.

Samuel Benedict Memorial School, Cedartown Select course; member Sheffield Debating Society, and Georgia and Southern clubs

Associated with Standard Cotton Mills 1908–38, as overseer 1908–11, superintendent 1911–16, general manager 1916–23, and president since 1923, an organizer of the Cook Duck Mills, Cedartown, in 1916 and sccretary-treasurer 1917–23, enlisted May 13, 1918; warrant sergeant August 6, 1918, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps October 26, 1918, assistant to Depot Quartermaster in charge of cotton goods branch, Atlanta, promoted to First Lieutenant June 16, 1919, assistant zone purchasing officer, Atlanta, discharged July 26, 1919; commander Cedartown Post American Legion 1926–28, and of Georgia department 1931, assistant director Veterans' Service Office, Atlanta, 1937–38, member Cedartown Board of Education, Yale Engineering Association, and St James' Church (Episcopal), Cedartown.

Married October 29, 1918, in Meridian, Miss, Mary Moseley, daughter of Albert and Margaret Miller (Brown) Griggs. Children William, 3d (University of Georgia *ex-*'41), Mary, Margaret, Annie (died November 28, 1928), and Susan

Death due to myocardial degeneration Buried in Greenwood Cemetery, Cedartown Survived by wife, son, three daughters, a sister, Almira Parker Bassett, the widow of Lyman Earle Bassett, '08 S, stepmother, and a half brother, George B Parker, '29

Robert Pike, Ph.B. 1908.

Born November 27, 1885, in New York State Died February 7, 1939, in Salem, Mass

Parents by adoption, William and Elizabeth (Campbell) Pike

Gloucester (Mass) High School Attended Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1904–06 Joined Class of 1908 S. at beginning of Junior year; civil engineering course

Attended Harvard University Law School 1908–09, associated with Cadillac Motor Car Company and later with Lincoln Motor Company of Detroit, enlisted Company F, 550th Infantry, Michigan National Guard, January 15, 1918; honorably discharged at end of World War before being called into service; had been ill with encephalitis lethargica since 1924; member Federated Church, Pigeon Cove, Mass

Unmarried.

Death due to bronchopneumonia Buried in Locust Grove Cemetery, Rockport, Mass Survived by two sisters, Mrs James F. Foley of Salem and Mrs John Knox Munn of Cedar Rapids, Iowa.

Herbert Hartley Ramsay, Ph.B. 1908.

Born February 16, 1887, in Saginaw, Mich Died January 27, 1939, in New York City

Father, William Edmund Ramsay, member Bradley-Ramsay Lumber Company, Lake Charles, La Mother, Katherine (Penoyer) Ramsay; daughter of Lewis and Emeline (Wisner) Penoyer of Saginaw.

Riverview Academy, Poughkeepsie, NY, and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course, vice-president Freshman Baseball Association two years and of Yale University Baseball Association Senior year, member Yale University Athletic Committee Senior year, Cup man, member City Government, Mohican, and University clubs, The Hogans, Kopper Kettle Klub, St. Anthony and Delta Psi

Consulting engineer associated with John Hays Hammond, '76 S, Los Angeles and New York City, 1908–14; attended New York University 1913–16 (LL B. and J D 1916), admitted to New York bar 1916, engaged in practice of law in New York City since 1916; for a time in association with O'Brien, Boardman [Albert B, '73], Parker & Fox [Lyttleton, '02], then independently, and at the time of his death as partner in firm of Rogers, Ramsay & Hoge, vice-president Sterling Products Corporation, secretary and director International Petroleum Company, director Lawson & Company, New York City, American Machine & Foundry Company, International Cigar Machinery Company, Wood Manufacturing Company, Fairfield, Conn, Morris Lumber Company, Houston, Texas, and Madison Square Garden Corporation, enlisted December 13, 1917, in the US Naval Reserve Force, commissioned Ensign March, 1918, and promoted to lieutenancy November, 1918; assistant District Communication Superintendent, 3d Naval District, until discharge February 10, 1919, well known as a golf executive; secretary United States Golf Association 1925–28, vice-president 1928–31, president 1931-33 and member of executive committee, was especially interested in the Greens Section and was in large part responsible for inauguration of sectional qualifying system for national open championship; member house committee New York Yale Club 1927-28 and on council 1927-30; member Association of the Bar of the City of New

York, New York County Lawyers' Association, New York State, Trade and Commerce, and American Bar associations

Married September 12, 1925, in East Hampton, NY., Constance, daughter of Edward Everett McCall (LL B. New York University 1884) and Ella Frances (Gaynor) McCall Twin sons Hartley and Allan

Death due to peritonitis following an operation Ashes interred in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Francisco Survived by wife, sons, and a sister, Katherine Ramsay Blyth, the wife of Charles Reginald Blyth (B.S Amherst 1905) of Burlingame, Calif

Edward Alexander Gill Wylie, Ph.B. 1908.

Born February 27, 1887, in New York City. Died July 29, 1938, in Amagansett, N.Y.

Father, Walker Gill Wylie (University of South Carolina ex-1868; M D. Bellevue Hospital Medical College 1871), a physician in New York City, Lieutenant Confederate Army 1864-65, son of Dr Alexander Pearson Wylie and Juliet Agnes (Gill) Wylie of Chester, S C. Mother, Fanny (Damon) Wylie; daughter of Edward and Abigail (Holmes) Damon Yale relatives include. Dr Robert H Wylie, '83 S (uncle); and Robert H Wylie, Jr, '27, Amos K. Wylie, '31, and Lucilla W. Potter, ex-'29 Music (cousins)

The Hill School Select course; University Baseball Team Freshman and Junior years, University Football Squad Freshman and Junior years and Football Team Senior year; University Basketball Team Senior year, vice-president of Class Freshman year; member University Club, Hill School Club, Kopper Kettle Klub, and The Cloister and Book and Snake

Attended New York Law School and clerk in office of former Judge Henry A Gildersleeve, New York City, 1908–10; admitted to New York bar 1910, clerk O'Brien, Boardman [Albert B, '73], Platt [Frank H, '77] & Littleton 1910–11, associated in practice of law with Martin W Littleton 1911–16, practiced independently New York City 1919 until retirement in 1935, appointed temporary city magistrate by Mayor Mitchel 1917, overseas September 26, 1917–March 13, 1919, served with American Field Service in France for one month before enhstment with Section Sanitaire Unit 625, attached to 151st, 129th, and 162d French Infantry and to 268th Field Artillery, took part in engagement in the Toul Sector, in the Seicheprey defensive, the Montdidier-Noyon defensive, the Aisne-Marne offensive (Soissons), the Aisne offensive (Croney and Moulin-le-Faux), and in the Nancy Sector near Pont-à-Mousson; was slightly wounded at Ferme de Porte, Monchy-Aisne, and slightly gassed at Fhrey, Woevre, recalled from lines November 5, 1918, to the United

220

States General Headquarters to be commissioned in Judge Advocate Department; at Armistice reassigned to French Army of Occupation, Mayence, received certificate of merit General Headquarters, A E F, June 10, 1918, and on June 20, 1918, was decorated with the Croix de Guerre, discharged March 13, 1919; member St. Agnes' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married June 8, 1911, in New York City, Emily Nelson Ritchie, daughter of Donald and Emily Nelson (Ritchie) McLean Children Donald McLean, '33 S, and Edward Alexander Gill, Jr Mrs Wylie died May 2, 1936.

Death due to cerebral embolism Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery, New York City. Survived by sons, mother, and a brother, W Gill Wylie, Jr, ex-'17 S.

Harold Whiting Hunsiker, Ph.B. 1909.

Born September 19, 1887, in Pottsville, Pa. Died April 5, 1939, in Reno, Nev.

Father, Colonel Millard Hunsiker of London and Paris, foreign representative United States Steel Corporation and International Nickel Company; son of Cornelius and Mary (Horton) Hunsiker of Athens, Pa. Mother, Clara Minnette (Whiting) Hunsiker, daughter of Stephen B. and Kate (Burr) Whiting of Swampscott, Mass

St Paul's School, Concord, N H. Select course Freshman four-oared crew; captain Class crew Junior and Senior years, Yale University Glee Club Junior and Senior years; member City Government Club, St Paul's School Club, University Club, Triennial Committee, Chi Phi and York Hall

Associated with International Nickel Company at Copper Cliff, Ontario, 1909–10; in sales department New York City and later assistant to manager Chicago office Corn Products Refining Company 1910–11, superintendent and assistant to general manager Arizona Marble Company, Bowie, 1911, associated with Standard Chemical Company, Houston, Pa, 1912, paymaster James Stewart & Company, Baldwinsville, N Y, 1912–14; with Hewitt Rubber Company, Buffalo, 1914–17 (assistant to president 1917), associated with several Buffalo concerns 1919–20 including Ellicott Motor Service Corporation (treasurer and managing director), Robinson-Andrews & Company, Inc, production engineers (treasurer), and the business department of the Fidelity Trust Company; associated with Sizer Forge Company (later Sizer Steel Corporation) 1920–22 and vice-president 1922, with Walbridge & Company, Buffalo, 1922–26 (vice-president 1924–26), associated with Pistell, Deans & Company, Inc, investment bankers, Buffalo, 1926–30 (vicepresident 1928-30), independently engaged in brokerage business in Buffalo 1930 until retirement in 1934, had resided in Reno since 1936, commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, June 25, 1917, promoted to captaincy January 8, 1918, head of Military Information Department, Supply Division, Washington, D C, June 18, 1917–April 2, 1918, overseas April 15, 1918–January 24, 1919; assigned to duty as chief administrative officer, Procurements Division, May 15, 1918; chief of Small Arms Section, Tours, October 26, 1918, discharged January 28, 1919, a licensed air pilot; second vice-president Buffalo Aero Club; member Mayor's Unemployment Committee and Buffalo City Planning Association, member American Iron and Steel Institute, American Petroleum Institute, Buffalo Society of Natural Sciences, Masonic order, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Buffalo

Married (1) June 11, 1913, in Buffalo, Florence Melissa, daughter of Elgood Chauncey Lufkin (B.S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1885) and Lula Dell (Moulton) Lufkin and sister of Chauncey F. Lufkin, '15 S, and Elgood M. Lufkin, '25 Children Harold Whiting, Jr, '38, and Minnette Lufkin (Bennington College 1940) Mr. and Mrs Hunsiker were divorced. Married (2) November 30, 1936, in Reno, Marie Elizabeth Jarvis, daughter of Edward and Emma (Goyette) Gaffey

Death due to carcinoma Ashes interred in Tioga Point Cemetery, Athens, Pa Survived by wife and children

Henry Leroy Lewis, Ph.B. 1909.

Born August 14, 1885, in Stratford, Conn. Died September 21, 1938, at Stony Creek, Conn

Father, Henry James Lewis, president H J Lewis Oyster Company, Bridgeport, Conn, son of Isaac Chauncey and Harriet (Pomeroy) Lewis of Meriden, Conn Mother, Mary Emma (Stringer) Lewis; daughter of William C and Mary (Brooker) Stringer of Stratford. Yale relatives include a cousin, Osmond L Miller, '99 S

Stratford High School, University School, Bridgeport, and Pomona College Preparatory School Electrical engineering course; honors in mathematics Junior year; two-year honors in electrical engineering Senior year

Associated with H. J Lewis Oyster Company since 1909 (president since 1920 and a director), president since 1937 and a director Modern Oyster Company, Inc, Greenport, Long Island, vice-president since 1933 and a director Narragansett Bay Oyster Company, Warren, R I, member board Storling Park Trustees, Stratford (treasurer since 1931), director International Silver Company and Oyster Growers and Dealers Association of North America, active in establishing and maintaining the council manager type of government for Stratford, chairman Republican Town Committee; life member Stratford Memorial Board, former member Bridgeport Council Boy Scouts of America, member Bridgeport Community Chest, United States Museum of History, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Stratford

Married October 12, 1910, in Washington, DC, Helen Edwards, daughter of Lieut Col Eaton Albert Edwards and Mary Lucinda (Conger) Edwards Children Cait (BA Connecticut College for Women 1934), Mary, the wife of William Frederick Broughton, 3d (US Naval Academy 1930-31); and Hervey Conger (Dartmouth 1941).

Mr and Mrs Lewis lost their lives when their summer residence was destroyed by a hurricane and tidal wave. Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden, Conn. Survived by children, two grandchildren, a sister, Mrs Helen Margery Lewis Roesller of Stony Creek, and a brother, Isaac Chauncey Lewis, *ex-*'18 S.

Philip Mansfield Freeman, Ph.B. 1910.

Born December 9, 1888, in Plainville, Conn Died November 9, 1938, in Lagunillas, Venezuela.

Father, Edward Arthur Freeman, superintendent and manager Welch Clock Company and Sessions Clock Company, son of Edward Arthur and Elizabeth (Storrs) Freeman of Coventry, Conn Mother, Mary Anne (Bolton) Freeman; daughter of William Bolton of Wallingford, Conn

Hartford Public High School Mechanical engineering course, member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta

Worked in mechanical department Youngstown (Ohio) Sheet & Tube Company 1910–14; resident engineer 1914–17 and chief engineer 1917–19 American Brass Company, Torrington, Conn, assistant to plant engineer New Departure Manufacturing Company, Bristol, Conn, 1919– 20, with Bridgeport Brass Company 1920–22, service engineer The Babcock & Wilcox Company, New York City, 1922–28 and 1930–32, and application engineer 1932–37, assistant construction superintendent to chief engineer The John H Heald Paper Company, Lynchburg, Va, 1928–30, power advisory engineer Taylor Management Corporation, New York City, 1934–35, in charge of construction and placement of a power plant enterprise in Venezuela for J G White Engineering Company of New York since 1937, member Plainville Congregational Church.

Married October 6, 1911, in Youngstown, Sara Neola, daughter of

John Edward and Sara Ann (Heck) McFadden. Children: Edward Mc-Fadden; Philip Mansfield, Jr. (Duke University 1941), and Elizabeth Bolton.

Death due to peritonitis. Buried in Las Delicias Cemetery, Maracaibo, Venezuela Survived by wife, children, one granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs. Everett W. Lewis of Hyde Park, Mass.

[Frank] Rowland Jones, Ph.B. 1910.

Born June 30, 1891, in Brooklyn, N.Y. Died May 30, 1939, in Greenwich, Conn

Father, Frank Bowne Jones of Greenwich, head of yacht brokerage firm of Frank Bowne Jones, son of Thomas B and Adeline (Rowland) Jones of Brooklyn Mother, Harriette Coffin Jones Kitt, daughter of Charles Barker and Lucy Ann (Shaw) Coffin of Brooklyn.

Polytechnic Preparatory School, Brooklyn, and Lawrenceville School. Mechanical engineering course, member University Club

Associated with Alberger Pump and Condenser Company, New York City, 1910–17, sales engineer and manager New York office Midwest Engine Company for a few months in 1919; member of his father's firm 1919–35, associate broker Cox & Stevens, Inc., naval architects and yacht brokers, New York City, 1935–39, enlisted May 15, 1917; attended Officers' Training Camp, Plattsburg; commissioned First Lieutenant, Field Artillery, August 15, 1917, with Company C, 301st Ammunition Train, 76th Division, Camp Devens, overseas July, 1918–July 6, 1919, attached to 301st Headquarters Train and Military Police; attended Saumur Artillery School, with Army of Occupation at Baumbach, Germany, attached to Battery A, 6th Field Artillery, 1st Division; discharged July 23, 1919, member First Division Society and American Legion

Unmarried

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn, N Y Survived by mother and father.

Harry Stewart Durand, Ph.B. 1913.

Born August 13, 1891, in New York City. Died April 9, 1939, in Harrison, NY.

Father, John Stewart Durand, '81 Mother, Emma Louise (Weber) Durand Yale relatives include. Frederick L Durand (BA 1836) (greatuncle), Henry S Durand, '81 (uncle), Edward D Mulligang '16, and Samuel E Durand, '19 (cousins) The Groff School, New York City. Select course; Class hockey team, member The Cloister and Book and Snake

Associated with banking and brokerage firms of Mackay & Company, New York City, 1913-32 (partner 1923-32) and Burton, Cluett & Dana, New York City, 1932-39; president and director Harmil Corporation 1929-32, Durand Properties, Inc, 1929-32, and Back Bay Realty Company 1925-32, director Coating Products Corporation, enrolled U.S. Naval Reserve Force December 15, 1917, as chief petty officer and commissioned Ensign July 5, 1918, attached to Bureau of Naval Communications, New York City, until discharge January 16, 1919, an enthusiastic huntsman, he maintained a stable of hunters and jumpers, chairman New York Dinner Committee and member Class Executive Committee for a number of years, member St Nicholas Society of the City of New York, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the American Revolution, Military Order of Foreign Wars of the United States, Union League Club, and St Thomas' Church (Episcopal), New York City.

Married May 9, 1916, in New York City, Mildred, daughter of Edwin Thomas and Marion (Fisher) Holmes. Children Marion Stewart, Holmes (died June 14, 1920), Mildred Holmes, Harry Stewart, Jr, and Joan Stevenson

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N Y. Survived by wife, daughters, and one son

Van Dyne Howbert, Ph.B. 1913.

Born August 11, 1892, in Colorado Springs, Colo. Died October 13, 1938, in New York City

Father, Charles Wesley Howbert, son of Rev William Howbert and Martha (Marshall) Howbert of Colorado Mother, Mary Sena (Martin) Howbert, daughter of David James and Sena (Nuckolls) Martin of Colorado Yale relatives include a cousin, William I Howbert, '07

Cutler Academy, Colorado Springs, and Phillips-Andover Mining engineering course, honors in English literature Freshman year, one-year honors in mining engineering Senior year, member Andover Club, Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta.

Engaged in mining in Cripple Creek, Colo, 1913–14, attended Colorado School of Mines 1914–16 (E M 1916, member Theta Tau and Tau Beta P1); assistant superintendent Kittimac Mill, Silverton, Colo, 1916– 17, entered service May 15, 1917; attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Riley and Fort Leavenworth; commissioned Second Lieutenant, Engineers, August 15, 1917, promoted to First Lieutenant June 12, 1918, served with Company E, Second Battalion, 314th Engineers, 89th Division, at Camp Funston; overseas June 12, 1918-May 26, 1919; in action Lucey Sector, St Mihiel offensive, Euvezin Sector, and Meuse-Argonne offensive, with Army of Occupation November 24, 1918–May 10, 1919, discharged June 20, 1919, mill foreman Afterthought Copper Company, Ingot, Calif, 1919-20; associated with The American Metal Company, Ltd, since 1920, member staff of its Mexican subsidiary, Compañia Minera de Peñoles, SA, 1920-23, in charge El Paso, Texas, office 1923–29, and of development and exploration department in New York City since 1929, a director and vice-president The American Metal Company of Texas 1928–38, director The American Metal Company of New Mexico and The American Metal Company of Canada, Ltd ; contributed to Transactions of the American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, member Mining and Metallurgical Society of America, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers (committeeman 1938), Mining Club of New York (chairman membership committee 1937), War Society of the 89th Division, 314th Engineers Association, American Legion, and Grace Church (Episcopal), Colorado Springs

Married June 10, 1920, in Denver, Helen Louise, daughter of John Ernest and Fannie B (Fry) Weiffenbach. Children: John Charles, Van Dyne, Jr, and Joan

Death due to meningitis Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Colorado Springs Survived by wife, children, parents, and a sister, Elizabeth Martin Howbert (B A Vassar 1926) of Colorado Springs.

George Walter Isbell, Ph.B. 1914.

Born October 16, 1892, in New Haven, Conn Died April 10, 1939, in White Plains, N.Y

Father, Revillo Frank Isbell, associated with C W. Whittlesey Company, New Haven, and Whitall Tatum Company, New York City; son of George Mitchell and Jane Ann (Stevens) Isbell of New Haven Mother, Mary Theresa (Voltz) Isbell, daughter of Harman and Mary Elizabeth (Avery) Voltz of New Haven

New Haven High School Mechanical engineering course; member Alpha Chi Rho

Efficiency engineer Miller, Franklin & Company, Inc (later Miller, Franklin, Bassett & Company, Inc), New York City, 1914–17, in truck tire sales department B F Goodrich Rubber Company, Newark, NJ, 1918–19, engaged in special engineering Du Pont Engineering Company, Wilmington, Del, 1919–20, industrial engineer Winchester Repeating Arms Company, New Haven, 1920–21 and Charles E. Bedaux Company of Cleveland 1921–34, chief engineer Industrial Management Engineers, Inc., New York City, since 1934, enlisted April 30, 1917, commissioned First Lieutenant, Ordnance, June 25, 1917, and promoted to captaincy June 28, 1918, served at the Springfield (Mass) Armory and in district ordnance office, Philadelphia, resigned captaincy September 1, 1918, to enlist in the infantry, attended Central Officers' Training School, Camp Lee, October 13 until discharge November 18, 1918, member Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married November 1, 1924, in Buffalo, NY, Lottie Estelle, daughter of Preston Thompson and Charlotte D (Rhyan) Large Children. George Mitchell and Carolyn.

Death due to a gunshot wound Buried in Westville Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by wife, children, and father

John Forsyth Kelsey, Ph.B. 1914.

Born February 3, 1893, in East Orange, NJ Died April 15, 1939, in Orange, NJ

Father, Clarence Hill Kelsey, '78, member Yale Corporation 1910–25. Mother, Elizabeth Baldwin (Tomlinson) Kelsey (Mount Holyoke ex-'76). Yale relatives include William H Kelsey, '77, and Clifford S Kelsey, '83 (uncles), H. Burr Kelsey, '37, Courtland Kelsey, Jr, ex-'37, and Stephen T. Kelsey, Jr, '39 (nephews)

East Orange High School and The Hotchkiss School Civil engineering course; general one-year honors for excellence in all studies Junior year, member University Bowling Team (second prize bowling tournament 1913), Cap and Gown Committee, member Hotchkiss Club, St Elmo and Delta Phi

Assistant to the secretary Worcester Salt Company, New York City, 1914–17, clerk The New York Trust Company 1919–21, associated with Title Guarantee and Trust Company of New York since 1922 (assistant treasurer 1926–35, trustee since 1933, assistant vice-president 1936–38, and secretary since 1939), secretary Title & Realty Safe Deposit Company, New York City, 1930–39 (a director since 1933 and treasurer 1937–39), entered service May 12, 1917, as machinist's mate, first class, U S Naval Reserve Force, and commissioned Ensign December 27, 1917, attended Reserve Officers' Class at Annapolis, commissioned Ensign (t), U S Navy June 8, 1918, promoted Lieutenant (Jg) November 5, 1918, assigned to U S S *Michigan* and later to U S Naval Base 7, Brest, on foreign service October 15, 1918–June 9, 1919, discharged June 17, 1919; member executive committee Yale Alumni Association of Essex County 1927–30, vice-president 1933–34, and treasurer 1934–37; member New York State Chamber of Commerce, and Central Brick Church (Presbyterian), East Orange.

Married February 12, 1923, in Orange, Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Heber and Charlotte Mae (Kelshaw) Peniston. Children. John Forsyth, Jr, and Lois Peniston.

Death due to pulmonary embolus. Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Orange, NJ Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, Stephen T Kelsey, '09, and Courtland Kelsey, '09

In memory of their father Mr Kelsey and his brothers in 1930 made a joint gift to the principal of the Alumni Fund

Harris Mosser, Ph.B. 1914.

Born July 26, 1891, in Boston, Mass. Died October 23, 1938, in Newton, Mass.

Father, Jacob Mosser, member firm of J. K Mosser Company, tanners and sole cutters, Boston, son of James Kistler and Maria (Keck) Mosser of Allentown, Pa Mother, Sarah Jane (Seiberling) Mosser; daughter of Peter and Catharine (Hartman) Seiberling of North Penn, Pa.

Roxbury (Mass) Latin School Select course; rowed on third junior and third Dunham crews, secretary and treasurer Roxbury Latin School Club Senior year, member Franklin Hall and Theta X1.

Worked in the West Williamsport, Pa, tannery of J K Mosser Company 1914, salesman Boston Belting Company 1916–17, salesman of shoe findings, Alexander Bender, Boston, 1917 and 1921, solicitor for Small, Nichols & Company, public accountants and industrial engineers, Boston, 1923, manager Vermont and northern New Hampshire district Williamson Heater Company of Cincinnati 1923–24, salesman E H. Rollins & Sons, investment brokers, Boston, 1924 until retirement in 1925 because of ill-health; had resided in Waban, Mass, since 1923, enhsted August 11, 1917, as corporal, Quartermaster Corps, stationed at Camp Joseph E Johnston, promoted to sergeant June 27, 1918, and to sergeant, first class, August 22, 1918; commissioned Second Lieutenant October 26, 1918, at Quartermaster Supply Depot, Jeffersonville, Ind, October 30, 1918, until discharge January 28, 1919, member Union Church, Waban

Married October 28, 1916, in New York City, Doris, daughter of Hiram Churchill and Marguerite Chadbourne (Rice) Nickerson Children Marjorie, Virginia, and Jane

Death due to insular sclerosis Buried in Forest Hills Cemetery, Boston. Survived by wife, daughters, two sisters, Mrs Pio Pediconi of Rome, Italy, and Anna M Roberts, the wife of Kenneth Roberts (B A. Cornell 1908) of Kennebunkport, Me., and four brothers, Philip D Mosser of Alexandria, Va, Charles R. Mosser of New York City, Paul S. Mosser, '07 S., and Karl E. Mosser, '11

James Leeney Francis Bracken, Ph.B. 1915.

Born October 10, 1893, in New Haven, Conn Died October 21, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, John Francis Bracken, a liveryman associated with I Keeney & Sons, New Haven; son of Patrick and Margret (Delaney) Bracken of New Haven. Mother, Mary Josephine (Leeney) Bracken, daughter of James and Margret (McCarthy) Leeney of Ireland.

New Haven High School. Electrical engineering course, member student branch American Institute of Electrical Engineers

Associated with New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad since 1915 as special apprentice in engineering department at Van Nest, NY, 1915–17, engineering assistant to assistant mechanical manager at New Rochelle, N.Y, 1917–34, and designing engineer at Van Nest since 1934, had resided in New Rochelle since 1932, member Yale Engineering Association and St. Gabriel's Church (Roman Catholic), New Rochelle Unmarried

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in St. Bernard's Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by mother.

Stephen Jones Meeker, Ph.B. 1915. Born March 31, 1893, in Newark, NJ Died March 10, 1939, in Milledgeville, Ga

Father, Stephen Jones Meeker, associated with the Meeker Foundry Company, Newark; son of David Magie and Olivia (Gardner) Meeker of Newark. Mother, Margaret Potter Cox Meeker, daughter of Thomas Potter of Philadelphia

Carteret Academy, Orange, N J, and The Hotchkiss School Mechanical engineering course, Freshman honors in German, member Freshman Crew squad, member Hotchkiss Club and The Colony and Berzelius

Foundryman Meeker Foundry Company 1915–16, salesman Debevoise Anderson Company, New York City, 1916–17, served as private with Essex Troop, New Jersey National Guard, on Mexican Border for a short time in 1916, enrolled as Ensign, U S Naval Reserve Force, April 10, 1917; promoted Lieutenant (jg) September, 1918, stationed with Second Naval District patrol force April–July 25, 1917, attached to the U.S S. Columbia July 25, 1917–January 22, 1918, to the USS Little

5

January 22, 1918–December, 1918, and at US Naval Base No 7, Brest, for troop convoy duty; on foreign service May, 1918–January, 1919, discharged January 18, 1919, president Meeker Foundry Company 1919–26 when he withdrew from business because of ill-health, had recently resided at Daytona Beach, Fla., member Yale Engineering Association, American Society of Mechanical Engineers, and Episcopal Church, Orange, N J.

Married April 21, 1919, in Syracuse, NY, Helen Van Gaasbeek, daughter of John Francis and Antoinette (Van Gaasbeek) Nash

Death due to a fractured skull sustained in a fall Buried in Albany (NY) Rural Cemetery Survived by wife and two half brothers, Gardner Meeker, '92 S, and Harry B Cox, '02 Another half brother, David M Meeker, '91 S, died November 30, 1937.

Francis Lightbody Field, Ph.B. 1916.

Born September 15, 1893, in Brooklyn, NY. Died December 23, 1938, in New York City.

Father, John Henry Field, head of hat manufacturing firm of John H. Field, Brooklyn, son of John Henry and Eliza (Jago) Field of Brooklyn. Mother, Alicia Cousins (Hicinbothem) Field, daughter of James and Margaret (Cousins) Hicinbothem of Brooklyn.

Brooklyn Boys' High School and New York Preparatory School. Select course, Freshman football, track, and cross country squads, member Pipe and Bowl, Phi Kappa Epsilon, and Book and Bond.

Attended New York Law School 1916–17 and Brooklyn Law School 1919–20, admitted to New York bar 1920, partner in law firms of Thomas [Hector W, '88] & Houghton (later Thomas, Houghton & Shepard), New York City, 1920–25, Ferris, Shepard, Joyce & McCoy 1925–30, and Buckley & Buckley 1930–35, had been associated with Roy P Monahan since 1936, enlisted September 21, 1917, as private, Battery A, 306th Field Artillery, 77th Division, promoted to corporal October, 1917, and sergeant February, 1918, served overseas April 24, 1918–April 29, 1919, taking part in the Oisne-Aisne and the Meuse-Argonne offensives, discharged May 10, 1919, member American Legion (judge advocate, Insurance Post 1937–38), and Spencer Memorial Presbyterian Church, Brooklyn.

Married June 29, 1924, in Brooklyn, Emma, daughter of John and Margaret (Klinck) Morch

Death due to a hemorrhage Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by wife, mother, a sister, Miss Margaret Elizabeth Field, and two brothers, John Howard Field and Rev. Herbert Hicinbothem Field (M A Columbia 1921, D D. Hastings College 1928) of Brooklyn

Alexander Ennis Patton, Jr., Ph.B. 1916.

Born April 4, 1892, in Curwensville, Pa Died June 4, 1939, in Harrisburg, Pa

Father, Alexander Ennis Patton, a banker, Pennsylvania state senator, son of John and Catherine (Ennis) Patton of Curwensville. Mother, Mary Boynton (Dill) Patton; daughter of Rev William Henry Dill (B A. Gettysburg College 1860) and Edith (Boynton) Dill of Clearfield, Pa Yale relatives include John Patton, '75, and Jonathan Boynton Dill, '93 (uncles), and John W Patton, ex-'09 S (cousin)

St. Paul's School, Garden City, NY, Pawling School for Boys, Phillips-Andover, and King School, Stamford Select course, Freshman Hockey Team; member University and Freshman baseball squads; Class baseball team Junior year; member Andover and Pawling School clubs, St Anthony and Delta Psi.

Associated with S. B Chapin & Company, brokers, Chicago, 1916–17, in credit department The Chemical National Bank of New York 1923–24 and its representative in Pennsylvania 1924, associated with First National Bank, Philadelphia, 1924–25; in sales department John M Driver Company, Philadelphia, 1925–30, and Indiana Limestone Company, Bedford, 1930–32; engaged in insurance business, Philadelphia, 1932–35, did government work in Curwensville 1935, salesman Hemphill, Noyes & Company, Harrisburg, 1936–37, resided in Clearfield, Pa, until December, 1938, and since then in Harrisburg, enlisted October 1, 1917, as sergeant, Quartermaster Corps, assigned to Subsistence Office, Camp Meade, attended Third Officers' Training Camp, Camp Meade, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Air Service, February 27, 1918, assigned to Bureau of Aircraft Production, Dayton, Ohio, until discharge January 20, 1919; member Curwensville Methodist Episcopal Church

Married September 12, 1925, in Philadelphia, Carolyn Hamilton Fisher Daughter, Barbara Jean Mr and Mrs Patton were divorced

Death due to a heart attack followed by intracranial hemorrhage Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Curwensville Survived by daughter and a sister, Edith Patton Janssen, the wife of Benno Janssen (University of Kansas ex-'95) of Charlottesville, Va

James Bernard Regan, Jr., Ph.B. 1916.

Born May 7, 1893, in New York City. Died May 20, 1939, in New York City.

Father, James Bernard Regan, proprietor Hotel Knickerbocker, New York City. Mother, Madge (Kildee) Regan Phillips-Andover and Harstrom School, Norwalk, Conn. Select course, member Freshman Football Squad J

Associated with his father in management of Hotel Knickerbocker 1916–17, 1918–20, vice-president and general manager The Regan Safety Devices Company, Inc, New York City, 1921–31; associated with Ardis, Warwick & Smith, New York City, for a short time; customer's man brokerage firm Emanuel & Company, New York City, 1929–30; attached to French Army July, 1917–January, 1918, as volunteer Norton-Harjes Ambulance Corps, enlisted as private Tank Corps, at Fort Slocum, May 7, 1918, promoted to corporal June 1, 1918; attended Second Officers' Training Camp, Camp Colt, and commissioned Second Lieutenant, Tank Corps, September 25, 1918, discharged November 30, 1918, member Roman Catholic church

Married in March, 1920, in New York City, Alice Joyce. Daughter, Peggy Mr and Mrs. Regan were divorced in 1933.

Death due to natural causes Buried in Gate of Heaven Cemetery, White Plains, NY Survived by daughter, mother (died June 19, 1939), and a sister, Edith, Duchess Loffredo d'Acerenza, of New York City.

Edward Earle Wyman, Ph.B. 1918.

Born April 9, 1893, in Evanston, Ill. Died July 28, 1938, at sea

Father, Edward Frothingham Wyman of Chicago and New York City, senior attorney Lawyers Title & Trust Company, son of Richard Frothingham and Harriet (Hoppin) Wyman of Charlestown, Mass. Mother, Katharine (Easter) Wyman, daughter of John Daniel and Katharine (Woodmansee) Easter of Chicago Yale relatives include: James W Spalding, ex-'39 S, and E. Wyman Spalding, ex-'40 (nephews).

Yonkers High School, private tutor, and Roxbury Tutoring School. Attended Sheffield Scientific School 1915–17, on leave of absence 1918; member Freshman Glee Club and Apollo Glee Club, University Glee Club Senior year, member Lacrosse Team; business manager Yale Sheffield Monthly, secretary Yale Association of Undergraduate Publications, corporal Yale Battery 1916, company commander Yale Naval Unit 1917, member St Elmo and Delta Phi, received Ph B honoris causa 1919, with enrollment in Class of 1918 S

Enlisted in the Navy 1917 and assigned to submarine boat company at Chester, Pa, transferred to US Naval Reserve Flying Corps as chief quartermaster, attended ground school Massachusetts Institute of Technology, commissioned Ensign April 1, 1918, assigned to Bureau of Construction, Engineering Section, Curtis Aeroplane & Manufacturing

Company, Buffalo, NY., where he engaged in the installation and testing of naval aircraft; later stationed at Naval Aircraft Base, Elizabeth, N J, and at the Chatham Air Station, after the war continued in the US Naval Reserve and in 1938 held rank of Lieutenant Commander attached to Bureau of Aeronautics; assistant to the president Gellert Engineering Company, Philadelphia, 1919–20; sales manager American LaFrance Fire Engine Company of Elmira, N.Y, 1920-21; national sales manager and transportation engineer Mack Trucks, Inc, New York City, 1921-29; assistant to Juan T. Trippe, '20 S, president Pan American Airways, Inc, 1929-June, 1938; vice-president and director New York Airways, Inc., 1930-38, Pacific Alaska Airways, Inc, and Marine Airport Corporation 1932-38, director Pan American Executive Association, 'Pan American Manufacturing & Supply Corporation, Uraba, Medellin and Central Airways, Inc; appointed vice-president and director Curtiss-Wright Corporation June, 1938; lectured on aerial transportation at Yale 1931, appointed arbitrator New York Stock Exchange June 28, 1938, an organizer Yale Club of Philadelphia 1920, chairman committee on admissions Yale Club of New York 1930-38, director Yale Alumni Association of Westchester County and Greenwich, Conn, 1929-38 (president 1933-34 and representative on Alumni Board 1936-38), vicepresident Yale Association of Class Secretaries 1936-38, had served as secretary, treasurer, and Alumni Fund agent for his Class since 1921 and as member of its dinner and reunion committees, commander Bronxville Post, American Legion, 1926–27, member Aviator's Post, New York American Legion, and Aviation Commandery Naval Order of America, member executive committee 1932-38 and president New York State Golf Association 1936-37; member governing board St Andrews Golf Club; governor St Elmo's Association, member American Society of Mechanical Engineers, American Institute of Mining and Metallurgical Engineers, National Aeronautics Association, The Institute of Aeronautical Sciences, Order of the Founders and Patriots of America, Society of Colonial Wars, Sons of the Revolution, Pan American Society, Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), Bronxville.

Married January 26, 1918, in Waterbury, Conn, Edna Benton, daughter of William Squires Rushmore and Lela Mae (Benton) Wake, and sister of Hereward Wake, '28 Children. Hope Woodmansee and Corydon.

Mr Wyman was aboard the Hawaiian Clipper when it was lost on a flight from Guam to Manila. Survived by wife, son, daughter, two sisters, Mrs. Geraldine W Spalding of New York City and Rosemonde W. Treadway, the wife of Heaton I Treadway, '17, and two brothers, Phillips Wyman of Scarborough, NY., and Walter F Wyman of New York City.

Gordon Bostwick Maurer, Ph.B. 1920.

Born May 30, 1899, in Rochester, N.Y. Died November 12, 1938, in Margaretville, N.Y.

Father, William Rochester Maurer, a civil engineer; instructor Mechanics Institute of Rochester for eighteen years; assistant engineer of tests New York, New Haven & Hartford Railroad Company, New Haven, son of Jacob G and Helen (Montgomery) Maurer of Rochester. Mother, Katherine (Bostwick) Maurer, daughter of Charles Elisha and Jane (Banford) Bostwick of Rochester

New Haven High School Combined premedical course, honors for excellence in all studies and honorable mention for excellence in biology Freshman year, general two-year honors Junior year; private Company F, Premedical Corps, Yale S A T C, October 3-December 14, 1918

M D cum laude Yale University 1923 (honorable mention Campbell Gold Medal, member Alpha Kappa Kappa and Alpha Omega Alpha), assistant in pathology and bacteriology Yale School of Medicine 1923–24, interne in surgery New Haven Hospital 1924–25, engaged in practice of medicine Margaretville since 1925 with the exception of several months in 1934–35 which he devoted to study and observation in department of surgery at Yale, during this time perfected an instrument for doing intestinal anastomoses which obviated the necessity of an assistant, was superintendent of Margaretville Hospital which was built by a community drive for funds after his care for patients in his own house demonstrated the need for such an institution, had contributed two papers to *American Journal of Surgery*; member Delaware County Medical Society (president 1928–30), American Medical Association, American Legion, and Margaretville Rod and Gun Club

Married January 17, 1929, at Lake Delaware, NY., Florence Gale, daughter of Thomas Russell and Jessie Brown (Dykes) Knight Daughter, Priscilla.

Death due to a gunshot wound received in a hunting accident Buried in Margaretville Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and a sister, Carol Woodruff Maurer Hess (Smith College ex-'27, Yale School of the Fine Arts ex-'29), the wife of Orvan Walter Hess (B S Lafayette College 1927, M D University of Buffalo 1931) of New Haven

Henry Munger Simmons, Ph.B. 1920.

Born October 20, 1899, in Utica, NY. Died December 16, 1938, in Herkimer, NY

Father, George Philip Simmons, vice-president Horrocks Desk Company of Herkimer, son of Rev Henry Martin Simmons, DD, and Florence (Head) Summons of Minneapolis, Minn. Mother, Bertha (Munger) Summons, daughter of Henry Gillette and Ellen Arvilla (Searles) Munger of Herkimer Yale relatives include an uncle, Frederick S. Munger, '94 S

Utica private schools, Herkimer High School, and Phillips-Andover Chemistry course, Freshman Wrestling Team and University Wrestling Team two years, member University Banjo-Mandolin Club Freshman year, member Battery I, Yale ROTC, 1917–18, attended summer camp, Camp Jackson, private Battery A, Field Artillery, Yale S A T C., September-December 1918; member Andover and Pipe and Bowl clubs, Sachem Hall and Phi Sigma Kappa

Foreign exchange trader American Express Company, New York and Philadelphia, 1920–22, associated with H G Munger & Company, a department store in Herkimer, since 1922 (advertising manager 1923–28 and general manager and president 1928–38); director First National Bank of Herkimer (member finance committee), Herkimer Free Library, Herkimer Memorial Hospital, National Retail Dry Goods Association, and American Legion, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Herkimer

Married August 19, 1929, in Herkimer, Marjorie Lucy, daughter of Edward and Nellie (Parker) Small No children

Mr. and Mrs Simmons lost their lives in an automobile accident Buried in Oak Hill Cemetery, Herkimer Survived by mother

Treat Payne Andrew, Ph.B. 1921.

Born September 5, 1899, in Naugatuck, Conn Died August 31, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, George Willey Andrew, general manager Risdon Tool & Machine Company, Naugatuck; son of George Sidney and Harriet Louise (Scott) Andrew of Naugatuck Mother, Mary (Gillette) Andrew, daughter of Rufus Merritt and Abigail (Payne) Gillette of Prospect, Conn Yale relatives include an uncle, J Alvin Scott, '77 S

Naugatuck High School and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course. Manager Soccer Team, member Senior Promenade Committee, Andover Club, Pipe and Bowl, The Colony and Berzelius, member Company 3, Yale Naval Training Unit, September, 1917–June, 1918; attended Officers' Training Camp, Fort Monroe, Va, October 21– November 22, 1918.

Partner Eberth [Sherwood S, '20 S] & Andrew (real estate and insurance), New Haven, 1921–23, bond salesman in New Haven branch of Richardson, Hill & Company of Boston 1923–24 and with Winslow, Day [Julius G, '87 S] & Stoddard [Carlos F, '26], Inc (subsequently Day, Stoddard & Williams, Inc), New Haven, since 1924, member St. Michael's Church (Episcopal), Naugatuck Married May 23, 1923, in Greenwich, Conn, Eleanor, daughter of Richard Nicholls Barnum, '98 S, and Marian Hutchison (Cocks) Barnum, and sister of Richard N Barnum, Jr, '34, and William H. Barnum, 3d, Class of 1942 Children. Treat Payne, Jr, and Marian.

Death due to meningitis and an abscess of the brain Buried in Grove Cemetery, Naugatuck. Survived by wife, children, father, four sisters, Mrs Tracy Noble and Mrs Chester P. Isbell of Naugatuck, Mrs. Clyde S Stillwagon of Ridgewood, N J, and Miss Priscilla Andrew of Durham, N C, and six brothers, Samuel N Andrew, Leroy S. Andrew, Walter Andrew, and Franklin Andrew, all of Naugatuck, and Alvin G. Andrew, '06 S, and George S Andrew, *ex-*'14 S.

Kımbark Jeffrey Howell, Ph.B. 1921.

Born February 8, 1900, in Chicago, Ill. Died September 24, 1938, in New London, Conn.

Father, Frank Warren Wentworth, '87 S Mother, Phoebe Grace (Kımbark) Howell

Interlaken and Tome schools, and Phillips-Andover Mechanical engineering course; member Signal Unit, SATC, Celven Club, and Alpha Sigma Phi

Student in mechanical engineering Sheffield Scientific School February-June, 1922, research automobile engineer with Mercer Motors Company in Trenton, N J, 1922, associated with Rolls Royce Company of America, Inc, Springfield, Mass, 1922–25, laboratory engineer in research department Studebaker Corporation, Detroit, Mich, 1925–27, in local purchase division General Motors Export Company, New York City, 1928 until retirement from active business in 1929, since retirement had engaged in experimental engineering in the automotive field, had spent the winters on his yacht *Kimsure* at Palm Beach, and the summers in New London, member Society of Automotive Engineers, American Power Boat Association, Contest Board of the American Automobile Association, and Episcopal church

Married June 9, 1925, in Lenox, Mass, Esther Elizabeth Randall (B A Mount Holyoke College 1925), daughter of Edward Grove Randall (M D. Hahnemann Médical College 1898) and Ada (Mayer) Randall, and great-granddaughter of Amos O Osborne (*ex*-1836) Children Esther Osborne and Kimbark Warren

Death due to cirrhosis of the liver Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife and children.

William Morrison Hawley, B.S. 1929.

Born November 3, 1906, in Brooklyn, NY Died March 1, 1939, in New York City

Father, William Pugsley Hawley of New Canaan, Conn, vice-president and salesman Coy, Hunt & Company, wholesale paper dealers in New York City, son of Charles Henry and Eliza Jane (Pugsley) Hawley of Bethel and Brookfield, Conn. Mother, Martha Ann (Morrison) Hawley; daughter of Samuel Guthrie and Mary (Johnston) Morrison of Bethel.

King School, Stamford Industrial engineering course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year and first term Sophomore year, general twoyear honors for excellence in all studies Junior year, BS *cum laude*, member Tau Beta P1 and Sigma X1

In time study department and sales department The Bryant Electric Company (a manufacturing subsidiary of the Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Company), Bridgeport, Conn, 1929–31, in advertising department 1932–33, and sales department 1934–36, clerk sales department Harvey Hubbell, Inc, Bridgeport, 1931–32, salesman Troutner Lumber Company, Inc, Richmond, Va., 1937, elected secretary and treasurer The New Canaan Lumber Company on its formation July, 1937, member Cedar Point Yacht Club, attended New Canaan Congregational Church.

Unmarried

Death due to a streptococcus infection Buried in Center Cemetery, Bethel, Conn. Survived by parents.

Frederick Wanger Dempsey, B.S. 1936.

Born July 7, 1912, in Canaan, Conn Died March 14, 1939, in Pittsfield, Mass

Father, Freeman Dempsey (Ph G Albany College of Pharmacy 1900), owner of Dempsey's Pharmacy, Canaan, son of John and Agnes (Roger) Dempsey of Millerton, N Y Mother, Annie Margaret (Wanger) Dempsey, daughter of Charles Frederick and Sarah M (Daniels) Wanger of Salisbury, Conn Yale relatives include a cousin, Roger J Templeton, '20 S

Canaan High School, Suffield Academy, and Blair Academy, Blairstown, NJ Entered with Class of 1935 S, joined 1936 S at beginning of Junior year, physics and industrial administration courses, Freshman Wrestling Squad and University Wrestling Squad two years; nonresident member Saybrook College; member Vernon Hall and Phi Gamma Delta

Production engineer Scovill Manufacturing Company since 1936, Ensign, 20th Division, Connecticut Naval Reserves; member Pilgrim Church (Congregational), Canaan

Unmarried

Death due to acute appendicitis followed by peritonitis Buried in Canaan Cemetery. Survived by parents and a brother, John H Dempsey, ex-'38

Franklin Lacy Sheldon, B.S. 1936.

Born December 29, 1912, in New York City. Died September 9, 1938, in New York City

Father, William Hills Sheldon (M D Cornell University 1907), of Rome, Italy; former chief of the Cornell Medical Clinic and associate professor of medicine, Cornell University, son of Charles Lacy and Eliza Swain (Hills) Sheldon of Auburn, N Y. Mother, Dorothea (Oakley) Sheldon; daughter of Dr. William Donald Oakley and Mary Brandford (Griffith) Oakley of England.

The Choate School, Wallingford.

In statistical department Guarantee Trust Company, New York City, July-December, 1936, and W. R K Taylor & Company, brokers in New York City, December, 1936-November, 1937, associated with Arthur Young & Company, public accountants, New York City, February-June, 1938, studied accounting at New York University summer of 1938, member St James' Church (Episcopal), New York City

Unmarried

Death due to gas poisoning Buried in Mount Hebron Cemetery, Montclair, NJ Survived by parents and a sister, Alethia Sheldon Mac-Leod, the wife of R Alastair MacLeod (B A. University of Cambridge 1927) of New York City

Francis Robertson Chase, B.S. 1938.

Born April 16, 1916, in Farmington, Conn Died June 22, 1939, in Portland, Conn.

Father, George DuBree Chase; president Gra-Rock Company, Wethersfield, Conn, son of George O. and Mary (Robertson) Chase of Baltimore, Md Mother, Jean Frances (Southwick) Chase (Bryn Mawr ex-'12), daughter of Francis H and Ella S Southwick of Brooklyn, N Y. Loomis Institute, Windsor, Conn Industrial management course, scholar of the second rank Freshman year; Freshman Lacrosse Team; University Lacrosse Squad three years; on board Yale Literary Magazine three years; member Saybrook College, Yale Political Union, and Tau Beta P1.

Associated with P. & F Corbin, hardware manufacturers, New Britain, Conn, since graduation, member Christ Church (Episcopal), Middle Haddam, Conn

Unmarried.

Death due to carbon monoxide poisoning. Buried in Union Hill Cemetery, East Hampton, Conn Survived by mother, two sisters, the Misses Jean Drummond and Shela Ann Chase, and two brothers, George Southwick Chase, '39, and Rodney Southwick Chase, all of Middle Haddam, Conn.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

MASTERS OF ARTS

[Ira] William Davenport, M.A. 1890.

Born July 6, 1863, in Jacksonville, Ill. Died August 26, 1938, at Pemaquid Point, Me.

Father, Basil Davenport, millowner and flour and grain merchant in Jacksonville, Ill, son of Ira Davenport of Jacksonville. Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Metcalf) Davenport Yale relatives include a nephew, William Burke Belknap, '08.

B A Illinois College 1885, attended Yale Graduate School 1887-89 (M A 1890), superintendent of schools Jacksonville 1889-92, professor of English Manual Training High School, Louisville, 1892-1900, headmaster Patterson-Davenport School for Boys, Louisville, 1900-09, and of Country Day School, Louisville, 1910-17; registrar University of Louisville 1917-28, instructor in history 1917-26, and associate professor of education 1926-28, retired in 1928; resided in Louisville and had maintained a summer home at Pemaquid Point, Me, for many years; governor Yale Alumni Association of Kentucky 1922-23, member Arts Club, Louisville, English Speaking Union, and Christ Church Cathedral (Episcopal), Louisville

Married June 24, 1902, in Louisville, Emily Andrews, daughter of Charles Gurdon and Emily (Andrews) Davison Children Basil, '26, and John Andrews, '32

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Ashes interred in Cave Hill Cemetery, Louisville. Survived by wife, sons, and one grandson

Kozo Samuru Chiba, M.A. 1895.

Died in December, 1938.

Attended Yale Graduate School 1893–95 (MA 1895), lecturer on political and social sciences at Tokyo School of Politics; author The Political Philosophy of J H Green, and of numerous articles on politics, sociology, and ethical subjects; translated into Japanese. Sorley's Recent Tendencies in Ethics, and Ibsen's The Master Builder, Hedda Gabler, and When We Dead Awaken

George Millet Chase, M.A. 1903.

Born April 17, 1873, in Lewiston, Me Died November 14, 1938, in Lewiston, Me.

Father, George Colby Chase, DD, LLD (BA Bates 1868), author and teacher, president of Bates College 1894–1919; son of Joseph and Jane (Dyer) Chase of Unity, Me Mother, Emma Francette (Millett) Chase (Bates ex-1867); daughter of Joel and Betsey (Parsons) Millett of Norway, Me.

Lewiston High School, B A. Bates 1893 (member Phi Beta Kappa); principal Alfred (Me.) High School 1893–94; instructor Falls Village, Conn, 1894–95, professor of classical languages and literature Fairmount College 1895–99, attended Yale Graduate School 1899–1901 (M A 1903); instructor in Greek Yale 1900–01, professor of Greek and dean American International College, Springfield, Mass, 1901–06, Belcher Professor of Greek Bates College since 1906 and secretary of the faculty since 1909; author Questions and Topics on Greek and Roman Statesmanship (1912), George C Chase, a Biography (1924), co-author Syllabus on Classical Civilization (1935 and 1938), vice-president New England Classical Association 1913–14, president Bates Chapter Phi Beta Kappa 1930–36, member American Association of University Professors, American Classical Association, American Philological Association, College Club since 1908, and United Baptist Church, Lewiston

Married August 14, 1901, in Wichita, Kans, Ella May Miller (B A. Fairmount College 1899 and Bates 1900), daughter of Albert Livingston Miller (Wheaton College ex-1865) and Ellen Jerusha (Sherman) Miller Children. Helen Sherman (B A Bates 1924, B S. Simmons 1926), the wife of Ambrose Frederick Richard (B C L University of New Brunswick 1924), and Elizabeth Millet

Death due to coronary occlusion Ashes interred in Riverside Cemetery, Lewiston, Me Survived by wife, daughters, four grandchildren, and two sisters, Elizabeth Dyer Chase (B A Bates 1902) and Caroline Chase Milliken (B A. Bates 1907), the wife of Carl Elias Milliken (B A Bates 1897 and Harvard 1899), both of New Rochelle, N Y

Robert Wilson Neal, M.A. 1908.

Born April 2, 1871, in Murrayville, Ill Died May 6, 1939, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, Robert David Neal, a farmer in Columbus, Kans, son of Andrew Neal of Louisville, Ky. Mother, Sarah Jane (Wilson) Neal, daughter of John and Nancy (Masters) Wilson of Roodhouse, Ill.

BA University of Kansas 1898 and MA. 1899 (student assistant in English department 1898–99); attended Yale Graduate School r899–1901 (MA 1908) and Harvard Graduate School 1902-03 (MA 1903); teacher of English, Latin, and history Wallingford High School 1900-01; instructor in English University of Cincinnati 1901–02 and Rutgers University 1903-04, member editorial staff World's Work 1904-06, instructor in German Massachusetts State College 1906-08, assistant professor of English 1906-10 and associate professor of English and major adviser in rural journalism 1910-20, editor Sunday feature page Springfield Union 1911-18, Boston American 1912-13, and New Bedford Standard-Times 1915-18, vice-president, director, and head of department of journalism and writing Home Correspondence School, Springfield, since 1920, instructor in English Columbia University summer 1921; conducted "Owl's Oak" department in Writer's Monthly 1921-39; author Thought-Building in Composition (1912), Short Stories in the Making (1914), Today's Short Stories Analyzed (1918), The Convert (1919; under pen name "Life"), Editorials and Editorial Writing (1921), and News and News Writing (1925), contributed verse, news articles, and fiction to periodicals; member Society of Arts and Sciences' Committee on the O. Henry Memorial Award 1919, 1926, honorary member Rutgers Chapter Phi Beta Kappa, member American Association of Teachers of Journalism, Council of Teachers of English, Phi Kappa Phi, and Center Church (Congregational), New Haven, Conn

Married April 19, 1895, in Lawrence, Kans., Stella May Miller (B A. University of Kansas 1894), daughter of Edwin Ruthven and Sarah Elizabeth (MacMillan) Miller. Son, Robert Miller (B A Amherst 1922; Yale Graduate School 1922–24).

Death due to acute cholecystitis Survived by wife, son, and two granddaughters

Philip Loring Gillett, M.A. 1909.

Born October 21, 1872, in LaSalle, Ind. Died November 26, 1938, in Utica, NY

Father, Omer Tousey Gillett (M D Columbia University 1869) of Colorado Springs, Colo, son of Rev Samuel Trumbel Gillett and Harriette (Goode) Gillett of Indianapolis, Ind Mother, Mary Anne (Brokenshire) Gillett, daughter of John and Huldah Loring (Rand) Brokenshire of Boston, Mass, and Cleveland, Ohio

B A Colorado College 1897, attended Yale Divinity School 1897–99, International Y M C A College 1900–01 (B H 1907, M H Hon 1927); registered, in absentia, Yale Graduate School, 1909–12 (M A 1909), had been engaged in Y M C A work since 1901; secretary Seoul, Korea, 1901–13, Shanghai 1913–14 and 1934–35, Nanking 1914–27, Krakow, Poland, 1927–28, and Taiyuanfu, China, 1929–31, famine relief work in China 1932; stationed at Peiping Presbyterian Mission 1932–34, and in Bangkok, Siam, 1935–January, 1937, secretary English Speaking Union of the United States for three months 1937, secretary Y M C A, Camp Beauregard, 1917–18; member Korean Branch, Royal Asiatic Society, and Congregational church

Married November 19, 1903, in Shanghai, Bertha Louise, daughter of William Carey Allen (M.D Hahnemann Medical College 1883) and Alice Catherine (Packard) Allen Children Alice Rand (B A Oberlin College 1932), the wife of Arthur Robert Harrison (B A Whittier College 1926), and Elizabeth Brokenshire (B A Oberlin College 1934), the wife of Robert DuBoise Hubbard.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, Colorado Springs. Survived by wife, daughters (Alice Gillett Harrison died December 7, 1938), two grandsons, a sister, Susan Gillett Blair (B A. Colorado College 1898), the wife of Herbert Edgar Blair (B A Park College 1901), of Taiku, Korea, and two brothers, Omer Rand Gillett (Ph B Colorado College 1898, M D. Jefferson Medical College 1902) of Colorado Springs, and Lewis Goode Gillett (Ph B. Colorado College 1901; B S. Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1904) of Canoga Park, Calif.

DOCTORS OF PHILOSOPHY

Edwin Linton, Ph.D. 1890.

Born March 14, 1855, in East Bethlehem, Pa. Died June 4, 1939, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, Joseph Linton, civil engineer and farmer in East Bethlehem, son of Mahlon and Ann (Hilles) Linton of East Bethlehem Mother, Naomi (Harry) Linton, daughter of Lewis Abraham and Maria (Griffith) Harry of Washington County, Pa

B A Washington and Jefferson College 1879, attended Yale Graduate School 1881–82 (Ph.D 1890), professor of mathematics Washington and Jefferson College 1879–81, LeMoyne Professor (elect) of Agriculture and Correlative Branches 1880–82, and professor 1882–1920, LeMoyne professor emeritus since 1920, honorary fellow in zoology University of Missouri 1920–22; honorary fellow in parasitology University of Georgia 1922–26, research fellow in zoology University of Pennsylvania since 1926, engaged in scientific research at Woods Hole, Mass, summers 1882–87, 1889, 1898–1900, and 1903–38, member of Professor Stephen A. Forbes' scientific expedition Yellowstone Park 1890, worked summers at Beaufort (N C.) Fisheries Laboratory 1901–02, in Bermuda 1903, at Tortugas Laboratory of the Carnegie Institution of Washington 1906– 08, and Mountain Lake Biological Station, Virginia, 1937, awarded silver medal Exposition Universelle, Paris, 1900, and Leidy Medal of Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 1937, an authority on helminthology, he was the author of more than one hundred papers covering the entire field of worm parasites, corresponding member Accademia di Agricoltura (Turin), fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science since 1909 (vice-president Section F 1924), member Georgia Academy of Science, Washington Academy of Sciences, Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, American Society of Naturalists, American Society of Zoologists, American Society of Parasitologists, Sigma X1, Phi Beta Kappa, and Walnut Street Presbyterian Church (Philadelphia).

Married July 9, 1885, in Washington, Pa, Margaret McKnight, daughter of Rev James Irwin Brownson (B A. Washington and Jefferson 1836) and Eleanor McCullough (Acheson) Brownson Children. Eleanor Acheson (B A Smith College 1909), the wife of Eliot Round Clark, '03; and Edwin Scott (B A Washington and Jefferson 1913, M A 1914, died November 14, 1917, M D [post obitum] Johns Hopkins 1918)

Death due to heart failure following pneumonia. Buried in Washington (Pa) Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, and one granddaughter, Margaret B Clark, MFA 1938.

Shunkıchi Kımura, Ph.D. 1896.

Died October 6, 1938, in Tokyo, Japan.

B S Imperial University of Japan 1888, attended Yale Graduate School 1894–96 (Ph D 1896), member Sigma X1, professor at the Naval College, Tokyo, 1901–02, adviser to Japanese Navy 1903–14, professor at Naval Torpedo School (founded wireless telegraphic system for the Navy) 1913–16, wireless engineer Naval Electrical Laboratory, Tokyo; had been associated with the Tokyo Electric Company, member Royal Society of Arts, London

Married Kame Kimura Son, Tadanao Survived by wife and son.

Ruth Goulding Wood, Ph.D. 1901.

Born January 29, 1875, in Central Falls, R I. Died May 5, 1939, in Springfield, Mass.

Father, Samuel Eugene Wood, son of Samuel and Sarah Amanda (Arnold) Wood of Central Falls, R I Mother, Kate Bassett (Pond) Wood; daughter of Barzılıa Foster and Mary Clinton (Bassett) Pond of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Pawtucket High School; BL Smith College 1898, attended Yale Graduate School 1898–1901 (Ph D 1901) and University of Gottingen 1908–09; instructor in mathematics Mount Holyoke College 1901–02, instructor in mathematics Smith College 1902–09, associate professor 1909–14, professor 1914–35, and professor emeritus since 1935, since 1931 had resided in Florence, Mass ; member Phi Beta Kappa, Sigma X1, and American Mathematical Association

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Swan Point Cemetery, Providence, R I. Survived by no immediate relatives

Wilton Everett Britton, Ph.D. 1903.

Born September 18, 1868, in Marlboro, Mass Died February 15, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Benjamin Howard Britton, a farmer in Gilsum, N H, son of Benjamin and Adeline (West) Britton of Easton, Mass Mother, Emily Eliza (Wright) Britton, daughter of Calvin and Diantha (Lebourveau) Wright of Keene, N H.

B.S University of New Hampshire 1893, special student in agriculture Cornell University 1893–94, attended Yale Graduate School 1899–1903 (Ph D 1903, member Sigma Xi), horticulturist Connecticut Agricultural Experiment Station 1894–1901 and entomologist since July 1, 1901, the first appointee to this position in Connecticut, superintendent State Geological and Natural History Survey Commission since 1925, associate editor Journal of Economic Entomology 1910-28, assisted in preparing indexes of American Economic Entomology 1905-34, author or editor of more than eighty-five bulletins and circulars on entomology including Guide to the Insects of Connecticut (1911–27), The House Fly as a Disease Carrier (1912), The Mosquito Problem of Connecticut (1915), Check-List of the Insects of Connecticut (1920), and Additions to the Check-List of the Insects of Connecticut (1938), co-author with George A Cromie (MF 1910) The Leopard Moth (1911), lecturer on forest entomology, Yale School of Forestry, 1901–06, chairman Committee on Food, New Haven War Bureau, 1917–18, private Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard 1917-20, Sc D. University of New Hampshire 1930, in 1935 Camp Britton (Conn) named in his honor and in 1936 his name was added to Connecticut's Agricultural Hall of Fame at Storrs, member Advisory Council Peabody Museum 1931-39, president American Association of Economic Entomologists 1909, an organizer of the Eastern Plant Board and president 1937, fellow American Association for the Advancement of Science and Entomological Society of America, corresponding member Entomological Society (Washington); trustee Crop Protection Institute 1922–24; member National Malaria Committee; chairman Connecticut Tree Protection Examining Board since 1919; member Patrons of Husbandry, Nurserymen's Association, Connecticut Botanical Society, Connecticut Vegetable Growers' Association, Connecticut Beekeepers Association, Connecticut Forestry Association, State Park and Forest Commission, Connecticut Pomological Society, for over forty years associated with the Grange, organizer Edgewood Civic Association and president 1908 and 1920 (member executive committee 1937), member Connecticut Library Association, president Donald G Mitchell Memorial Library 1910–39; director New Haven Public Library 1926–32 (vice-president of the board 1926–31) and Young Men's Institute Library since 1915; president and director since 1910 Beecher Park Memorial Association, Inc, member Phi Kappa Phi; attended Center Church (Congregational), New Haven.

Married April 30, 1895, in Surry, N H, Bertha Madeline, daughter of Charles Henry and Lucy Ann (Durrell) Perkins No children. Mrs. Britton died July 12, 1938.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Village Cemetery, Surry. Survived by a sister, Miss Anna Louise Britton of Orangeburg, N.Y., and two brothers, Frank Clifton Britton (B S University of New Hampshire 1895) and Fred Herbert Britton, both of Claremont, N H

Andrew Sledd, Ph.D. 1903.

Born November 7, 1870, in Lynchburg, Va. Died March 16, 1939, in Decatur, Ga.

Father, Robert Newton Sledd (B A Randolph-Macon College 1855), a Methodist Episcopal minister, son of James V. and Ann P (Justis) Sledd Mother, Frances Carey (Greene) Sledd, daughter of Elijah and Jane (Howard) Greene

BÀ and MA Randolph-Macon College 1894; principal high school Arkadelphia, Ark, 1892–93, instructor Randolph-Macon Academy, Bedford City, Va, 1894–95, attended Harvard University 1895–97 (MA 1896), teaching fellow Vanderbilt University 1897–98, professor of Latin language and literature Emory University 1898–1902, attended Yale Graduate School 1902–03 (Ph D. 1903), professor of Greek Southern University 1903–04, president University of Florida 1904–09 and of Southern University 1910–14, professor of Greek and New Testament Literature Emory University and librarian theological department since 1914, recording secretary General Board of Christian Education, Methodist Episcopal Church South, member American Standard Bible Committee, author St Mark's Life of Jesus (1927), Bibles of the Churches (1930), His Witnesses (1935), contributed articles to many magazines, LL D University of South Carolina 1905 and Rollins College 1909, D D. University of Florida 1909, member Phi Delta Theta, Phi Kappa Phi, National Council on Religion in Higher Education, attended Decatur First Methodist Church

Married March 14, 1899, in Oxford, Ga, Annie Florence, daughter of Bishop Warren Akin Candler, DD, LL.D (BA Emory University 1875) and Nettie (Curtright) Candler Children Frances Carey (BA Agnes Scott College 1919), the wife of John Withers Blake (BA Washington and Lee 1917, BD. Emory University 1921), Andrew, Jr (died July 21, 1919), Warren Candler (BA Emory 1926), Robert Newton (BA Emory 1930), Marvin Banks (BA. Emory 1935), James Hinton (BA Emory 1936), Antoinette (Emory University 1940), and Florence (Emory University 1940)

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Decatur Cemetery. Survived by wife, daughters, four sons, three grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Jennie P. Sledd of Norfolk, Va

Leslie Howard Meeks, Ph.D. 1926.

Born May 20, 1895, in Thorntown, Ind. Died July 23, 1938, at Lake Independence, Mich

Father, Howard Charles Meeks, a farmer in Thorntown, Ind, son of Howard Marion and Lucinda (Wilson) Meeks of Kirkland, Ind Mother, Rosa Emmeline (Riley) Meeks, daughter of James and Eliza (Hysinger) Riley of Thorntown

Thorntown High School, B A Earlham College 1919, teacher of English Friends' Select School, Philadelphia, 1919–21, attended Harvard Graduate School 1921–22 (M A 1922) and Yale Graduate School 1924– 26 (Ph.D. 1926, assistant in English 1925–26), instructor in English Indiana University 1922–24, assistant professor of English Goucher College 1926–27, professor of English and chairman of the department Indiana State Teachers College since 1928, author *Sheridan Knowles and the Theatre of his Time* (1933), founder and president 1934–36 Indiana College English Association, member National Council of Teachers of English, American Association of University Professors, Modern Language Association, Kappa Delta Pi, American Legion, Masonic order, and Society of Friends.

Married December 25, 1922, in Indianapolis, Marjorie Maureen, daughter of Schuyler Colfax and Cordelia (Strain) Wiltrout Children Charles Howard and Jean Maureen

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Sugar Plain Cemetery, Thorntown Survived by wife, children, and two brothers, James Riley Meeks (BSA. Purdue University 1914) of Rockville, Ind., and Earl Meeks of LaFayette, Ind.

John William McGarvey, Ph.D. 1937.

Born July 25, 1907, in Kansas City, Mo. Died December 26, 1938, in Northampton, Mass.

Father, Bird Hix McGarvey (Kentucky University 1886–88), president Chief Refrigerator Truck Lines, Inc., Kansas City, son of John William McGarvey, LLD (BA Bethany College 1850), and Ottie (Hix) McGarvey of Lexington, Ky. Mother, Evans (Ross) McGarvey (B.L Hardin College 1895), daughter of Judge James Evans Ross and Miriam (Warren) Ross of Mexico, Mo Yale relatives include a cousin, Wilbur R Hubbard, '20

Westport High School, Kansas City, attended University of Colorado 1925–27 (member Chi Psi), University of Missouri 1930–32, University of Arizona 1932–34 (BA 1933, MA 1935) and Stanford University summer of 1934, reporter *Denver Post* 1927, salesman R. B Jones & Sons, insurance, Kansas City, 1928–29, attended Yale Graduate School 1934–37 (Ph D 1937, member Sigma X1), research assistant in Department of Personnel Study 1935–36 and assistant 1936–37, assistant in research in psychology 1936–37, instructor in psychology Mount Holyoke College since 1937, contributed to *Psychological Bulletin*, member American Psychological Association, Society for the Psychological Study of Social Issues, and American Federation of Teachers.

Married August 28, 1936, in Amherst, Mass, Hulda Johnson Rees (B A Smith College 1931, M A 1933), daughter of Byron Johnson Rees (B A Harvard 1901) and Edith Chapin (Trafford) Rees No children

Death due to streptococcus pneumonia Ashes interred in Evergreen Cemetery, South Hadley, Mass Survived by wife, parents, and a sister, Mrs Edward Nicholas deRussy of Washington, D.C

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

George Howard Pierce, M.D. 1886.

Born March 17, 1860, in Portland, Me Died February 3, 1939, in Brooklyn, NY.

Father, Samuel Atwood Pierce, a merchant of ship supplies in Portland, son of Daniel and Ruth (Cobb) Pierce of Poland, Me Mother, Lucina Jane (Elder) Pierce, daughter of Samuel and Jane Elder of Gorham, Me.

Portland High School; BA Bowdoin College 1882, attended Yale Divinity School 1882-83 and Yale School of Medicine 1883-86 (MD 1886), engaged in practice of medicine in New Haven, 1886-88, Danbury, Conn., 1888–94, and Brooklyn since 1894, had an office in New York City 1921-26, specialized in obstetrics, inventor of "Pierce Outlet Pelvimeter", associate in obstetrics New York Polyclinic Medical School and Hospital, consultant in obstetrics to the interne staff New York Post-Graduate Medical School and Hospital 1911–12, clinical assistant in gynecology and obstetrics 1912-14, instructor in gynecology 1914-21 and associate 1921–27, attending obstetrician Flower Hospital, New York City, and Columbus Hospital Extension, New York City, obstetrician outpatient department Harlem Hospital, medical examiner for a number of insurance companies, medical director Missionary Society, Methodist Episcopal Church, secretary Danbury Medical Society 1892, member Medical Association of the Greater City of New York, Medical Society of the County of Kings, Brooklyn Pathological Society, Medical Society of the State of New York, New York Physicians Art Club, American Medical Association, and State Street Church (Congregational), Portland

Married October 20, 1886, in New Haven, Betty Raymond, daughter of Timothy and Harriet Aymar (Sherwood) Keeler Daughter, Jane Elder, the wife of William Sherman Downs Mrs Pierce died September 16, 1938

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Keeler Cemetery, Salem, NY Survived by daughter, two grandchildren, two great-grandchildren, a stepsister, Mrs. Elizabeth Robinson, and a stepbrother, John H Pierce, both of Portland

Stephen John Maher, M.D. 1887.

Born April 12, 1860, in New Haven, Conn Died June 6, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Michael Maher, a merchant and real estate dealer in New Haven, son of Stephen and Katherine (Strang) Maher of New Haven. Mother, Johanna (Gorman) Maher, daughter of John and Katherine (Dargan) Gorman of New Haven Yale relatives include a cousin, Frank J Conlan, ex-'01 S

Hillhouse High School, attended St Charles' College (Md) 1875-81; reporter and proofreader New Haven Register 1882-84; attended Yale School of Medicine 1884-87 (MD 1887, Keese Prize, president of Class), interne Rotunda Hospital, Dublin, 1887, and Hospital for Consumption and Diseases of the Chest, Brompton, England, 1888; engaged in general practice of medicine New Haven 1888-1900; specialist in diseases of the chest since 1900, consulting physician Grace Hospital and Hospital of St Raphael, member New Haven Board of Health 1897-99; a leader in state campaign to prevent and to treat tuberculosis, served on Commission since 1913, in charge of medical service State Tuberculosis on Board of Directors to Establish County Homes for the Care of Persons Suffering from Tuberculosis 1911–13, chairman State Tuberculosis Commission since 1913, in charge of medical service State Tuberculosis Sanatoria 1911-39, Maher Building at Waterford named in his honor 1933, president New England Conference on Tuberculosis 1915; director National Tuberculosis Association 1921-28, and director ex officio Gaylord Farm Sanatorium, member national committee, Framingham Community Health and Tuberculosis Demonstration 1916-23, corresponding member The International Anti-Tuberculosis Conference since 1905, member Inner Council, International Congress on Tuberculosis, Berlin, 1913, official delegate of United States, Conference of the International Union Against Tuberculosis, Rome (1928), Oslo (1930), Amsterdam (1932), and Lisbon (1937); awarded Laetare Medal by University of Notre Dame 1932, created Knight of St Gregory the Great by Pope Pius XI 1939, M A Hon. Manhattan College 1892; president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1911–12 (vice-president 1910–11), New Haven Medical Association 1912–13, and Connecticut Public Health Association, vice-president Connecticut State Medical Society 1914–15 and president 1915, member National Sanitarium Association, American Sanatorium Association, Society of American Bacteriologists, American Medical Association, American-Irish Historical Society, and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Unmarried

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, New Haven. Survived by five brothers, Frank G Maher, Frederick J Maher, Pierce M Maher, all of New Haven, and Dr James S Maher, '92 S, and Edward J Maher, '94 L Another brother, Augustin F Maher, '92 L., died March 2, 1935.

Moses Kleiner, M.D. 1888.

Born April 23, 1868, in New Haven, Conn Died December 1, 1938, in Boston, Mass.

Father, Israel Kleiner, a merchant tailor in New Haven Mother, Eva (Meyer) Kleiner. Yale relatives include Israel S Kleiner, '06 S, Israel Kleiner, '09 M, Simon B. Kleiner, '11 S, Israel K Weil, '18 S, and Morris F Heller, '31 M (nephews)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1886–88 (M D. 1888), engaged in the practice of medicine in New York City 1888–90 and in Denver, Colo, since 1890, professor of therapeutics University of Colorado School of Medicine 1910–17 and associate professor 1919–36, had served on the staffs of Mercy, St Anthony's, and Beth Israel hospitals and the National Jewish Hospital for Consumptives, Denver; president Denver Chinical and Pathological Society 1908, member American Medical Association, Masonic order, and Temple Emanuel, Denver

Married August 22, 1892, in New Haven, Bertha, daughter of Moses and Rosa (Cohen) Heller, and sister of Isaac M Heller, '94 S Daughter, Rosa (Mrs Romeo Lindenbaum)

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Mishkan Israel Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, two sisters, Mrs Esther Kleiner Cohn and Miss Henrietta Kleiner, and three brothers, Charles Kleiner, '83 L, Isaac L Kleiner, and Nathan I Kleiner, all of New Haven

George Newton Bell, M.D. 1892.

Born May 30, 1870, in Blandford, Mass Died September 10, 1938, in West Hartford, Conn

Father, Newton Stephen Bell (M D University of Vermont 1864), a physician in Windsor, Conn, son of William and Samantha (Gibbs) Bell Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Hatch) Bell, daughter of Walter Stanley and Mercy (Belden) Hatch of Blandford

Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1889–92 (MD 1892), interne Hartford Hospital 1892–94, practiced medicine in Hartford 1894 until retirement in 1931, member board of managing directors Hartford Hospital 1929–38, consulting surgeon Hartford, Hartford Isolation, Municipal, Mount Sinai, Litchfield County, Rockville City, Bristol, and Manchester Memorial hospitals, the Hartford Retreat, and the Newington Home for Crippled Children, member Hartford Medical Advisory Draft Board 1918, first vice-president Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine 1925–26 and president 1926–27; vicepresident Connecticut State Medical Society 1923–24; fellow American College of Surgeons and American Medical Association; member Connecticut State, Hartford, and Hartford County Medical societies, and New England Surgical Society, attended Trinity Church (Episcopal), Hartford

Married September 26, 1900, in Middle Haddam, Conn, Elizabeth Colston, daughter of Lorin and Sophia Hurd (Gardner) Palmer. Mrs. Bell died July 22, 1934

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Middle Haddam Cemetery Survived by a sister, Mrs Hattie Bell Bailey of Lynwood, Calif.

Michael Joseph Sheahan, M.D. 1896.

Born August 15, 1870, in Limerick, Ireland Died November 13, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Michael Sheahan, a blacksmith in Ireland and later in New Haven Mother, Mary (Burns) Sheahan

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Medicine 1893–96 (M D 1896), engaged in the practice of medicine in New Haven 1896–1900 and since 1917, and in Derby, Conn, 1900–17; city physician New Haven 1896–99 and surgeon New Haven Board of Health 1898–1900, member medical staff Hospital of St Raphael, New Haven, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, March, 1914, volunteer surgeon in medical unit organized by Duchess of Talleyrand 1914–15, served fifteen months on Mexican border, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, March 29, 1917, and promoted to captaincy June 28, 1917, overseas October, 1917–January 1, 1919, served successively as surgeon 48th Aero Squadron, assistant surgeon Hôpital Complémentaire No 2 at Evreaux, France, and with the medical unit of 14th Engineers, discharged January 1, 1919, with rank of Major, Medical Reserve Corps, member Association of Yale Alumni in Medicine and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), New Haven

Married January 10, 1900, in Derby, Margaret Veronica, daughter of Jeremiah Donovan Daughter, Hannah May (died December 15, 1902). Mrs Sheahan died May 15, 1936

Death due to diabetes and arteriosclerosis Buried in St Lawrence Cemetery, West Haven. Survived by three sisters, Mrs Catherine Sheahan O'Donnell, Mrs Mary Sheahan Whitmore, and Miss Anna Elizabeth Sheahan, all of New Haven

Edward Charles Krause, M.D. 1902.

Born January 22, 1871, in New Haven, Conn Died October 8, 1938, in Bridgeport, Conn

Parents, John and Anna Krause

Attended Yale School of Medicine 1897–1902 (M D 1902), interne St Mark's Hospital, New York City, 1902–04, member contagious diseases division New York Board of Health 1904–05, associated with New York Infant Asylum 1905–06 and with Bridgeport Emergency Hospital 1906–13, engaged in general practice of medicine in Bridgeport 1906–31

Married. Daughter, Margaret (Mrs Howard Lane)

Death due to coronary thrombosis. Buried in St Bernard's Cemetery, New Haven Survived by daughter, a sister, Miss Anna E Krause of New Haven, and a brother, Rev. William A Krause of Bridgeport

Frederick Forrest Budd, M.D. 1903.

Born March 2, 1875, in Meriden, Conn Died June 13, 1939, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Montgomery Randolph Budd, a silversmith in Meriden, son of Daniel Sniffen and Prudence (Brown) Budd of Rye, N Y. Mother, Louisa (Dryhurst) Budd; daughter of Harry and Ellenor (Lewis) Dryhurst of Birmingham, England, and Meriden Yale relatives include a nephew, John J Budd, '30.

Meriden High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1899–1903 (M D. 1903); had engaged in the practice of medicine in New Haven since 1903, member Local Exemption Board No 4, New Haven, June 24, 1917–November 8, 1918, commissioned Major, Medical Reserve Corps February 7, 1919, member St John's Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married April 12, 1900, in New York City, Esther, daughter of Thomas William and Catherine (Connelly) Russell Daughter, Esther Mary (Ph B Albertus Magnus College 1928; B N Yale 1931, instructor Yale School of Nursing since 1933)

Death due to coronary artery disease Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden Survived by wife, daughter, two sisters, Mrs Willis Mitchell of Los Angeles and Mrs Harold L Jackson of New York City, and four brothers, Lieut Col Arthur D Budd, USA, ret (BS US Military Academy 1904), of Windsor, Mass, Daniel R Budd of Meriden, Howard L Budd of Forest Hills, NY, and Harold Budd of Los Angeles.

٩

Maurice Farvish Lautman, M.D. 1911.

Born April 18, 1890, in Meriden, Conn. Died September 23, 1938, in Hot Springs, Ark.

Parents, Abel and Sara Lautman of New Britain

New Britain High School, attended Yale School of Medicine 1907-11 (M D 1911, member Class Book Committee), interne Mt. Sinai Hospital, New York City, 1911-14, engaged in practice of medicine in New York City 1914–15 and in Hot Springs since 1915, specializing in internal medicine, resident physician the Leo N Levi Memorial Hospital, Hot Springs, 1915–16, on medical board since 1920 (served as chairman at various times), and chairman 1936-37 special committee of staff appointed for study of arthritis, consultant to US Public Health Service Clinic in Hot Springs 1920-38, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, December 1, 1917, assigned to Evacuation Hospital 14, Fort Oglethorpe, and Sanitary Trains of the 18th Division, Camp Travis; discharged December 15, 1918, with rank of Captain, Medical Reserve Corps, author Arthritis and Rheumatic Disease (1936), fellow American Medical Association, member American Rheumatism Association, Garland County Medical Society, Arkansas Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of New York, American Congress of Physiotherapy, and Congregation House of Israel, Hot Springs

Married April 26, 1925, in Chicago, Ill, Minnie, daughter of Gustave and Eva (Cohen) Edelstone Children Daniel and Gretchen

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Waldheim Cemetery, Chicago Survived by wife and children

Paul Kıbbe Sellew, M.D. 1911.

Born October 10, 1887, in Worthington, Mass. Died May 5, 1939, in Los Angeles, Calif.

Father, Theodore Rodolphus Sellew, a farmer in East Longmeadow, Mass, son of Roland and Hancy Ann (Kibbe) Sellew of Glastonbury, Conn Mother, Matilda Belcher (Kibbe) Sellew, daughter of Donald Cushman and Hester Matilda (Hall) Kibbe of Wapping, Conn Yale relatives include a nephew, Roland W Sellew, '17 S

Union High School, Springfield, Mass, attended Yale School of Medicine 1905–07, 1909–11 (M D 1911, member Alpha Kappa Kappa), instructor in histology, pathology, and bacteriology Flint Medical College of New Orleans University 1907–09, interne Grace Hospital, New Haven, 1911–12 and Worcester State Hospital 1912, externe Psychopathic Department, Boston State Hospital, 1912–15 and Massachusetts Eye and Ear Infirmary 1915–16, in charge of psychopathic patients Charles B. Towns Hospital, Brookline, 1913-15, studied at Harvard Medical School 1913-14, engaged in practice of medicine Los Angeles since 1916, specializing in ophthalmology; instructor in pathology University of Southern California 1916-17 and in ophthalmology College of Medical Evangelists 1919-25, oculist Johnson Clinic for School Children 1925-26 and attending oculist White Memorial Hospital, official physician Occidental College 1919-22, author of several pamphlets on treatment of alcoholism and narcotic addiction, commissioned First Lieutenant, Medical Corps, March 12, 1918, in charge of eye, ear, nose and throat work, Post Hospital, Fort MacArthur, until discharge January 22, 1919; First Lieutenant, Medical Reserve Corps, March 20, 1919, and Captain September 19, 1919, second vice-president Yale Club of Southern California 1923; member Los Angeles County Medical Society, Medical Society of the State of California, American Medical Association, American Association for the Advancement of Science, and First Congregational Church, Los Angeles

Married September 3, 1937, in Los Angeles, Amalia Cabell López, daughter of Fernando Cabell López and Pastora Santigosa Ruiz-toranzo

Death due to uremia and congestive heart failure Buried in Rosedale Cemetery, Los Angeles. Survived by wife, mother, a sister, Mrs Alberto S. Thompson of Waltham, Mass, two half sisters, Miss Caroline Sellew of East Longmeadow, Mass, and Mrs Clinton Chapin of Chicopee, Mass, and a half brother, Albert Sellew of New London Another half brother, Edward B Sellew, ex-'13 G, died in 1929

DIVINITY SCHOOL

Alfred Van Cleve Johnson, B.D. 1871.

Born June 10, 1847, in New York City. Died October 31, 1938, in Jacksonville, Fla.

Father, Ebenezer Alfred Johnson (B A. 1833) Mother, Margaret Fox (Van Cleve) Johnson, daughter of John and Louisa Anna (Houston) Van Cleve Yale relatives include Sidney L. Johnson (B A 1827) and Charles A. Johnson (B A 1837) (uncles)

B A New York University 1867 (valedictorian, member Phi Beta Kappa) and M A. 1870, student Yale Divinity School 1868–69, 1870–71 (B D 1871) and Union Theological Seminary 1869–70; ordained in Presbytery of Morris and Orange at Chatham, N J, November 6, 1873, and minister there 1873–77, in Europe 1877–79; minister Parsipanny, N J, 1880; resided in Chatham, N J, Bennington, Vt, Groton and Lyme, Conn, 1881–89; in Yonkers, N Y, 1889–1900, Monsey, N Y, 1900–09, Dinsmore, Fla, 1910–19, and Jacksonville, Fla, since 1919.

Married (1) December 8, 1880, in New York City, Laura, daughter of John and Laura (Mott) Mott Children Grace Mott and Frances (died April 28, 1884) Mrs Johnson died February 8, 1884 Married (2) August 19, 1885, in Troy, NJ, Ellen Marcia, daughter of Elihu and Eleanor Augusta (Smith) Doty. Children Alfred Doty; Van Cleve; Francis; Mary, the wife of Edward C Geiger, Mark, and Margaret. Mrs Johnson died August 12, 1932

Death due to senility and coronary thrombosis. Buried in Restlawn Cemetery, near Jacksonville Survived by three daughters, four sons, and fifteen grandchildren

John Andrew Kaley, B.D. 1875.

Born March 31, 1845, in Beavertown, Pa. Died December 13, 1938, in Elyria, Ohio

Father, Charles Kaley, a farmer in Pennsylvania and Ohio; son of Abraham and Magdalina (Eine) Kaley of Pennsylvania Mother, Elizabeth (Ulsh) Kaley, daughter of Andrew and Barbara (Kifferin) Ulsh of Pennsylvania

B A Wittenberg College 1872, M A. 1874, attended Andover Theological Seminary 1872–74 and Yale Divinity School 1874–75 (B D. 1875), ordained in Congregational church, Derby, Vt, March 10, 1876, and minister there 1875–77, minister Irasburg, Vt, 1877–79, traveled in Europe 1879–80, minister Second Congregational Church, Jackson, Mich, 1880–81, Middleville, Mich, 1881, Chelsea, Mich, 1885–87, Ovid, Mich, 1887–88, Carson City, Mich, 1889–90, resided in Findlay, Ohio, 1890–92; minister Lexington, Ohio, 1892–95, Vermilion, Ohio, 1895–1903, Little Valley, N.Y, 1903–05, and North Ridgeville, Ohio, 1906 until retirement in 1909, had resided in Elyria since 1912, served as private Signal Corps, U.S. Army, 1864–65, member First Congregational Church, Elyria.

Married April 7, 1885, in Hastings, Mich, Carrie Althea, daughter of Zebulon Butler and Euphemia (Miller) Hoyt Children Karl L, Hoyt, and Pauline, the wife of Ernest Birch Mrs Kaley died March 9, 1928

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Ridgelawn Cemetery, Elyria. Survived by children and two grandsons

William Arthur Remele, B.D. 1879.

Born December 12, 1855, in New Haven, Vt. Died April 18, 1939, in Waterbury, Vt

Father, Stephen West Remele (B.A Middlebury College 1848), a farmer in East Poultney, Vt; son of Samuel Hopkins and Malinda (North) Remele of New Haven, Vt Mother, Sorelle (Smith) Remele, daughter of Frederic Royce and Eliza Smith of Ripton, Vt

Private tutor. B.A Middlebury College 1876 (member Delta Upsilon), attended Yale Divinity School 1876-79 (B D 1879), licensed to preach 1879, acting minister Congregational Church, North Pomfret, Vt., 1879-81; missionary in Pribilof Islands 1882-85, and among Indians of North Dakota 1885-89, acting minister East Poultney, Vt, 1889-94, and ordained there September 28, 1894, minister Weybridge, Vt, 1894-96, East Poultney 1896-98, First Congregational Church, Olympia, Wash, 1898-1900, Bridgewater, Vt, 1900-04, and Waitsfield, Vt, 1904-23, since 1923 minister emeritus Federated Church, Waitsfield, school superintendent, school director, and town auditor, Bridgewater, representative in Vermont General Assembly 1919 (member committees on penal institutions, suffrage and elections, and temperance), member Masonic order.

Married September 5, 1906, in Boston, Mass, Frances Stella, daughter of Edwin Seabury and Elizabeth Ney (Rugg) Thayer No children

Death due to chronic myocarditis Buried in Waitsfield Village Cemetery. Survived by wife.

George William Griffith, B.D. 1881.

Born March 1, 1856, in Cressona, Pa. Died November 27, 1938, in Bristol, Conn

Father, Benjamin Lewis Griffith, a draftsman with Pennsylvania & Reading Railroad Company; son of William and Eliza Meyers (Thompson) Griffith of Reisterstown, Md Mother, Susan Emily (Graeff) Griffith, daughter of Jacob and Catherine (Engel) Graeff of Reading, Pa.

Reading High School, attended Albright College 1876 and Franklin and Marshall College 1876-77 (member Chi Phi); engaged in teaching 1877-78; student Yale Divinity School 1878-81 (B.D 1881); acting minister Granby (Conn) Congregational Church 1881-82; ordained November 19, 1882, in Congregational church, Maywood, Ill, and minister there 1882-85, attended Berkeley Divinity School 1885-86 (graduated 1886); ordained by Bishop of Connecticut to the diaconate June 2, 1886, and to the priesthood May, 1887, while rector of St. Andrew's Church, Kent, Conn, curate St Andrew's Church, Meriden, Conn, 1888-91; rector of Christ Church, Unionville, Conn., 1891-93, St James' Church, Amesbury, Mass, 1893–96, St. Stephen's Church, East Haddam, Conn, 1897–1902, St Thomas' Church, Bethel, Conn., 1902-06, Trinity Church, Lime Rock, Conn, 1906-15, St. Paul's Church, Waterville, Conn, 1915–17; during the World War acted as vicar in charge of All Saints' Chapel, Trinity Church, New Haven; rector St Andrew's Church, Newcastle, Me., 1920 until retirement in June, 1924, secretary of '81 D since 1923, member Trinity Episcopal Church, Bristol (priest in charge 1925)

Married December 1, 1886, in Norwich, Conn, Hattie Nettleton, daughter of Henry and Lucinda Roberts (Tuttle) Merriman. Daughter, Helen Margaret Mrs Griffith died March 17, 1924.

Death due to chronic myocarditis. Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by daughter.

William McCracken Milroy, B.D. 1882.

Born August 25, 1855, in Northwood, Ohio. Died April 20, 1939, in Bellefontaine, Ohio

Father, Rev William M Milroy; son of James and Mary (McJerrow) Milroy of York, N Y. Mother, Isabella (McCracken) Milroy; daughter of William and Elizabeth (Hood) McCracken of York

B A Geneva College 1877; professor of Latin Geneva College 1877– 79, attended Reformed Presbyterian Theological Seminary 1879–81, 1882–83, and Yale Divinity School 1881–82 (B.D. 1882); admitted to Reformed Presbyterian (Scotch Covenanter) ministry 1883, professor of Greek Westminster College (Pa.) 1883–84, M A Westminster 1886; attended Johns Hopkins University 1885–88 (Ph D 1891), supply minister Ridgley Street Presbyterian Church, Baltimore, 1886–89, professor of Latin language and literature Geneva College, Beaver Falls, Pa, 1890–1912, engaged in business in Northwood 1912–20 with exception of a year (1917–18) in Civil Service Division, United States Department of Agriculture; ordained September 20, 1920, and minister Presbyterian Church, Glenwood, Fla, during winters 1920–25, retired from ministry in 1925 and had since been occupied as farm manager in Northwood, author *The Participle in the Vulgate New Testament* (1892); member American Philological Association, Masonic order, and Belle Center Presbyterian Church

Married July 25, 1893, in St John, New Brunswick, Ella Alice Adams Florian, daughter of Josiah Fowler and Elizabeth Ann (Ketchum) Adams

Death due to leakage of the heart. Buried in Northwood Cemetery Survived by wife, a foster daughter, Mrs George Artis of Bellefontaine, six grandchildren, three sisters, 'Mrs Matthew Hargrave of Saskatchewan, Canada, Belle Agnes Milroy Johnston (Beaver College ex-'97), the wife of William Lee Johnston of Lansing, Mich, and Harriet Louise Milroy Moore (Beaver College ex-'97), the wife of I S Moore of Okmulgee, Okla, and a brother, Fred Milroy (M.D Starling Medical College 1904) of Okmulgee.

Frederick Joseph Pohl, B.D. 1883.

Born March 1, 1853, in Brooklyn, NY. Died June 3, 1939, in Brooklyn, N.Y

Father, Augustus Frederick Pohl of Germany. Mother, Anna Gertrude (Kuth) Pohl of Alsace

Attended Oberlin College 1878–79, 1880–81 and Yale Divinity School 1880–83 (B.D. 1883), ordained in Congregational church, Eagle Rock, Conn., September 12, 1883, and minister there 1883–85, stated supply First Presbyterian Church, Durham, N.Y, 1885–96, resided in Brooklyn, N.Y, 1897–1912 and served as supply minister and evangelist 1906–08, taught physics in New York public schools 1903–04, 1910–12, stated supply Brookfield Church, Manorville, NY, 1913–21; honorably retired 1921 and had since resided in Brooklyn, member Clergy Club, New York City, and Brooklyn Presbytery.

Married October 4, 1888, in Brooklyn, Adelaide, daughter of Julius Ernest Henry and Wilhemina (Kroger) Von Nardroff Son, Frederick Julius (B.A Amherst 1911; MA. Columbia 1914) Mrs. Pohl died December 28, 1928.

۴.,

٢.,

Death due to cerebral hemorrhages Buried in Green-Wood Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by son

Newton Bracken Kelley, B.D. 1884.

Born September 2, 1857, in Findlay, Ohio. Died September 3, 1938, in Denver, Colo.

Father, Ethan Kelley, a millwright in Cassopolis, Mich. Mother, Eleanor Jane (Kennedy) Kelley.

B A Mount Union College 1881, M A 1886, attended Western Theological Seminary 1881-82 and Yale Divinity School 1882-84 (B D. 1884), ordained in First Congregational Church, Brainerd, Minn, July 29, 1884, and minister there 1884-87, minister Presbyterian Church, Rural Valley, Pa, 1887-89, principal Elders Ridge (Pa) Academy and minister Elders Ridge 1889-1903, minister New Athens, Ohio, and president Franklin College 1903-07; minister Westminster Presbyterian Church, Denver, 1907-10, Osborne, Kans, 1910-14, Washington, Kans, 1914-18, Fairfax, Mo., 1918-19, Sterling, Colo, 1919-22, and Axtell, Kans, 1923 until retirement in 1927; member board of pensions Highland Presbytery 1922-38 and acted as supply minister in Kansas, D D Grove City College 1903, chairman Ministers' Alliance of Northeast Kansas 1922-27

Married May 22, 1883, in Harrisville, Pa, Mary E, daughter of Henry and Mary E (Cline) Thompson Children. Eleanor Mabel (Franklin College ex-'08), the wife of Rev Russell R Irwin (B A. Grove City College 1906, B D Xenia Theological Seminary 1909); Bertha Q. (B S. Franklin College 1906), the wife of Hector K. MacQuarrie (Ph B Franklin College 1903), Mary Edith (Franklin College ex-'09), the wife of James McCarroll (M D Wayne University 1904), Timothy Dwight (Franklin College ex-'07), Alfred Thompson, Lavenia (deceased); Newton Bracken, Jr, Sara Donaldson; and Florence, the wife of George C Jaco

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver Survived by wife, sons, five daughters, twenty-two grandchildren, and two great-grandchildren

William Hammond McDougal, B.D. 1884.

Born March 24, 1858, in San Jose, Calif Died April 17, 1939, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, John McDougal, served in Black Hawk and Mexican wars; member Constitutional Convention of California 1849; governor of

260

California 1849–51; son of Margaret (Stockton) McDougal Mother, Jane (Palmer) McDougal; daughter of Nathan B Palmer of Stonington, Conn.

B A. Hanover College 1880; attended Lane Theological Seminary 1880-82 and Yale Divinity School 1883-84 (B D 1884), ordained in Congregational church, North Cornwall, Conn, September 11, 1884, and minister there 1884-86; minister Eureka, Calif, 1887-89, San Mateo, Calif., 1890-96, and Claremont, Calif, 1896-98, in 1896 organized in Oakland the first Council for Suppression of the Saloon which later merged with Anti-Saloon League, retired from ministry 1898, editor *The Pacific* (west coast organ of Congregational churches), 1898, instructor and head of English department Belmont (Calif) School 1899-1918, teacher Raymond School of Individual Instruction, San Francisco, until retirement in 1930, for a number of years had resided in Berkeley, author *Life of John Eliot*, editor Shakespeare's *Julius Caesar* (1912), had contributed prose and verse to many periodicals.

Married (1) in 1882, Alice Hynes McCutchen Sons John Hynes (B A Stanford University 1905) and Latham Eastman (B A Stanford University 1911) Mrs McDougal died March 27, 1930 Married (2) October 17, 1931, in Palo Alto, Calif, Catherine Hepburn, daughter of Henry and Catherine (Skinner) Greig.

Death due to general arteriosclerosis Buried in Cypress Lawn Cemetery, San Francisco Survived by wife, sons, three grandchildren, and one great-grandchild.

Jeremiah Clinton Cromer, B.D. 1885.

Born February 20, 1858, near Middletown, Ind Died November 16, 1938, in Fort Wayne, Ind.

Father, Josiah Cromer, a farmer near Muncie, Ind, son of George and Mary Cromer of Hagerstown, Ind. Mother, Mary (Shultz) Cromer; daughter of Martin and Christina Shultz of Hagerstown

Attended Wittenberg College 1877-81 (member Beta Theta P1), B A. Princeton 1882, M.A 1885, attended Yale Divinity School 1882-85 (B D 1885); ordained in Congregational church, Broad Brook, Conn, October 28, 1885, and minister there 1885-86, minister Plymouth Congregational Church, Fort Wayne, 1886-89, Millard Avenue Church, Chicago, 1889-95, First Congregational Church, Owosso, Mich, 1895-99, Fountain Park Congregational Church, St Louis, 1899-1904, Wellington, Ohio, 1904-10, and First Congregational Church, Vermilion, S Dak, 1910-19; assistant instructor in sociology University of South Dakota 1914-15; retired in 1919, since 1922 had resided in Fort Wayne, occasionally supplying the Congregational Church at Ridgeville, Ind , first president Indiana Christian Endeavor Union 1886–87

Married (1) September 15, 1885, in New Haven, Conn, May, daughter of William and Mary (Davis) Miner. Children: Edna Ives (B A. Oberlin 1908), the wife of William Cummings Sage (B S Purdue University 1910), Mary Elizabeth (B A Smith College 1912), the wife of Arthur James Smith, Ruth Wallace (B A University of California 1915), the wife of Alfred Tennyson Barr (B S University of Arizona 1921), and Miner Mrs Cromer died June 14, 1932 Married (2) November 2, 1935, in Cleveland, Ohio, Grace, daughter of John C and Ella (Stonecifer) Retter

Death due to pernicious anemia Buried in Miller Cemetery, Middletown, Ind Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

Melvin Elijah Hedding, B.D. 1885.

Born December 22, 1860, in Plattsburg, NY Died March 10, 1939, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, James Hedding of Chazy, NY, a Methodist minister Mother, Martha (Chamberlain) Hedding of West Chazy. Yale relatives include an uncle, Bishop Elijah Hedding, MA Hon 1824

Spauldings Academy, Barre, Vt., attended Oberlin College 1879–82, Yale Divinity School 1882–85 (B D 1885), Yale Graduate School 1885– 86, and National School of Elocution and Oratory, Philadelphia, 1886– 87, minister First Presbyterian Church, Mechanicville, N.Y., 1887–91; supply minister Anderson (Ind) Presbyterian Church 1891, received into Methodist Episcopal Church October, 1892; member Genesee Conference 1892–1907 (minister Cornhill Church, Rochester, N Y., 1892–94, Angelica 1894–97, Eldred, Pa , 1898–99, Andover, N.Y, Olean, N Y., and Trinity Church, Terre Haute, Ind , 1906–07); transferred to Northern Minnesota Conference 1907, minister Calvary Church, Minneapolis, 1907–09, assistant minister Hennepin Avenue Church, Minneapolis, 1909–11, minister Long Prairie, Minn , 1912–13, Thief River Falls, Minn., 1914, Cass Lake, Minn , 1915–17, and Taylors Falls, Minn , 1918–24, retired from active service in ministry 1924 because of illhealth and had since resided in Pasadena

Married March 12, 1891, in Mechanicville, Louise Bette, daughter of William Henry and Gertrude (Dickinson) Sherman No children.

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Forest Lawn Memorial Park, Glendale, Calif Survived by wife

William Henry Medlar, B.D. 1885.

Born January 28, 1858, in Drehersville, Pa Died July 17, 1938, in Sellersville, Pa.

Father, Samuel B Medlar, son of Christian and Catherine (Bucchy) Medlar of Drehersville Mother, Susannah (DeFrehn) Medlar, daughter of Daniel and Susannah (Noecher) DeFrehn of Orwigsburg, Pa

B.A. Muhlenberg College 1882, M A 1885; attended Yale Divinity School 1882–85 (BD. 1885), ordained in Second Congregational Church, East Brainerd, Minn, October 1, 1885, and minister there 1885–86, minister Crookston, Minn., 1886–89, Wabasha, Minn, 1889– 98, Alexandria, Minn, 1898–1903, York, Nebr, 1903–07, Linden Hills Church, Minnéapolis, Minn, 1907–12, Glenolden, Pa, 1913–18, Wayzata, Minn., 1918–25, and Amery (Wis.) Congregational Church 1925– 29, retired from active preaching in 1929 and had since resided in New York City, occasionally serving as supply minister in near-by churches, member Masonic order and Broadway Tabernacle (Congregational), New York City

Married (1) May 22, 1887, in Reading, Pa, Mary, daughter of Charles S. and Sarah (Barndt) Bachman Children. Charles Spencer (died in childhood) and Paul (died in infancy) Mrs Medlar died July 6, 1890. Married (2) November 18, 1904, in Marshall, Minn, Alice Watson Davidson, daughter of Jabus Pool and Amelia (Griffin) Watson.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Charles Evans Cemetery, Reading. Survived by wife (died December 6, 1938), two sisters, Katharine Medlar Ziegenfus, the wife of A. Frank Ziegenfus (MD Hahnemann Medical College 1879), and S Agnes Medlar (DO Philadelphia College of Osteopathy 1908), both of Philadelphia, and a stepdaughter, Miss Florence Davidson.

William George Poor, B.D. 1885.

Born June 13, 1858, in Andover, Mass. Died February 7, 1939, in Westboro, Mass.

Father, Joseph William Poor, a blacksmith and wagonmaker in Andover, son of William and Hannah Gleason (White) Poor Mother, Abigail Minerva (Reynolds) Poor, daughter of John and Prudence (Harris) Reynolds. Yale relatives include a nephew, Philip P. Cole, '14 S

Phillips-Andover, B A. Dartmouth College 1882; attended Yale Divinity School 1882-85 (B D 1885), ordained in Congregational church, Andover, May 25, 1885, minister Paola, Kans., 1885-89, Second Congregational Church, Chicopee Falls, Mass, 1889-94, First Congrega₽

tional Church, Keene, NH, 1894–99, Pawtucket Church, Lowell, Mass, 1900–02, Topsfield, Mass, 1903–07, Petersham, Mass, 1912–18, Boylston Center, Mass, 1918–19, and Upton, Mass, since 1919; for the 200th anniversary of Upton in 1935 he compiled a brief history of the town and wrote a pageant, "Upton's First Forty Years"

Married (1) May 9, 1889, in Paola, Harriet May Taylor Children Bertha Winifred, the wife of Herbert James Willmott; Joseph Victor (Tufts College 1912–15), and Jessie Elizabeth, the wife of William Musgrove Peppard. Mrs Poor died November 29, 1924. Married (2) June 9, 1928, in Upton, Carrie Pauline Goodwin, daughter of David Oscar and Hannah H (Floyd) Nelson.

Death due to general septicemia Buried in Lakeview Cemetery, Upton Survived by wife, children, three grandchildren, and a sister, Mrs. John N Cole of Andover.

Henry Rolfe Baker, B.D. 1886.

Born November 8, 1857, in Canterbury, N H. Died January 24, 1939, in Mitchell, S Dak.

Father, Ariel Anson Baker (BA. University of Vermont 1851; graduate Andover Theological Seminary 1854), a Congregational minister, son of Jacob and Nabby (Perkins) Baker of Enosburgh, Vt. Mother, Martha Farnum (Rolfe) Baker, daughter of Henry and Deborah (Carter) Rolfe of Concord, NH.

B A Grinnell College 1882 and M A 1885; attended Chicago Theological Seminary 1883-84 and Yale Divinity School 1884-86 (B.D 1886), ordained in Congregational church, Janesville, Minn, November 3, 1887, and minister there and at New Richland 1887-88; minister Gilead, Conn., 1888-89, attended Andover Theological Seminary 1889-90 and Harvard Divinity School 1890-91; minister Crawford, Nebr, 1892-93 and Durand, Wis, 1893-94, graduate student Clark University 1894-96, without charge 1896-1906; home missionary Madison County, Iowa, 1906-07, farmed and supervised his estates at Mitchell, S Dak, 1907 until retirement, member Congregational church, Mitchell.

Unmarried

Death due to acute pulmonary edema Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Mitchell. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Robert Murray Hogue, B.D. 1889.

Born January 16, 1866, in Philadelphia, Pa. Died March 28, 1939, in Philadelphia, Pa

Father, James Hogg, son of William and Mary (Harvey) Hogg Mother, Margaret (Kerr) Hogg, daughter of Robert and Hannah (Murray) Kerr.

B A. University of Pennsylvania 1886; attended Yale Divinity School 1887–90 (B D 1889); devoted his life to study and writing, had resided in Germantown, Pa, since 1895, member University Club, Philadelphia, and Unitarian Church, Germantown, since 1908.

Married January 16, 1895, in Philadelphia, Jane Elizabeth, daughter of Samuel and Ellen Francis (Montgomery) Horner Children Margaret (died October, 1900), Francis, Robert Arthur, Bernard James, George Alexander, and Elinor Frances, the wife of Robert W Lishman

Death followed a long illness Buried in West Laurel Hill Cemetery, Philadelphia Survived by wife, sons, one daughter, and a brother, James Renwick Hogg (B A Lafayette College 1878) of Merion, Pa.

Lewis Henry Keller, B.D. 1889.

Born February 24, 1858, in Upper Sandusky, Ohio Died August 5, 1938, in Asheville, NC

Parents, Levi Washington and Margaret (Shriver) Keller

Attended Valparaiso University 1879–80, Adrian College 1881–85, and Yale Divinity School 1885-86, 1887-89 (BD 1889), ordained in Congregational church, Mendon, Mich, February 8, 1889, minister Edgerton, W1s, 1889–94, Lyndale Avenue Church, Minneapolis, Minn, 1894-99, Pilgrim Church, Milwaukee, Wis, 1899-1908, and Fond du Lac, W1s, 1908–12, moderator W1sconsin Conference 1903 and superintendent 1912–18, regional director Congregational Sunday School Extension Society, Kansas City, and minister ad interim Harrison Avenue Church, Oklahoma City, 1919, superintendent Southeast district Congregational Home Missionary Society and Congregational Sunday School Extension Society 1920-25; president Atlanta Theological Seminary and professor of homiletics 1925-29, due to ill-health was unoccupied 1929-31, minister Congregational Church, Holly Hill, Fla, 1931-33 and during summers supplied church at Tryon, NC, had resided at the Penney Farms (Fla) Memorial Community since 1933, DD Ripon College 1915, trustee Ripon College 1909-19, Piedmont College 1923–28, Thorsby (Ala) Institute 1929–30, and Rural Life Academy, Star, NC, editor Church Life 1912-18 and Southern Congregationalist 1918–25, on executive committee Anti-Saloon League and committee on recruiting National Council of Congregational Churches 1925–27, member Penney Farms Memorial Church

Married April 17, 1890, in Adrian, Mich, Nettie Cutter, daughter of Dewitt Clinton and Mary Elizabeth (Cutter) Hardy Children. Eleanor Hardy (University of Wisconsin ex-'15), the wife of Homer McClelland Carter (M D Rush Medical College 1915), and Fanny Margaret (University of Wisconsin ex-'19, B Mus Northwestern University 1923, M Mus 1936), the wife of Glen W Halik (B A University of Wisconsin 1918, B Mus Chicago Musical College 1920, M A College of the Pacific 1933)

Death due to tuberculosis Ashes interred in Oakwood Cemetery, Adrian Survived by wife, daughters, and two grandchildren

George Ellsworth Hooker, B.D. 1890.

Born April 25, 1861, in Peacham, Vt Died March 21, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

Father, William Davenport Hooker Mother, Esther H (Bickford) Hooker

Barre (Vt) Academy BA Amherst College 1883 (member Delta Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Columbia University School of Law 1883-85 (LL B 1885; member Phi Delta Phi), admitted to bar 1885; engaged in practice of law New York City 1885-87, attended Union Theological Seminary 1887–88 and Yale Divinity School 1888–90 (B.D. 1890), member Yale Washington Band, ordained Medical Lake, Washington, April 23, 1891, minister Cheney, Washington, 1891-92 and Medical Lake 1891–93, since 1893 had devoted himself to civic and social work and to the educational work of the Farmer-Labor Party, investigated city conditions in United States 1896–97, secretary Special Street Railway Committee, City Council, Chicago, 1897–98, secretary Chicago Civic Club 1903-19, member Chicago Plan Commission, chairman Illinois Pension Laws Commission 1915-16, 1918-19; trade commissioner investigating inland water transportation, United States Department of Commerce, Washington, D C, 1919–21, founder Inter-America (now World Policy) Council, Chicago, 1928 and chairman program committee 1928-39, editorial writer Chicago Daily Tribune 1899-1902, 1904-05, European correspondent, International Labor News Service at League of Nations meetings 1924–26, 1928–29, World Economic Conference, Geneva, 1927, and Sixth Pan-American Conference, Havana, 1928, compiled Street Railway Legislation in Illinois 1897 (1897); author Report on Street Railway Franchises of Chicago (1898), Report to the City Council of Chicago (1904), Do We Want a "Settlement" Franchise? (1905),

Through Routes for Chicago's Steam Railroads (1914), contributed to magazines, member Friends of Our Native Landscape, and American City Planning Institute 1918–28.

Unmarried.

Death due to carcinoma. Buried in Graceland Cemetery, Chicago. Survived by no immediate relatives

Claude Milton Severance, B.D. 1890.

Born November 3, 1861, in West Salisbury, Vt. Died June 15, 1939, in Jersey City, NJ.

Father, Rev Milton Leonard Severance (B A Middlebury College 1859), a Congregational minister, son of Ebenezer and Corcina (Jones) Severance of Middlebury, Vt Mother, Emily Augusta (Spencer) Severance; daughter of Nathaniel and Esther (Brown) Spencer of West Salisbury

Beeman Academy, New Haven, Vt, BA Middlebury College 1883 and M.A 1885 (member Delta Ps1), teacher Burr and Burton Seminary, Manchester, Vt, 1883-85, student University of Gottingen 1885-86, instructor in French and ancient history Oahu College, Hawaii, 1886–87, attended Yale Divinity School 1887–90 (BD 1890), ordained Eliot Church, Newton, Mass, September 11, 1890, missionary American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, Tottori and Kyoto, Japan, 1890–95, organized Denison Avenue Congregational Church, Cleveland, 1896 and minister there 1897–99, minister Second Congregational Church, Baltimore, 1899–1900 and at Port Morris, NY, 1901-03; lecturer for New York Board of Education 1903-05, minister Nyack, NY, 1905, general secretary New York Bible Society 1906-07. engaged in insurance business in greater New York and vicinity and acted as supply minister 1907-10 and 1917-19, minister Congregational churches at Noxen, Pa, 1911, Eldred and Barryville, NY, 1912-13, and Howells, NY, 1913–14, minister Methodist Protestant Church, Pleasantville, NJ, 1914-16, Reformed Church, Sunnyside, NY, 1919-22, and Reformed Church, Spotswood, NJ, 1925-29, minister First Congregational Church, Allentown, Pa, 1923–24 and 1930–31, minister First Reformed Church, Secaucus, NJ, 1931-36 and minister emeritus 1936-39; editor and publisher The Beacon 1902-03, The Reformed Messenger 1925–29; author The Church in Our Town (1910), contributed to magazines and newspapers, president Classis of New Brunswick 1928–29 and Classis of the Palisades 1935-36, chaplain Secaucus Fire Department and Secaucus Exempt Firemen's Association 1935-36, director Atlantic City Rescue Mission 1915; life member Hawaiian Mission Children's Society, Cousins Society of Honolulu, and Asiatic Society of Japan

ł

Married (1) July 12, 1892, in Kobe, Japan, Almona, daughter of Edward and Esther (Young) Gill Mrs Severance died November 7, 1898 Married (2) July 8, 1901, in Brooklyn, Minnehaha, daughter of Charles August and Eva Elisabeth (Schaefer) Schnabel Children Claude Milton, Jr, Walter Frear, and Minnehaha

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Old Bennington Cemetery, Bennington, Vt Survived by wife, children, five grandchildren, a sister, Miss Maude Emily Severance (B A Wellesley 1893) of Berkeley, Calif, and two brothers, Wilbert Nathaniel Severance (B A Middlebury College 1885) of Waterbury, Vt, and Herbert Allen Severance (Massachusetts Institute of Technology ex-'97) of Jersey City, and a half brother, Milton Leonard Severance, Jr. (B S Wesleyan 1926), of Salisbury, Md

Schuyler Sampson White, B.D. 1890.

Born April 17, 1861, in Plymouth, Mass. Died February 20, 1939, in Pasadena, Calif

Father, Rev Isaac Cushing White (B A Oberlin 1845), a Congregational minister, son of Isaac Hersy and Harriet (Harding) White of Abington, Mass Mother, Hannah Bartlett (Sampson) White, daughter of Schuyler and Mary Ann (Bartlett) Sampson of Plymouth, Mass

Private tutor and Phillips-Exeter, BA Harvard 1884; engaged in general study at home 1884–85, instructor in classics Drury College 1885–87, attended Yale Divinity School 1887–90 (BD 1890), ordained for foreign missionary service Eliot Church, Newton, Mass., September 11, 1890, served in Japan under American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions 1890–1919, stationed at Okayama 1890–96 and Tsuyama 1896–1919, delegate from Tsuyama church to National Meeting of Japanese Churches 1908; retired 1919 and had since resided in Pasadenä where he did church work among Japanese, translated into Japanese *The Miracles of Jesus* and *Prolegomena to Systematic Theology* by E. O Davies; prepared annual report of the Japan Mission, American Board of Commissioners for Foreign Missions, 1908, member First Congregational Church, Pasadena

Married June 29, 1892, in Okayama, Ida Augusta, daughter of Kenneth and Angeline (Cosper) McLennan Children Kenneth McLennan (died May 25, 1920) and Margaret Lee (B S Ohio State University 1918), the wife of Lee Vaughn Bone (B S Ohio State University 1918)

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in San Gabriel (Calif) Cemetery Survived by wife, daughter, two grandchildren, and a sister, Miss Harriet B. White of Apponaug, R I

Elbridge Cutler Whiting, B.D. 1891.

Born February 2, 1862, in Holliston, Mass Died October 18, 1938, in Boston, Mass

Father, Elbridge Gerry Whiting, in the shoe business in Holliston, sergeant Company B, 16th Massachusetts Volunteers 1861–62, son of Daniel and Sally (Bridges) Whiting of East Holliston Mother, Eliza Ann (Cutler) Whiting, daughter of John Milton and Electa (Burr) Cutler of Holliston

Holliston High School and Phillips-Andover; BA Amherst 1888 (member Delta Upsilon and Phi Beta Kappa), attended Yale Divinity School 1888-91 (BD 1891; Commencement speaker), ordained September 30, 1891, in Faith Church, Springfield, Mass, and minister there 1891–92, minister Fifth Avenue Church, Minneapolis, 1892–96 and supplied Congregational Church in Tewksbury, Mass, 1896-99, in 1899 organized Plymouth Church, Belmont, Mass., and minister there until 1904; minister South Sudbury, Mass, 1904-14, founded Whiting Hall, a private school in South Sudbury, and headmaster 1913-26, supply minister at various churches 1926-31 (four years at Wayland, Mass) and at West Gloucester, Mass, 1931-36, since 1936 had resided in Boston, published many of his sermons as well as addresses delivered at church and secular celebrations of a historical character, author of numerous pamphlets, secretary Boston Ministers' Association, delegate from Middlesex Conference and Association to National Council of Congregational Churches in Detroit 1929; member Suffolk West Association and Old South Church, Boston.

Married June 4, 1891, in Castine, Me, Louise Dana, daughter of Alfred Frederick and Isabella Francis (Osborn) Adams Children. Louise Adams (Mrs Edwin E Hebb, died May 17, 1929), Charlotte Adams, the wife of Walter Thompson Clark (B S Connecticut State College 1918), Helen Adams (B.A Wellesley College 1919), the wife of John Henderson, Elbridge Cutler, Jr (B.A. Amherst College 1921), Dana (B S Bowdom 1924), and Phillips Dwight

Death due to acute coronary occlusion and sclerosis Buried in Lake Grove Cemetery, Holliston Survived by wife, two daughters, three sons, and ten grandchildren

Clair Franklin Luther, B.D. 1892.

Born October 3, 1866, in Burton, Ohio. Died September 11, 1938, in Amherst, Mass

Father, Ezra Luther, a carpenter in Painesville, Ohio, son of Benjamin and Nancy (Carder) Luther of Perry, N.Y. Mother, Mary (Woods) Luther, daughter of Charles and Sarah (Johnson) Woods of Auburn, Ohio

Painesville High School, attended Adelbert College 1885-87, B.A. Amherst College 1889 (member Beta Theta P1), attended Yale Divinity School 1889–92 (BD 1892), 1909–10, and 1911–12; ordained October 14, 1892, in Redding (Conn) Congregational Church, minister there 1892-98 and principal Hill Academy 1893-95, minister Mystic, Conn, 1898-1905, Little Compton, RI, 1905-07, and Providence 1907-08, minister Westville Congregational Church, New Haven, secretary Pastors' Union, and registrar New Haven West Association of Congregational Churches 1909–19, minister First Congregational Church, Oxford, Mass, 1919-21, Second Congregational Church, Amherst, 1921 until retirement from the ministry in 1937, president Amherst Ministers' Association 1936-38, moderator Hampshire Association of Congregational Churches 1933-35, statistical secretary Hampshire East Association of Congregational Churches 1925-28, resident curator Amherst Historical Society 1937-38 (president of the society 1934-38), was an authority on Early American coins and furniture; author The Hadley Chest (1935), contributed to Antiques, The American Collector, and Numismatist, president National Luther Family Association 1936-38 (had devoted several years to preparation of Luther genealogy which was to be published in 1939), historian Amherst chapter Beta Theta Pi 1929-38 and clerk Beta Theta P1 Corporation 1930-38; secretary Class of 1889 at Amherst 1931–38, president Yale Club of Western Massachusetts 1923– 24, former president New Haven Branch National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, former director Donald G Mitchell Memorial Library, New Haven, delegate to National Council of Congregational Churches 1925

Married June 14, 1894, in New Haven, Conn, Edith May, daughter of William Henry and Julia Elva (Hurd) Bouton Children Mildred Hurd (B A Mount Holyoke College 1921), the wife of Arthur Hamilton Adams (Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute *ex-*'19), and Clarice Bouton (B A Mount Holyoke College 1927), the wife of William Brinsmade Nickerson

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Wildwood Cemetery, Amherst Survived by wife, daughters, and two grandsons

William Marsh Tinker, B.D. 1894.

Born October 10, 1867, in Corry, Pa Died December 14, 1938, in Bloomsburg, Pa

Father, Charles Strickland Tinker, a Baptist minister in Greenville, Pa, son of Thomas and Helen (Marsh) Tinker of Grant, Pa Mother, Helen Rebecca (McClay) Tinker, daughter of William and Angeline Sarah (Brown) McClay of West Spring Creek, Pa

B.A Thiel College 1887 and M A 1891; teacher Greenville (Pa) High School 1887–90; attended Crozer Theological Seminary 1891–92 and Yale Divinity School 1892–94 (B D 1894), ordained June 27, 1893, in Baptist church, Sharon, Pa ; minister Gallipolis, Ohio, 1895–96, Bloomsburg 1896–97 and 1903–06, Brooklyn, N Y, 1897–1902, and Cumberland, Md, 1906–13, teacher Allegany County Academy 1906–08, principal Allegany County High School, Cumberland, 1908–19, vice-principal and head of mathematics department Allentown (Pa) High School 1919–25, dean Pennsylvania State Extension School of Engineering 1916–27, instructor State Teachers College, Slippery Rock, Pa , 1925–37 and supply minister Calvary Baptist Church, Butler, Pa , 1925–28, M A Lehigh University 1920, Ph D. University of Pittsburgh 1932, secretary Ancient and Accepted Scottish Rite Bodies, Bloomsburg, since 1937

Married April 25, 1895, in Sharon, Pa, Jean, daughter of Israel Kimball and Elizabeth Ann (Clark) Whitcraft Children Elizabeth Helen (B A. Bryn Mawr 1916), the wife of John Leslie Vandegrift (George Washington University 1909–12), and Dorothy Clarke (B A Bryn Mawr 1925), the wife of Ralph Christian Swartz (M E Lehigh 1925)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Oakwood Cemetery, Sharon, Pa Survived by wife, daughters, two grandchildrên, and a brother, Louis Clark Tinker (B A Columbia 1900) of Newark, N J

David Herbert Evans, B.D. 1897.

Born May 15, 1868, in Little Falls, NY Died April 11, 1939, in Boston, Mass

Father, Evan David Evans, a building contractor in Little Falls, son o David Evans of Bridgewater, NY Mother, Elizabeth (Jones) Evans, daughter of Thomas and Mary (Morris) Jones of Oneida County, NY

Little Falls High School, B A Williams College 1890, teacher at Lowville, N Y, 1890–91 and New York Military Academy, Cornwall, 1891– 92; instructor in classical languages Canandaigua Academy 1892–94, attended Yale Divinity School 1894–97 (B D 1897), ordained in Congregational church, North Hampton, N H, November 18, 1897, and minister there until 1906, minister South Parish Church, Augusta, Me, 1906–09, in December, 1902, represented North Hampton in the convention to revise the New Hampshire constitution, retired from ministry in 1909 and had since resided at Little Boar's Head, N H, and at Cambridge, Mass ; since 1909 had been independently engaged in the investment business, trustee Esplanade Realty Trust 1925–29, member Old South Church (Congregational), Boston

۲

Married June 2, 1898, in Canandaigua, N.Y, Cornelia Cobb, daughter of John Cronise and Caroline Parrish (Cobb) Draper. Children John Draper (B A Harvard 1920) and Elizabeth Cornelia (B A Radcliffe 1926)

Death due to uremic poisoning Survived by wife and children

William Loren Fisher, B.D. 1901.

Born June 4, 1877, in Frankford, Mo Died December 29, 1938, in San Francisco, Calif

Father, Adam Fisher, an innkeeper in Frankford, son of George and Urania (Porter) Fisher of Ralls and Pike counties, Mo Mother, Sarah Elizabeth (Brown) Fisher, daughter of George Brown of Pike County

New London (Mo) High School, BA Bethany College (W Va) 1899, MA 1900 (member Beta Theta P1), ordained in Disciples of Christ ministry Central Church, Cincinnati, October, 1899, minister Bellaire, Ohio, 1899–1900, attended Yale Divinity School 1900–02 (B D. 1901), and University of Oxford 1907-08; minister Somerset, Pa, 1902-04, First Church, New Castle, Pa, 1904-07, Central Church, New York City, 1908–12, and Christ Church, Seattle, 1912–17, entered National Army as chaplain with rank of First Lieutenant December 21, 1917, appointed Captain, Regular Army, May 8, 1919; promoted to Major September 27, 1929, and Lieutenant Colonel September 27, 1935, graduate Army Chaplains' School 1923; stationed at Camp Lewis, Washington, 1917–20, Camp Travis, Texas, 1920–23, Fort Sam Houston, Texas, 1923, Fort Huachuca, Arız, 1923, Schofield Barracks, TH., 1923-26, Camp Lewis 1927-28, and Fort Lewis 1928-29; executive officer Office of Chief of Chaplains, Washington, DC, 1929-32, stationed at American Barracks, Tientsin, China, 1932-35 and at Presidio of San Francisco since 1935, DD Spokane University 1931; secretary Yale Club of Seattle 1916

Unmarried

Death due to coronary sclerosis with occlusion Buried in The National Cemetery, Presidio of San Francisco. Survived by a brother, John P. Fisher of New London, Mo

Robert Elliott Brown, B.D. 1904.

Born December 17, 1873, in Middleville, Ontario Died November 25, 1938, in Oberlin, Ohio

Father, Rev Robert Brown, a Congregational minister in Ontario, son of John and Jean (McDonald) Brown of Ontario and Manitoba Mother,

272

Anna Haselden (Unsworth) Brown; daughter of Giles Gorton and Anna (Crook) Unsworth of Liverpool, England, and Ontario Yale relatives include: Clark B Millikan, '24, Giles E Brown, '30, and Max F Millikan, '35 S (nephews).

BA. Oberlin 1901; attended Yale Divinity School 1901-04 (BD. 1904, member Book and Bond), ordained June 16, 1904, in Pilgrim Congregational Church, New Haven, and minister there 1904-11; minister Second Congregational Church, Waterbury, Conn, 1911-24, and First Congregational Church, Oakland, Calif, 1924-29; instructor in devotional use of hymns Pacific School of Religion 1927-28, Edward Bosworth Professor of Practical Theology and Human Relations, Graduate School of Theology, Oberlin College, 1929–38, preacher in 1926 at Stanford University; alumni lecturer Yale Divinity School April, 1919, DD Carleton College 1921, author How to Use Wheat (1931), coauthor Christian Certainties (1916), engaged in YMCA work in France October 1, 1917–April 15, 1918, trustee Suffield (Conn) Academy 1913–24, Oberlin College 1920–29, Pacific School of Religion 1924–34, Country Life Academy, and Okolona (Miss) Industrial Institute 1918-25, second vice-president Yale Club of the Naugatuck Valley 1923-24, chairman nominating committee National Council of Congregational Churches 1919-21 and member commission on recruiting 1925-27, director Northern California Conference of Congregational and Christian Churches and former director Waterbury Chamber of Commerce, member executive committee Congregational World Movement, Congregational General Council, Commission on Missions, New Haven Ministers' Association, and First Church, Oberlin

Married June 23, 1904, in River Forest, Ill, Mabel Aurelia Millikan (BA Oberlin 1901), daughter of Rev Silas Franklin Millikan (BA Oberlin 1855, MA 1858, grad Theological Seminary 1859) and Mary Jane (Andrews) Millikan Children Edward Southard (BA Oberlin 1939) and Elizabeth Ann (Oberlin 1942)

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Westwood Cemetery, Oberlin Survived by wife, children, a sister, Miss Jean H Brown (Oberlin College 1896–97) of Oberlin, and three brothers, John L Brown of Manitoba, Sydney B Brown (BA Oberlin 1908, MA Yale 1911), and Albert Raffles Brown (BA Oberlin 1902, BD Yale 1905)

William Henry Smith, B.D. 1907.

Born July 2, 1876, in Williams County, Ohio Died March 22, 1939, in Danville, Ky.

Father, Samuel Smith, schoolteacher and farmer in Williams County, son of William and Sarah Smith of Williams County Mother, Saloma (Stahl) Smith, daughter of Peter and Katharine Stahl of Williams County

Attended Tri-State College, Angola, Ind , 1896–99, B A. Hiram College 1901, minister Tiffin, Ohio, 1901–04, student Yale Divinity School 1904–07 (B D 1907), ordained in Disciples of Christ church, Bloomington, Ind , 1907 and minister' there 1907–12; minister Harrodsburg, Ky , 1912–18 and Danville 1918–19, in 1919 retired from regular ministry because of a throat ailment but continued to preach occasionally, agent Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company of Milwaukee and New England Mutual Life Insurance Company at Danville since 1919; charter member and first president Danville Rotary Club 1926–27, member Danville Board of Education 1924–39, and Disciples church, Danville

Married September 11, 1900, in Bryan, Ohio, Ruby Ann, daughter of Henry Burnette and Minnie Melissa (Bently) Robison Children Burnette Robison (died October 23, 1907) and Harriet Robison (B A Oberlin College 1933), the wife of Silas Stofer Ringo (B A. University of Michigan 1935)

Death due to a cerebral hemorrhage. Buried in Bellevue Cemetery, Danville Survived by wife, daughter, a sister, Mrs Jay Hosack of Oxford, Ohio, and five brothers, Frank, Ervin C, Bert, Charles, and Vern Smith, all of Bryan

Gilbert Whitney Campbell, B.D. 1909.

Born November 2, 1883, in Billings, Mo. Died July 7, 1938, in Clifton Springs, NY

Father, Alexander Campbell, owner of a hardware store in Billings, son of Archibald Marks and Sarah (Douglass) Campbell of LeClaire, Iowa Mother, Emma (Combs) Campbell, daughter of John and Sophronia (Starling) Combs of Washington County, Ohio

Billings High School, B A and M A Transylvania College 1908, ordained in Disciples of Christ church, Lexington, Ky, January 31, 1906, attended Yale Divinity and Graduate schools 1908–10 (B D 1909, M A 1910), assistant in psychology Yale University 1910–12, principal Easton (Conn) Academy 1912–13, attended University of Halle 1913–14 (Ph D 1914), minister Pawnee City, Nebr, 1915–16, evangelist in Australia 1916–17, dean School of Religious Pedagogy, Kansas City, Mo, and engaged in literary work 1917–19, minister at Orrick and at Holt, Mo, 1920–24, head department of philosophy and education Alfred University since 1924, professor of philosophy and education 1924–36 and of philosophy and psychology 1936–38, director bureau of appointments 1924–35 and pastor University church 1927–29, author *Fiktives in der Lehre von den Empfindungen* (1915), and *Psychology for Teachers* (1936), chairman Allegany County Commission on Mental Hygiene 1928–36, member National Education Association, American Psychological Association, American Sociological Society, American Social Hygiene Association, Acacia, Alpha Sigma Phi, Kappa Psi Upsilon, Masonic order, and Union University Church, Alfred, N Y.

Married September 4, 1917, in Easton, Mary Amelia, daughter of Edward Dwight and Ella Jane (Wilson) Gillette Children Everett Whitney (died February 13, 1935) and Edward Dwight

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Union Cemetery, Easton Survived by wife, one son, and a brother, Dayton Dunbar Campbell (Kansas City Dental College) of Kansas City.

Jefferson Wylie Yoho, B.D. 1911.

Born November 3, 1874, in Proctor, W Va Died February 12, 1939, in Huntington, W Va

Father, Timothy Yoho, a farmer near Proctor Mother, Mary-Jane (Kelly) Yoho

LL.B. West Virginia University 1897, admitted to West Virginia bar 1897, engaged in practice of law in Cameron, W Va, 1897–1902, attended Bethany College, W.Va, 1902–09, state secretary for Churches of Christ in West Virginia 1902–09, attended Yale Divinity School 1909– 11 and Yale Graduate School 1910–11 (B D. and M A 1911), ordained in Disciples of Christ church, minister Madison Avenue Church, Huntington, since 1911, president Ministerial Association of Huntington, recording secretary West Virginia Christian Missionary Society, member board of managers United Christian Missionary Society

Married (1) in 1899, in Cameron, W Va, Elva, daughter of Sarah (Wellman) Wayman Daughters Mae Margaret (B A Bethany College 1923, M A. Yale 1928), the wife of Normal Bert Ward (B A Bethany College 1925, B D Yale 1928), and Dee (B A Bethany College 1926, B N. Yale 1936; instructor Yale School of Nursing since 1937) Mrs Yoho died in 1904 Married (2) March 28, 1910, in Toledo, Ohio, Minnie Katherine McNaull Walters, daughter of Robert and Eliza (Carmack) McNaull

Death due to arteriosclerosis Survived by wife, daughters, and a grandson

Theodore Adolph Fischer, B.D. 1912.

Born September 19, 1873, in Meriden, Conn Died September 23, 1938, in New Haven, Conn.

Father, Christian Fischer, shipping clerk with Bradley & Hubbard Company, Meriden; son of Christian Henry and Catherine (Zipp) Fischer of Biskirchen, Germany Mother, Johanna (Maschmeyer) Fischer, daughter of Edward and Augusta (Horé) Maschmeyer of Bochenem, Germany Yale relatives include Charles H Doolittle, '09 S, I. Lewis Doolittle, '12 S, Horace F. Doolittle, ex-'16 S., and Monroe H. Doohttle, ex-'20 S (nephews).

Meriden High School, BD Tufts Theological School 1896, ordained in Universalist church, Warren, Mass, June 19, 1896, and minister there 1896-99, minister Medford Hillside, Mass., 1899-1906, attended Yale Divinity School 1907–12 (BD 1912), minister Church of the Messiah, New Haven, since 1906, secretary 1912-25, state superintendent 1917-27, trustee 1925-28, and president since 1928 Connecticut Universalist Convention, state secretary for Connecticut Universalist Historical Society 1912-16 (member committee on increase of members 1916-29, and vice-president since 1929), a vice-president Connecticut Temperance Union 1936-38, honorary vice-president Organized Charities Association of New Haven (secretary 1912, member advisory council 1931-32, and a director), director New Haven Goodwill Industries, Inc (president 1936-38), New Haven City Missionary Association, Dixwell Community House, New Haven Council of Churches (chairman committee of visiting clergymen 1934-38), member corporation Florence Crittenton Mission 1924–38, member New Haven Branch National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, Citizen's Committee of the Community Chest, New England Sabbath Protective League, New Haven Congregational Club, American Forestry Association, Patriotic Order of the Sons of America, and New Haven Chamber of Commerce, president Connecticut branch, Divinity School Alumni Association 1931-32, appointed trustee Connecticut College of Pharmacy June, 1938, DD St Lawrence University 1920

Married October 29, 1901, in Meriden, Harriet Lewis Fales (Music Certificate 1908), daughter of Charles Henry and Martha Eugenia (Lewis) Fales Daughter, Martha Lewis (B.A. Bryn Mawr 1924, M.A. Yale 1927), the wife of Arthur Fairbanks Ells (B.S. Amherst 1902)

Death due to pulmonary embolus Buried in Walnut Grove Cemetery, Meriden Survived by wife, daughter, three sisters, the Misses Augusta, Lillian, and Catherine Fischer, and a brother, Henry Fischer, all of Meriden.

SCHOOL OF LAW

James Russell Bennett, Jr., LL.B. 1878.

Born October 5, 1856, in Brooklyn, NY Died April 11, 1939, in Minneapolis, Minn

Father, James Russell Bennett, a retail merchant in St Cloud, Minn, son of Nathaniel Barlow and Mary (Prentiss) Bennett of Gilbertsville, N Y. Mother, Mary Louisa (Twick) Bennett

St. Cloud High School, studied law with Judge D B Searle and Judge Loren W. Collins; admitted to Minnesota bar February 18, 1877, attended Yale School of Law 1877–78 (LL B 1878), had engaged in practice of law in St. Cloud since 1878 (member Calhoun & Bennett 1895– 1907), city attorney St Cloud 1903–08, was prominent in local and state political affairs; managed William Randolph Hearst's Minnesota campaign for Democratic presidential nomination 1908, served as special assistant to United States Attorney-General 1934–37, had resided in St Cloud since 1861; member Stearns County Bar Association, Minnesota State Bar Association, Masonic order, and St John's Church (Episcopal), Minneapolis (vestryman for many years)

Married April 16, 1901, in Kansas City, Mo, Rosalie Ownby, daughter of John Thomas and Nancy Alice (Swinney) Flournoy Children Rosemary Flournoy and Rosalie Russell (died July 5, 1910)

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in North Star Cemetery, St Cloud Survived by wife and daughter

Epaphroditus Peck, LL.B. 1881.

Born May 20, 1860, in Bristol, Conn Died October 29, 1938, in Bristol, Conn

Father, Josiah Tracy Peck, deputy collector of internal revenue in Bristol, son of Judge Tracy Peck and Sally (Adams) Peck of Bristol, Conn Mother, Ellen Lewis (Barnard) Peck, daughter of Theodore and Amy (Lewis) Barnard Yale relatives include Edson M Peck, ex-'84 S, (brother), Tracy Peck, '61 (uncle), Tracy Peck, Jr, '95 (cousin), Josiah H Peck, '95, and Howard S Peck, '96 (nephews), and Seymour R Peck, '23 (grandnephew)

Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Law 1880–81 (LL B 1881, valedictorian, Jewell Prize, member Chi Tau Kappa), admitted to Connecticut bar 1881, engaged in practice of law in Plainville, Conn, 1881–82 and in Bristol since 1882, general counsel Bristol Trust Company 1907–32, prosecuting attorney, Bristol, 1895–1905, associate judge Court of Common Pleas, Hartford County, 1897–1912, repre-

Yale University Obituary Record

sented Bristol in Connecticut General Assembly 1925-35, instructor in court procedure Yale School of Law 1903-04, civil procedure and domestic relations 1904-06, evidence, practice, procedure, and domestic relations 1906-12, and procedure 1912-13, member committee to revise the general statutes of Connecticut 1927-30, an incorporator Bristol Hospital, Inc, 1922 (secretary and a director 1922-38), secretary Bristol Public Library 1892-1930 and chairman board of trustees since 1931; secretary Root Company and American Piano Supply Company 1922-27, director Bristol Savings Bank; private Bristol Company, First Regiment, Connecticut Home Guard, chairman Four-Minute Speakers and Liberty Loan Speakers' Committee 1917–18; chief clerk Bristol Exemption Board, represented Yale Club of Bristol on Council of Associated New England Yale Clubs 1920 and chairman of club's committee for Yale War Memorial Campaign, author The Property Rights of Husband and Wife Under the Law of Connecticut (1904), The Law of Persons (1913; second edition 1920, third edition 1930), A History of Bristol, Connecticut (1932), The Loyalists of Connecticut (1934), co-author, with Ernest L Wismer, '08, Digest of a Social and Religious Survey of Bristol (1912); contributed to many periodicals and to second edition of English and American Encyclopedia of Law, a number of his addresses on historical subjects published in pamphlet form, member Founders of Hartford, Bristol Bar Association, Hartford County Bar Association (member grievance committee 1932-37), Connecticut State Bar Association, American Bar Association, Connecticut Historical Society, Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences, and American Academy of Political and Social Science, had acted as Congregational delegate to many national councils, as moderator state Congregational conference, and as vicepresident corporation of the National Council of Congregational Churches of the United States, member First Congregational Church, Bristol (clerk and treasurer 1887–90, Sunday School superintendent 1890–93, and deacon 1903–20 and 1930–35)

Married August 21, 1886, in Hartford, Conn, Grace, daughter of Franklin Clinton and Mary Ballantine (Mather) Brownell Children Margaret Winthrop (B A Bryn Mawr 1912), the wife of Thomas Spring MacEwan (Cornell ex-'12), Grace Brownell (died May 16, 1896), Dorothy Adams (died August 26, 1899), Mildred Atherton (Connecticut College for Women ex-'21); and Eleanor Lewis (died May 2, 1907) Mrs Peck died January 16, 1931

Death due to pulmonary embolism Buried in West Cemetery, Bristol. Survived by two daughters, four grandchildren, two sisters, the Misses Ellen Amy and Eliza Jane Peck, and a brother, Miles Lewis Peck, all of Bristol

William George Buteau, LL.B. 1887.

Born July 3, 1858, in Voluntown, Conn Died November 24, 1938, in Bridgeport, Conn

Father, Joseph Trefle Buteau, an innkeeper. Mother, Mary (Dufault) Buteau

B A. Jolliette College 1884, attended Yale School of Law 1886–87 (LL B. 1887); practiced law in Providence, R I, Manchester, N H, Norwich, Plainfield, and Putnam, Conn, and in Stratford, Conn, 1927 until retirement in 1930, since retirement had resided in Stratford

Death due to arteriosclerotic heart disease. Buried in St Michael's Cemetery, Bridgeport Survived by no immediate relatives

Stephen Michael Hoye, LL.B. 1888.

Born July 19, 1860, in Mount Carmel, Conn Died July 30, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Francis Hoye, metallurgist with Ives & Woodruff, Mount Carmel, son of Michael and Bridgid (Early) Hoye of Parish of Mohill, County Leitrim, Ireland. Mother, Elizabeth Mary (McGrail) Hoye, daughter of Stephen and Honore (McGuire) McGrail of Town of Casnan, Ireland

Attended Yale School of Law 1886–88 (LL B 1888), admitted to Connecticut bar 1888; in office of Judge Joseph Sheldon (B A 1851, LL B 1853) from 1888 to 1889, engaged in practice of law in New York City 1890–1918; had resided in Brooklyn, member American Bar Association, and Church of St Saviour (Roman Catholic), Brooklyn (trustee 1907)

Married June 24, 1891, in Brooklyn, Rose Cecelia, daughter of Dennis C. and Bridgid (Lynch) Kerrin Children. Stephen Russell, '19, Wilbur Grant, '18, and Stephanie Johnson Mrs Hoye died March 11, 1909

Death due to cystitis Buried in Holy Cross Cemetery, Brooklyn Survived by children and four sisters, Mrs John J McKeon of New Haven, Mrs James Wells of Stamford, and the Misses Mary Elizabeth and Catherine Hoye of Brooklyn.

Robert Clark Morris, LL.B. 1890.

Born November 19, 1869, in Bridgeport, Conn Died October 13, 1938, in New York City

Father, Dwight Morris (BA Union College 1838, MA Hon Yale 1878), a lawyer in Bridgeport, consul general at Havre, France 1866–69,

secretary of the State of Connecticut 1877–79, member Connecticut General Assembly 1845–51, 1880; judge of probate District of Bridgeport 1851–52, Colonel, 14th Connecticut Volunteers during Civil War; son of James Morris (B A. 1775) and Rhoda (Farnam) Morris Mother, Grace Josephine (Clark) Morris, daughter of Lewis W and Emily (Henshaw) Clark of Chicago, Ill

L H Reid School, Lakeville, Conn, and Franklin Institute, Washington, DC, attended Yale School of Law 1888-90 and 1891-93 (LL.B. 1890, LL M 1892, D C L 1893), admitted to Connecticut bar 1890 and New York bar 1894, studied continental jurisprudence in Europe 1890-91, practiced law in Bridgeport, Conn., 1892–94, and in New York City with Davies, Stone & Auerbach and Davies, Short & Townsend 1894-95, practiced independently 1895–1900, member of law firms of Swayne, Swayne, Morris & Fay 1901-02, Morris & Fay 1902-06; Morris & Plante 1906-17, Morris, Plante & Saxe 1917 until the firm was dissolved in 1937, practiced in association with firm of Delafield, Marsh, Porter & Hope since January 3, 1938, appointed by President Roosevelt in 1903 to represent United States as agent and counsel before United States and Venezuelan Claims Commission at Caracas, lecturer on French codes Yale School of Law 1895-1904, on international arbitration and procedure 1904-12, and on government and citizenship 1925-26, declined appointments to bench of United States District Court and to Supreme Court of the State of New York, appointed by Appellate Division of the Supreme Court State of New York, First Department, a member of the commission which determined the route of the subway railroad beneath the surface of William Street, New York City, 1912, counsel to Superintendent of Banks of State of New York in connection with failures of private bankers 1915, counsel to Attorney General of the State of New York 1917 in case against Bolo-Pacha, the French traitor and propagandist, appointed by President Harding in 1922 to represent the United States as agent and general counsel before Mixed Claims Commission, United States and Germany, at Washington, D C, in the presentation of claims of the United States and its citizens against Germany (resigned May 24, 1923), retained by State of Missouri 1923 and successfully argued before Supreme Court of the United States the important case of First National Bank v Missouri involving the validity of branch banking conducted by national banks, author International Arbitration and Procedure (1911), The Sovereign Citizen (1920); The Pursuit of Happiness (1930), The Spirit of Liberty (a pamphlet 1931), and several other publications supporting the fundamental principles of our government; presented to New York County Lawyers' Association the Aline Brothier Morris Memorial Library on American Citizenship 1933, established in 1934 at Morris, Conn, the Aline Brothier Morris Reading Room in memory of his wife and the James Morris Museum in memory of his grandfather for whom

the town was named, president Republican County Committee of the County of New York 1901–03, Republican Club of the City of New York 1909–10, Lawyers Club 1924–25, and New York County Lawyers' Association 1934–36 (vice-president 1931–34); member American Bar Association, New York State Bar Association, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, International Law Association, American Society of International Law, Society of Medical Jurisprudence, Society of the Cincinnati, The Pilgrims of the United States, New England Society, Military Order of, the Loyal Legion of the United States, Sons of the Revolution, American Friends of Lafayette, a number of clubs, and St Bartholomew's Church (Episcopal), New York City

Married (1) June 24, 1890, in New Haven, Conn, Alice A, daughter of Andrew Yelverton and Sarah E (Farren) Parmelee Mr and Mrs Morris were divorced in 1930 Married (2) May 30, 1931, in Greenwich, Conn, Adelina (called Aline) Brothier, daughter of Francois and Mary (Millet) Brothier Mrs Morris died October 6, 1932

Death due to uremic poisoning Buried in Mountain Grove Cemetery, Bridgeport. Survived by no immediate relatives

By the terms of his will Mr Morris made provision for a trust fund a share of which will ultimately benefit the Yale School of Law

Joseph Patrick Brennan, LL.B. 1891.

Born January 29, 1870, in Saratoga Springs, NY. Died January 8, 1939, in Roslyn Estates, NY.

Parents, Patrick and Catherine Brennan.

Saratoga Springs High School; studied in law office of Senator John Foley for a time, attended Yale School of Law 1889–91 (LL B 1891), admitted to New York bar 1891, engaged in practice of law, Saratoga Springs, 1891–1907, nominated justice of the peace 1892, village attorney for Saratoga Springs 1902–07, moved to New York City 1907, member legal department Interborough Rapid Transit Company 1907–37, associated with law firm of Smith, Reiher & Griffin, Brooklyn, since 1937, member New York National Guard for many years, mustered into service May 16, 1898, as private Company L, Second Regiment, New York Volunteers, discharged October 26, 1898, with rank of corporal, member Roman Catholic church

Married in 1906, in Brooklyn, Evangeline Marcella, daughter of James H and Mary A. Walsh. Children Anne, Joseph Cantwell (Ph B Georgetown University 1933), Jane, and James Nugent

Death due to acute myocarditis Buried in Calvary Cemetery, Queens County, N Y. Survived by wife and children

Gershom Spencer Jones, LL.B. 1897.

Born January 5, 1872, in Jackson, Ohio Died November 29, 1938, in Adrian, Mich

Father, Thomas Miles Jones, an iron manufacturer in Jackson, son of Thomas and Sarah (Miles) Jones of Pittsburgh Mother, Elizabeth (Davis) Jones, daughter of William and Elizabeth (Evans) Davis of Pittsburgh

Jackson High School and Doane Academy, Granville, Ohio; B A Denison University 1895; attended Yale School of Law 1895–97 (LL B 1897), admitted to Ohio bar 1897, member law firm of Jones & Jones, Jackson, 1897–99, general superintendent The George M Jones Company, coal operators, Toledo, 1899–1938

Married June 25, 1918, in Pittsburgh, Nellie Elizabeth, daughter of Jacob and Sarah (Shaw) Rauch No children

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Jackson Survived by wife, two sisters, Miss Keturah E. Jones and Mrs. Edward Baker Matthews of Jackson, and a brother, Oris W. Jones of Denver

Daniel Vincent McNamee, LL.B. 1898.

Born October 13, 1874, in Chatham, N.Y. Died May 30, 1939, in Hudson, NY.

Father, James McNamee, a paper manufacturer in Chatham, son of Christopher and Elizabeth (Rowen) McNamee of Edgeworthstown, Ireland Mother, Mary (Casey) McNamee, daughter of Thomas and Bridget (McKay) Casey of Antrim, Ireland Yale relatives include a nephew, Lewis E McNamee, '28 L

Graduate Claverack College and Hudson River Institute 1894, instructor public school at Hillsdale, N Y, 1894–95 and at Stockport, N Y, 1895–96, attended Yale School of Law 1896–98 (LL B 1898, president Kent Club), studied law in New York City 1898–99 with Roger Foster, '78, admitted to bar November 20, 1899, practiced in Philmont 1899– 1901 and in Hudson 1901–29 (member firm McNamee & Brennan 1903– 13), judge Columbia County June 1, 1913–December 31, 1918, elected justice Third Judicial District, Third Judicial Department, New York Supreme Court, 1929 and served until 1932 when appointed associate justice Appellate Division, on board of visitors New York Training School for Girls, Hudson, 1926–29; appointed chairman Home Defense Committee and Legal Advisory Board, Columbia County 1917; compiled and edited *Columbia County in the World War* (1924), author

School of Law

Philmont and Mellenville Directory with Brief Histories (1895) and The Living Art of Speech (1935), president Senate Knitting Company, Inc, Chatham, 1921–25; honorary member Veterans of Foreign Wars, member Columbia County Historical Society, Columbia County Bar Association, New York State Bar Association, and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), Hudson, NY

Married October 30, 1901, in Chatham, Susan Frances, daughter of William Roger and Frances (O'Connor) Dardis Children Elinore (B A College of the Sacred Heart 1931, Columbia University School of Law 1940), Clare, the wife of Daniel James McMahon (B A Fordham 1925, LL B 1928), Lauree (B L I Emerson College of Oratory 1935, M A University of Michigan 1939), Daniel Vincent, Jr, '36 (B A Oxford 1938, Yale School of Law 1941), Jean (Cornell University *ex-*'41), and Roger Dardis (University of Virginia 1942)

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Sacred Heart Cemetery, Philmont, N.Y Survived by wife, children, and two grandchildren

Joseph Moss Ives, LL.B. 1899.

Born February 5, 1876, in Danbury, Conn. Died April 8, 1939, in Danbury, Conn

Father, George Edward Ives, teller Danbury Savings Bank; musician and leader brigade band, First Connecticut Heavy Artillery, during Civil War; son of George White and Sarah Hotchkiss (Wilcox) Ives of Danbury Mother, Mary Elizabeth (Parmelee) Ives, daughter of Noah David and Mary (Smith) Parmelee of Redding, Conn Yale relatives include Isaac Ives (BA 1785) (great-grandfather) and Lyman D Brewster (BA. 1855) (uncle).

Danbury High School, studied law with Judge Lyman D Brewster, attended Yale School of Law 1898–99 (LL B 1899, member Kent Club and Book and Gavel), admitted to Connecticut bar 1899, had since practiced law in Danbury as member of the successive firms of Brewster, Davis [Samuel A , '93 L] & Ives, Tweedy [Samuel, '68] & Ives, Ives & Keating [Thomas A , '08 L], and Ives & Sherwood, corporation counsel, Danbury, 1901–13, assistant prosecuting attorney 1902, and prosecuting attorney 1907–10, judge city court 1917–26, judge traffic court, District of Danbury, 1929–33, represented Danbury in General Assembly 1905; judge advocate-general (with rank of Colonel) on staffs of Governors Woodruff, Lilley, Weeks, and Lake 1907–11 and 1921–23, Major, Judge Advocate General's Department, Connecticut National Guard, 1915–16, member Military Emergency Board 1917–18 and adjutant general Connecticut State Guard, in 1920–21 associated with the General Staff, Washington, in reorganization of National Guard and U S Reserve Corps, author *The Ark and the Dove* (1936), contributed articles on early American history to numerous magazines, LL D Loyola College 1934, vice-president 1927–38, president 1938–39, and trustee since 1927 Danbury Public Library, legal adviser to board of trustees Danbury Hospital since 1908, trustee Connecticut Junior Republic Association 1920–37 and American Legion Home 1926–39, member Commission of Child Welfare 1919–21, secretary National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws 1899–1904, director The Amelia Brewster Home for twenty-five years, Danbury National Bank, and Savings Bank of Danbury, member Bridgeport Bar Association, Connecticut State Bar Association (standing committee on recommendations for admission 1938– 39), Association of the Bar of the City of New York, American Bar Association, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Danbury (deacon since 1908)

Married December 4, 1900, in Worcester, Mass, Minnie Louisa, daughter of John Sylvester and Ida Maria (Bigelow) Goodman Children Richard Goodman, '25, Lyman Brewster (B S. University of Pennsylvania 1927), Moss White, Walter Bigelow (B S University of Pennsylvania 1931), Chester Brown (University of Pennsylvania ex-'34), and Sarane Wilcox

Death due to cerebral apoplexy Buried in Wooster Cemetery, Danbury Survived by wife, children, two grandchildren, and a brother, Charles E Ives, '98

Homer Harvey Shepard, LL.B. 1899.

Born October 22, 1877, in Branford, Conn Died July 6, 1938, in Branford, Conn.

Father, Harvey Gerald Shepard, member H G Shepard & Sons, manufacturers in New Haven, Conn, vice-president Carriage Builders' National Association, member New Haven Board of Aldermen, son of Benjamin and Hannah (Stent) Shepard of Branford Mother, Mary Caroline (Johnson) Shepard, daughter of Luman and Eliza A (Foster) Johnson of North Madison, Conn

Hillhouse High School, attended Yale School of Law 1896–99 (LL B 1899, member Phi Delta Alpha), admitted to Connecticut bar 1899, engaged in practice of law and in real estate business in New Haven 1899– 1912, associated with V F McNeil & Company (insurance), New Haven, 1912–25 and treasurer of its successor V F McNeil & Company, Inc, since 1925, member Grand Avenue Congregational Church, New Haven

Married (1) July 17, 1899, in New Haven, Mae, daughter of John D. and Georgianna (Tyler) Gilbert Children Harvey Gerald and Ruth (died in September, 1930) Mr and Mrs Shepard were divorced in 1926. Married (2) October 5, 1926, in Hartford, Conn, Emma Louise, daughter of Frank and Emma Goetz

Death due to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Buried in Center Cemetery, Branford Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs Elsie S Conger of Mount Carmel, Conn., and a brother, Arthur Lewis Shepard of New Haven

Ferris Faulkner, LL.B. 1901.

Born January 17, 1879, in Poughkeepsie, NY Died November 5, 1938, in Mount Pleasant, NY

Father, Thompson Faulkner, a silk merchant in New York City, son of James Thompson and Sarah Ann (Seamon) Faulkner of New York City. Mother, Matti (Ferris) Faulkner; daughter of Rev William H Ferris and Henriette (Holmes) Ferris of New York City and Westchester County, N Y

Barnard Military Academy, attended Yale School of Law 1898–1901 (LL B 1901, assistant treasurer Kent Club), engaged in practice of law in New York City since 1901, member firm of Thompson Faulkner & Son, on legal staff Brooklyn-Manhattan Transit Corporation and Title Guarantee and Trust Company, Brooklyn, 1920–32, had resided in Pleasantville since 1921; member board of governors Mount Pleasant Republican Club (recording secretary 1925–28, vice-president 1928–33, recording secretary 1933), member 71st Regiment, National Guard of New York

Married April 30, 1906, in New York City, Louise, daughter of Frank Louis and Louise Marie Anna (Smith) Nugent Children Ferris, Jr, and Marion, the wife of Howard Shields

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in Kensico Cemetery, Valhalla, N.Y. Survived by wife, children, and a sister, Mrs William S Lounsbery of Pleasantville, N Y

Frederick Augustus Robertson, LL.B. 1901.

Born October 8, 1875, in Weld, Me Died August 13, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, William Henry Robertson, a builder in Watertown, Conn, son of John and Grace (Holt) Robertson of Maine Mother, Sophronie (Holman) Robertson, daughter of Harrison and Mary Jane (Phinney) Holman of Maine

Mount Hermon School and Moody Institute, Northfield, Mass; attended Yale School of Law 1898–1901 (LL B 1901, member Law School Baseball Team Middle year and substitute University Baseball Team Senior year, member Kent Club), admitted to Connecticut bar 1902 and to Massachusetts bar 1919, engaged in practice of law in New Haven as a partner in successive firms of Bishop [James, '74 L], Pickett [Rufus S , '73 L , and Edwin S , '99] & Robinson, Scoppa & Robertson, and Russell & Robertson 1901–12, associated with William H Robertson & Company 1912–15, moved to Springfield, Mass , in 1915 and practiced law there until 1924, returned to New Haven in 1924 and had been engaged in independent practice of law since that time, took an active part in the recreations of the boys of Morris Cove and coached many of the teams which they organized, member Second Company Governor's Foot Guard and Park Church (Methodist Episcopal), New Haven (member of the board 1927–33 and superintendent of the Sunday School 1927–30)

Married October 29, 1903, in New Haven, Mabelle Ida, daughter of Jerome and Ida Marion (Scoville) Johnson. Children Frederick Augustus, Jr, Edna Louise, the wife of Frank Edward Swan; and Marion Holman (died February 15, 1937)

Death due to arteriosclerotic vascular disease. Buried in Evergreen Cemetery, New Haven Survived by wife, son, one daughter, six grandchildren, father, and two sisters, Mrs Warren Bristol of Bethlehem, Pa., and Grace Robertson Tuttle, the wife of Lucius Tuttle, '01.

Patrick Francis McDonough, LL.B. 1904.

Born September 9, 1878, in New Britain, Conn Died July 11, 1938, in New Britain, Conn

Father, Patrick Francis McDonough, a builder in New Britain; former town councilman

New Britain High School, bookkeeper in employ of Francis Dobson in New Britain 1897–99, associated with Prudential Insurance Company in New Britain 1899–1901, attended Yale School of Law 1901–04 (LL B 1904, Wayland Prize and president Kent Club 1904), admitted to Connecticut bar June, 1904, practiced law in New York City 1904–05 and in New Britain since 1905, secretary and director Central Block Company, New Britain, since 1927, director Savings Bank of New Britain, New Britain General Hospital, and Boys Club of New Britain, former director Russell Manufacturing Company, Middletown, Conn, commissioner New Britain Board of Health 1906–09, chairman boards of adjustment and of compensation and assessment, drafted town building ordinances; member zoning laws and charter revision committees, member executive committee Yale Club of New Britain on its formation in 1923, first vice-president 1928–30, president 1930–35, director 1936237, and representative on the Alumni Board 1930–35, member Hartford County Bar Association, New Britain Lawyers Club, and St Mary's Church (Roman Catholic), New Britain

Married (1) September 26, 1908, Helen C Monaghan Daughter, Helen Cecelia. Married (2) June 28, 1921, in Bristol, Conn, Anna May, daughter of Patrick T and Katherine (Holden) Martin

Suffered a nervous collapse and took his own life Buried in St Mary's Cemetery, New Britain Survived by wife, daughter, and three sisters, Mrs. Michael Hayes and the Misses Mary and Sarah E McDonough

David Harold Slade, LL.B. 1904.

Born May 30, 1879, in Vienna, Austria Died May 20, 1939, in New York City

Father, Samuel Slade of New Haven, a retired merchant, son of Maxwell John Slade Mother, Taubo (Berko) Slade Yale relatives include a brother-in-law, Ralph R Parish, '09 S, and two nieces, Helen Rand Parish (M A. 1929) and Olive Slade Parish (M A 1929)

Hillhouse High School, New Haven, attended Yale School of Law 1901–04 (LL B 1904, member Kent Club); admitted to Connecticut bar 1904 and New York bar 1908, engaged with his brothers in practice as member firm of Slade, Slade & Slade, New Haven, 1904–08 and as a member of Slade & Slade, New York City, since 1908, member Masonic order.

Married April 14, 1910, in New York City, Agnes, daughter of Jared Linsly and Sophia (Byrne) Simonds Son, Samuel David, '35, '38 L

Death due to carcinoma Buried in Montefiore Cemetery, Springfield, Long Island Survived by wife, son, a sister, Mrs Olive S Parish of Berkeley, Calif, and two brothers, Benjamin Slade, '95 L, and Maxwell Slade, '02 L.

David Jackson Davis, LL.B. 1906.

Born October 15, 1878, in Wedowee, Ala. Died December 7, 1938, in Birmingham, Ala

Father, Dora Franklın Davıs, a merchant ın Arab, Ala Mother, Callie Rebecca (Satterwhite) Davıs

Phillips-Andover, taught in a mountain school for a year, attended Yale School of Law 1903-06 (LL B 1906, on executive committee Kent Club, editor Yale Law Journal, member picture committee and Corbey Court), admitted to Alabama bar 1906, engaged in practice of law in Birmingham 1906-35 in partnership at various times with Hugo L Black, James Davis, and Hugh A Locke; Birmingham city recorder 1915, appointed by President Roosevelt as judge United States Court for Northern District of Alabama December 13, 1935, and continued in that post until his death, member Birmingham Bar Association (president 1932), Alabama State and American Bar associations, Masonic order, and First Christian Church, Birmingham (trustee and member board of deacons since 1915)

Married May 1, 1912, in Auburn, Ky, Mary, daughter of James Wilson and Virginia (Lucas) Helm. Daughter, Marjorie Helm (BA Randolph-Macon Woman's College 1933)

Death due to cerebral arteriosclerosis with cerebral arterial thrombosis. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Birmingham Survived by wife, daughter, three sisters, Mrs Oliver O Hawk of Arab, Mrs Thomas C. Thompson of Boaz, Ala, and Mrs Arthur M Rice of Waco, Texas, and a brother, Napoleon Davis of Athens, Ala

John Coleman Mahon, LL.B. 1906.

Born January 3, 1884, in Hartford, Conn Died January 27, 1939, in Brooklyn, NY

Father, William J A Mahon, a merchant in Hartford, son of Michael and Bridget (Martin) Mahon of Hartford Mother, Bridget Marie (Coleman) Mahon, daughter of Michael and Rose (McManus) Coleman of Hartford Yale relatives include Frank J. Moran, '02 S, Edward E Moran, '04 S, Harry A Moran, '08 L, and Robert C. Moran, '11 S (cousins)

Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Law 1902-06 (LL B 1906, member University Glee Club one year); admitted to Connecticut and New York bars 1906, had engaged in practice of law in New York City since 1906, associated in an editorial capacity with Edward Thompson Company, Northport, LI, about 1907 and with "Cyc" as a writer on special legal subjects 1909, former president Midwood Taxpayers Association, enlisted as a private, Seventh Infantry, New York National Guard, April 11, 1917, transferred to 165th Infantry, 42d Division, August 5, 1917, served overseas November 12, 1917-April 12, 1919, taking part in the fighting in the Lunéville, Baccarat, Champagne-Marne, Aisne-Marne, St Mihiel, and Meuse-Argonne sectors, with Army of Occupation in Germany after the armistice; discharged May 7, 1919, author Reply to Goldwin Smith on Evolution (1904), Cromwell—Paragon of English Iniquity (1904), The United States and the World Crisis (1916), The United States and World Peace (1920), Answer to Bryan on Evolution (1922), American Political Problems (1923), Reform of Judicial Procedure (1924), and Freedom of the Press (1932), contributed

articles to numerous periodicals, member New York County Lawyers' Association, Law Institute, Anti-Saloon League, American Legion, and American Veterans.

Unmarried.

Death due to myocarditis Buried in Mount St Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn Survived by a sister, Miss Mary Elizabeth Mahon, and a brother, Edward Fullam Mahon (B S Villanova College 1898, LL.B. New York Law School 1907), both of Brooklyn

Niel Paul Sterne, LL.B. 1908.

Born December 25, 1883, in Albany, Ga Died February 13, 1939, in Anniston, Ala

Father, Anselm Sterne, a merchant in Anniston, son of Michael and Dorothee (Stern) Sterne of Bettelhausen, Westphalia, Germany Mother, Henrietta (Smith) Sterne, daughter of Marx and Caroline (Long) Smith of Albany, Ga

Noble Institute, Anniston, and private tutors, attended Yale School of Law 1905-08 (two-year honors, awarded Betts Prize 1906, Jewell Prize 1907, and Montgomery Prize 1908; assistant registrar 1905-06, member Chi Tau Kappa, LL B summa cum laude 1908), admitted to Alabama bar 1908, engaged in practice of law in Anniston and Talladega 1908-11; member firm of Knox, Acker, Dixon & Sterne (later Knox, Acker, Sterne & Liles [Luther B, '12]) since 1911, specialized in corporation law; argued constitutionality of Federal Social Security statute, on behalf of taxpayers attacking the statute, in Supreme Court of the United States April, 1937; trustee Anniston Community Chest since 1927, member of the board since 1918 and chairman since 1935 Carnegie Library of Anniston, director Protective Life Insurance Company, First National Bank of Anniston, M & H Valve Company, Choccolocco Council, Boy Scouts of America, and Anniston Baseball Club, appointed chairman membership campaign Yale Law School Alumni Association for State of Alabama 1921; member Calhoun County, Alabama State, and American Bar associations, Independent Order of B'nai B'rith, Anniston Country Club, Anniston Chamber of Commerce, and Temple Bethel, Anniston

Married July 15, 1911, in Anniston, Frances Leone, daughter of Thomas Lawrence and Kate (Hillyer) Robinson Daughter, Adelaide Carleton

Death due to cerebral embolism Buried in Highland Cemetery, Anniston Survived by wife, daughter, three sisters, Miss Carrie Sterne, Miss Myra Sterne, and Miss Dorothy Gertrude Sterne (B A Goucher College 1917), all of Anniston, and four brothers, Leon A Sterne and Mortimer C Sterne of Anniston, Roy M Sterne (University of Virginia Law School 1909–10) of Wilton, Conn, and Mervyn H Sterne of Birmingham, Ala

Lewis David Gross, LL.B. 1910.

Born May 16, 1888, in Hartford, Conn Died July 13, 1938, in Newark, NJ

Father, Adolph Gross, a commission merchant in Hartford, son of Hershel and Hani (Feldman) Gross of Stams, Hungary Mother, Hani (Roth) Gross, daughter of Judah and Dora (Lefkovitch) Roth of Kuzma, Hungary

Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Law 1907–10 (LL B 1910), admitted to Connecticut bar 1910, engaged in independent practice of law in Hartford 1910–17, enlisted U S Ambulance Service June 10, 1917, stationed at Camp Crane June 10, 1917–April 16, 1918, transferred to Walter Reed General Hospital April 16, 1918, and to Quartermaster Corps in Washington August 4, 1918, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Quartermaster Corps, September 17, 1918, discharged December 3, 1918, representative of the National Oil & Supply Company in Newark January, 1919–April, 1920, New Jersey representative Elliott Service Company, New York City, 1920; engaged in independent practice of law in Newark 1920–25, associated with National Commercial Mortgage Company 1926–33; partner in firm of Lissner & Gross, investment securities, Newark, since 1933.

Married April 24, 1919, in Newark, Natalie Violet, daughter of Jacob and Delia (Levy) Walter No children

Death due to aplastic anemia Buried in B'nai Jeshurun Cemetery, Hillside, N J Survived by wife, father, two sisters, Mrs David Friedman of Hartford, Conn, and Mrs Harry Quint of Newton Center, Mass, and a brother, David Gross of Buffalo, N Y.

Reuben Taylor, LL.B. 1911.

Born April 15, 1890, in Volkowisk, Russia. Died May 6, 1939, in Hartford, Conn

Father, Philip Louis Taylor, associated with a clothing store in Norwich, Conn, son of Tavia and Rebecca Taylor of Volkowisk Mother, Cecile (Beckenstein) Taylor, daughter of Isaac and Molly Beckenstein of Volkowisk

Hartford Public High School, attended Yale School of Law 1908–12 (LL B 1911, LL M 1912, member Kent and Wayland clubs, treasurer

School of Law

graduate class and member Yale Senate), admitted to Connecticut bar 1912; had engaged in practice of law in Hartford since 1912 (associated with William A Reiner, '22 L, 1922–28); became president Zionist Regional Union of Connecticut in 1924, former president Ararat Lodge, B'nai B'rith, member American Jewish Congress, American Bar Association, and Garden Street Synagogue

Married September 2, 1924, in Norwich, Cipa, daughter of Rabbi Joseph Nathan Rosenberg and Miriam Jeanette (Serling) Rosenberg Children Leah, Rachel, and Louis Philip

Death due to coronary thrombosis Buried in Garden Street Synagogue Cemetery, Hartford Survived by wife, children, a sister, Mrs Joseph Goldenberg of Hartford, and three brothers, Morris Taylor of West Hartford, Jacob Taylor of Hartford, and Samuel Taylor of Norwich

Sheridan Ticknor Whitaker, LL.B. 1911.

Born January 27, 1888, in New Haven, Conn Died September 11, 1938, in New Haven, Conn

Father, Frederick Ellsworth Whitaker, Republican state committeeman; former councilman, alderman, superintendent of streets, and town clerk of New Haven, son of Ceryl and Salenda (Burnham) Whitaker of Hampton, Conn Mother, Harriet Esther (Raymond) Whitaker, daughter of Henry Augustus and Mary Esther (Canfield) Raymond of Westport, Conn

Hopkins Grammar School, attended Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL B. 1911, member Yale Forum), admitted to Connecticut bar July 20, 1911, had engaged in practice of law in New Haven since 1911, member firm of Whitaker, Foster [Pierrepont B, '03], Brown [Arthur F, '21 L] & Russell [R Blake, '23] 1932–35, assistant city attorney New Haven 1915–17 and city attorney 1917–25; judge New Haven City Court 1925–31; Lieutenant Second Company, Governor's Foot Guard, an incorporator Westville Bank & Trust Company 1929, member Class committee for the twenty-year reunion, member New Haven County Bar Association (committee on legislation and practice 1937), Masonic order, and Christ Church (Episcopal), New Haven

Married July 3, 1916, in New Haven, Marjorie Jane, daughter of George Henry and Cynthia Lavinia (Howell) Lloyd Children Sheridan, Jane Lloyd, and Margaret

Death due to generalized arteriosclerosis Buried in Beaverdale Memorial Park, New Haven Survived by wife, children, mother, a sister, Miss Ruth Salenda Whitaker, *ex-*'17 Music, and two brothers, Ceryl Whitaker of New Haven, and Raymond B Whitaker of West Collingswood, N J

Spofford Frank Wyckoff, LL.B. 1911.

Born August 30, 1890, in Williamsport, Pa Died May 10, 1939, in Sacramento, Calif.

Father, Frank Treman Wyckoff of Stamford, president Wyckoff Pipe & Creosoting Company, Inc, son of Charles Wesley and Sarah (Treman) Wyckoff of Trumansburg, N Y. Mother, Eliza Anna (Corel) Wyckoff; daughter of Alexander Morton and Eliza Ann (Spofford) Corel of Horseheads, N Y

Betts Academy, Stamford, Conn, attended University of Virginia 1907–08 and Yale School of Law 1908–11 (LL.B 1911, treasurer of Class; member Book and Bond); admitted to New York bar 1912 but did not engage in practice, secretary Wyckoff Pipe & Creosoting Company, Inc, New York City, 1912–16; since 1916 had been engaged as expert on mining properties and in real estate business in California, Nevada, and Connecticut, associated with American Mines Development Company, Beatty, Nev, since 1938 had resided in Sacramento; member First Presbyterian Church, Stamford

Married (1) June 29, 1910, in Jersey City, N J, Ella Vera, daughter of Frank and Florence Louise (Held) Bailey Son, Edwin Treman (University of Virginia 1932–36) Mr. and Mrs Wyckoff were divorced in 1917 Married (2) September 12, 1918, Adalaide, daughter of Fredrick and Leah Sarah (Whipple) Rance Son, William Howard (Stanford University 1941) Mr and Mrs Wyckoff were divorced in 1922. Married (3) August 11, 1924, Lenora Maxine Sides, daughter of Max Million and Ruth Jane (Acocks) Tenesch Son, Robert Lewis. Mr and Mrs. Wyckoff were divorced in 1928. Married (4) in 1928 in Visalia, Calif, May Adkins Church Mr and Mrs Wyckoff were divorced in 1930 Married (5) January 14, 1931, in Las Vegas, Nev, Blanche Brackett Pierotich, daughter of Harry Mann and Josephine (Gilbert) Brackett.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident Buried in Trumansburg, N Y. Survived by wife and sons

Francis Joseph Conti, LL.B. 1912.

Born June 23, 1885, in New Haven, Conn. Died November 9, 1938, in Manchester, Conn

Father, Angelo Conti, a building contractor in Hartford, Conn.; son of Frank and Rose (Ronza) Conti of Sassano, Italy. Mother, Cassandra (Calandrillo) Conti, daughter of Vincenzo and Vincenzia Calandrillo of Sassano

Brown School, Hartford, and Holy Cross Preparatory School;

B A College of the Holy Cross 1909, attended Yale School of Law 1909–12 (LL B 1912, member banquet committee), admitted to Connecticut bar 1912, engaged in independent practice of law in Hartford 1912–36, chief clerk in office of Secretary of State 1935–38, had resided in Manchester since 1935; for many years had taught in Sunday School of Connecticut State Prison and was president of the prison's teachers' association 1931–35, an organizer 1931 and first president Italian Central Council of Greater Hartford 1931–37, member St Bridget's Church (Roman Catholic), Manchester

Married September 10, 1913, in Brooklyn, NY, Rose, daughter of Pasquale and Mary (Bonadies) Martino Children Angelo Martino, Pasquale Martino, Joseph, and Francis.

Death due to myocardial failure Buried in Mount St Benedict Cemetery, Bloomfield, Conn Survived by wife, sons, a grandson, and two sisters, Mrs Daniel A. Guerriero and Mrs. V. Antonio Ciarleglio, both of Hartford.

Russell Jay McCaughey, LL.B. 1922.

Born September 27, 1898, in Chicago, Ill Died April 30, 1939, in Chicago, Ill

As it has been impossible to secure the complete information for publication in this volume, a biographical statement will appear in a subsequent issue of the OBITUARY RECORD.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

Bancel LaFarge, B.F.A. 1917.

Born September 23, 1865, in Middletown, R I Died August 14, 1938, in Hamden, Conn

Father, John LaFarge (B A St Mary's College, Md, 1853; M A Hon Yale 1896, LL D 1901) of New York City, American artist, author, mural painter, and worker in stained glass, son of Jean-Frédérick and Louisa (de Saint-Victor) de la Farge of New York City Mother, Margaret Mason (Perry) LaFarge, daughter of Christopher Grant Perry (B A and M A Brown 1830, M D University of Pennsylvania 1837) and Frances (Sergeant) Perry of Newport, R I

Newport public schools, attended University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine 1885–86 (member Delta Psi), assisted his father in the latter's New York studio 1893–1903, in Paris 1903–07 and Lausanne 1907–15; studied art and conducted extensive research on Byzantine mosaics; returned to the United States 1915 and had since lived at "Edgehill," Mount Carmel, BFA 1917, known especially for his work in religious art, he had designed altar pieces, stained glass windows, and mosaic decorations, as well as wall paintings, for various churches and colleges in the East and Middle West, among his best-known works are "The Coronation of the Virgin" in Trinity College Chapel, Washington, "The Transfiguration" in St Aedan's Church, New Haven, and a series of twelve windows for the chapels in Cathedral of St Paul, St Paul, Minn, he also devoted much time to murals of a secular and historic character, was instrumental in starting the movement to obtain the Sleeping Giant as a Connecticut State Park (vice-president Sleeping Giant Park Association of Mount Carmel from organization in 1924 until 1934, president 1934–38), member State Commission on Sculpture 1933-38, associate fellow Davenport College 1934-38, trustee Albertus Magnus College 1926–38, director Liturgical Arts Society of New York City (member editorial committee 1931, president 1935-37), member jury national competition sponsored by United States Treasury for decoration of government buildings in Washington 1935–36, on advisory board and a contributor to The Commonweal, honorary member American Institute of Architects, member National Institute of Arts and Letters, National Society of Mural Painters, New York Water Color Club, New Haven Paint and Clay Club (jury of selection 1917, 1922-25, 1937, jury of award 1926, 1933), Century Association, Elizabethan Club, and Parish of Mount Carmel (Roman Catholic)

Married September 8, 1898, in Cambridge, Mass, Mabel, daughter of Edward William Hooper (BA Harvard 1859) and Fanny (Chapin) Hooper Children Louis Bancel (BA Harvard 1922, BFA Yale 1925), Edward Hooper (Harvard ex-'26), Henry Adams (B A Harvard 1924), and Thomas Sergeant (Harvard ex-'26, Yale School of the Fine Arts 1923-25)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in St Columba's Cemetery, Middletown, RI Survived by wife, sons, six grandchildren, two sisters, Frances L Childs, the wife of Edwards H Childs (B A Williams 1891, LL B Harvard 1894) of New York City, and Miss Margaret LaFarge of Newport, and two brothers, Christopher Grant LaFarge (Massachusetts Institute of Technology *ex-*'83, M F.A Princeton 1921) of New York City (died in October, 1938), and Rev John LaFarge (B A Harvard 1901) of New York City.

Lewis Alan Williams, B.F.A. 1934.

Born November 19, 1904, in Buffalo, NY. Died March 9, 1939, in Buffalo, NY

Father, Robert Edward Williams, president Robert E Williams & Sons Company, Inc, general contractors in Buffalo; son of Lewis Abbey and Mary (Robinson) Williams of Buffalo Mother, Jennie Phoebe (Tallis) Williams, daughter of James and Caroline Louise (Umlauf) Tallis of Buffalo

Kiskiminetas Springs School, Saltsburg, Pa, and the Nichols School, Butto, architectural draftsman with his father's firm 1925–28, attended University of Michigan 1928–29 and Yale School of the Fine Arts 1929–34 (B F A. in Architecture 1934), field superintendent with Robert E Williams & Sons Company, Inc, since 1934; member Central Presbyterian Church, Buffalo

Married November 24, 1935, in Baltimore, Md, Agnes Elizabeth, daughter of Thomas Michael and Noreen Agnes (Carter) Hughes Son, Lewis Alan, Jr

Death due to chronic ulcerative enteritis Ashes interred in columbarium at Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo Survived by wife, son, parents, two sisters, Miss Charlotte Inez Williams of Eggertsville, N Y, and Mrs Ralph Bunnel Campbell of Lexington, Ky, and a brother, Frederick Tallis Williams of Eggertsville.

Ó

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

Jeremiah Rebmann, M.F. 1905.

Born March 16, 1869, in Beuren, Wurttemberg, Germany. Died December 14, 1938, in San Diego, Calif

Father, Martin Rebmann, a weaver; son of Karl and Marie Agnes (Fries) Rebmann Mother, Wallpurka Katherine (Krug) Rebmann.

Beuren public schools, BS University of Nebraska 1898, private Company B, First Nebraska Volunteer Infantry, May 12, 1898–August 23, 1899, student assistant US Forest Service, Washington, 1901–02; attended Yale School of Forestry 1904–05 (MF. 1905); forest assistant US Forest Service 1905–08, superintendent of trees, Columbia, S.C., 1908, engaged in pioneer forest service work in Uruguay, South America, at Marine Base, San Diego, Calif, 1924–35.

Unmarried

Death due to pulmonary tuberculosis Buried in Mount Hope Cemetery, San Diego Survived by a niece, Mrs. Ralph D. Conkey of Chestnut Hill, Mass

Allen Harrison Hodgson, M.F. 1909.

Born February 15, 1884, in Butte City, Calif. Died February 15, 1939, in Portland, Ore

Father, William Henry Harrison Hodgson, son of Allen and Harriet (Raish) Hodgson of Daleville, Pa. Mother, Mary Ann (McDaniel) Hodgson; daughter of Elijah and Sarah Ann (Gore) McDaniel of Butte City.

Santa Rosa High School, graduate California State Normal School 1906; forest guard U S Forest Service 1906–07, attended Yale School of Forestry 1907–09 (certificate 1909; M F. 1916 with enrollment in Class of 1909), appointed forest assistant U S Forest Service 1909 and assigned to Shasta National Forest, forest supervisor California National Forest 1909–10, assistant state forester California September, 1910–July, 1911; returned to U S Forest Service 1911 as forest assistant Klamath National Forest for a short time and as deputy forest superintendent Siskiyou National Forest July, 1911–12; transferred to District 6 (comprising Oregon, Washington, and Alaska) 1912; served as deputy forest supervisor until 1918, left the service to become mines manager Radium Luminous Material Corporation, Naturita, Colo, 1918–20, agriculturist Alameda Beet Sugar Company, Alvarado, Calif, 1920–21, returned to Forest Service 1922, chief of maps and surveys, District 6, 1922–26; associate forester, Office of Forest Products, Portland, 1926–31, personnel training officer of this region, with headquarters in Portland, 1931-35, in this capacity had charge of fire assistants' training camp at Hemlock Ranger Station near Carson, Wash, 1931 and 1932, assistant regional forester in charge division of personnel management, Region 6, U S Forest Service, since 1935, author of a number of important articles on the utilization of logging and sawmill waste in the Douglas fir region, member Society of American Foresters (secretary North Pacific Section 1926-28), Portland Chamber of Commerce, Oregon Hygiene Society, and Rose City Community Church (Presbyterian)

Married June 28, 1911, in Chico, Calif, Genevieve Fay, daughter of Perry Harding and Mattie Jane (Pratt) Pratt Children: Allen Hollis (B A. Reed College 1932) and William Landis

Death due to acute pancreatitis. Buried in Riverview Abbey, Portland Survived by wife and sons.

Alexander William Dodge, M.F. 1912.

Born August 1, 1888, in Valparaiso, Chile Died February 23, 1939, in Piru, Calif

Father, Rev. William Edward Dodge (grad Auburn Theological Seminary 1882), minister Union Church, Valparaiso, and Westminster Presbyterian Church, Pasadena, son of Alexander Witt and Louise (Shafter) Dodge of Ionia, Mich Mother, Julia Harriet (Trumbull) Dodge (Wellesley ex-'86); daughter of David Trumbull (B A 1842) and Jane (Fitch) Trumbull of New Haven. Yale relatives include James H Trumbull (B A. 1848) (great-uncle); David Trumbull, '76, John Trumbull, '78, Stephen Trumbull, '80, and William Trumbull, '83 (uncles), and Allan T Trumbull, '16 S (cousin)

Pasadena High School, B S Oregon State College 1910, attended Yale School of Forestry 1910–12 (M F 1912); engaged in orange growing in California 1912–13, state forestry inspector and later chief deputy state forester in California 1913–17, in land department Standard Oil Company of California 1917, in charge of forest appraisals, titles, mining lands, and private forest improvement for the Rockefeller interests 1919, forest engineer and salesman New York office, Lidgerwood Manufacturing Company 1920–21; eastern representative American Hoist & Derrick Company 1923–25, engineer and salesman specializing in timberland sales James D. Lacey & Company, New York City, 1926, due to ill-health was unoccupied 1921–23 and 1926–30, moved to California in 1927, engaged in appraisal work for the Pacific Southwest Bank and the Security First Bank, Los Angeles, 1930–31, assistant chief real estate appraiser Los Angeles County and City since 1931, in 1933–34 gave a series of radio addresses as representative of National Public Relations Bureau; served as Second Lieutenant, Machine Gun Company, 2d California Infantry on the Mexican Border 1916, enlisted as private Infantry October 4, 1917; assigned to 166th Depot Brigade, 91st Division, Camp Lewis; attended Third Officers' Training Camp, Camp Lewis, January 5-April 19, 1918, assigned to 5th Replacement Regiment, Camp Gordon, commissioned Second Lieutenant, Infantry June 1, 1918; commanding officer, 22d Machine Gun Company, Camp Hancock; promoted First Lieutenant, Infantry September 19, 1918; discharged December 16, 1918, First Lieutenant, Infantry Reserve Corps; contributed articles on forestry and on taxation to various magazines; member Los Angeles Board of Equalization 1930–31, Masonic order, American Legion, and Pasadena Presbyterian Church

Married October 17, 1921, in White Plains, N.Y, Jessie Coggswell, daughter of Samuel Joseph and Ruth (Howard) Brown Daughter, Virginia Trumbull

Death due to carbon monoxide poisoning Survived by wife, daughter, mother, and two sisters, Anita Trumbull Dodge Atwater, the wife of Huntington C Atwater (C E Columbia 1907) of Scarsdale, N Y, and Elizabeth Trumbull Dodge Barrett (B S Russell Sage College 1920), the wife of Carter Barrett of Pasadena, Calif

Arland Lee MacKinney, M.F. 1927.

Born June 13, 1904, in Sunbury, Pa.

Died July 4, 1938, in Bayou Terre aux Boeuf, near Delacroix Island, La

Father, Lewis Harland MacKinney, a fruitgrower in Penn Yan, NY.; son of George Scott and Martha (Ames) MacKinney of Lawrenceville, Pa Mother, Rosanna (Gearhart) MacKinney, daughter of Robert Harris and Mary (Comman) Gearhart of Sunbury, Pa

Elmira Free Academy; B S Cornell University 1925, attended Yale School of Forestry 1926–27 (M F 1927, member Acacia); entered U S Forest Service July, 1925, stationed at Northeastern Forest Experiment Station, Amherst, Mass, July 1, 1925–February 15, 1926, and at Southern Forest Experiment Station, Starke, Fla, February–September, 1926, received a civil service appointment as junior forester July, 1927, at Appalachian Forest Experiment Station, Asheville, N C ; advanced to the position of silviculturist at this station where he specialized in forest management research, in 1937 promoted to senior silviculturist in charge of forest management research at Southern Forest Experiment Station, New Orleans, author of a number of technical articles published in forestry journals and government bulletins, member Society of American Foresters, Masonic order, and First Lutheran Church, Ithaca, N Y

Married December 31, 1928, in Hendersonville, NC, Helen Bly

School of Forestry

(B A. MacMurray College 1924), daughter of Clarence Hamilton Tuthill and Grace Gertrude (Horton) Bly Children Arland Lee, Jr, and Anna Elizabeth.

Mr MacKinney was drowned when he accidentally fell from a fishing boat Buried in Oakdale Cemetery, Hendersonville Survived by wife, children, and mother.

SUPPLEMENT

NOTICES OF DEATHS PRIOR TO JULY 1, 1938 NOT PREVIOUSLY REPORTED

Edward Dummer, B.A. 1865.

Born February 20, 1841, in Lowell, Mass. Died June 2, 1936, in Auburndale, Mass.

Father, John Dummer, a millwright in Massachusetts, helped to construct the machinery for the mills of Lowell and had an important part in building the locks and gates of that city, son of John and Susannah (Duty) Dummer of Massachusetts Mother, Marinda (Russell) Dummer.

Dummer Academy Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years, member Gamma Nu and Brothers in Unity

Practical machinist and mechanical draftsman Lowell Machine Shop 1865–69, engaged in mechanical work in New Haven, Conn, 1869–71, taught industrial drawing in schools of Newburyport, Mass., for about two years, solicitor of patents and mechanical engineer in Boston until retirement from business, had obtained and sold patents of his own; member Byfield (Mass) Congregational Church

Married March 20, 1879, in Oberlin, Ohio, Sarah Maria, daughter of Professor Elijah Porter Barrows, DD (BA 1826) and Sarah Maria (Lee) Barrows Children Carlotta Russell, Edward Lee, '07, and Eliot William Barrows (died September 3, 1906) Mrs Dummer died May 29, 1913

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Lowell Cemetery. Survived by daughter and one son

Harrison John Teller, B.A. 1892.

Born September 10, 1869, in Central City, Colo Died June 2, 1938, in Grand Junction, Colo

Father, Henry Moore Teller (LL D Alfred University 1886), a lawyer in Denver, Colo ; United States Senator from Colorado 1876–82 and 1885–1909 (member monetary commission 1908), Secretary of the Interior in President Arthur's cabinet 1882–85, son of John and Charlotte Teller of Allegany County, N Y Mother, Harriet May (Bruce) Teller, of Cuba, N Y

Rittenhouse Academy, Washington, DC, and Hopkins Grammar School Member Gamma Nu

Attended Yale School of Law 1892-94 (LL B 1894, member Kent

Supplement

Club), admitted to Colorado bar October, 1894, practiced law in firm of Teller, Orahood & Morgan, Denver, 1894–95, junior member Teller, David & Teller, Cripple Creek, Colo, 1895–97 when he retired from the practice of law to devote himself to farming and business, manager Elmwood Farm, a fruit ranch in Grand Junction, 1898–1913, junior partner J B Bacon & Company, wholesale confectioners, 1904, resided in Denver 1913–17, manager the Teller House (a hotel built by his father) in Central City 1917 until retirement in 1936, alderman Central City 1922–28 and 1928–36, since then had made his home in Grand Junction; director and secretary the Aliunde Consolidated Mining Company 1894–1903 and the Cripple Creek–Yale Gold Mining Company 1903, director and treasurer Illinois Central Mines Company, president 1903–04 and director Grand Valley Floral & Nursery Company, secretary 1908–10 and director Grand Valley Fruit & Produce Association, member Masonic order and Christ Methodist Church, Denver

Married November 14, 1906, in Grand Junction, Minnie Ellen, daughter of Casper H and Mary L Trumbull No children

Death due to cardiovascular-renal disease Buried in Fairmount Cemetery, Denver Survived by wife, a sister, Mrs. Emma Teller Tyler (died in September, 1939), and a brother, Henry Bruce Teller, '99

Joseph Harvey Kitchen, B.A. 1899.

Born September 13, 1877, in Cleveland, Ohio Died December 10, 1932, in Cleveland, Ohio

Father, Henry William Kitchen (M D Cleveland College of Physicians and Surgeons 1871), a physician in Cleveland, son of Joseph H Kitchen of Massillon, Ohio Mother, Grace Arabella (Kingsley) Kitchen, daughter of Horace and Philena (Lamb) Kingsley of Cleveland

Central High School, Cleveland. Second dispute appointment Junior and Senior years; member Dunham Boat Club and Cleveland Club

Associated with State Banking & Trust Company, Cleveland, 1899– 1901; attended Western Reserve University School of Law 1901–04 (LL.B. 1903), admitted to Ohio bar December, 1903; with State Banking & Trust Company 1904–07 (assistant secretary 1905–07); engaged in independent practice of law in Cleveland 1908–32, secretary-treasurer The Northern Ohio Paving & Construction Company, Cleveland

Married March 19, 1915, in Cleveland, Mary Rippey, daughter of Samuel Hamilton and Matilda Curtiss (Rippey) Beck Children Enid (died in 1922) and a son (died at birth)

Death due to arteriosclerosis Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Cleveland Survived by wife and a brother, Karl K Kitchen of New York City (died June 18, 1935)

David [Verner] Brunstrom, B.A. 1905.

Born February 5, 1872, in Boxholm, Sweden. Died June 10, 1938, in Jamestown, NY

Father, Erick Verner Brunstrom, shipping clerk with Moline (Ill) Plow Company. Mother, Clara Charlotta (Johnson) Brunstrom.

Academy and Bible School, North Park College, Chicago, 1892–96; ordained to ministry in Chicago 1896; minister Lindsborg, Kans, 1896– 1903, B A. Bethany College 1903; entered Yale in Senior year; oration appointment, member Yale Bethany Club.

Enrolled in Yale Graduate School 1905-07 (MA. 1907); minister Swedish Congregational Church, New Haven, 1906-07, president Walden College, McPherson, Kans, 1907-11; minister Swedish Zion Mission Church, Jamestown, 1911-22, Salem Square Congregational Church, Worcester, Mass, 1922-29, Lake View Mission Church, Chicago, 1929-33, Swedish Tabernacle, Spokane, Wash., 1933-36, resided in Jamestown since 1936, founded *Kansas Mission Tidings* 1902 and editor 1902-04 and 1907-11; president Middle East Conference, Swedish Evangelical Church; acting president Swedish Evangelical Mission Covenant of America for one year and moderator for two years; chairman board of directors North Park College 1929-33; field secretary Bethany Old People's Home

Married April 20, 1898, in Moline, Catherine, daughter of Lars and Betty Nelson Children David LeRoy (B.A. Colgate 1922; LL.B. Harvard 1928), Mildred Ethel (Mrs Eldon Guthrie), and Irving Vernon (B A. Colgate 1930, LL B. Northwestern 1935)

Death due to apoplexy. Buried in Lake View Cemetery, Jamestown. Survived by wife, children, and four grandchildren.

Carl Herbert Bryant, Ph.B. 1904.

Born January 16, 1881, in Independence, Mo Died December 22, 1937, in Atascadero, Calif

Father, John Bryant (M.D Washington University 1865 and Jefferson Medical College 1866), a physician in Independence, son of John Bryant (M D. Kentucky School of Medicine 1837) and Martha (Vaughn) Bryant of Independence Mother, Harriette Matilda (Smart) Bryant, daughter of Thomas Austin and Harriette (Thompson) Smart of Kansas City, Mo Yale relatives include John B Knox, '19, G Bryant Bachman (Ph D 1930), and William B. Bachman, '32 (nephews)

Central High School, Kansas City Biology course, Freshman Crew Squad, winner heavyweight bout, Sheff rush, Junior year, member Freshman Glee Club, Apollo and University Glee clubs Junior year, and Book and Bond

Attended Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine 1904–08 (M D. 1908); interne Hartford Hospital 1908–10; engaged in practice of medicine Independence 1910–11 and in Kansas City 1911–16; medical director Kansas City Life Insurance Company 1916–18, engaged in real estate business Kansas City for a short time in 1918, retired 1919–35 and since 1919 had resided in Redlands and Atascadero, Calif., surgeon for Civilian Conservation Corps camps in California 1935–37, commissioned Captain, Medical Corps, September 16, 1918, attended Medical Officers' Training Camp, Camp Greenleaf, October 1–14, 1918; attached to Transport Division, Hoboken, October, 1918, until discharge July 31, 1919; active in Boy Scout work in Kansas City and Atascadero, member American Medical Association, American Legion, Masonic order, and Federated Church, Atascadero

Married May 23, 1910, in Independence, Mary Tanner, daughter of Alexander and Isabelle (Tanner) Shannon Children Elizabeth (B A. Mills College 1934), the wife of Kirk Miles (B A Stanford University 1932; M.S Massachusetts Institute of Technology 1933); John Smart (B A. University of California 1939), Carl Herbert, Jr. (Denver University *ex-*'40); Shannon (died January 1, 1937); and George Beatty.

Death due to coronary occlusion Survived by wife, four children, and four sisters, Mrs. Charles E. Knox of Berkeley, Calif, Mrs. Louis Newman of Kansas City, Mo., Mrs. Gustave W. Bachman of Denver, Colo., and Mrs William Shutz of Boulder, Colo

Ernest Bateman, Ph.B. 1906.

Born January 9, 1883, in Halifax, England Died December 10, 1937, in Madison, Wis

Father, Ben Bateman, a weaver in Peace Dale, R I.; son of John and Mary (Wainwright) Bateman of Halifax Mother, Alice (Johnson) Bateman; daughter of John and Maria (Haigh) Johnson of Huddersfield, England.

South Kingston (RI) High School Chemistry course; honors in chemistry Junior and Senior years

Laboratory expert U S Forest Service, New Haven, Conn, 1906-07 and Washington, D C, 1907-09; chemist Forest Products Laboratory, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Madison, W1s, 1909-37, for many years lecturer on forest products University of W1sconsin; author of many government bulletins and circulars and a frequent contributor to proceedings of technical associations, an expert in chemical wood preservation; developed wood plastic; had been granted a number of United States patents, member American Chemical Society, American Wood Preservers Association (chairman committee on preservatives 1913 and 1914), American Society of Testing Materials, Masonic order, and First Congregational Church, Madison

Married June 26, 1909, in Washington, D.C., Mabel Winifred, daughter of Cornelius Connor and Susan Ida (Hershey) Wright. Children. William Thomas (University of Wisconsin *ex-*'37) and Margaret Elizabeth

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Forest Hill Cemetery, Madison Survived by wife, children, and three brothers, Frank A Bateman of Cranston, RI, Everett Bateman of Peace Dale, RI, and John H Bateman of Greenville, SC.

Moses David Nathanson, Ph.B. 1906.

Born July 31, 1884, in Pobel, Russia Died February 21, 1927, in Norwich, Conn

Father, Elias S Nathanson, a retail dealer in New Haven; son of Nathaniel and Harriett Nathanson of Russia. Mother, Sophia (Schwartz) Nathanson; daughter of Solomon and Miriam Schwartz of Russia

New Haven High School Civil engineering course; honorable mention in German Freshman year, honors for excellence in all studies and prize for excellence in elementary Spanish Junior year; two-year honors for excellence in all studies Senior year

Civil engineer for United States Government in Philippine Islands 1906–26, member Congregation Bikur Cholim, New Haven.

Unmarried

Death due to pneumonia Buried in Congregation Bikur Cholim Cemetery Survived by two sisters, Mrs Morris Greenberg of New Haven and Mrs Charles Wolff of Brooklyn, N.Y.

Lawrence Marsh Bartlett, Ph.B. 1908.

Born January 1, 1888, in Buffalo, N.Y. Died August 10, 1935, in New York City.

Father, Lucius Elmer Bartlett, a lithographer in Buffalo, son of Marcus and Fanny (Kelley) Bartlett of Buffalo Mother, Anna (Marsh) Bartlett; daughter of Phineas S and Angeline (McIntosh) Marsh of Buffalo

Fosdick-Masten Park High School, Buffalo Civil engineering course.

Assistant engineer Buffalo Division, Pennsylvania Railroad, 1908–09; engineer Bureau of Navigation, Division of Port Works, Manila, PI, 1909–11, resident engineer Ponce, Puerto Rico, 1912–13; associated with

304

Supplement

Canadian branch James Stewart, Inc, Toronto, 1914–15; chief engineer Dayton (Ohio) Metal Products Company 1915–17, volunteer with Norton-Harjes Ambulance Formation in France April–August, 1917; enlisted in United States Army in Paris and commissioned First Lieutenant, Engineers, August, 1917, promoted to captaincy July, 1918; assistant gas officer with First Army Corps until discharge in France January, 1919; with Allied Machinery Construction Company, Paris, 1919, engaged as consulting engineer 1919–24; superintendent Hygeia Glass Works, Lancaster, N Y, 1924–29, had been associated with Pan-American Airways since 1930; member New York Yale Club and First Unitarian Church, Buffalo.

Unmarried

Death due to heart disease Buried in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo. Survived by father and a brother, Edward R Bartlett (BA Williams 1912) of Bronxville, N.Y.

Yokichi Aoki, M.A. 1894.

Died June 8, 1938.

Graduate Doshisha Theological School 1890, attended Yale Graduate School 1892–94 (M A 1894)

Had been engaged in banking and was proprietor of the Azuma Company, coal dealers in Tokyo, director Hokkai Coal Company, Ltd.

Stanislaus Thomas Novakovsky, Ph.D. 1921.

Died in 1938

Graduate Kiev Commercial Institute 1914, M Ec S 1916, attended Graduate School, University of Chicago, 1918–19 and Yale Graduate School 1919–21 (Ph D 1921), assistant professor of geography Kiev Commercial Institute and Kiev Geographical Institute 1917, professorial lecturer in geography Clark University 1921–22, associate professor of economic geography 1922–23; professor of economic geography University of Poznan since 1923

George Lynn, Ph.D. 1925.

Born August 28, 1897, in Ottawa, Kans. Died July 15, 1933, in Cleveland, Ohio.

Father, William Eldorado Lynn, custodian department of physics, University of Kansas; son of Adam and Elizabeth (Baxter) Lynn of Winchester, Ohio Mother, Permalia Frances (Beets) Lynn; daughter of Joseph and Louise (Lyon) Beets of Hillsdale, Kans.

Ottawa and Lawrence (Kans) high schools; B S. University of Kansas 1921, M S 1922 (member Alpha Chi Sigma, Tau Beta Pi, Sigma Xi, and Sigma Tau), in research laboratory General Electric Company, Schenectady, summer 1922, attended Yale Graduate School 1922–25 (Ph D. 1925; laboratory assistant in chemistry 1922–23); research fellow in chemistry Yale 1925–26; instructor in chemistry University of Pittsburgh 1926–28; chemist United States Bureau of Mines, Pittsburgh, 1928–29; director of research laboratory and research chemist Columbia Chemical Division, Pittsburgh Plate Glass Company, Barberton, Ohio, 1929–33; member American Chemical Society and Congregational church, New Haven.

Married June 30, 1924, in New Haven, Conn, Ethel, daughter of William F and Della Peacock Daughter, Frances Elizabeth.

Death due to injuries received in an automobile accident. Buried in Wadsworth, Ohio Survived by wife, daughter, mother, two wards, Marjorie Louise and Edward Lawrence Lynn, two sisters, Nellie May Lynn Williams (B A University of Kansas 1922), the wife of Karl Williams of Wadsworth, and Opal Wilhelmina Lynn (B A. University of Kansas 1924) of Philadelphia, and two brothers, Clarence Lynn (B S University of Kansas 1918) of Wilkinsburg, Pa, and Lawrence Beets Lynn (B S. University of Kansas 1927) of New York City.

James Leslie McCollum, B.D. 1883.

Born January 18, 1855, in Augusta, Ky Died June 18, 1937, in Oak Park, Ill.

Father, Hugh McCollum, a dentist in Augusta, Ky Mother, Minerva Jane (Maxwell) McCollum.

B A Berea College 1879, M A 1890, attended Yale Divinity School 1880-83 (BD 1883), ordained in Congregational church, Cheney, Wash, September 19, 1883, and minister Sprague, Wash, 1883-85; attended Northwestern University Medical School 1886-89 (M D 1889) and University of Chicago 1891-92, engaged in the practice of medicine in Chicago 1892-1936 with the exception of a short period in Miami, Fla, professor of surgery Illinois Medical College 1895-1905, attending physician Cook County Hospital 1902-04, member Illinois State Medical Society, Chicago Pathological Society, and American Medical Association

Married (1) in 1893, Amie Russell Married (2) September 1, 1899, in Chicago, Janet Long (M D. Illinois Medical College 1896) No children.

Death due to chronic arteriosclerosis Buried in Arlington Cemetery,

Supplement

Addison Township, Ill Survived by wife (died July 30, 1939) and a brother, Fred W. McCollum of East Orange, N J

Donald Alexander MacLean, B.D. 1884.

Born August 13, 1854, in South Finch, Ontario Died July 11, 1936, in Toronto, Ontario

Father, Alex R MacLean, a farmer in Finch, son of John and Flora (McInnis) MacLean of Finch Mother, Mary (McPherson) MacLean, daughter of Donald and Mary (McColl) McPherson of Stormont County, Ontario

Morrisburg (Ont) High School; attended Queen's University 1877– 81 and Yale Divinity School 1882–84 (B D 1884), ordained February 26, 1886, in First Congregational Church, Rodman, N Y, and minister there 1885–86, minister First Congregational Church, Barton, Vt, 1889–91; supply minister Presbyterian church 1894–97 and 1908–25, minister Heuvelton, N Y, 1898–1900, did editorial work in Ottawa and Toronto 1901–07, retired from ministry 1925 and had since resided in Toronto

Unmarried.

Death due to the extreme heat Buried in Finch Cemetery Survived by two sisters, Miss Janet C MacLean of Finch and Mrs Earnest Farlinger of Morrisburg, and two brothers, Rev James A MacLean, D D (B A McGill University 1886), of Dutton, Ont, and Alex A MacLean of Finch

William Watters Dumm, B.D. 1886.

Born September 2, 1858, in Carlisle, Pa Died September 3, 1937, in Santa Monica, Calif

Father, Rev William Thomas Dumm, a Methodist Protestant minister, son of Jacob and Phebe (Martin) Dumm of Zanesville, Ohio Mother, Mary Jane (Dilkes) Dumm of Philadelphia, Pa

B A Western Maryland College 1883, M A 1886, attended Yale Divinity School 1883–86 (B D 1886), ordained Chester, Ohio, December 8, 1886, and minister there 1886–88, minister Chagrin Falls, Ohio, 1888–91, Harman Church, Denver, Colo, 1891–92, Greeley, Colo, 1892–98, Third Congregational Church, Denver, 1899–1900, in 1900 left the ministry to enter the S S Still College of Osteopathy (D O 1902), had been in practice in California as an osteopath since 1902, at Palms, 1902–23, Ocean Park 1923–30, and Santa Monica since 1930

Married (1) in 1888, in Chagrin Falls, Ohio, Myra, daughter of Deacon Packard Daughter, Marguerite Packard (B A. San Jose State College 1929), the wife of Eugene Campbell (B S Purdue University 1923) Mrs Dumm died June 23, 1903 Married (2) October 7, 1905, in Ocean Park, Calif, Henrietta Marie Downing Daughter, Henrietta Marie, the wife of Michael LeJeal * Married (3) February 23, 1908, in Pasadena, Nelle, daughter of William and Mary (Welles) Wheldon. Daughter, Constance Wheldon

Death due to arteriosclerosis and colitis Ashes interred in San Gabriel Cemetery, Pasadena Survived by wife, children, one grandchild, a half sister, Miss Cerulea E Dumm (BA Western Maryland College 1890) of Baltimore, and a half brother, B Alfred Dumm, ex-'96 D.

John Jackson Castleberry, B.D. 1917.

Born April 13, 1877, in Savannah, Tenn. Died August 7, 1937, in Cincinnati, Ohio.

Father, George Washington Castleberry. Mother, Sarah Graham (Mahan) Castleberry.

Attended Transylvania College and College of the Bible 1895–1900 (graduated 1900); student University of Chicago summers 1908–10 and Yale Divinity School 1916–17 (B D. 1917), ordained to ministry of Disciples of Christ, Savannah, Tenn, July, 1900, minister Springfield, Tenn, 1900–04, Union City, Tenn, 1904–09, Church of the Disciples, Mayfield, Ky, 1909–20, and Walnut Hills Church, Cincinnati, 1920–37, president Congress of Disciples of Christ 1921–22, Cincinnati Federation of Churches 1932–34, Tennessee Christian Missionary Convention, and Kentucky Christian Sunday School Convention; trustee College of the Bible 1920–37 and American Christian Missionary Society; author. *The Soul of Rehgion* (1926), D.D Lincoln Memorial University 1924, LL D Transylvania College 1935, member of the board Bethesda Hospital, Cincinnati Associated Charities, and United Christian Missionary Society for many years, member American Seminar in Europe 1926 and Masonic order

Married February 8, 1903, in Springfield, Tenn, Anne, daughter of Archibald Benjamin and Rosanna (Woodard) Porter Son, John Porter (Kenyon College *ex-*26)

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Elmwood Cemetery, Springfield, Tenn Survived by wife, son, and three grandchildren.

1

*The date of Mrs Dumm's death could not be ascertained

308

James Robert Halmshaw, B.D. 1922.

Born April 22, 1885, in Dewsbury, England. Died January 4, 1934, in Beresford, Fla

Father, George Alfred Halmshaw, a stationer in Sheffield, England, son of Robert and Martha (Day) Halmshaw of Dewsbury Mother, Anna (Hemingway) Halmshaw, daughter of James and Mary (Thornton) Hemingway of Morley, England.

Doncaster Grammar School, B D. Drew Theological Seminary 1916, attended Yale Divinity School 1921–22 (B D 1922), University of Cambridge 1928, and University of Oxford summer 1930, received on trial by New York Conference, Methodist Episcopal church, 1916, ordained deacon Peekskill 1916 and elder at Newburgh 1918; minister Norfolk, Conn, 1916–18, Pine Plains and Milan, N Y, 1918–23, New Paltz and Lloyd, N.Y, 1923–30, Emory Church, Hancock, N Y., 1930–33, and Grace Church, Newburgh, N Y, 1933–34, editor and publisher minutes of New York Conference 1924–31; member Masonic order

Married September 10, 1918, in Bath, Me, Letty Belle Searls (graduate Pratt Institute 1909, attended University of Cambridge 1928), daughter of William and Susan Rebecca (Tasker) Searls No children.

Death due to chronic lymphatic leukemia Buried in Searls Mills Cemetery, Chelsea, Me Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs Frederick Stuart Holland of Sheffield, England

Robert Edward Hall, LL.B. 1882.

Born March 19, 1858, in Litchfield, Conn. Died January 24, 1938, in Bridgeport, Conn.

Father, William Lucius Hall, a farmer in Litchfield, son of David and Phoebe (Smedley) Hall of Litchfield Mother, Mary (Gunn) Hall; daughter of John Northrop and Mary (Smith) Gunn of Washington, Conn.

Whittlesey's School, New Preston, Conn ; attended Yale School of Law 1881–82 (LL B 1882; member Kent Club), admitted to Connecticut bar 1882; engaged in the practice of law at Litchfield 1882–90 and in Waterbury, Conn , 1890–1902, occupied with electrical engineering and construction work in Bridgeport as head of the Hall Engineering & Construction Company 1895 until retirement about 1915 due to illhealth; member First Congregational Church, Waterbury, Conn

Married September 12, 1894, in Alburg, Vt, Ellen Frances, daughter of Daniel Perry and Margaret (Austin) Hazen Children Marguerite Hazen, Irving Gunn (died March 22, 1923), Hazel Austin, the wife of .

Thomas Taylor Hubbard (Columbia University ex-'26); and Bertha May

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Park Cemetery, Bridgeport Survived by wife, daughters, one granddaughter, and a sister, Mrs Arthur Maigret of Bridgeport.

John McKean, LL.B. 1886.

Born November 14, 1865, in Glasgow, Scotland. Died June 11, 1938, in Enfield, Conn.

Father, John McKean of Fall River, Mass. Mother, Katherine (Dawson) McKean

Attended Yale School of Law 1884–87 (LL.B 1886, LL M. 1887); admitted to the Massachusetts bar October 1, 1897; engaged in the practice of law in Springfield, Mass, 1887–1934 and in Thompsonville, Conn, since 1934, member Masonic order

Married January 6, 1886, in Madison, Conn, Ida E, daughter of Shelden Hull

Death due to acute sudden dilatation of the heart. Buried in West Cemetery, Madison Survived by wife.

Adna Guernsey Bowen, LL.B. 1888.

Born June 15, 1862, in Medina, NY. Died November 29, 1934, in Medina, NY.

Father, Abiel Bowen (D D S Baltimore College of Dental Surgery 1860) of Medina, son of Dr Abiel Bowen and Anna Sterling (Cone) Bowen Mother, Helen Cornelia (Guernsey) Bowen, daughter of Samuel Smedley and Elizabeth (Eckerson) Guernsey

Studied with his uncle in Batavia, NY, admitted to bar June, 1883; clerk and bank messenger New York State Senate 1886, 1887; attended Yale School of Law 1887–88 (LL B 1888), engaged in practice of law in New York City 1888–1908 and in Medina since 1908, had also engaged in manufacturing, president Clipper Manufacturing Company and Bowen-Muey Company, had obtained patents on a number of inventions, member 7th Regiment, New York National Guard, Association of the Bar of the City of New York, New York State Bar Association, American Bar Association, and East Center Church (Protestant Episcopal), Medina

Married in Detroit, Emma Klein (M D University of Michigan 1891), daughter of Frederick Klein Mr and Mrs Bowen were divorced in 1919.

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in Mount Pleasant Cemetery, West Shelby, N Y. Survived by no immediate relatives.

Supplement

Fitz-Daniel Ermentrout, LL.B. 1891.

Born December 19, 1870, in Reading, Pa. Died December 28, 1937, in Reading, Pa.

Father, Daniel Ermentrout (Franklin and Marshall College ex-1857, M A Hon), a lawyer in Reading, member Pennsylvania Senate 1873-80, U.S. Representative from Pennsylvania 1881-89, 1897-99, son of William and Justina (Silvis) Ermentrout of Berks County, Pa Mother, Adelaide Louise (Metzger) Ermentrout; daughter of John and Anne Katharine (Kendig) Metzger of Lancaster, Pa

Carroll Institute, Reading, attended Lehigh University 1887–89 (member Delta Theta Phi) and Yale School of Law 1889–91 (LL B 1891), admitted to Pennsylvania bar November, 1892; engaged in practice of law in Reading since 1892; secretary to Congressman John Hoover Rothermel 1907–15; librarian Berks County Law Library since 1931, member Berks County Bar Association, Americus Club of Reading, Pennsylvania Society Sons of the Revolution, and Reformed Church, Reading.

Married June, 1900, in New York City, Katharine Sara Mealey. No children. Mr. and Mrs. Ermentrout were divorced

Death due to cerebral hemorrhage Buried in Charles Evans Cemetery, Reading. Survived by a sister, Adelaide Ermentrout Henry, the wife of Charles P. Henry (B.S Princeton 1905, M.D. University of Pennsylvania 1909) of Lincoln Park, Pa.

John Edmund Bishop, LL.B. 1895.

Born August 6, 1869, in Rocheport, Mo Died November 28, 1937, in St Louis, Mo.

Father, David Bishop, a merchant. Mother, Ann Elizabeth (Stice) Bishop.

California (Mo) High School; attended University of Missouri 1889– 92, admitted to Missouri bar in 1892; assistant superintendent of public schools and city attorney for California, Mo, 1892–94; attended Yale School of Law 1894–95 (LL B 1895), in independent practice of law St. Louis 1895–1901; member law firm of Bishop & Cobbs [Thomas H., '97 L.] 1901–12, and of Bishop & Claiborne since 1912, first president Civitan Club, member Masonic order and devoted a large part of his time to the system of crippled children's hospitals created by that order (secretary board of governors of these hospitals since 1921), member American Bar Association and Christian (Disciples) Church, St Louis

Married March 11, 1916, in St Louis, Maria, daughter of James Robert and Fannie (Moore) Claiborne No children Death due to an infection in the blood stream Buried in Bellefontaine Cemetery, St. Louis Survived by wife.

Eugene Henry Tucker, LL.B. 1896.

Born January 10, 1867, in New Hartford, Conn. Died February 16, 1938, in Winsted, Conn

Father, Henry Julill Tucker, a farmer in New Hartford, son of Benjamin Tucker, Jr, and Rosalia (Avery) Tucker of New Hartford Mother, Julia Ann (Root) Tucker; daughter of Orrin and Emiline Root of Barkhamsted, Conn

Suffield Academy; attended Yale School of Law 1894–96 (LL B. 1896), admitted to the Connecticut bar June 24, 1896, but had never practiced law; taught school in Hebron and Goshen, Conn, for a few years after graduation and spent many years farming; had at various times worked in the mills in Torrington, Conn, and with the Gilbert Clock Company, Winsted, member Litchfield County Bar Association.

Married September 20, 1893, in Hebron, Caroline Inez, daughter of Henry Vincent and Caroline Augusta (Jones) Seyms Children. Dwight Benjamin, Olive Harriet, the wife of Frederick J Martindale; and Earl Eugene Mr and Mrs Tucker were divorced in 1904

Death due to coronary occlusion Buried in North Village Cemetery, New Hartford. Survived by children

Harold Ridgway Berry, LL.B. 1901.

Born August 2, 1877, in St Louis, Mo. Died July 1, 1935, in Brooklyn, N.Y.

Father, Henry Berry, former attorney-general of Virginia Mother, Ella (Ridgway) Berry, daughter of Caleb T and Jane Mobley (Turney) Ridgway of St Louis

Attended Washington University, St Louis, 1896–97, studied law in office of Adiel Sherwood, St Louis, 1897; admitted to Missouri bar 1897, engaged in practice of law in St Louis 1897–99, attended Yale School of Law 1899–1901 (LL B. 1901; president and secretary Kent Club), practiced law in California 1901–06; attended Stanford University 1906–07, in promotion and bond business in Oakland, Calif, 1907–11; manager Oakland-McKittrick Oil Company 1911–12; member investment firms of H R Berry & Company and Berry, Pierce & Company, New York City, 1913–19, engaged in promotion work since 1919 and had been vice-president and chief engineer Pittsburgh and Erie (Pa) Coal Company, member Methodist Episcopal Church, St. Louis.

Supplement

Married October 15, 1917, in New York City, Virginia Schroeder. No children.

Death due to coronary thrombosis Ashes interred in Rosehill Columbarium, Orange, N J. Survived by wife and a sister, Mrs John G Bowman of Pittsburgh, Pa.

Frank Howard Purinton, LL.B. 1906.

Born March 25, 1872, in Limington, Me. Died September 11, 1934, in South Portland, Me

Father, Stephen Lorenzo Purinton, a salesman in Lewiston, Me ; son of John and Shuah (Manson) Purinton of Limington Mother, Jennie E (Harmon) Purinton

B A Bates College 1896; reporter, city editor, and special writer Lewiston (Me) Journal 1897–1901; attended Yale School of Law 1905– 06 (LL B. 1906), and University of Maine College of Law 1906–08 (LL B 1908, LL M 1910); admitted to Maine bar 1906, engaged in practice of law in Portland 1906–24, 1926–34; in legal department Southern Title Guaranty Company, San Diego, Calif, 1924–26, alderman and councilman of Portland 1908–10, author Pleading and Evidence, member Cumberland County and Maine Bar associations

Married Berghot Bergren No children.

Death due to coronary occlusion. Buried in Limington. Survived by wife, a half sister, Mrs. Egbert A Case of Willimantic, Conn, and a half brother, Dana Stephen Purinton of St. Paul, Minn.

Victor Eugene Beamer, LL.B. 1916.

Born May 18, 1892, in Zionsville, Ind Died August 16, 1937, in Miami, Fla

Father, Cyrus Nutt Beamer, a lawyer. Mother, Hallie (Anderson) Beamer

Attended Zionsville High School, B.A Indiana University 1914 (president of the Class, member Phi Delta Phi), graduate student Indiana University 1914–15; attended Yale School of Law 1915–16 (LL B 1916, member Corbey Court), admitted to the bar 1916, in law office of James Ogden, Indianapolis, Ind, 1916–17, traveling adjuster for the central states, Emerson-Brantingham Implement Company, Inc, Rockford, Ill, for a time; associated with Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States since 1919 (salesman 1919–23, district manager with headquarters in Indianapolis 1923–29, and Florida manager since 1929); director manager's section National Association of Life Underwriters, Ensign, U.S. Navy, assigned to Paymaster's Corps until discharge July, 1919, member American Legion, Masonic order, and Riverside Presbyterian Church, Jacksonville (elder)

Married September 22, 1920, in Indianapolis, Ruth Ella, daughter of Frank and Emma (Harding) Loftin No children

Death due to acute cardiac failure Buried in Crown Hill Cemetery, Indianapolis Survived by wife

Demus Riley Gale, LL.M. 1886.

Born in Missouri.

Died November 5, 1932, in Santa Rosa, Calif

LL B and LL.M George Washington University 1885; attended Yale School of Law 1885–86 (LL M 1886); practiced law in Santa Rosa 1886–1930 as senior member of Gale & Gale, had been a member of Gale & Burnett, Santa Clara, Calif, and was former assistant district attorney of Sonoma County, Calif

Married

Death due to acute dilatation of the heart Buried in Rural Cemetery, Santa Rosa. Survived by a son, Thorn P. Gale of Santa Rosa.

314

DATES OF DEATH OF OTHER INDIVIDUALS WITH YALE AFFILIATION

REPORTED JULY I, 1938–JULY I, 1939

RECIPIENTS OF HONORARY DEGREES

YEAR

- 1866 James Joseph Lucas (BA), January 7, 1939.
- 1873 Nathaniel Matson Terry (M A), October 12, 1938
- 1899 James Pierpont (M A), December 9, 1938
- 1907 Ernest William Brown (M A, Sc D [1933]), July 22, 1938.
- 1911 Ralph Clement Bryant (M A), February 1, 1939.
- 1921 Benjamin Nathan Cardozo (LL D), July 9, 1938.
- 1924 Howard Carter (Sc D), March 2, 1939
- 1929 William Hallock Park (Sc D), April 6, 1939
- 1929 Eduard Prokosch (M A), August 11, 1938.
- 1931 Edward Sapır (M.A), February 4, 1939.
- 1935 Helen Morris Hadley (Mrs. Arthur Twining Hadley) (M.A), March 31, 1939

NON-GRADUATES

YALE COLLEGE

CLASS

- 1874 William Porter Beardsley, February 17, 1939.
- 1877 Henry Beekman Livingston, September 8, 1931.
- 1879 Edward Hart Fenn, February 23, 1939
- 1884 William Hamilton Cooper, November 6, 1937.
- 1884 Wilbur Fisk Hendrix, June 27, 1939
- 1893 John Leonard Emerson, January 31, 1939.
- 1893 Frank Curtis Wilder, February 9, 1939.
- 1896 Derick Lane, October 31, 1938
- 1897 Oliver Wolcott Gaines, June 7, 1938.
- 1900 Laurence Frank, April 8, 1939
- 1900 Arthur Stanley Goodwin, November 1, 1938
- 1901 Augustus Bart Berger, February 7, 1939
- 1903 John Hart McAlarney, November 3, 1938.
- 1903 William Burns Weston, July 30, 1938
- 1904 Seth Hamilton Moseley, December 5, 1938.
- 1904 Frank Grenville Tullidge, December 19, 1937
- 1906 John Ray Edwards, January 13, 1939.
- 1906 Harry Howe Whittaker, June 4, 1938.
- 1908 Walter Henry Hart, February 4, 1939.
- 1909 John Joseph Little, April 23, 1939.

CLASS

- 1914 Arthur Armenag Donchian, December 22, 1938.
- 1914 Paul William Kreider, March 21, 1939.
- 1914 Gardiner Trowbridge, September 14, 1938.
- 1915 James Woodhouse Wheeler, March 16, 1939.
- 1916 Frederick Luther Gamage, Jr., January 12, 1939.
- 1916 Norman Penney, January 3, 1939
- 1920 William Zehner Breed, May 31, 1939.
- 1920 Harold Pitts Harrower, May 30, 1938
- 1925 Joseph Morris Hixon, Jr, July 21, 1938.
- 1926 Willard Mattoon Burt, November 3, 1938.
- 1928 Paul Schermerhorn Carter, July 19, 1938.
- 1933 Clifford Walter Leavenworth, Jr., June 24, 1939
- 1937 Return Jonathan Meigs Altizer, January 28, 1938.
- 1939 James Humphrey Hoyt, 2d, August 25, 1938.
- 1939 David Gordon Hunter, Jr, April 12, 1939.

SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1872 Edward Andrews Tuttle, February 21, 1939.
- 1874 Frank C Plume, June 13, 1938
- 1877 William Augustus Goodman, Jr., December 19, 1938.
- 1879 Joseph Addison Sandford, March 27, 1939.
- 1879 Edward Henry Sleight, September 11, 1936.
- 1884 Frank Allen Benedict, September 13, 1938.
- 1884 James Prior Wood, July 16, 1938.
- 1885 Clarence Brandegee Wood, August 22, 1938.
- 1889 William Walker Weare, June 25, 1939
- 1890 Charles Francis Sawyer, December 27, 1938.
- 1890 Charles VanRensselaer, May 31, 1939.
- 1891 Noah Ashley Whitney, September 6, 1938.
- 1894 Stephen Arthur Krom, January 15, 1939.
- 1894 Richard Brinsley Sheridan, January 22, 1939.
- 1895 Edward Merriam Griffith, March 9, 1939.
- 1896 James Hart Welch, August 22, 1938.
- 1897 John Howard Davies, April 15, 1939.
- 1897 George Griswold, March 20, 1939.
- 1898 Henry Carlton Lee, October 27, 1938.
- 1900 Harrison Gray, August 26, 1938
- 1900 Frederick Hiram Swift, October 2, 1938.
- 1901 Julius Schwill, July 9, 1938
- 1902 Martin Allen Finch, June 26, 1939.
- 1904 John DeWitt Cox, August 22, 1938.
- 1904 Eugene Thomas Pelham, March 3, 1939
- 1905 William Scott McKell, October 17, 1938

CLASS

- 1908 Arthur Wellington Malley, July 14, 1938.
- 1908 John Cecil Purcell, August 27, 1938.
- 1909 Clarence Curtis Tracy, December 29, 1938.
- 1910 Warren Arthur Norris, February 8, 1938.
- 1910 Samuel Grey Williams, November 11, 1938.
- 1914 Harris Rudisill Potter, April 14, 1937.
- 1919 Henry Francis Hanmer, September 9, 1938
- 1921 Frederick James Durfee, October 14, 1938
- 1927 William Henry Speer, January 30, 1939
- 1939 Nicholas Schuyler Kerr, January 30, 1939.

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL

- 1873 George Soulé Phelps, March 4, 1938.
- 1890 Courtlandt H Trowbridge, October 17, 1938
- 1899 Walter Morgan Anderson, December 20, 1938.

GRADUATE SCHOOL

- 1876 George Haynes Beckwith, November 25, 1938.
- 1883 Edward Munson Hill, March 4, 1939
- 1898 Frederick Carhart Adams, January 26, 1939.
- 1904 Seuchi Ishimura, died 1935
- 1905 Laura Randolph Seguine, October 7, 1937
- 1906 Ichmosuke Suzuki, April 1938
- 1907 Yoshihiro Takasugi, date not known
- 1924 George Perhac, June 13, 1938
- 1929 Edith Marion Coon, June 5, 1939
- 1932 Arthur Paul Jacot, March 24, 1939.

SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

- 1876 Sheffield Smith, August 15, 1937
- 1894 John William Coogan, December 30, 1938
- 1897 Lucius Schuyler Styles, February 3, 1939.
- 1898 Arthur Hall Dundon, June 20, 1939
- 1900 John Raymond Beach Wildman, September 21, 1938
- 1907 Louis Mark Alofsin, June 1, 1939
- 1907 Robert Franklin Nash, August 16, 1938
- 1908 Joseph Patrick Fallon, October 2, 1934
- 1929 Ruth Sisson, November 22, 1930

SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

1911 Albert William Crosby, November 11, 1938.

Yale University Obituary Record

DIVINITY SCHOOL

CLASS

- 1875 William Drake Westervelt, March 9, 1939.
- 1876 Henry Harrison Haynes, April 17, 1939.
- 1878 Dennis Goodsell, January 12, 1937.
- 1884 George Croswell Cressey, October 26, 1938
- 1884 Sydney Strong, December 30, 1938
- 1888 Clarence Talmage Brown, July 31, 1938.
- 1892 Charles Sumner Holton, January 1, 1939

SPECIAL STUDENT IN THE DIVINITY SCHOOL

1915 George Frederick Cherry, July 8, 1938.

SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1894 Marvin Dugro Buttles, May 17, 1939
- 1895 Edward Lee Asbill, September 6, 1938
- 1895 Allan Luce Jordan, February 27, 1939
- 1904 William Barnes Cullen, May 28, 1936
- 1908 John Francis Agoglia, April 10, 1939.
- 1909 Mitchell Thompson Daniels, May 29, 1938
- 1910 Edward Earle Garlick, May 19, 1939
- 1923 John Edward Downey, October 21, 1938.
- 1929 Benjamin Malcolm Harris, March 12, 1939.

SPECIAL STUDENTS IN THE SCHOOL OF LAW

- 1892 Wetmore Worthlev, February 19, 1939
- 1904 Moses Nerses Demirjian, died in 1938
- 1906 Kenneth Charles McKenzie, March 25, 1939.
- 1910 Frank Barclay Dudley, November 28, 1938.

SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

- 1881 Georgiana Gall (Mrs Milan C Ayres), November 20, 1938.
- 1884 Eliza Jane Harrison (Mrs Frank Frost Abbott), January 14, 1939.
- 1890 Fannie Lathrop Wiseman (Mrs Frederic William Watterson), January 20, 1939
- 1901 Grace Whittier Ferris, May 26, 1939.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1880 Georgene Louise Watkinson (Mrs. Frank Miller Fargo), September 7, 1938
- 1888 Mary Elizabeth Lyman, December 14, 1938.
- 1893 Abigail Letitia Robb, December 16, 1937

CLASS

- 1895 Nellie Crockett (Mrs. Cyrus Alvin Osborne), December 30, 1938
- 1898 Anne Drew Hallock (Mrs. Frank Miller), May 12, 1936.
- 1898 Blanche Wheat (Mrs Jacob Martin Bauer), July 19, 1938
- 1906 Adolph Lothar Rapp, March 28, 1939
- 1919 George Hayes del Grella, May 21, 1939.
- 1928 John Hamlin, May 12, 1938.
- 1931 Harold Robert Solomon, December 9, 1938.

SCHOOL OF MUSIC

RECIPIENTS OF CERTIFICATES

- 1900 Alice Gertrude Foley, November 17, 1938
- 1904 Edna Hall (Mrs Joseph William Edwards), February 21, 1939
- 1905 Antoinette Brett (Mrs Charles Sherman Farnham), May 31, 1939.
- 1907 Kathryn Augusta O'Connor, April 25, 1935.

NON-GRADUATES

- 1898 May Louise Hynson (Mrs Julius Bernstein), February 16, 1938
- 1907 Mary Emily Purinton (Mrs Daniel Ezra Putnam), August 14, 1938.
- 1909 Arley May Newell (Mrs Tracy Taylor), May 29, 1938.
- 1910 Vestini Terentia Burr, June 16, 1939
- 1910 John Henry Hutzel, May 29, 1938

SCHOOL OF FORESTRY

- 1905 Chester Arthur Mathewson, November 28, 1938.
- 1906 Ford Dorrance Bacon, May 10, 1939.
- 1907 Charles Morehouse Walker, September 25, 1938
- 1938 Irving Lipman, October 10, 1938.

SCHOOL OF NURSING

1939 Madoline Hartwell (Mrs. Eugene Everett Cliffton), March 5, 1939.

STATISTICS

	Graduates	Non-graduates
Yale College	184	35
Sheffield Scientific School	99	39
Graduate School	15	10
School of Medicine	9	10
Divinity School	33	8
School of Law	33	13
School of the Fine Arts	6*	IO
School of Music	4	5
School of Forestry	4	4
School of Nursing		Ι
Recipients of Honorary Degrees	II	
	398	135

DEATHS RECORDED IN THIS VOLUME

The age of the 180 graduates of Yale College who died between July 1, 1938, and July 1, 1939, averages 64 2, and the age of the 95 graduates of the Sheffield Scientific School averages 60 0.

The oldest living graduate of Yale College 18 HENRY HAVEN GORTON (B A 1862) of Waterford, Conn, born February 3, 1840.

The oldest living graduate of the Sheffield Scientific School is JOSEPH RIDGWAY GAWTHROP (Ph B 1872) of Kennett Square, Pa, born May 16, 1850 He succeeds GEORGE BENJAMIN CHITTENDEN, Ph B 1871 (page 162)

*Includes 4 who held certificates †Recipients of certificates

INDEX

Graduates of the different Schools of the University are distinguished from graduates of YALE COLLEGE by italic letters as follows. DIVINITY SCHOOL, d, SCHOOL OF THE FINE ARTS, *irt;* SCHOOL OF FORESTRY, f, GRADUATE SCHOOL, *ma*, *ms*, or dp, SCHOOL OF LAW, l or ml, SCHOOL OF MEDICINE, m, SCHOOL OF MUSIC, *mus*, SHEFFIELD SCIENTIFIC SCHOOL, s

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
[902 S	Adams, Thomas D	207	18911	Brennan, Joseph P	281
1923	Adee, William T	152	1903 dp	Britton, Wilton E	245
1932	Albright, David E	157	1885	Brooks, Henry Stanford	43
1911 1911	Alden, John	138	1904 d	Brown, Robert E	272
1898 s	Alford, Arba K	196	1905	Brunstrom, David	302
1909	Alker, Edward P.	135	1904 s	Bryant, Carl H	302
1900 S	Allen, Harold	202	1903 m	Budd, Frederick F	253
1896 s	Allen, Wyatt H	191	1938	Burlingame, Easton	160
1886	Ames, Paul K	48	1907 s	Burnet, R William	215
192 I S	Andrew, Treat P	235	18871	Buteau, William G	279
1894 ma	Aokı, Yokıchı	305	•	,	,,,
1905 \$	Armstrong, Noel	210	1884	Cain, James W	38
1895 5	Armstrong, Richard	189	1903	Cameron, Edward H	115
1897	Augur, Herbert B	97	1909 d	Campbell, Gilbert W.	274
1880	Austin, Cecil K	25	1902 5	Campbell, Ralph W	208
	,		1881	Carpenter, Daniel A	28
1911	Baars, Henry G	139	1905 s	Cartwright, Bruce	210
1888	Bacon, Leonard W	59	1917 d	Castleberry, John J	308
1881 s	Bailey, Edward	171	1916	Chappell, Alfred H	- 147
1886 d	Baker, Henry R	264	1938 s	Chase, Francis R	238
1861	Baldwin, Charles W	5	1903 ma	Chase, George M	241
1915	Banker, Paul J	146	1895 ma	Chiba, Kozo S	2 40
1908	Banks, Malcolm S	134	1871 5	Chittenden, George B	162
1885	Barnard, Frederic	42	1890 5	Clapp, Ralph R	181
1908 s	Bartlett, Lawrence M	304	1885 s	Clark, Merritt M	174
1906 5 -	Bateman, Ernest	303	1886	Clarke, Charles F	49
1937	Bauer, Shakelford	159	1905	Clement, George N H	124
1877	Beach, John K	17	1872	Cobb, E Benedict	IO
1882	Beach, Morgan H	30	1873 s	Cogswell, Fillmore	162
1916 <i>l</i>	Beamer, Victor E	313	1877	Cole, Arthur W	18
1897 s	Belden, Joseph C	193	1919	Collins, John C	I 50
1892 m	Bell, George N	251	1885	Colt, Richard C	45
1937	Bellamy, F Wilder, Jr	160	1912 l	Conti, Francis J	2 92
1898 s	Benjamin, Hamilton F	197	1883	Cornwall, Arthur B	34
1878 l	Bennett, James R , Jr	277	1886	Cowles, Alfred	<u>5</u> 0
1901 l	Berry, Harold R	312	1898	Crane, James T	101
1872	Bigelow, Otis M	10	1886	Crapo, Stanford T	51
1895 l	Bishop, John E	311	1894	Cravath, Erastus M	85
1879	Blaır, Edward T	21	1885 d	Cromer, Jeremiah C	261
1901	Blossom, Dudley S	113			
1908 5	Boardman, William J, 2d	217	1905	Darr, Lawrence	125
1897	Bookwalter, Alfred G	97	1890 ma	Davenport, William	240
1888 <i>l</i>	Bowen, Adna G	310	1930	Davidson, Charles M	157
1885 s	Brace, Robert N	17 4	1906 l	Davıs, Davıd J	287
1915 s	Bracken, James L F	229	1880	Davıs, Elias W	25
1901 s	Bragg, Ross W	205	1890 s	Davison, Clarence B	181

1893Day, Howard D821880Hall, Edwin C M201890DeCamp, Walter A701882 IHall, Robert E3091870de forest, Louis S22222Hallinskw, J Robert3091995Dempsey, Frederick W129139Hannon, William S1041916Dempsey, Frederick W1491898 sHastings, Herbert7181912Dodge, Alexander W2771881Hay, Louis C291880Doolittle, Thomas E1681885 dHedding, McIvin E2621900Doolglas, Malcolm1061885 Hidden, Edward451960Doouglas, Malcolm1061885 dHodgen, Allen H2961960Dorecer, Walter171900 fHodgen, Allen H2961973Durnme, Edward3001907 fHoldredge, Leigh I2161973Durand, Harry S2241889 dHooker, George E2661973Durande, Havrd S2211881 Holy, David Leavitt1751895Elliott, John871913 sHowelt, VanDyne2251897Elliott, John871913 sHowelt, WanDyne2361905Elly, Theodore W2121881 Holy, Charles R2771891Ermentout, Fitz-Daniel111905 Huighes, Berrien1261897Hernentout, Fitz-Daniel111905 Huighes, Berrien1261891Ermentout, Fitz-Daniel111905 Huighes, Berrien126	CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1805 DeCamp, Walter A 70 188.2 l Hall, Robert E 909 1879 de Forest, Lous S 22 1922 d Halmshaw, J Robert 109 1905 de la Vergne, Chester R 125 1890 Hanson, Bert 71 1918 Dempsey, Frederick W 237 1890 Hanson, Bert 71 1918 Demson, George K 149 1898 d Hangs, Herbert 198 1806 de sibour, J Henr 92 1292 s Hawley, William M 337 1912 f Dodge, Alexander W 297 1881 d Hedding, Melvin E 262 1900 Douglas, Malcolm 106 1885 d Hodgson, Allen H 296 1880 f Durmm, Villam W 307 1877 s Holcomb, Walter 163 1865 f Durnme, Edward 300 1907 s Holdredge, Leigh I 216 193 s Durand, Harry S 224 1890 d Hooker, George E 266 1891 Ely, Charles R 77 1921 s Howell, Kimbark J 236 1903 s Durand, Harry S 224		Day, Howard D		1	Hall. Edwin C M	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		•		1		
1903de la Vergne, Chester R1251890Hannon, William S1041918Demison, George K2371890Hastings, Herbert1981846de Sibour, J Henri921920 sHawley, William M2371912Dodge, Alexander W2071881Häy, Louis C291880 sDoointile, Thomas E1681885 dHedding, Melvin E2621900Douglas, Malcolm1061885 dHidden, Edward451803Downs, Edgar S1021875Hillhouse, James141916Dreicer, Walter1471909 fHodgson, Allen H2961885 dDumm, William W3071877 sHolderdee, Leigh I1631865Dumm, William W3071877 sHolderdee, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661895Ellott, John87193 sHowell, Kimbark J2361903 sEly, Charles R77193 sHowell, Kimbark J2361903 sEly, Charles R77193 sHowell, Kimbark J2361903 sEly, Charles R711905Hughes, Bernen1261897 dEvants, Allen W711905Hughes, Bernen1261891 lErrentoru, Fitz-Damel3111905Hughes, Bernen1261897 dEvants, Allen W71193Hunter, John S861901 fFaulkner, Ferts285 <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td>•</td> <td></td> <td></td>			-	•		
1936 sDempsey, Fredenck W2371890 1895 bHanson, Bert711918 Demson, George K1491898 sHasnon, Bert1981912 fDodge, Alexander W2971881 sHawley, William M2371912 fDodge, Alexander W2971881 sHedding, Melvin E2621900 Douglas, Malcolm1061885 sHidden, Edward451900 Douglas, Malcolm1061885 dHidden, Edward451900 Tercer, Walter1471909 fHodgson, Allen H2961895 sDrummond, Edmund J1981889 dHogue, Robert M2621886 dDumm, Wilham W3071875 sHoldredge, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E266193 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, VanDyne2251891 Ely, Charles R771913 sHowell, Kimbark J2361905 sElly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791891 Ermenrour, Fitz-Daniel3111905Huil, Norman C1171895 Farr, Charles M103131Huil, Norman C1171896 Farr, Charles M103131Huil, Norman C1171901 fFarley, Firrst W2061895 JIves, J Moss2831904 sFerry, Manfield116194 sIsbell, George W.2261897 dFarley, Ernst W2061895 JIves, J Moss283					-	
1918 1912 1913 1912 1913 1914	-	Dempsey Frederick W	-		r -	-
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					· .	-
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				-		
1880'sDooLitle, Thomas E1681885 dHeddeng, Melvin E2621900Douglas, Malcolm1061885 dHidden, Edward451905Downs, Edgar S1021875 Hidlhouse, James141916Drencer, Walter1471909 fHodgson, Allen H2961886 dDumm, Wilham W3071877 sHolcomb, Walter1631865Dummer, Edward3001907 sHoldredge, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661855Ellott, John871913 sHowell, Kumbark J2331905 sElly, Charles R771921 sHowell, Kumbark J2361905 sElly, Theodore W2121888 lHove, Stephen M2791872 Emerson, Samuel F111888Hudson, Dorr A601897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHunsker, Harold W2131869 Evarts, Allen W71903 sHunker, Fernen1261907 fFaulkner, Ferns2851903 sItaningon, Dwight W131901 fFauley, Ernst W2061893 fIves, J Moss2831904 sFero, A Conro2081895 fIves, J Moss2831924 fFischer, Theodore A2761845 sJonson, Alfred V C2261953 sFord, Wilham E1921885 sJepson, Arthur B1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061895 fIv						
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	-			• •		
1898 Downs, Edgar S 102 1875 Hillhouse, James 14 1916 Drencer, Walter 147 1909 Hodgson, Allen H 296 1886 d Dumm, Wilham W 307 1877 s Holcomb, Walter 163 1886 d Dummer, Edward 300 1907 s Holdredge, Leigh I 216 1913 s Durand, Harry S 224 1890 d Howker, George E 266 1895 Ellott, John 87 193 s Howkert, VanDyne 225 1891 Ely, Charles R 77 1921 s Howkelt, Kimbark J 236 1905 s Ely, Theodore W 212 1888 l Hoye, Stephen M 279 1872 Emerson, Sanuel F 11 1905 Hudshamp, Carleton 216 1860 Evarts, Allen W 71 1903 s Hull, Norman C 117 1889 Faure, Charles M 103 1913 s Hunter, John S 143 1901 s Farley, Emst W 206 1873 Huntengton, Dwight W 12 1903 f Ferry, Mansfield 116 191				-		
1916Dreacer, Walter1471909Hodgson, Allen H2961898 sDrummond, Edmund J1981889 dHogue, Robert M2651886 dDumm, Willam W3001877 sHolcomb, Walter1631913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661895 Elliott, John871973 sHowbert, VanDyne2251891 Elly, Charles R771921 sHowelt, Kimbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHudson, Dorr A601897 dEvans, David H2711905 sHughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711905 sHughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711905 sHughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711903 sHull, Norman C1171889 Ewing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Ralph S861901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Huntington, Dwight W121903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261904 sFischer, Theodore A2761895 Jepson, Arthur W1791835 Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721894 fillam L2721890 Jepson, Arthur W1791845 Francka, Richard T521886 sJenson, Alfred V C2361905 sForepaugh, Willam F192 </td <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td></td>	-			-		
1898 sDrummond, Edmund J1981889 dHogue, Robert M2651886 dDummer, Edward3001907 sHoldredge, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661895 Elliott, John871913 sHowbert, VanDyne2251891 Ely, Charles R771921 sHowwell, Kimbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872 Emerson, Samuel F111905 Hughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuuskamp, Carleton2131869 Evans, David H2711906 sHuuskamp, Carleton2131869 Evans, Joseph G64189 Huul, Ralph S861909 sFar, Charles M1031913 Huunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Huuntigton, Dwight W121903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261912 dFischer, Theodore A2761890 Jenson, Arthur W1791873 Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721883 Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721893 Forde, William L2721880 sJenson, Arthur W1791878 Fowler, Oswin H D1661874 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 Francis, David R, Jr1071880 sJenson, Arthur W1791886 Freeman, Albert M651906 s	-					•
1886 dDumm, Wilham W307187 sHolcomb, Walter1631865Dummer, Edward3001907 sHoldredge, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661895Elliott, John871913 sHowbert, VanDyne2251891Ely, Charles R771921 sHowelt, Kimbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Ermentout, Fitz-Damel3111905 sHughes, Berrien1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuskamp, Carleton2131869Ewing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Norman C1171890 Fare, Charles M1031913 Hunter, John S861903 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Huntington, Dwight W121905 sField, Francis L2301895 Ives, Frederic881904 sFieco, A Conro2081899 IIves, J Moss2831904 sFieco, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 sFoote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021896 sForepaugh, Willam F1921880 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFoote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021896 sFoote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T202<						
1865Dummer, Edward3001907 sHoldredge, Leigh I2161913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661885 sHough, David Leavitt1751895Elliott, John871913 sHowehrt, VanDyne2251891Ely, Charles R771921 sHowehrt, VanDyne2251892Emerson, Samuel F111888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111888 lHudson, Dorr A601897 lErmentrout, Fitz-Damiel3111905 sHuuskamp, Carleton2131869Evans, David H2711906 sHuuskamp, Carleton2141869Ewans, Joseph G641894 Hull, Ralph S861909 sHunsker, Harold W2211993 sHunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Huntington, Dwight W121901 fFaulkner, Ferns2851992 sIves, J Moss2831912 dFisher, Theodore A2761895 sIves, J Moss2831912 dFisher, William L2721890 sJaques, Louis T2021890 sForce, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021893 sFoote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 sForegaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791886 sForeke, Rohard T521893 sJohnson, Compton T <td< td=""><td>-</td><td>· · · · · ·</td><td>-</td><td></td><td></td><td>-</td></td<>	-	· · · · · ·	-			-
1913 sDurand, Harry S2241890 dHooker, George E2661895Elhott, John871973 sHowker, VanDyne2251891Ely, Charles R771921 sHowelt, Kumbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111888 lHudson, Dorr A601897 lErmentrout, Fitz-Damel3111905 sHughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuskamp, Carleton2131869 eEwing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Norman C1171889 eEwing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Ralph S861901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Huntigton, Dwight W121903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261915 sFieto, A Conro2081899 lIves, Fiedinc881904 sFisher, William L2721890 sJames, Norman721889 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691890 sFord, William F1921889 sJensen, Martin E1691895 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, Wildan D1781905 sFrancis, David R, Jr1071912 sJohnson, William D1781896 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, W				1		
1895Ellhott, John871913 1913Hough, David Leavitt1751891Elly, Charles R771921 1923Howbert, VanDyne2251891Ely, Charles R771921 1923Howbert, VanDyne2251892Emerson, Samuel F111888Hoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111888Hudson, Dorr A601897Evans, David H2711905Hughes, Berrien1261897Evans, David H2711905Hugks, Berrien1261897Evans, David H2711905Hugks, Berrien1261897Ewing, Joseph G641894Hull, Norman C1171889Faur, Charles M1031913Hunter, John S1431901Failkner, Ferns28519041221261903Ferry, Mansfield1161914Isbell, George W.2261915Field, Francis L2301899Ives, J Moss2831904Fisher, Theodore A2761905Jaques, Louis T2021914Fisher, Wilham L2721890James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900Jaques, Louis T2021896Forepaugh, Wilham F1921885Jepson, Arthur W1791886Franck, Richard T521886Johnson, Alfred V C2561900Finecman, Albert M6519041905Johnso	_		-			
1895Elluott, John871973 sHowbert, VanDyne2251891Ely, Charles R771921 sHowell, Kimbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111905Hughes, Bernen1261891 lErmentrout, Fitz-Damel3111905 sHughes, Bernen1261869Evans, Allen W71906 sHuuskamp, Carleton2131869Evarts, Allen W71903 sHunker, Harold W2211889Ewing, Joseph G641894 Hull, Ralph S861901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873 Hunter, John S1431903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261904 sFiero, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFisher, Theodore A2701890 sJanes, Norman721883 Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, Wilham L2721890 sJenson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 Francis, David R, Jr1071912 Johnson, Crompton T1411861886 francke, Richard T521893 sJohnson, Willam R1891900 sGilbert, P Macaulay1361906 sJohnson, Willam R16	1913 <i>s</i>	Durand, Harry S	224			
1891Ely, Charles R771921 sHowell, Kimbark J2361905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111888 lHudson, Dorr A601891 lErmentrout, Fitz-Daniel3111905 lHughes, Berrien1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuilksamp, Carleton2131869Ewing, Joseph G641894 Huil, Ralph S861909 sFurnsker, Harold W2211899 Fair, Charles M1031913 Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061893 Huntington, Dwight W121903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261916 sField, Francis L2301895 Ives, Frederic881904 fFisher, Theodore A2761905 sJaques, Louis T2021895 Ford, William L2721890 Janes, Norman722281893 fForte, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 fForepaugh, William F192188 sJensen, Martin E1691886 Francks, Richard T521886 sJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 fFrancis, David R, Jr1071912 sJohnson, William D1781886 fml Gale, Demus R3141897 lJohnson, William R1861900 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, William R1861900 dGilbert,				-		
1905 sEly, Theodore W2121888 lHoye, Stephen M2791872Emerson, Samuel F111888Hudson, Dorr A601891 lErmentrout, Fitz-Damel3111905Hughes, Berrnen1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuskamp, Carleton2131869Evants, Allen W71903Hull, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894Huul, Ralph S861900 sFairk, Charles M1031913Hunter, John S1431901 sFailey, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121901 sFailey, Ernst W2061895Ives, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Conro2081895Ives, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761906 sJames, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 sFrancis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, William D1781886 francke, Richard T521883 sJohnson, William R1861900 sFreeman, Albert M651900 sJohnson, William R1861900 sGilbert, P Macaulay136130 sJohnson, William H151900 sGilbert, P Rentis B			87			
1872Emerson, Samuel F111888Hudson, Dorr A601897 lErmentrout, Fitz-Daniel3111905Hughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuskamp, Carleton2131869Evarts, Allen W71903Hull, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894Hull, Ralph S861901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873Huntargton, Dwight W121901 lFaulkner, Ferris2851935Ives, Frederic881904 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761899James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721884Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721885Foore, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 sFrancis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Alfred V C2561900 sFrancis, Cachard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821900 sGilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJohnson, William H151900 sGilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rewland2241907 dGilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rewland2241900 dGalee, Demus R	1891		77		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	236
1891 lErmentrout, Fitz-Danel3111905Hughes, Bernen1261897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuuskamp, Carleton2131869Evants, Allen W71903Hull, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894Hull, Ralph S861909 sHunsiker, Harold W2211899Fair, Charles M1031913Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121901 fFaulkner, Ferris2851895Ives, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Conro2081895Ives, J Moss2831912 dFisher, Wilham L2721890James, Norman721893 sFoote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 sForepaugh, Wilham E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, Wilham F1921880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForenan, Albert M651906 sJohnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, Wilham D1781890 Gibert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907 Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jones, Rowland2241909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241909	1905 s	Ely, Theodore W	212		Hoye, Stephen M	279
1897 dEvans, David H2711906 sHuiskamp, Carleton2131869Evarts, Allen W71903Huil, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894Huil, Ralph S861909 sHunsker, Harold W2211899Fair, Charles M1031913Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121903Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261904 sFierd, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFischer, Theodore A2761890James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William L2721890James, Norman721883 foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021890 sForepaugh, William F1921880 sJenson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Affred V C2561900 sFraecke, Richard T521893 sJohnston, William D1781886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H	1872	Emerson, Samuel F	11	1888		_
1869Evarts, Allen W71903Hull, Norman C1171889Ewing, Joseph G641894Hull, Ralph S8619091894Hunter, Harold W2211899Farley, Ernst W2061873Hunter, John S1431901Faulkner, Ferris2851873Huntington, Dwight W121903Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261916 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFischer, Theodore A2762762761901 dFisher, William L2721890James, Norman721893 Ford, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691895 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJensen, Martin E1691878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Crompton T1411886 Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, William D1781900 sGilbert, P. Macaulay1361311875Johnson, William H151909 Gilbert, P. Macaulay136130sJones, Gershom S2821909 Gilbert, P. Macaulay1361905 sJones, Gershom S2821909 Gilbert, P. Pacubar M1201875 dKaley, John A2561904 Glazer, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561	1891 <i>l</i>	Ermentrout, Fitz-Daniel	311	1905		126
1889Ewing, Joseph G 64 1894 Hull, Ralph S 86 1899Fair, Charles M103 $1909 s$ Hunsiker, Harold W 221 1891Farley, Ernst W206 1873 Huntington, Dwight W 12 1901Failkner, Ferris285 1873 Huntington, Dwight W 12 1903Ferry, Mansfield116 $1914 s$ Isbell, George W. 226 1903Ferry, Mansfield116 $1914 s$ Isbell, George W. 226 1904 sFiero, A Conro 208 1895 Ives, Frederic 88 1901 dFisher, Theodore A 276 1890 James, Norman 72 1883Foote, Charles S35 $1900 s$ Jaques, Louis T 202 1899 sFore, Charles S35 $1900 s$ Jaques, Louis T 202 1896 sForepaugh, Wilham F 192 $1880 s$ Jepson, Arthur W 179 1878 sFowler, Oswin H D166 $1871 d$ Johnson, Alfred V C 256 1900Francis, David R, Jr107 1912 Johnson, William D 178 1886Francke, Richard T 52 $1886 s$ Johnson, William D 178 1880 sIdentity Machiner M65 $1900 s$ Johnson, William R 186 1900 fubert, P Macaulay 136 $1910 s$ Jones, Gershom S 282 1909Gilbert, Prentis B 131 1875 Jordan, William H 157 1904Glazier, FrankIn D W 120 <td< td=""><td>1897 d</td><td>Evans, David H</td><td>271</td><td>1906 s</td><td>Huiskamp, Carleton</td><td>213</td></td<>	1897 d	Evans, David H	271	1906 s	Huiskamp, Carleton	213
1909 sHunsiker, Harold W2211899 Fair, Charles M1031913Huntier, Harold W2211901 sFailey, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121901 Faulkner, Ferris2851873Huntington, Dwight W121903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261904 sFieco, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761890James, Norman721883 Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 Forepaugh, William E1991880 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 Franck, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781886 Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889 Freeman, Albert M65Jonson, William C2131900 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241909 MaGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892 Girty, George H801311884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884	1869	Evarts, Allen W	7	1903	Hull, Norman C	
1899Fair, Charles M1031913Hunter, John S1431901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121901 lFaulkner, Ferris2851601873Huntington, Dwight W121903Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261916 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Corro2081895 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761900 sJaques, Louis T2021893 Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021893 sFoorepaugh, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Crompton T1411886 Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889 Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, William R1861900 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821907 Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892 Girty, George H80801884 sKeiler, Lewis H2561890 Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeiler, Lewis H2561910 lGross, Lewis D	1889	Ewing, Joseph G	64	1894	Hull, Ralph S	86
1901 sFarley, Ernst W2061873Huntington, Dwight W121901 lFaulkner, Ferris2852852852852852261903 Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2262261904 sFiero, A Conro2081895 lIves, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Conro2081895 lIves, JMoss2831912 dFisher, Theodore A27676727890 sJaques, Louis T2021893 Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T202202791893 Foote, Charles S351900 sJepson, Arthur W1791895 Forepaugh, William E1991880 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886 Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889 Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, William R1861900 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Charles1081907 Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892 Girty, George H80701884 sKeiler, Lewis H2561904 Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561890 Greene, J				1909 S	Hunsiker, Harold W	221
1901 lFaulkner, Ferns2851903Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261916 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Conro2081899 lIves, JMoss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761890James, Norman721893 Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021893 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 fFrancis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, William D1781889 Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, William D1781880 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909 Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907 Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151904 Glazier, Franklin D1201875 dKaley, John A2561904 Glazier, Franklin D1201875 dKaley, John A2561904 Glazier, Franklin D1201875 dKaley, John A2561904 Glazier, Franklin D2051889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2001884 dKelley, Newton B26019	1899	Fair, Charles M	103	1913	Hunter, John S	143
1903Ferry, Mansfield1161914 sIsbell, George W.2261916 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFirero, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761890James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021895 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 sFrancis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnston, William D1781889 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, William R1861900 sGilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907 Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151904 Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561890 Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B260	1 901 <i>s</i>	Farley, Ernst W	206	1873	Huntington, Dwight W	12
1916 sField, Francis L2301895Ives, Frederic881904 sFiero, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761890 sJames, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJames, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaues, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, William D1781886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, William R1861900 Jones, Charles1081900 Jones, Charles1081909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241909 maGillett, Philip L2421905 Judd, Charles S1271802 Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561904 Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B260	1901 l	Faulkner, Ferris	285			
1904 sFiero, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761901 dFisher, William L2721883 Foote, Charles S351999 sFord, William E1991899 sFord, William E1991896 sForepaugh, William F1921887 sFowler, Oswin H D1661890 sFrancis, David R, Jr1071912 Johnson, Alfred V C2561900 sJohnson, William D1781889 Freeman, Albert M651906 s1910 sFreeman, Albert M651900 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361909 Gilbert, P Macaulay1361909 maGillett, Philip L1902 Girty, George H801904 Glazier, Franklin D W1201881 dGriffith, George W2581881 dGriffith, George W2581884 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKeller, Newton B260	1903	Ferry, Mansfield	116	1914 s	Isbell, George W.	226
1904 sFiero, A Conro2081899 lIves, J Moss2831912 dFischer, Theodore A2761901 dFisher, William L2721890James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900 francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081090Jones, Charles1081909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241909Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B260	1916 s	Field, Francis L	230	1895	Ives, Frederic	88
1901 dFisher, William L2721890James, Norman721883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, William R1861910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151904Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561890Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1904 s	Fiero, A Conro			Ives, J Moss	283
1883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Gale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F2271914 s1914 s1914 s	1912 d	Fischer, Theodore A	276		-	
1883Foote, Charles S351900 sJaques, Louis T2021899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Gale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H80111875 dKaley, John A2561890Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1901 d	Fisher, William L	272	1890	James, Norman	72
1899 sFord, William E1991880 sJensen, Martin E1691896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781890 sFreeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1883	Foote, Charles S		1900 s	Jaques, Louis T	202
1896 sForepaugh, William F1921889 sJepson, Arthur W1791878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781899Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081090Jones, Charles1081886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227184 s164	1899 5	Ford, William E		1880 s	Jensen, Martin E	169
1878 sFowler, Oswin H D1661871 dJohnson, Alfred V C2561900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnson, William R1861910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081900Jones, Charles1081886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561890Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227		Forepaugh, William F		1889 s	Jepson, Arthur W	179
1900Francis, David R, Jr1071912Johnson, Crompton T1411886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081900Jones, Charles1081886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, Wilham H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801091875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1878 s	Fowler, Oswin H D	166	1871 d		
1886Francke, Richard T521886 sJohnson, William D1781889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801875 dKaley, John A2561890Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227227	•	Francis, David R , Jr	107	1912		141
1889Freeman, Albert M651906 sJohnston, Waldo C2131910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861900Jones, Charles1081886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Gershom S2821909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271802Girty, George H801201875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F2271914 s1914 s1914 s	1886		52	1886 s		178
1910 sFreeman, Philip M2231893 sJohnston, William R1861886 mlGale, Demus R3141897 lJones, Charles1081909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271802Girty, George H801904Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561809Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1889		•	1906 s		
1886 mlGale, Demus R3141900Jones, Charles1081909Gilbert, PMacaulay1361910 sJones, Gershom S2821907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801904Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W, Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	-		223	1893 s		
1886 ml Gale, Demus R 314 1897 l Jones, Gershom S 282 1909 Gilbert, P Macaulay 136 1910 s Jones, Rowland 224 1907 Gilbert, Prentiss B 131 1875 Jordan, William H 15 1909 ma Gillett, Philip L 242 1905 Judd, Charles S 127 1892 Girty, George H 80 80 127 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1875 d Kaley, John A 256 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227	- ,	i	5			1-
1909Gilbert, P Macaulay1361910 sJones, Rowland2241907Gilbert, Prentiss B1311875Jordan, William H151909 maGillett, Philip L2421905Judd, Charles S1271892Girty, George H801004Glazier, Franklin D W1201875 dKaley, John A2561899Greene, Joseph W , Jr1031884 sKeith, Edson1731881 dGriffith, George W2581889 dKeller, Lewis H2651910 lGross, Lewis D2901884 dKelley, Newton B2601914 sKelsey, John F227	1886 <i>ml</i>	Gale. Demus R	314			
1907 Gilbert, Prentiss B 131 1875 Jordan, William H 15 1909 ma Gillett, Philip L 242 1905 Judd, Charles S 127 1892 Girty, George H 80 80 127 1904 Glazier, Franklin D W 120 1875 d Kaley, John A 256 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227					v	
1909 ma Gillett, Philip L 242 1905 Judd, Charles S 127 1892 Girty, George H 80 80 1004 Glazier, Franklin D W 120 1875 d Kaley, John A 256 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227		· · ·	-			
1892 Girty, George H 80 1904 Glazier, Franklin D W 120 1875 d Kaley, John A 256 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227			-			-
1904 Glazier, Franklin D W 120 1875 d Kaley, John A 256 1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		1-1	J, <u></u>	,
1899 Greene, Joseph W, Jr 103 1884 s Keith, Edson 173 1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227	-			1875 1	Kaley, John A	2.56
1881 d Griffith, George W 258 1889 d Keller, Lewis H 265 1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227	- •					=
1910 l Gross, Lewis D 290 1884 d Kelley, Newton B 260 1914 s Kelsey, John F 227			-	•		
1914 s Kelsey, John F 227	-					_
	TATO	CE000, 20 1910 12	290			
	1802	Hackett William H	8 2			
	1093	A LUCKCEL, W III AIII A L	05	1 * 0 9 3	aschually Euward O	0y

322

Index

~

		DI CE			BACE
CLASS	Konston Wallace D	PAGE	CLASS 1894	Martin, Sanford B	PAGE 87
1914	Kenyon, Wallace D	145	1694 1920 <i>s</i>	Maurer, Gordon B	•
1883	Kerrush, Sheldon Q	36	1920 S 1885 d	Medlar, William H	234 263
1897 7806 dr	Kimbley, Frank R	99	1915 <i>s</i>	Meeker, Stephen J	-
1896 <i>dp</i>	Kımura, Shunkıchı Kırkham John H	244	1915 S 1926 dp	Meeks, Leshe H	229
1887	Kırkham, John H Kıtchan, Josenh H	54 301	1920 up 1889 s	Miles, George W	247 180
1899 1888 m	Kıtchen, Joseph H Kleıner, Moses	301 251	1911	Miller, William C	130 140
	Kline, Edward M.	155	1938	Millett, Gardner W, Jr	140
1927 1896	Knapp, James Hoyt	93	1930 1882 d	Milroy, William McC	258
1890	Kohler, Stephen H.	93 73	1890	Mixer, Knowlton	230 75
1890 1885 s	Kohn, Harry D	176	1906	Monzanı, John T	129
1902 m	Krause, Edward C	253	1903	Moodie, Walter C	118
1902 //	Mause, Edward C		1889	Moore, William C	68
1917 art	LaFarge, Bancel	294	1897 s	Morrill, George P	195
1884	Lambert, Alexander	39	1882	Morris, Charles N	32
1896	Lampman, Leonard B.	94	1874	Morris, Edward P.	13
1897 s	Lanphier, Robert C	I94	1890 l	Morris, Robert C	279
1893 s	Lansing, William, Jr	187	1883	Morton, Marcus	36
1911 m	Lautman, Maurice F	254	1914 s	Mosser, Harris	228
1890	Lester, Charles F.	74	1904	Murphy, Hugh J	122
1909 s	Lewis, Henry L	222	1885	Myers, John A	47
1900 s	Lewisohn, Walter	203	-		
1899 s	Lindenberg, Otto H	200	1906 s	Nathanson, Moses D	304
1928	Lindheim, Norvin R.	ISS	1908 ma	Neal, Robert W	241
1889	Lindsay, Frederic N	65	1904	Nichols, George E	123
1890 dp	Linton, Edwin	243	1900 s	Nolan, Francis P	204
1889	Loe, Edward O	66	1921 dp	Novakovsky, Stanislaus T	305
1896	Longacre, John	95	1885	Noyes, Atherton	4 7
1904	Love, Henry K	121			
1892 d	Luther, Clair F	269	1923	O'Connell, Richard D	152
1925 dp	Lynn, George	305	1923	Ohley, Charles S	I53
			1906	Oppitz, Louis K	130
1889	McCandliss, Eugene E	67	1924	Otis, Raymond	I 54
1922 l	McCaughey, Russell J	293			
1888	McCauley, Harry W	61	1888	Paine, Frederick H	62
1883 d	McCollum, James L	306	1899	Palmer, Joseph C	105
1884	McCormick, Henry, Jr	41	1880	Parker, Wilbur	27
1878	McCune, John P	19	1908 s	Parker, William, Jr	218
1878	McDonald, John I	20	1896	Patterson, Frank M	95
1890	McDonnell, Ralph A	74	1916 <i>s</i>	Patton, Alexander E , Jr	231
1904 l	McDonough, Patrick F	286	1889	Paulding, Charles C.	68
1884 d	McDougal, William H	260	1888	Pavey, George M	63
1937 dp	McGarvey, John W	248	1909	Pearson, Ward E	136
1886 l	McKean, John	310	1912	Peck, Arthur H	141
1927f	MacKinney, Arland L	298	1881 l	Peck, Epaphroditus	277
1882	McKnight, Harry C	31	1907	Perry, William Augustine Peterson, Walter A	132
1884 đ	MacLean, Donald A MaNamaa Daniel V	307 282	1920 1886	Phelps, Edward J	151
1898 l	McNamee, Daniel V		1880 m	Pierce, George H	53
1895 S	McQuaid, Henry P Maher, Stephen J	190	1908 s	Pike, Robert	249 218
1887 m 1906 l	Maher, Stephen J Mahon, John C	249 288	1908 S	Pittinger, Harry H	218 204
1900 <i>1</i> 1890 <i>5</i>	Mann, Frederick J	182	19003	Platt, Henry B	33
1890 S 1871	Mansfield, Howard	8	1883 d	Pohl, Frederick J	259
	Marsden, Walter E	129	1885 d	Poor, William G	263
1905	TATOMON, AN UTOF T	149	1 1000 #	2001, 11 111,011,0	-~3

CLASS		PAGE	CLASS		PAGE
1916	Porter, Gilbert E, 3d	148	1883 s	Stone, E Irving	172
1936	Proxmire, Theodore S, Jr	158	1919	Stucky, Charles J	150
1906 1	Purinton, Frank H	313	1900	Sullivan, Corliss E	112
		~ -	-		
1908 s	Ramsay, Herbert H	219	1911 l	Taylor, Reuben	290
1905 <i>f</i>	Rebmann, Jeremiah	296	1887	Taylor, William P	56
1904 s	Redshaw, Charles J	209	1892	Teller, Harrison J	300
1916 s	Regan, James B , Jr	231	1897	Tilney, Frederick	100
1885 s	Reid, Willard C	177	1894 d	Tınker, Wıllıam M	270
1879 d	Remele, William A	257	1892	Townsend, Howard R	82
1881	Richardson, Harris	30	1891 s	Trowbridge, Amasa	184
1900	Rıcker, Wıllıam G	109	1887	Trowbridge, William R H	58
1901 l	Robertson, Frederick A	285	1896 l	Tucker, Eugene H	312
1894 s	Robinson, Ralph S	187	1901	Tuttle, Edwin H	114
1891	Rorer, William D	78	1933	Tuttle, Stiles E	158
1877 s	Rowland, Thomas F , Jr	164			
1900	Russell, Robert	109	1912	Vail, Harris H	142
-		-	1889	Valentine, Charles A	70
1883	Sackett, Charles E	37	1910	VanBrunt, Arthur	138
1893	Sackett, Herbert I	84	1895	Vorhis, Harry S	90
1895	Sage, Henry W	90			
1876	Sage, Leveritt H	16	1895	Wade, George K B	91
1895 s	Schurig, Ernest G	190	1879	Waldo, Otis H	23
1907	Scott Harold B	133	1867	Warren, Albert	6
1911 m	Sellew, Paul K	254	1899 <i>s</i>	Weaver, Clarence E.	201
1890 d	Severance, Claude M	267	1877 s	Weekes, John Abeel	165
1892	Shaw, Arthur Wynne	81	1913	Welch, Torrance C	144
1896 m	Sheahan, Michael J	252	1906 s	Wells, Alton E	214
1887	Sheffield, James R	55	1929	Wheeler, Robert	156
1936 s	Sheldon, Franklın L	238	1911 l	Whitaker, Sheridan T	291
1891 5	Shepard, Henry H	183	1890 d	White, Schuyler S	268
18991	Shepard, Homer H	284	1885 <i>5</i>	Whitehouse, Henry H	17 7
1920 s	Simmons, Henry M	234	1891 d	Whiting, Elbridge C	269
1891	Sımms, Edward F	79	1879	Willard, Samuel P	24
1904 l	Slade, David H	287	1934 art	Williams, L Alan	295
1903 dp	Sledd, Andrew	246	1878 s	Wilson, Edmund B	167
1910	Slotnick, Michael N	137	1877 <i>s</i>	Wilson, George L	166
1903	Smith, Robert Seneca	119	1901 dp	Wood, Ruth G	244
1907 d	Smith, William H	273	1884	Worcester, Harry A	41
1896	Spalding, Henry	96	1911 l	Wyckoff, S Frank	292
1892 s	Sprague, Ralph W	185	1908 s	Wylie, Edward A Gill	220
1878	Starr, Judson	21	1918 s	Wyman, Edward Earle	232
1902	Stern, Melville A	115	-	-	_
1908 1	Sterne, Niel P	289	1894 s	Yates, John L	188
1900	Stevenson, Robert	110	1890	Yeomans, George D	76
1880 s	Stoddard, Elliott J	170	1911 d	Yoho, Jefferson W.	275
	-	-	-	-	

324

FORMS OF BEQUEST

BECAUSE of the constantly increasing tendency on the part of alumni and other friends to provide for the growing needs of the University by bequests, and the many inquiries received each year as to the proper wording thereof, there are given below forms for the convenience of those who plan to remember Yale in their wills

(GENERAL)

(SPECIFIC)

(It is strongly recommended that a competent lawyer be employed to prepare the will and to supervise its execution in order that all the requirements of the law of the state in which the maker of the will resides may be fully complied with It is also wise to give the University considerable latitude in the use of any fund to be established by bequest, or of the income therefrom, so that a change of circumstances may not impair the usefulness of the gift The Treasurer of the University will be glad upon request to review the phraseology of proposed bequests and to make suggestions with reference thereto)